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INTRODUCTION

fhe period which this study covers, that of the years
immediately preceding the World War, is one to which many hist=
orians have turned their attention. The diplomatic game of
power-politics as it was played by govérnments in these years,
the fundamental causes of the War, and the probiem 6f war guilt
have furnished subjects for thousands of volumes. The various
questions which have arisen probably never will he solved to
the satisfaction of all students of the period. But as Dre. P.W.
Slosson reminds us, this should occasion no surprise, fof there
is quite as wide a diversity of opinion over the merits of £he
wars of Napoleon, or those of Rome and Carthage.l Nor does
this fact of differing opinions imply that investigation and
'discussion of the period are of no practical value:. At least
two important points have been attained. As a result of histor-
ical research, and with the opening of the archives of belliger-
ent Powers, scholars are in possession of most of the facts and
written records which can contribute to more definite wverdicts.
Azain, and more important, many of the extreme opinions widely
held during the War, and in the years following, have been dis-
credited and replaced by more moderate views.2

While research has made scholars already aware of most

of the problems which the period presents, writers will for a

l. Slosson, P.W., Europe Since 1870, (Boston, 1935), 332.
2. Ibid., 333.
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long time to come undoubtedly differ over the significance

of certain events and particular points, and will differently
estimate the diplomatic blunders which prevented a peaceful
settlement of the crisis of the summer of 1914. Most reliable
authorities seem to agree, however, on this one point--that
the catastrophe was the joint product of a number of underlying
causes, some deeply rooted in Burope's past, others of more
recent origin. These are usually fitted into a few general
categories such as nationalism, imperialism, militarism and
the press; the irresponsibility of diplomats to their own
parliaments or peoples; and finally a system of secret alli-
ances which divided Europe into two rival camps. |

It is the purpose of this study to trace the signifi-
. cance of the r0le of the Anglo-French Entente in the diplomat-
i¢ background of the War, and more especially to ascertain to
what extent it was a factor in bringing Great Britain, so long
an adherent of the policy of isoclation from continental en-

- tanglements, into the conflict.

I wish to acknowledge here my profound indebtedness to
Professor F. H. Soward, to whom I owe my interest in modern
Eyropean history, and whose encouragement, suggestions and
guidance have made this study possible. I must acknowledge
also the kindness of the French Consul in Vancouver, B. Ce,
without whose generous gift to the Library of the University
of British Columbia of the valuable Documents Diplomatiques

Frangais this study could not have been undertaken.
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The Departure from Isolation



ANGLO-FRENCH RELAT IONS
" 1898-1914.

CHAPTER I

The Departure From Isolation.

There can be no intelligent understandiﬁg of the reasons
for Bnitéin’sventny-into the World War unlesé there is a defin-
ite knOwledge cf the natuﬁe and development aﬂ-Anglo;ernch re-
lations as they existed an Iﬁne 28, 1914. It is true that Brit-
ain»mas engaged within the Entente in relationships with Buésia,
as well as with France, but the Anglo-Russian rapprochement was
never as popular'in_Ehgland as the’Anglo-Erench. Bown to the
outbreak of the War,; England steadiim~vieﬁed with-&isiaVQUr the
chief aim of Russian foreign policy = the seizure of the Siraits
~ and Constantinople. Waen the Wér’broke out it was not as an
ally of Russia thatl Britain took up the sword. Sir Edward Grey
persistently refused to make a direct issue in Bngland the
Austro-Sertian dispute which had involved Russia so deeply with
Austria. In his memoirs he states, “the notion of being in-
volved in a war about a_Balkan quarrél was repugnant....there
was ne sentiment urging us to go into & war on Serbia's behalf."l
Bven the chauvinistic Bottomley journsl, "John Bull', published~

a leading article in the last days under the heading, “To Hell

I. Viscount Grey of Fallodon, Twenty-five Years, (London, 1925},
I, 333. -
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’ 1
with Servia....once more to Hell with Servia.t

Nor did Bngland entef the War érimaniiy because of the
invasion of Belgium by Germany, despite the mannef in which
propagandisté.used this breach of neutrality to justify the
purity of Britain®s motives in the eyes of the public. Grey
had promised on Auguéﬁ 2 to give Prance the protection of the
British fleet in the event of the'German»fleet coming into the
bhannel,on through the North Sea to undertake hostile action
against the French coast or shipping. This assurance was given
before Germaﬁy had presented her ultimafum ta Belgium, news of
which did not reach Tondon until the morning of August 5.2
Fyrthermore, Grey refused the proposal of the German ambaséador-
éo'respedt Belgian territory on conditien that England remain
neutrel in the coﬁing struggle.3 |

One of the msin reasons why Britain was drawn into the
War was because she was so closely bound to France by written
and verbal promiges, so baund by relationships which the Foreign
Office had creatg&, that Grey felt England must take part in azy

war in which French security was menaced by German aggression.

1. Cited i¥n Barnes, H.E., The Genesis ef the World War, (New
York, -1927), 453. See Scott, J.F:, Five Weeks, (New York,,
192%), chapter IX, for a study of British public epinion

- and the presaAduring the crisis of July, 19%4.

2. Grey to Bertie, August 2,1914} Gooch & Temperley, British
Documents on the Origins of the War, {(cited hereafter as B.D.),
(London, 1927), XI, No. 487, p.274. Fay, S.B., The Origlns
of the World War, (Mew York, 1932), II, 540,

3. Grey to Goschen, August 1, 1914, B.D., XI, No.,448, p.261.

4. Loreburn, Earl, How the War Came, (London, 1919}, 16.
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In his memoirs Grey represents himself as regarding the obli-
éation to aid France as resting more upon the conviction of the
N . 1
interests of England than upon the debt of lionour to France.
Doubtless both factors played a part in his decision; but he
felt the ocbligation to aid France so keenly that he has con-
fessed that he would have réaigned if he had not been able to
2
bring Bngland into the conflict. Earl Loreburn, in his book,
"How the War Came'" expresses Englandts pésition in August; 1914
in this way: | '
- When the most momentous decision of our whole
history had to be taken we were not free to decide.
We entered upon a war to which we had been commit-
ted heforehand in the dark, and Parliament found
itself at two hours notice unable, had it desired,
to extricate us from this fearful predicament. We
went to war unprepared in a Russian quarrel because
we were tied to France.d
In the relationships between France and England as they
existed in 1914 is to be found the key to the understanding of
"Britain's r@le in the drama of July and August of that year.
The roots from which these relationships grew reach back into
the years before 1914. Xt will be necessary to go back over
these years to discover what they were.
Before the twentieth century England's traditional
policy had for centuries been one of ®splendid isolation.® By

maintaining a cool detachment to continental entanglements she

hoped to enjoy the balance of power in Burope between the rival

lo Grey’ Opo ‘Citw’ II, 15’ 33"550
2. Ibid., I, 312,
. 3. Loreburn, op. cit., 17«



groups, and thus make her own influence in either scale decis=-
ive., It was only at times when some one paower sought to become
overwhélmingly strong, or threatened to endanger British con-
trol of the Channel, or her maritime or colonial supremacy,

that England intervened actively and decisively in European
affairs.l. This was the basis for her participation in wars
against Spain in the sixteenth century, against Louis XIV in
the seventeenth century, and againsgt France and ﬁapoleoh in

the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. ﬁ$ other times she
had rigidly excluded herself from continentalAcomplicationé'
and taken a position of isolation. In the years following the
Franco-Prussian War she §till adhered to her traditionmal policy.
' The forming of the Triple Alliance in 1882 between
Germany, Austria and Italy, even though it destroyed to a great-
er degree than did the Treaty of Frankfort the European halance
of power, did not lead England te depart from her established
policy. ©She manifested little concern at the newé of the great
politiecal combine erected by the Iron Chancellor. Although the
Alltiance further assured Germany of first place in Europe, Eng=-
land, her insular position secured by her invulnerable fleet,
and primarily a maritime and colonial power, was in no way
frightened. ©She believed herself safe from danger, especially
since gt that time Germany_was showing no great interest in an
overseas empire or in the building of a fleet. Bismarck could

say truthfullys

l. Headlam-Mgrley, James, Studies in Diplomatic History, (Lon-
don, 1930), Chapter VI, part II, Bngland and the Low
Countries, 156 ff,.
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As regards England we are in the happy situation
of having no conflict of interests, except com=-
mercial rivalry and passing differences such as
myst always arise; but there is nothing that can
bring about a war between two pacific and hard-
working nations.

But at the end of the nineteenth century Britain found
it naceséazy to reconsider her relationships to the Continent-
al Powers, and in the light of new factors in the international
sphere, to reconsider also the fundamental principles of her
foreign policy. Events of the previcus years made such recon-
sideration a necessity. By the last decade of the century
the forces of the Industrial Revolution which had come first
to England had transformed the industrial, commercial, and
financial life of the Continent. No longer were the other
Great Powers content to leave British supremacy in the economic
field unchallenged. Signs began to multiply of an imminent and
widespread revolt against her hitherto unquestioned leadershiﬁ.
Since her supremacy was held to be largely due to the “favoured
place in the sun® which she had won for herself in so many parts
of the world, the revolt bBegan to involve a fierce struggle for
such "places in the sun® as were still left open te occupation.
This had far-reaching effects on British foreign policy. ,Hende-
forth the field to Be covered by diplomacy in the conduct of
international affairs, instead of being confined as it had been
since the ﬁapoleonic Wars mainly to the Continent of Europe and
the adjoining regions of Asia, extended rapidly to every part

of the globe.

1. Cited in Seymour, Charles, The Diplomatic Background of the
War 1870-1914, (New Haven, 1916), 134, footnotee
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However detached Britain might be from the internal
politics of Burope, the prbtection of her imperial interests
and trade routes brought her into contact and often into col-
lision with the colonial aspirations of other Powers. Inter-
national diplomacy still had its hase in Europe, and it was
still chiefly precccupied with the maintenance of the old
FEuropean equilibrium, but its outposts now stretched to the
remotests parts of the earth, and every extension of European
power beyond the seas was apt to react upon the delicate equi-
poise of power in Eyropes+ As a result Britain—became involved
in dangerous controversies with France and Russia, and while
she continuved fairly friendly towards Germany there was some-
times inevitable friction with that Power also.

It wais not until after the conclusion of the Triple
Allignce, when he became thoroughly assured of the safety of
Germany's position in Europe, that Bismarck consented to give
his support to the demands of German industrialists for
colonigl possessions. The next few years saw the German colony
of South West Africa established, German gains in the Cameroons,
and German advance into Bast Africe. It is true that at times
the German ambitions brought temporary clouds ovér Anglo-German
relations, but generally speaking friendly settlement of dis-
putes was carried out. Although public opinion in both count-
ries was at times aroused»over'the clash of interests, the»re~
lations of the two governments remained almost invariably friend-
ly. Both Gladstone and Salisbury were well disposed. towards
Berlin, and in 1890 the latter.concluded the important settle-

ment of African disputes which exchanged Heligoiand for
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Zanzibar. But after 1894 Anglo-German relations hegan to lose
" the friendliness of the days of Bismarck and of the opening
years of Willism II. Further disputes over colonigl and east-
ern questions aroéé to.try the tempers of Downing Street and-
the Wilhelmstrasse. Britain took exception to the Franco-
German treaty of March 1894 which dealt with French and German
interests in the Niger and Congo regions. Siﬁilarly Germany
took offense at the arrangements Britain concluded with King
Leopold of Belgium over the Bahr-el-Ghazelle territory of the
ﬁppei Nile and over territory west of Laske Tanganyika.

With France relations became ektremely strained over
similar questions. Under Louis Philippe, Napoleon III and
McMghon, France had taken over Asiatic and African térritory of
which Algeria was the most worthwhile. England had viewed
these attempts at the reconstruction of a French empire with
some alarm, but her opposition became sgtill stronger after 1880.
After 18%8 French interests ceased to be merely nationalj she
wished teo make up for the disasters of 1870 in so far as pos-
sible by acquiring an overseas empire. Bismarck, anxious to
turn kher interests from Europe, had eﬁcourageé her at the Con-
greéss of Berlin. Jules Perry, who became prime minister in
1883, carried out a vigorous policy ef acquiring overseas
possessions. This era of French coionial expansion opened up
boundless vistas of Anglo-French controveréies. In June, 1884,
Tord Lyons wrote from France: _

Generally speaking I am very unhappy about the grow-
ing il1l-will between France and England which exists

on both sides of the Channel. It is not, I suppose,
that France has any deliberate intention of going to



war with us but the two nations come into contact

in every part of the globe. In every part of it

questions arise which, in the. present state of

feeling, excite mutual suspicion and irritation.

Who can say when and where, in this state of

things, some local events may not produce a

serious quarrel, or some high-handed proceeding

of some hot-headed officials occasion an actual

collision.l
Africa was the main theatre of the struggle,but disputes took
ilace in many other parts of the world. The tension which
arose out of the dispute over Siam in 1893.hrought the two
countries to the vérge of war.

Fyrthermore, the weak position of Britain in Egypt at
the end of the century left her open to the opposition of the
Continentgl Fowers. Grey points out in this connection, when
speaking of his first Foreign Qffice experiences in the years
1892-95, that

as leng as we assumed responsibility for the govern-
ment of Egypt, the Capitulations were like a noose
around our neck, which any Great Power, having rights
under the Capitulations could tighten at will.=2
Both Germany and France had used this "noose®% te gain con=
cesgions from Britaingj Germany in connectien‘with railway
concessions inm Tuyrkey, and France in connection with the Siam
3
controversy.

All the above factors combined to reveal how hollow

was the phrase "splendid isolation." As Grey .=ays, %it was not
4

isolation, and it was far from splendid.™® Thus isolation in

1. Lyons ta Granville, in Fitzmaurice, Lord Edmond, Life of
Lord Granville, (London, 1905}, II, 333,

2e G‘rey’ OPe CItog I’ 1ll.

3s Ibide, 11.

4.. Iﬁld., Ilo
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the opening half of the last decade of the century did not
appear to be safe or comfortable. Aﬁd with the passing of the
years which brought the century to a close the main stream of
'iﬁternational affairs, as it kept changing and eddying, be-
came more turbulent for England.

The Franco-Russian alliance became an accomplished fact
in 1894, and the Triple Alliance had been renewed for six years
in 1891. Thus in 1895 Britain found herself outside the two
groups. Fﬁrthermore, the actions of the impulsive Kaiser led to
a wideniné fift in Anglo-German relationships. In the summer
of 1895 he paid his annual visit to Cowes, on this occasion a
most regrettable one. He annayed the Committee of the Royal
-Yacht Sguadron by critidizing their handicaps. He anmoyed Lord
Salisbury by scolding him for being late. He amnoyed his uncle,
the Prince of Wales, by his irritating famiiiarities and over-
bearing ways. By such undeft touches he antagonized just those
circles in Bngland which were politically and socially the most
authoriﬁative.l Not only did the actions of the Kaiser lead
to hostility, but Germany®s interest in the Transvaal at this
time further loosened the bonds between the two nations and
strained them almost to a breaking point. In 1894 Germany had
shown a protective interest in the Transvaal. In 1895 this
interest had been confirmed and advertised by a series of high-

ly indiscreet speeches between President Kruger and the German
2 ,
consul at Praetoria. On January 3, 1896, the Kaiser, though

I. Nicolson, Harold, Lord Carnock, (London, 1930), 125.
2, Spender, JeA., Fifty Years of Europe, (London, I1933), 158,
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he claims in his Memoirs that it was against his better judg-
ment and that he was reluctantly persuaded to agree to it by

his advisers, addressed the famous telegram to President Kruger
1

to congratulate him upon the failure of the Jameson Raid. The
most profound indignation was aroused in Briﬁain at this action.

WThe nation will never forget this telegrém“ wrote the *“Morning
~. 2 . .
Post."® When Count Hatzfeldt in London wrote to the German

Foreign Office on January 4, he reported:
All the English newspapers, with the exception of
the "Daily News"™, describe the message as an act

of unfriendliness towards England, and even the
"Standard"™ speaks out sharply about it. This

change is.all the more striking, as, so far, the
whole of the London press, with hardly an exception,
decidedly blamed Dr. Jameson's action,3d

On January 21 he wrote'to fell Hoiatein of the English resction
intﬁhese wordss

It i3 not a question of annoyance on the part of
the Govermment, but of a deep-seated bitterness
of feeling among the public, which has shown it-
gelf in every way. I am assured that when the
excitement was gt its height, Germans in the

City could hardly do any business with the Eng-
tish. In the best known large Clubs, such as the
Turf, there was extreme bitternessg I myself,

1.%T express my sincere congratulations that, supported by your
people, without appealing for the help of friendly Powers,
you have succeeded by your own energetic action against armed
bands which invaded your country as disturbers of the Peace,
gnd have thus been enabled to restore peace and safeguard the
independence of the country against attacks from outside.%
(January 3, 1896). .
Cited in Spender, op. cit., 160, footnote.

2. Cited in Gooch, G. P., History of Modern Europe 1878-1919,
(London, 1923), 220,

S» Hatzfeldt to German Foreign Office, January 4, 1896,
Dugdale, E., T, S., German Diplomatic Documents, 1871-1914,
(London, 1930), II, 389.



received many insulting and threatening letters.

I have no doubt that the general feeling was

such, that, if the Government had lost its head

or had wished for war for any reason, it would

have had the whole of public opinion behind it".l

The sending of the telegram was one of the ﬁoét dig~
astrous errors of the Kaiser's early reign. "The raid was
folly’} observed Salisbﬁry to Eckardstein in lé99,.“hut the
telegfam,was even more :n:“@olish."‘2 And although thé‘British
and German governments were latér to resume their friendly'inter-
cohrse, the rash act was not forgotten in England, while the
German people were angered by the fury which the action of their
impulsive ruler-provoked.3
Though Africa was the source of the most acute differ-

ences between Great Britain and Germany, there were other fields
in which the policies of the two powers clashed. In the Cretan
crisis of 1897 the support Germany gave to Turkey led to a fur-
ther estrangement with England. That same year she seized Kiao-
chauy in the Shantung peninsula, and the Kaiser®s speech in con-
nection with that seizure and his reference to the "“mailed fist®
added to the ill-feeling. Xt was during these years also that

Germany began her naval programme which was to arouse later

‘such grave fears in England. In June, 1897, Admiral Tirpitz was

1. Hatzfeldt to Holstein, January 21, 1896, Dugdale, op. cit.,
II, 403-04.

2. Eckardsteln, Baron von, Ten Years at the Court of St James,
(London, 1921), 85.

3. "The outhreak of hatred, envy and rage which the Kruger

telegram let loose in England against Germany contributed

more than anything else to open the eyes of large sec-~

tions of the German people to an economic position and

the necessity for a fleet."

Kdmiral Tirpitz in his Memoirs, cited in Spender, op. cit., 162.
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appainted chief of the German Admiralty; in November of that
year he introduced the first navy bill which created the(High
Seas Fleet, '

" Meanwhile relations with France were even more un-
ffiendly. The French seizure aof Tunis, the fortification of
Biserta, the convict settlement in New Caledonia, the occupa=-
fion.of the New Hebrides, the rivalry in Nigeria, the coercion
in Siam, the exclusion of British trade from Madagascar, the
Qpeétian of the Newfoundland fisheries, the British ocecupation
of Dongola,and above all, the British oceupation of Egypt-~all
these thorny problems were continuallg'pricking the fingers of
the diplomats in Downing Street and the Quai d*Orsay, and caus=
ing anxiety to thé friends of peace on both si&es of the Channel,

The tension between the two governments and peoples
" reached a,breaking-point over the Fashoda incident in the Upper
Nile in 1898. Becausé it brought the two nations so very close
to war, and yet marked a turhing-point in their relations, it
might be discussed in some detail.' Bver since the evacuation -
of the Egyptian Sydan and the tragic death of Gordon in 1883,
England had been awaiting an opportunity to retrieve that area.
In 1896 an expedition for its recovery was sent out under
Kitchener. The belief that control of the Sudan was essential
to ihe st@hility of the British regime in Egypt, combined with
the fear of French expansion in central Africa, had forced the

1.
government to action. But British control of the area was not

1. Giffen, M. B., Fashoda, (Chicago, 1930), 27-29.
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to be uncontested, for a simultaneous attempt to reach the Up-
per Nile was being made by the French. Captain Marchand had
crossed Africa from wést to east with a small expedition and
succeeded in reachingvthe Upper waters of the Nile in July.
When Kitchener, after defeating the Mahdi at Omdurman, advanced
further up the river, and arrived at Fashoda, he found the fort
flying the French flag and occupied by Marchand and his small
force. Neither of the two forces would retire; they neither
fought nor gavé way; they left the struggle to be fought out
between London and Paris.

. The diplomatic tension which resulted from this crisis
was acute in the extreme. There seemed %0 be no possible com-
promise between the claims of the two powers. Such a clash over
the Sudan héd been foreseen by the statesmen of both lands some
years before. Sir Edward Grey,;when holding fhe post of Under-
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs under Lord Rosebery, on
_'being questioned in the House of Commons on Maréh 28; 1905, abouf.
the rumoured advance‘of‘the French upon thewﬁile, had declared
that a French advance into the Nile Valley "would be an unfriendly
act and would be.so viewed by'England."l This unequivocal stand
was endorsed by the succeeding Salisbury administration. The
Grey declaration had aroused anger and resentment in the French
Foreign Office - it was warning‘France off a vast district which
belonged not to Great Britain, but to the Sultan of Turkey, and

it was accompanying a British claim by what amounted to

l. Grey, op. cit., I, 20.



1
a. threat of war.

The day after the declaration, as Grey.says, “there was
a row in Papis“,ZIand in the negotiations which folloﬁed, the
French‘goﬁernmént.politely but firmly refused to recognize this
new "Monroe Deoctrine® in the Nile Valley. They proceeded.on
theii'Way in.equatorialAAfrica with the watchword “first come,
first servedt“34 Thus, the purpose of the Marchandaexpedition
to link ﬁﬁ Erénch'posaessions in east and west Africa by control
of the Uppeﬁ Nile was in direct contravention of the Grey declar-
ation. /Though BFrance had declined to admit the validity of the
pranouncément of’Grey;4 she was welllaware that she would have
to reckon with the consequences of ignoring its veto. When the
meeting of Kitcliener and Marchand took plaoe"at Fashoda in 1898,
a greater iésue was at stake than the clash of interests in Cent-
ral Africa alone. The danger was all the greatefibecause France
feared British ambitions in Morecce which adjoiﬁed Algeria, while
in fhe Fatr Egst and in many parts of the world French and British>

rivalry had been becoming particularly acute during the years

L. In his Memoirs, Grey states the British claim in the follow-
ing words, "The Soudan was still in hands of the Khalifa. The
claim of Egypt to it, however had never been abandoned,
though since the overthrow of Egyptian rule by the Mahdi in
1886, it was clear that the Soudan would never be reconquered
by Egypt again without British assistance, nor would the
Soudanese again tolerate the purely Egyptian rule against
which they had revolted. It was, at any rate, evident that
no other power except Egypt, or someone acting on behalf of
Ezgypt had any claim whatever to the Soudan and the Nile Valley.®
Grey, ops cit., I, 19. -

2. Ibid., 20.

3o Gooch, op. cite, 277s Dlplomaticus, Fashoda and Lord Salis-
bury*s Vindication, Fortnlvhtly Review, LXIV, new series,
December, 1898.

4. lMonson to Salisbury, September 18, 1398, B.D., X, No. 191, p.l65.
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immediately preceding. For a time it seemed highly prabable
that the whole question of French and British colonial antag=-
onism and national bitterneés would bhe settled by the sword.

A diplomatic contest began between the govermments,
while the press and public opinion in both countries grew more
and more excited. Britain would admit the claim of no other
nation to the Nile Vglley; she had only one thing to say = the
French must withdraw. ©n the other hand France did not admit
" the British claimj and it needed little effort on the part of
the Paris press to convince the nation that the rights and
honour of France had been outraged. The situation did not admit
of compromisej one side or‘thevother had to give way: Peace
hung on a thread. ILord Rosebery in an address at Epsom stated
that the guestion was of supreme gravity. He said,

I hope this incident will be pacifically settled,
but it must be understood that there can be no com-
promise of the rights of Egypt. Great Britain has
been treated too much as a negligible quantity in
recent years. ILet other nations remember that
cordiality can only rest om mutual respect for each
other's rights, each other*s territories, and each
otherts flag.l
An equally strong sentiment was éxpressed by Hicks=-Beach, the’
Chancellar of the Exchequer, in a speech at Tynemouths
It would be a great calamity that after a peace of
eighty years, during which I had hoped that unfriend-
1y feeling had practically disappeared, those friend-
ly relations should be disturbed. But there are

worse evils than war, and we shall not shrink from
anything that may come.2

1. Cited in Gooch, op. cit., 293.
2, Ipid., 293.
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Such.ominous utterances reveal the dangerous temper
whick the incident had evoked. During the negotiations the
French Mediterranean fleet was ordered to Cherbourg, and at
dead of night, with lights extinguished, passed Gibraltar
unperceived by British authorities. The mayors of the Channel
ports were instructed to requisitian.the churches for hospital
work, and report on the beds and ambulance available to fit
them for immediate service. A hundred million francs were spent
in a few days in providing Cherbourg as a naval Lase with the
necessary ammunition and stores. Orders to march were in all
the commanding officerst' hands, and everything wags in readiness
for mobilization, if the French Govermnment should be conffonted
with an ultiﬁatum.l English merchants in Eaf&§~he1d new orders
in suspense, and standing orders were not executed. Business
was almost gt g stgndstill for a few days in September.2 In
Britain, too, there was~a flurry of warlike preparation. The
Mediterranean fleet was sent to Llexandria and Port Said to
protect the Syez Canal and negative any idea of a French land-
ing in Egypt, and at Portsmouth there was a ferment of’activity.3

In vain the French protested the superior claims of
the British. Their case was based principally on the faet
that the country bordering on the White Nile, though it was
formerly under the government of Egypt, had become %"res nullius®

by 1its abandonment on the part of the Egyptian govefnment; and

I. Barclay, Sir Thomas, Thirty Years Anglo-French Reminiscences,
(London, 1914), 145-46.

2. Giffen, op. cit., 67.

Se BarCla,y’ Qe Cit&’h 146.
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that the French had a right to position on the Nile as much
as the Germans or the Belgians. XFurthermore, it was maintained.
that the French govermment, by the reserves which they had made
when the éubject was mentioned in previous years, had retained
mfor themselves the right to occupy the banks of the Nile when
they saw fit.l

In spite of French protests Salisbury and the British
government made it clear that there could be no alternative to
French surrender but war.

The French minister finally yielded. On November 4,
Baron de Courcel informed Salisbury that Fashoda would be evac-:
uated,z and on December 11 Marchand left his post. France was
qat in a positiom to risk a war -~ her fleet was weak and Britain
might easily have taken the whole of her cqloniél empire. fur-
thermore, Russia had shown herself unwilling to suppoft.her ally's
policy if it involved war with Britain, which fact was a dash to
French hopes.s Then toe, it was realized that to guarrel with
Britain-was.to‘play into the hands of Germany, and to destroy
any chances of ultimately recevering the Rhine provinces. A&s
Delcassé told the French Chamber, "a conflict would have in-
volved sacrifices disproportionate.to the object.“4 Within the
following months negotiations were cafried on between the two

governments to determine the limits of zones of influence im

l. Salisbury to Monson, Oct. 6, 1898, B.D., I, No. 203, p.l73.

2. Salisbyry to Monson, Nov. 4, 1898, ibid., No. 227, p. 188,

3. Giffen, ope. cit., 1l63.

4., Ibid., 101 ff.. Charmes, Francis, Chronique de 1la Quinzaine,
Revue des Deux Mondes, November 14, 1898.
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the Nile territories. As a result of these negotiations, by an
agreement of March 21, 18993a line was laid eut from a peint
where the French~Caongolese boundary meets the Nile-Conga water-
shed, northward along the crest of that watershed to 11’ North
Igtitudes thence it was to follow in general the ald boundary

éf 1802 between Wadai and Dgrfur. The French Government promised
to acquire neither territofy nor palitical influence east of
that line; and the British government promised to acquire neither
territory nor political influence west of it.l' In this way the
very difficult situation was finally settled. But a legacy of
extreme bitterness was left on each side of the Channel, and
Fashoda furnished one more evidence and warning that the per-
sistence of 11l-will between Britain and France would lead to
indefinite muyltiplication of provoking incidents, and in the

ong run to waraa'

The British victory in the Fashoda crisis did not tend
to ameliorgte relations with Francé. The latter very naturall&
smarted under defeat, while her bitter feelings were intensified
by the anger arecused in England over the Dreyfus af‘fair.3 vIn
France feelings of jealousy and haired were constantly manifest-
ed; the French Journals railed angrily at Great Britain, and the
gttacks sometimes degenerated into purposeless scurrility, going

so far as to caricature Queen Victorig. ©ne of the leading

journals of Paris exclaimed, '"we offered Lord Salisbury Fashoda

1. Giffen, op. cit., 90.
2. Grey, ope cit., I, 41.
3+ Barclay, ape. cit., 162,
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: 1
and our friendship, and he replied that he only wanted Fashoda."

In such a manner ill-will and anger were aroused on each side of
£he Channel--every cld incident was raked up in order to.fan the
flame of irritation, every difference exaggerated to the utmost.
It happened, moreover, that early in 1899, and just be-
fore the settlement of the negotiations following the evacuation
of Fashoda, there broke out znother cantroversial squall between
theAtwo powers. This dispute, which was almost the Fashoda in~
cident over again‘in minigture, was brought about by‘a concession
which France gained from the Sultan of Muscat for a coaling-
station on the Persian Gulf.zx When the arrangement was made pub-
Y¥ic in February, 1899, three British warships arrived on the
scene to prevent the fulfilling of the concession and the hoist-
ing of the French flag. Under the threat of bombardment the
Sultan withdrew his concession to the French, and the French
had no recourse but vain protest. Thué, once again, France had
atﬁempted‘to.dispute a British territorial monopoly, and again
her claims had been met by the solid fact of British predominance.
, Thus at the end of the century relations between Great
Britain and France could hardly have been worse, short of an
actual conflict of war. "In England, France caontinued to be re-
garded as the national enemy,-and the nineteenth century closed
with Anglo-French relations strained to the limit, and with the

hope of reconciliation apparently excluded from the realm of

3
possibility."™ The future was of course hidden from both

1. Anon., "“France, Ruyssia, and the Nile," Contemporary Review,
December, 1898, 761l.

2. Giffen, op. cit., 187.

3., Seymour, ope. cit., 122.
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peoples, and probably both would have been incredulous over the
idea of an entente within five yéars. Yet from these unpromis-
ing incidents of 1899 France and Great Britain were to advance
steadily toward the convention of 1904.

The dangerous tension which had been developing over the
period of years between Great Britain and the members of the
Dual Alliance out of competing interests in Asia and Africa, and
which had culminzted in the incidents of Port Arthur and Fashoda,
now gave a new direction te British foreign policy. Nor, in the
Iight of events of the past few years; were relationships with
Germany at all reassuring.

. As early as April, 1898, the following words appeared
in “The Contemporary Review" to express the writer*s views on

the.failure of English foreign policys

We have not the goodwill of France and Russia,
nor the alliance of any other powers, nor yet the
degree of strength in isolation which would enable
tlie government to vindicate our rights against any
combinatione....from whatever point of view there-
fore we consider the foreign policy of the present
government we find that is unreal in its supposit-
ions, ruinous in its results, and absolutely un-
worthy of the respect and confidence of those who
put the interests of the nation above the consid-
erations of party.l

Another writer in the same review states, "the present inter-

national complications cannot well pass off without England
CoL 2

having to make a momentous decision."

If, however, there was any féith left in the hearts of

1. Anon,, The Failure of Our Foreign Policy, The Contemporary
2. Anon., The Arch-Enemy of England, The Contemporary ﬁé?iew,
December, 1898, 908. o
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the'peOple or their rulers in the myth of the splendour of
isolation, this faith was rudely dispelled with the outbreak
of the Boer War. In the words of Harold Nicolson,

‘On October 11, 1899, Great Britain declared

war upon the Transvaeal, It was only then that
the full effects of Lord Salisburyts policy of
isolation could be guaged. Great Britain woke
up infeamous. British opinion was shocked to-
discover over-night how much we were disliked.l

During the War a wave of anti-British feeling swept
aver the:continent; press campaigns of the utmost virulence
were directed against Britain in almost every country. This
was true of France especially, and when Kruger fled from his
own country he was most enthusiastically'received at‘Marseilles
and Pa:is.

The isolated position of their country in a world wear-
ing so harsh a face began now to impress itself on the minds of
British statesmen. In view of the fact that Britain had been
clashing with every Great Power in every part of the globe,
they Began to realize that there was nothing of real splendour
in isolation; they began to doubt if it was safe, to feel that
g continuation of such a policy might prove embarrassing and
expensive, to question if could be longer maintained. The only
escapevfrom the discomforts of isolation was a policy of mak-
ing friends.z And in choosing friends a choice had to be made
between theADual Elliance.and the Triple Alliance. It is ine-
teresting to note that the path lezding from isolation first

chosen was not the path that was eventually pursued.

1. Nicolson, op. cite., 128.

2. Hgmmond, J. L.y C. P. Scott of the Manchester Guardlan,
(London, 1934), 135.



The story of England's foreign»poliéy fromvthis date
onwnard ié'that df the effort to find security in the face of
new world conditions. -The rOle most congenial to her, and most
in keeping with her past traditions was that of.refraining from
continental entanglements. But it was now realized that she
was no longer free to play that r8le. The idea persisted in
England that France and Russia were still the traditional
rivals, if not enemies, as they had been.all.through the nine=
teenth century. Thﬁs it was that British preference for an
ally, if an alliance Eecame necegsary, was for Germany. How-
ever, in spite of this first preference, events weré to arise
which decided and impelled Britain te make common cause with
her traditional rivals and supposed enemies against Germany.
At the very moment when relations between Great Britain and
Frande and Russia were most strained, British policy went
through an extraordinary transformation, and as a result of -
that diplomatie revolution during the first years of the
twentieth eentury a totally new direction was given to British
foreign policy. The character and scope of that change, which_
brought England to ceonclude conventions with the implacable
foe, France, after seeking the affections of Germany, forms the

sbbiect of the chapter which follows.,



CHAPTER II

The Anglo-French Entente



CHAPTER 1IIX

The Angla=French Entente,

Having determined to abandon the policy of aloofness
from»coniinéntal affairs,the first choice of the British states-
men of an ally was Germany. The Kruger telegram ﬁas neither
forgotten nor forgiven in.Engiand; but there had been no further
attempt to interfere in South Africa. Moreover, the support by
the Triple Alliance during the reconquest of the Sudan, and the
Kéiser's telegram of congratulation on the British wictory of
Etbara had proven most welcome gt a time when France and Russia
were proving most hostile. During the Boer War, while public
opinion and the press in Gérmany‘were undoubtedly most hostile
to Britain, the German government took a stand of’ﬁeutrality
and declined;to joih Russia and France in a plan of intervention
on behalf of the Boers.

Nor was the idea of an alliance with Germany altogether
new at thls time. Durinv Bismarck's day various attempts at
such an alliance had been prosecuted from time to time, but
these had come to nothing.l And again, as early as 1898 Mr, .

Joseph Chamberlain had opened private negotiations with a

similér-purpose in view with Eckardstein, of the German embassy

1. Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, (Cambrldge,
1923), XII, 144-47.
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in. London, and Count Hatzfeldt, the German ambassador, Meetings
were held at the hdmevaf Alfred Rothschild or of Eckardstein two
or three times a week where possibilities of an alliance were
discussed.l
Count Hatzfeldt informed Bilow of these private negotia-

tions with Chamberlain in a dispatch an March 29, 1893,2 and the
latter replied on March 30.3 In his reply he thanked Chamberlain
for his offers but pointed out what he considered to be the draw-
Backs to a German alliance with England. He felt that England
wished the support of Germany 80 as to-becbme stronger than her
rivals, and thus remove her from fear of attack, but he was
afraid that if Germany should be attacked, she could not count
on English support. Moreover, he expressed a doubt that if the
British government made an alliance it would not pe maintained
if that government went out of power - he spoke of the English
Parliamentary system as a back door by which Bngland could es~
cape from fulfilling her treaty obligations. He considered the
risks for Germany in such an alliance too great and thus offered
to Chamberlain's proposals a polite refusal.

In spite of the failure of these negotiations to bring

material results, Chamberlain,, Hatheldt, and Eckardstein con-

tinued to work for good understanding between the two countries,

. Jo Lo Garvin in his "Life of Joseph Chamberlain,% emphasizes
the fact that the initiative came from the German side.
%§§vin, J. L., Life of Joseph Chamberlain, (London, 1934),

2. Hatzfeldt to the German Foreign Office, March 29, 1898,
Dygdale, op. cit., II, 21-23,

3., Bulow to Hatzfeldt, March 30, 1898, ibid., 23-24.

Garvin, op. cit., III, 261-62.
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1
trying to bring about agreements in lesser matters. On his

side Chamberlain caontinued to hope for an alliance and took

the opportunity in speeches to educate public opinion along
2

that line.

In spite. of Germany's failure to take advantage of the
offers.méde in 1898, new overtures for the alliance were made
in 1899. 1In November of that year the Kaiser paid a visit to
Windsor. His visit was a conplete succéss, and a reconciliation
between thé courts after the effects of the Kruger telegram was
brought about. But the visit meant more than this. Bilow had
accompanied the Kaiser, and Chamberlain, in conversation with the
two, seized the obportunity to discuss with them the matter of
T 3
an alliance.. In these conversations he geems to have gained

4

the impression that they were favourable to the idea. Then
on November 30 he delivered a glowing speech at Leicester in
which he stateds

There is something that every farseeing English

statesman must have long desired, and that is

that we should not remain permanently iselated

on the continent of Europe, and I think that

the moment that aspiration was formed it must

have appeared evident to everybody that the

natural alliance is between ourselves and the

Great German Empire.b

Chamberlain®s speech arocused a storm of protest in

Germany. German opinion at this time was decidedly pro-Boer

1. Garvin, ops cit., III, 267 fﬁ.

2. His speech at Blrmlngham, May 13, 18983 1b1d., 282-83.

3. Ibid., 498-506.

4. Chamberlain®s letter to Eckardsteinj Eckardstein, op. 01t.,
1305 Garvin, op. cit., ILI, 506, 510, 512, 514.

5'. Gal‘vin,. Opo- Cit’. 9 III, 506‘08&
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and anti-British, and the press denounced the idea of an asso=-
ciation with Britain..l In view of this hostile public opinion,
Bilow did not hawe the cburage, when speaking in the Reichstag
on December 11, to take up sympathetically Chamberlain*s Leicester
speéch. Instead, he poured cold water on the proposal.? ’This
wasaccepﬁed as a rude rebuff in England, and Chamberlain hatur-
5;;y deeply resented such treatment._3 Thus once more the ef=-
forts of the British staﬂesmen were wrecked by the determination
of Bilow and the Emperor to cling to their principle of a free “
hand., |
It was, however, in 1901 that the two countries reached
a crossrbads, and the failure of the negotiations which opened
early in that year and continued until December definitedly de-
cided the separate paths that the two countries were to follow
in the years ahéad. In the middle of January, Baron Eckardstein
was visiting at the home of the Duke of Devonshire at Chatsworth
whén Chambe?lainwwas present. During this visit the Duke,.
Chamberlain, and Eckardstein discussed international questions
and the future of Anglo=-German relations. In a conversation
aftef*dinner on January 16, the Duke and Chamberlain formulated
definitely'fheir position en this latter question. Their state-
ment was embodied in a dispatch to the German Chancellor by
Eckardstein after consultation with‘Hatzfeldt, and in a more

4
modified form in one to Holstein. It was reported that the

I. Garvin, op. cit., III, 508-09; Eckardstein, ops cit., 133.
2. Garvin, op. cit., III, 51l.
3. letter to Eckardstein, Eckardstein, op. cit., 151..
. Garvin, op. cit., III, 512-13.
4. Hatzfeldt to Bylow and to Holstein, January 18, 1901,
ECkardstein’ Qp‘ Cit.,. 185"‘1870
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English leaders now realized that they must seek an alliance
énd that the choice lay between the Triple and Dual Alliance.
In spitg4pf the inclinations for a Russian alliance on the part
,éf some of the Cabihet, Chamberlain and his friends would work
for an agreement with Germany. This, they expected, would be
brought about graduall&, and as a starting point they suggested
an arrangement regarding Moroeco. But should an alliance with
Germany prove an impossibility they would turn to Russia.

In Holstein's reply to Eckardstein of Januvary 21 the
{ormer ffowhed upon the possibility of a rapprochement. He
claimed that Germany would run too great a risk in an élliance
with England,.and concluded that if Germany was to stand sponsor
for the British Empire she must extract at least an equivalent
price for her services. Moreover, he distrusted Salisbury and
complained that Germany had been often mistreated by him.l

While these negotiations were being ecarried on, the
Kaiser made a hurried visit to England to be present at the
death béd of Queen Victoria. The warmth of feeling he displayed
on this visit made a deep impression on the Royal Family and
on the whole puyblic opinion in England. ©On his arrival an
January 20, Eckardstein told him of his recent conversation
with Chamberlain, and the Kaiser expreésed complete agreement
with the idea of an alliance. Bulow, however, had urged caution
in encouraging or discouraging the plan, fearing that eagerness.

on the part of Germany might diminish German gains. Thus, the

1. Holstein to Hckardstein, January 21, 1901, Eckardstein,
op. cit., 187. :
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Kaiser avoided committing his govermment to any definite agree-
ment while he encouraged friendly relations.

' During the next few months negotiaﬁions continued, but
little pfogress was made, Gn April 13 Lansdowne wroté the fol-
lawing to lascelles regarding the negotiationss

I doubt whether much will come of the pro-

jeet. 1In principle the idea is good enough.

But when each side comes, if ever it does, to

formulate its terms, we shall break down; and

I know Lord Salisbury regards the scheme, with

to say the least, suspicion.

Berlin insisted on the necessity of England joining the
Triple Alliance, and of transferring negotiations to Vienna.
London, however, was most unwilling to undertake obligations
towards Austria and iﬁaly, and was not sure that Parliament
would sénction such a treaty. | |

Salisgbury from the beginning showed little interest in
the plan for an alliance. Time had not changed his belief that
isolation was England's wisest policy. His memorandum of May
20, in which he criticized the draft of a proposed alliance,
remains a classic on the subject of isolation, and of the special
difficulties which beset a British government in departing‘from
It.2

Negotiations, however, did not entirely lapse. In Aug-
ust, the‘Kaiser, in conversation with King Bdward and Lascelles
at Homburg, expgessed disappointment that an alliance had not

been concluded. Iater, in November and December the question

was reopened. A memorandum of ZLansdowne's of November 11

1. .Lansdowne to lascelles, April 13, 190l1l. B.D., II, No. 81, p. 63.
2. Memorandum by Salisbury, May 29, 1901, B.D., I1I, No. 86, p. 68.
3. 1ascelles to lansdowne, August 25, 1901, ibid., No. 90, p. 73.
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outlined the difficulties of an alliance btut suggested that

instead of dropping negotiations a general agreement might te

formulated regarding palicy in commercial interests. | Then

on December 19, when lMetternich, who had replaced Hatzfeldt

as

German ambassador, called on Lansdowne before léaving for

“Berlin for Christmas, the latter took the opportunity to refer

to

the negotiations which had bveen carried on throughout the

year. He ‘pointed out that England could not join the Triple

Alliancé, but he wished to preserve friendly relations with

Germany, and suggested a general commercial understanding bve

formulated. Ietternich was sure that this would not be accept-~

2

able in place of an alliance. Lascelles relates a conversgtion

with Bllow on December 28 in which he told the Chancellor of

the above conversation. Metternich had not yet reported the

interview to Biulow, and the latter was glad to hear Lansdowne's

views. He expressed the hope that the gquestion would not be

3

dropped altogether.

Thus the negotiations gradually faded out in platitud-

inous expressions of mutual goodwill and friendship. The last

weeks were rather embittered when Mr. Chamberlain and Count

Bilow exchanged angry words about the comparative humanity of

British soldiers in the Boer War and the Prussian soldiers in

4

the Franco-Prussian War. In this manner the curtain was rung

.
2.
Ze
4.

Memorandum by Lansdowne, November 11, 1901, B.D., II, No.78,

pPp. 76-79.

Lansdowne to Lascelles, December 19, 1901, ibid., No. 94,

Pp. 80-83.

Iascelles to Iansdowne, January 3, 1902,ibid., No. 95,

Iee, Sir Sidney, King Edward VII, (London, 1927), II, 132-33,137.
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down on the final effort to iink the fortunes of Great Britain
with those of Germany.

It was in this way that the wire, as Bismarck would have
put it, was cut between London and Berlin, and events began to
move with tragic inevitaﬁility towards a situvation in which it
aould not be repaired. Germany had failed to take up the Eng=-
Iish offers. Bulow, Holstein, and the Kaiser had consistently
taken the view that Ehgland needed Germény as an ally more than
Germany needed England. The possibility, which Chamberlain had
so often tendered, that England and Russia, or England and France
might come to terms, was characterized as ridiculous, and was
considered as a mere "bogey" used as a threat to win a German
alliance. Thus they éut their terms for a German agreement too
high = a simple defensive alliance would not do - England must
join the Triple Alliance - their policy was "all or nothing.*l
Brandenburg's simple summing-wp of the whole situation strikés
thé correct note with a hint of tragedy when he says, "They had
offered us their hand and had withdrawn it when we madé the con~-
ditions of acceptance too onerous for fulfilment. They never
came back to us. They went instead to our enemies."2

These Anglo-German negotiations at the opening of the
twentieth century which have been outlined at some length are
important as shoﬁing perhaps the chief reason why England chose

an alliance with the members of the Dual Alliance in 1904 and

1207.. British ministers had n@ﬁ been satisfied that if security

I. Newton, Lord, Lord Zansdowne, (London, 1929), 208,
2.+ Brandenburg, Erich, From Bismarck to the World War, (London,
1927), 181.
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could no longer be found in isolation it waé least of all to
be sought in an alliance with Germany. The rebuff which their
overtures had received, the feelings of animosity engendered
by events of the_past few years, glong with the growing Anglo-
Germanr naval rivalry, were all determining factors in 6ausing
England to cast her vote in favourof France and Russia against
the Central Powers.

. However, before Britain took the first step in this
move by forming.the Anglo-French Entente she found herself a
friend, not in Europe, but in the farthest East. The island
of Japan, since she had\been forced to open her doors to
western trade, had transformed herself in an astonishingly
short time into a power of the western model, mechanized and
efficient. In view of the unrest in the Far East which resulted
from the state of diéintegration in which China then found i
herself, and the scramble on the part of the Great Powers for
concessions and territory, Lord Lansdowne, on succeeding Lord
| Salisbury as Foreign Minister in 1901, made it his policy to
pool British interests with those of Jepan. Negotiations for
an alliance were econcluded on January 30, 1902, when an agreement
was signed in London. Lord Lansdowne described the agreement |
as "purely a measure of precaution, to be invoked should ocoas-
»ion'arise, in defense of important British interests.“l‘lt
~ covered British interests in China, and Japanese interests both
in China and Korea. Only in the event of either party being

attacked by more than one power did it engage the other to come

to its assistance.

l. Lansdowne to MacDonald, January 30,1802,B.D.II, No.l24,
Pp.113-114.



But one of the chief results of the Anglo-Japanese
alliance was to show to the world that British isolation might
not be so impenetrable as had been supposed. This thought
became more and more fixed in the minds of the French statesman,
who saw a further opportunity in the growing coolness between
Germany and England.l | | |

The idea of any bond uniting the common destinies of
England and France at the 6pening of the new century might well
have seemed fantastic when it 1s recalled how stralned the
relations between the two countries had been. But the Fashoda
~Incident~_has been called, and not unwisely, "the last cloud
in an expiring storm." - The Coanvention of March 21, 1899, had
cleaned the slate so far as territorlal claims of Britain and
France in Central Africa were concerned. Not only that, but
the smooth manner in which the negotiations had been carried

out had brought into view, in French minds at least, wider

- possibilities of understanding and harmony. At the time when

the March agreement was signed, M. Paul Cambon; who had succeeded
the Baron de Courcel as French ambassador to London, suggested

to Lord Salisbury that there were several other matters which
might be settled in an equally friendly spirit. Salisbury,
however, shook his head and smiled: "I have the greatest confid-
ence in M. Deloassé," he said, "and also in your present govern-
‘ment. But in a few months time‘they will probably be overturned,

and their succeessors will do exactly the contrary. No, we mﬁst

1. Cambon to Delcassé, Mareh 13,1903, Doouments'Diplomatiques
Frangais, (cited hereafter as D.D.F.),(Paris,1931),2° Série,
-"f6me, 1II1,N0.137,p.184.
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1l
wait a bit." This period of waiting was to last until 1904, but

1n_the 1ntefva1 many changeé 6f great import bearing on the
relationships of the two governments took place.

In the first place there was the widening of the guif
between England and Germany in spite of the attempts to bring
the two into an agreement. And as these two drifted further
apart, for various reasons warmer airs began ﬁo blow between
England and France. The personaiities of several new figures,
who at this time appeared on the diplomatic stage in both countries,
were of tremendous importance in determining the possibility of
an Anglo-French reconciliation. So long as men like Hanotaux,

a decided Anglophobe, and Salisbuzy, with his faith in isolation,
were in control of the Foreign Offices, such reconciliation was
out of the question. But with the comlng to power of new figures
a setﬁlement of difficulties might be attempted. Delcassé's
accession to power in the French Foreign Office in 1898 may be
regarded‘as the first step in the formation of the Entente.’

M. Delcessé took over his of fice, succeeding M. Heno-
taux, immediately before the Fashoda Incident. Thus he was too
late to avert that orisis, or to alleviate immediately the hard
feelings which resulted. But the new direction which French
foreign policy assumed under his guidance made Fashoda the last
of the incidents to seriously ehdanger Franco-British relations.
He had entered the Foreign Office with the deliberate policy of
meking friends with Britain. On first coming to power he had

(

1. Cambon in an interview in the "Times,™ December 22,1920;

gi;egoén cambridge History of British Foreign Policy,
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expressed this wish to a friend saying, "I do not wish to leave
this place without having concluded an entente with England,"l
Through all the bitterness of anti-British rancour which seeﬁhed
over France during the Fashoda orisis and in the succeeding years,
and throughout those years when the English and‘German govern-
ments were in c¢lose association, M. Delcassé, who continued in
office until 1905, held to his purpose and carried it through
to splendid fulfilment.
The efforts of M. Delcassd were brilliantly seconded

in England by the ambassador he sent to London three months after
his own accession to office. M. Paul Cambon was eminentiy fitted
for the task of seeking the friendship of a successful antagonist
without forfeitihg any of the dignity of his own country.
Erudent and firm, pertinacious and adaptable, 1ong-sighﬁea yet
factful,.and uni ting charm of manner with strength of will, he
‘'soon acquired lasting prestige in England,vand proved an ideal
ambassador for carrying out the poliey of his chief. Rebuffed
by Saligbury in his first overtures, he persisted 1n advocating
on all occasions his éauee.8

7 on the Bnglish side of the Channel new personalities
wére eoming into cohtrol also, who, because they were less bound
-than their predecessors by the traditional policlies of the
British Foreign Office, were to play important rdles in advancing

1. Bérard, Victor, la Politiqua Francaiﬁg;La Revue de Paris,
July 1,1905,217.
Porter C.W., The Career of Théophile Delcassé (Philadelphia
1936), 165.

2. Cambon to Delcassé, March 13, 1903 D.D.F.,2° série,IXI,
No.137,p.185.
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friendship with France. In October, 1900, L§rd Salisbury gave
up the office of Fdreign Secretary. For fifteen ﬁears, wi th
the exception of one brief interval, he had conducted British
foreign policy, and on the principle that Frénce»was Britain's
national enemy. Now he was succeeded by Lord Lansdowne, who
proved a ready listener to"the advances of Deloassé and Cambbn,
and who after 1902, was enepburaged in this by the new prime
minister, Mr. Ba}four, | |

In listing the names of those who prepared the way
for the Entente a place of prime importance must be given to
Edward VIE. While his influence on British foreign policy
during his relgn has been greatly over estimated on the Continent,
and in Germany especialiy, he did play a very happy part in
advaneing friendship with France. To him must go mueh of the
credit for the sucoessfgl termination of the negotiations which
ended the old quarrels. Queen Victorla, who was noted for her
German sympathies, and her inability to understand the French,
was succeeded in 1901 by Edward VII. As the Prince of Weales
he had travelled widely on the Continent; he had spent much
time in Paris, and on the Riviera."He spoke French with perfect
ease, had formed many warm attachments in France, and had a
strong liking for the people. 4

No small partnin the negotiations, when these actually
began, was that taken by Lord Cromer, the British Agent and
ansul-eeneral in Egypt. Knowing from his long experience 1in
Esyp?ian affairs the inconveniences and possible dangers of
F:ench.opposition in Egypt, he gave his strongest backing to

the proposed Entente, and was most urgent that the newly
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afforded opportunity for settling points of difficulty should
not be 103#31 On July 24, 1907, on the occasion of Lord Cromer's
retirement, Lord Lansdowne stated stated in the House cfiiords_
that the Anglé-Frénoh Entente would hardly have been obtainable
in its exiisting shape but for Lord Cromef'e high authority
among foreign representatives in Egypt.z
A writer in "the Nineteenth Century" looking back on
the events which led to the successful termination of negotiations
for the agreement arrived at in 1904,stated truthfully, "that
it has been brought to a practiocal issue is owing largely to
the tact of our sovereign, to the conoili&tory spirit of Lord
Lansdowne, to the statesmanship of Lord Cromer, to the diplom-
atic ability displayed by M. Delcassé and by the French ambassador
in London." s ' _ '
These men in poeitions of great authoriﬁy were not
alone in their desire for an Anglo-French understaniing; they
were warmly supported by a host of unofficlal personages. The
commercial interests gave'support to their efforts. England
was France's most valuable customer, and French production
competed only to a slight degree with that of England. It was
believed in commercial circles_that Anglo-French friendship
would be ofAbenefit to the industry of both lands. After 1900
influential business men began a campaign for ameliorating the

1. Cromer to Lansdowne, July 17 1903, B D.,II,N0.359,pp.298~
d01; also his letter to Lansdowne November 11,1903, cited
in Newton, op.cit., pp.283-84.

2. Lee, op.cit., II, 218.

d. Blennerhaasett Rowland England and France, The Nineteenth
Century, June, 1904, 935.



relations of the two countries. Among these unofficial
ambassadors of goodwill was Mr. (afterwards Sir Thomas) Barclay.
As President of the British chamﬁer of Commerce in Paris he was
in a position to understand the advantages of an Anglo-French
understanding. By long residence in Paris he had won for
himself a d;stinct place.in fhe life of the Fregch capital, and
in spite of the soreness created by Fashoda, the Dreyfus Affair,
gnd the Boer War, he spared no effort tp effeot'a reconciliation
between France:and England. It occurred to him that the cause
would be helped if the British Chambers of Commerce were invited
to meet in Paris in 1900. The approval of Salisbury and Delcasse
was secured, and the meeting was arranged. It proved an encour-
aging success and paved the way for meny English visitors to
- attend the great Paris Exposiﬁion which was held in that same
year. These visits were followed by delegations of French
Chambers of Commerce to England, and by exchanges of visits
by members of Parliament and their wives. Though Kruger's
visit to France followed shortly after, and though anti-English
feeling by no means disappeared in France, the seceds of goodwill
had been sown, and the gross caricatures of Queen Victoria in
the French papers disappeared.l

It has been shown how as early as 1899 Cambon hed -
suggested to Sallisbury that the two governments might come to
an understanding on matters over which they differed, and how

he had been told to "wait a bit"™ on that occasion. No decisive

advance was possible‘while Salisbury was in power and while

l. Barclay, Sir Thomas, 'Thirty Yeafs Anglo-French Reminis-
censes, (London, 1914), for a full account of these early
endeavours to sow the seeds of goodwill.
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the Boer War was in progress. Delcasgé'was moved to remark
on one occasion to: Sir Thomaes Barclay that it was hopeless to
try to conciliate England.l

The British Documents do not begin the story of the
negotiations for the Entente before May, 1903, but there is a
hint of such negotiations in the German Documents many months
earlier. On January 30, 1902, Count Metternich, the German
ambassador in London, reported to the German Foreign Office
that he had learned "in the strictest confidence that negotiat-
fons had been proceedlng between Chamberlain and the French
ambassador for the sett;ement of all outstanding differences
between France.and England on colonial questions."2 On Februsary
d..he wrote to inform the Foreign Office that Lansdowne had
denied to him that there had been any agreement reached with
France on colonial questions.5 Ro doubt Lansdowne's denial
was correct; and it may be true that he was unaware of the
conversations which Chamberlain was holding with Cambon on
this matter, for we have seen Chamberlain engaging in private
negotiations with the German ambassador in his attempts to
form an Anglo-German agreement. But it was soon evident that
negotiations with France were under way.

There is another hint of this in an incident related
by Eckardstein in which he tells of a conversation which took

place between Chamberlain and Cambon. He tells of an official

1. Bar°1ay, op. 01to, 2100

2. Metternich to the Germam Foreign Office, January 30, 1908,
Dugdale, op. cit., XTI, 171.

3. Ibia., 172.
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dinner on February'B, 1902, at Marlborough House which was
attended by all the British and foreign ambassadors. After
dinner he saw Chamberlain and Cambon go off into the billiard
room. "I watched them," he relates, "and noted that they talked
together for exactly twenty-eight minutes in the ﬁost animated
| manner. I could not of course catch what they said, and only~
heard two words, 'Moroccco' and 'Egypt'."l

Further light is thwawn upon the significence of this
cénversation by what Eckardstein tells of a conversation he
himself had with Chamberlain immediately following that which
the latter had held with Cambon. "As soon as the Fremch Ambass-
ador had left Cheamberlain I entered into conversation with the
latter. He compleined very much of the bad behaviour of the
German pfess towards England and himself. He also referred to
the Chancellor's speech in the Reichstag and said: 'It is not
the first time that Count Bilow has thrown me over in the
Reichstag (referring to Bulow's pubiic repudiation of the
offer of alliance made in Chamberlain's Leicester sppech of
November 30, 1899). Now I have had enough of such treatment
and there -can be no more question of an association between
Great-Britain and Germany.'" "From that moment," Eckardstein
goes on to say, "I knew that Chamberlein was ready to adopt
the alternativelof an accession to the Dual Alliance which he
had announced in our conversation of January, 1901, at Chatsworth,

as being the consequence of a failure of an Anglo-German

negotiation.”

1, Eckardstein, op. cit., 228.
2. Ibid., 228-29: supra 27,
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If any doubt remained in the mind of Eckardstein
about the truth of the 1mpressidh he gained from his conversation
with Chamberlain, it was dispelled by a conversation he held
later that same evening with King Edward. As the company was
leaving, the King asked to see him in his study. %"He was in
excellenf humor," the German tells us, and offered'his guest
a elgar and a whiskey and sofa. After talking of the Anglo-
Japanese allianee, andi of how it assured England's future in
the Far East, he went on to say, '
Unfortunately I can't face the future with the
same confidence as regards Anglo-Germsn relations. You
know of course what has happened of late.... The renewed
abuse of BEngland in the German press, and the unfriendly
and sarcastic remarks of Bulow in the Reichstag have
aroused 8o much resentment among my ministers and in
public opinion that for a long time at least there can -
be no more question of Great Britain and Germany working
together in any conceivable matter. We are being urged
more strongly than ever by France to come t0 an agreement
with her in all colonial disputes, and it will probably
be best in the end to make such a settlement. (1) ’
The attitude of the British leaders to an Anglo-French
understanding at thls time is shown by conversations which
. Cambon held with Lansdowne, King Edward, and the Prince of
Wales. Lansdowne was more ready for discussion of such a
project than Salisbury had been. Three weeks after the inéidents
narrated above, Cambon mentioned to Lansdowne the conversation
he had held with Salisbury in 1899, and enumerated the questions
on which he would like to negotiate an agreement. "He asked,"
‘relates Cambon, "whether he might make & note of thém,'but I |

sald he need not frouble as I would write him a personal letter

1. Eokardstein,‘op. eit., 229-30.



enumerating them: This I'did, and - foolishly - never kept e
copy of it. Next evening (spmepime early in ;902) there was
a big dinner in buokingham Palace. I was placed next to King
Edward, who said, 'Lansdowne has shown me_youi letter. It is
excellent. We must go on. I have told the Prince of Wales
.about it. You can discuss it also with him.' After dinner
the Prince of Wales, later King George V, spoke to me eagerly
of the letter and said: 'What a good thing it would be if we
could have a general agreement.' He wanted to know when 1%
would be concluded. I told him that we could not go quite so
fast as he might wish, but that with patience and goodwill it
onght to be possibla."1

| The efforts of the diplomats in negotiating the under-
standing between the two cbuntries were greatly facilitated by
the visit which King Edward pald to Paris in the spring of 1905,
when he made his first Buropean tour as King of England. The
general plan of his tour ﬁas e Mediterranean cruise in his
yacht, the ?Victorig and Albert,® with a visit to the King of
Po:tugal, who had visited England previously at the time of Queen
Viectoria's funeral and again in November of 1902. He planned
to pay a call of courtesy on the King of Italy on the return
Journey overland, and to bring his tour to a close with a few
days stay at Paris. This tour he decided on and planned on

2
his own initiative.

1. Cambon's interview in the "Times,” December 22, 1908,
clited in Lee, op. cit., II, 218.
2. Lee, op. cit., II, 221.
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| The ministry_aqquiesced in the Kipg's arrangements, but

evinced no enthusiasm for the visit to Paris, expressing doubt,
in view of the continued display of hostility to England in the
French press and among the French people,whether the Xing could
cou@t on a cordial or even respectful reception in the French
capital.l When Sir Edward Monson, the British ambassador at
- Paris, was asked by Delcassé as to how the King wished to be
received, the former, who was slightly pessimistic as to th@.
wisdom of the proposed visit, at once telegraphed for instruoﬁ-
ions to King Edward who answered that he wished to be received
nas officially as possible, and that the more honours that were
paid to him, the better it would be."z |

:King Edward arrived at Paris on May 1. A4s the long
procession drove from the Bois de Boulogne Station to the
British Embassy, the orowd was by no means enthusiastie - for
the most part 1t was sullenly respectful. Cries were heard_of_
"Viveni les Boers,™ "Vive Marchand™ and "Vive Fashoda," much to
the discomfiture of the French officials-accompanying the King.
He, however, was dgte:minedly good-natured, saluting to right
and to left, smiling.whenevef he‘was’cheered. His sulte was
especlially booed. |

After paying a visit to the President of the Republie,
" he returned to the Embassy, and there, in reply to a deputation
from the British Chamber of Commerce in Paris, he delivered a

speech which struck a personal note, and which, in its warmth

l. Lee, op. cit., II, 223,
2. Ibid., 223.
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of utterance, did much to win over the people of Paris. 1In his
speech he said:

It is scarcely necessary to tell you with
what sincere pleasure I find myself once more in Paris,
to which as you know, I have paid very frequent visits:
‘with ever increasing pleasure, and for whiech I feel -an
attachment fortified by so many happy and ineffaceable -
memories. The days of hostility between the two countries
are, I am certain, happily at an end. I know of no two
countries where prosperity is more interdependent.
There may have been misunderstandings and causes of
dissension in the past; but that is all happily over and
forgotten. The friendship of the two countries is my
cons tant preoccupation, .and I count on you all, who
enjoy French hospitality in thelr magnifioent city, to
aid me to reach this goal. (1).
In the evening ‘the King attended the Théftre Francais. .
The house was full, but his reception was decidedly chilly.
‘During the entr'amcte he designedly left his loge to mix with
the crowd, resolved to win it over. 1In the lobby by chance he
met Mile. Jeanne Granier, an artiste whom he had seen act in
England. Holding out his hand, he said to her, "Medemoiselle,
I remember how I applauded you in London. You personified
there all the grace, all the esprit of France."  Again the King
had found the right thing to say, and his bonhomie was beginning

to make itself felt.

Next day there was a review at Vincennes, and a
reception- at the HOtel de Ville. En route to Vincennes the
cheering was stronger and warmer than on the day before. At
the HStel de Ville the King spoke only briefly, but his words
were most happlily phrased and full of kindliness:

l. Cited in Cambridge-ﬂistory of British ForeignAPolicy,
ITI, 307.
2. Lee, op. cit., II, 238.



®T shall never forget my visit to your charming
city, and I can assure you it is with the greatest of
pleasure that I return each time to Paris, where I am
treated exactly as if I were at home." (1S
In the afternoon he drove out to Longchamp %o attend
a race meetingASpecially arfanged by the Jockey Club. 1In the
evening there was a state banquet at the Elyséde where the President
and King exchanged professions of steadily growing friemndship
on behalf of their respective countries. In reply to M. Loubet,
His Ma Jesty saild:
' "I am glad of this occasion, whiech will
strengthen the bonds of friendship and contribute to
the friendship of our two countries in thelr common
interest. Our great desire is that we may march together
in the paths of civilization and peace." (2)
A gala performance took place at the Opera that
evening, and other functions were arranged for the next day .
On May 4 the King prepared to depart. The route to the Gare
des Invalides, from which hs-was to leave, was lined with an
enthusiastic crowd; and whereas on his arrival there had begn
cries of "Vivent les Boeré," there now was heard "Vive Notre
Roi." |
The success of the visit had exceeded all expectations,
largely owing to the King's personal charm of speech and manner,
and his cheerful readiness to play a full part in a heavy
programme of functions. Each day of his stey he had won publie
feeling more and more in his favour. On every side were heard

expressions of gratification that the King had renewed the ties
of friendship which had bound him to France while he was yet

l. Lee, op. cit., IXY, 239.
2. Ibid., p.239.
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Prince of Wales. There can be no doubt that his visit daid
much to terminate the acute stage of estrangement between the

two countries, to promote an atmosphere of goodwill between

them, and'td glve a great impetus to the movement towards an
Anglo~French rapprochement. By his visit King Edward secured
honourable mention among the architects of the Entente ('-2ordial."'~1

Yet another step forward towards the Entente was |

taken two months iater when on July é President Loubet paid

King Bdward a return visit. This visit was marked by the
vgreatest cofdiality. At a state dinner at Buckingham Palace

M. Loubet declared in speaking of his royal hosﬁ, "France
preserves a preclous memory of the visit which you‘paid to

Paris. I am sure that it will have the most happy results,’

and that it will greatly serve to maintain and bind still more
closely the_relations which exist between our two countrieé.“z
In return King Edward expressed tﬁe hope, "that the welcome
yoﬁ have received today has convinced you 6f»the true friendship,
indeed I will say the affection, which my country feels fo?.
France."a The toast of the Lord Mayor at the Guildhsall the
next day was no less cordial when he said: "Now we have shaken
hands in the firm intention of letting no cioud obscure the path
we have marked out, is it too mﬁch to hope that our statesmen

will find means of removing forever the horrible poséibility

of a war between the two peoples who have s0 many common interests,

l. Cambridge History of British Foreign Poliey, III, 308.
Charmes, Francis, Chronique de la Quinzaine, Revue des
Deux Mondes, May 15, 1903, 469~ 79.

8. Fay, op. clt., I, 154.

3. Lee, op. cit., II, 244.
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' 1l
and whose hopes and aspirations are'the same?l"

The whole visitvproyed g‘spectacular success. On
the President's departure, the King, in reply to his guest's
farewell message, telegraphed the following reply which found
a warm response on both sides of the Channel: "It is my most
ardent wish that the rapprochement between the two countries
may be 1asting:?z By this visit another step was takem along
the path of amicable understanding between England and France.

M. Delcassd had accompanied the President on his
visit to Englend and had held conversations with Lord Lansdowne
in whieh the general outlines of a treaty of amitvaere sketched.3
In August the complete p:oblems were discussed in detall by
M. Cambon and the British foreign minister. By the beginning
of September the negotiations had gone far enough to Jjustify
Lord Lansdowne in drafting a confidentisl minute for the
consideration of the Cabinet on the possibilities of reaching‘
an understanding, with precise details as to how it might be
reasonably achieved.

The first fruits of the seeds of goodwill sown by
the official visits and by the negotiations which followed
were gathered when a general treaty of arbitration was signed
on QOctober 14, 1903. This convention was primarily the work
of Sir Thomas Barclay and the Baron d'Estournelles de Constant,

both of whom had spared no effort in arousing public opinion

1. Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, III, 308.

2. Fay, op. cit., I, 154.

3. Delcassd to Cambon, July 21, 1903, D.D.F., 2%s, III,
No.362, p.47); Newton, op. cit., 279.
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on both sideg of the Channel in its favour. In France, as a
result of their efforts, the planuqf such a conyention was
endorsed by the Ghambers.of Gommerce of Berdeau;, Havre,
Mﬁrseilles, Iille, Calais, Dunkirk, Toulouse, Lyons, Rouen,
and other important business centres. Many municipal councils
and peace societies had passed resolutions favourable to its
conclusion. Eminent jurists gnd‘writers had expressed themselves
at one with the plah, and many leading newspapers had given
it hearty support. The proposal had also been takep up in an
encouraging manner in England. Mr. Barclay had set forth the
plan at a meeting of members of Parliament held in the House
of Commons, and resolutions in its favour were passed By Chambers
of Commerce all over the United Kingdom.l

In the agreement signed by the gévernments in
October it was agreed to submit all di fferences of a Jjuridical .
order, particularly those relating to difficulties of Lnter-
pretation of traatieé, provided that they did not affect the
ﬁital interests nor'the honour of the contracting Parties, ‘
to the Hague Tribunal. This arbitration treaty connoted a
perceptible improvement in the relations of the two countyries,
though it had merely a theoretic value. frue, it removed no
misunderstandings, but its adoption can be cited as anlinterim
manifesto of goodwill. On its béing concluded M: Cambon
wrote to Mr. Barclay, thanking him for the part he had played
in the making of the treaty. 1In his letter he said that the

1. Barclay's Thirty Years Anglo-Reminiscences gives an
excellent account of this work.
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treaty was "calculated to cut short a guantity of daily
difficulties and incidents of which one can never foresee the
consequences.“l

With the signing of this agreement, along with the
negotiations which had already taken place, the atmosPhere'had
now cleared to such an extent that real progress in the settle-
ment of controversial issues could be mede. The two foreign
ministers, aided by M. Cambon,were busily engaged throughout the
winter, and they proved that with goodwill on both sides even
the thorniest probléms could be solved.

The task of reaching an agreement was in no way easy =
the many latent causes of dispute between the two countries
were world-wide. At every turn the question of "compensations“
turned up, "ocompensations®™ which would justify each minister
in the eyes of his governﬁent for the concessions and sacrifices
he himself had to yield. But of all the problema.the most
formidable lay in Morocco and Egypt. TFrance had never finally
recognized the status of England in Egypt, and her refusal
would have enabled her at any time to reopen the whole Egyptian
question, and even manufacture possibly a "casus belli" whenever
conditions-mightvappear auspicious to,an adventurous Cabinet.‘
On the other hand, the Republlie was known to have designs on
Morocco to which England migh$, if it so suited her, take
strong exception. The interests of the two powsrs in Siam
likewise bristlgd with thorny points likely at any time to
prick national tempers. The fishing rights which the French

claimed in Newfoundland by virtue of terms laid down in the

l. Bareclay, op. cit., 235.



Treaty of Utrecht of 1713 was another stumbling block to
neighbourly relations. These problems, along with questions of
rights and interests in West g;:;cg, Medagasoer, and in the
New Hebrides, had all caused frietion in the.pgst.

The negotiations condueted throughout the winter monthsl
finally took practical_shape qh April 8, 1904, when an agreement
was signed by the two governmenys. This agreement was madg
up of thrse separate conventlons ;_the first dealt with Anglo-
French interests in Newfoundland, and West and Central Afrieca,
the second with fhose in Egypt and Morococo, while a third dealt
with those in Siam, Madagascar and the New Hebrides.

The first agreement settled the o0ld Newfoundland
dispute. France now renounced her exclusive fights and pr;vileges.
on the French Shore, and French fishermen were put on an equality
with the British in taking fish. In compensation Britain
relinquished certain territories in Western Africa, The_frontier
between the British colpny o£ Gambia and the French Senegambia
was modified to give France acoess to the river Gambia. The
frontier between British and French Nigeria was modified so a&s
to give France a more accessible route %o Lake Chad. The Los

Islands commanding the capital of French Guinea, Konakry,

l. On January 8, 1904, Lord Lansdowne was given a shock
when Monson reported from Paris that Delcassd had not
oonsulted his colleagues in the Cabinet even on the
general question of the proposed accord; Newton, op.cit.,
287-88. Even as late as March 2, he had not taken the
French Colonial Minister into his confidence. fThis
almost incredible omission can be explained only by
his extreme anxiety for secrecy, and for his desire
to conduet the negotiations himself. So well entrenched
in his office did he consider himself to be, he felt sure
he could count on his personal prestige and influence to

Secure ratification: Newton o -89 .
op.cit:, 185. ’ » op. cit., 288-89; Porter,
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1
were ceded to Franqe.

0f far greater importance was the Declaration respect-
ing Egypt and Moroceo. Here again criticalvprobléms were solved
satisfactorily by following the general principle underlying the
whole agreement,of surrendering claims in one direction in
return for compensation elsewhere. Both countries disclaimed
any intention of altering the political status of either Egypt
or Moroceco. France undertook not to interfere in any way with
British action in Egypt, nor to demand any time limit to British
oceupation, recognizing the paramount interests of Britain in
that country. In return, Britaih, recognizing the paramount
interests of Francee in Moroceo, gave.Franee entire liberty to
intervene there for the purpose of maintaining peace, and
assisting the ruler to carry out necessary administrative,
economie, financial and military reforms. Questions concerning
the Egyptian debt were so settled as to give the Egyptian
government a free hand in- the disposal of the funds accumula ted
by the Gaisse.de la Dette so long as payment of interest on the
debt was assured. French schools were to enjoy the same
liberties as formerly, and all rights enjoyed by the French
through treaties and customs were to be respected. Freedom of
commerce was to be guaranteed for thirty years, and Great
Britain promised to insure the freedqm of the Suez Canal. In

Morocco France agreed on freedom of commerce for thirty years,

1. Convention between the United Kingdom and France
respecting Newfoundland, West amd Central Afriea,
April 8, 1904, B.D., II, 375-384. -

2. Declaration between the United Kingiom and France
-respecting Egypt and Moroceo, April 8, 1904, ibid., 385-92.
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promised that there should be no fortifications on the northern
coast opposite Gibralter, and undertook to conclude an agreement
with Spain whereby the Anglo-French agreement might be fulfilled
without encroaching on Spanish interests. 1In conclusion the two
governments agreed “tp afford one another diplomatie suppo:t in
order to obtain the execution of the clauses" of the Declaration.

| In the third agreement the two signatories determined
their respective zones of influence in Siam by mutual agreement.r
In Madagascar, Britain recognized the right of France to establish
customs against which she had protested since 1896. ‘Finally,
the difficulties in the New Hebrides arising from disputes over
land titles and the absence of Jjurisdiction over the natives
were referred to a commission.1

Along with the articles set forth above, which weré

made public, Lord Lansdowne and M. Cambon signed secret articles
which contemplated an eventual partition of Moroceo between
France and Spa;nzshould the state of Morocco disintegrate.
When Spain adhered to the Anglo-French Agreement on October 3,
1904, and declared herself "firmly attached to the integrity
of the Moorish empire under, the sovereignty of the Sultan,"®
she signed a convention with Frence which fﬁankly contemplated
partition.3 This latter pact was sent by Cambon to Lansdowne

4
with the request that it be kept secret. The secret articles

1. Declaration between the United Kingdom and France
concerning Siam, Madagascar, and the New Hebrides,
April 8, 1904, B.D., II, 396-98.

2. Secret articles of the declaration respecting Bgypt and
Morocea, B.D., II, pp.392-95.

3. B. Do, III NO.59 po4go

4. Cambon to Lansdowne October 6 1904 ibid, No.58, p.48.
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of these two treaties were not revealed to the public until
1911.l

The Agreement was received most cordially in England,
the vast majority of the public and leeders hailing it as a
great achievement. In the House of Commons opportunity was
taken to express hearty satisfaction. Staunch imperialists
criticized it, however, and their papers voiced some protest.
But in the main it was regarded as a step to secure general
peace by clearing away misunderstandings and differences with
the traditional enemy. One of the few 1eadérs to raeise his
voice against it was Lord Rosebery, who declared, "My mournful
and supreme conviction is that this agreement is much mqre‘
likely to lead to complications than to peace."2

In France the generasl sentiment was decidedly
favourable, but there was some strong opposition. The protests
came mainly from reactionaries and nationalists who felt that
France had been worsted in the deal. It was maintained that
France had given more than she had received -~ the concessions

in Africa did not make up for the loss of rights in Newfound-
land - England had her positon in Egypt while France had yet

1. It has been asserted by & German historian, though
without proof, that the German government in some
official way speedily became informed of these secret
articles, and saw in them an evidence of hostile feeling.
Gooch endorses this assertion; Cambridge History of
.British Foreign Policy, III, 340. Fay claims that there
is no tangible proof that Germany was made aware of
these secret dealings; op. cit., I, 164.

2. Cited in Churchill, W. S., The World Crlsis, (New York,

1923), I, 15.
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%o win hers in Morococo. In spite of these protests, the
Chamber and the Senate supported M. Delcassé and approved the
agreément. One of the fairest estimates of the value of the
Entente to the French is fpund_in the Revue des Deux Mondes,
Mey 1, 1904, and the writer's views might well be applied to
the English case alsgp. He states:

"It is impossible for us indeed not to
express some regrets with regard to Egypt, and some
apprehensions on the subjeoct of Morocco. But thias
does not alter our judgment on the totality of the
arrangements concluded. How could such an agreement
be worked out without reeciprocel concessions? - We have
yielded on some points, and some of these are costly.
England has yielded also .... Above all the entente is
concluded. Nothing henceforth divides us; we can now

enter in on a_new era where doubtless we have much %o
forget, but in which we have also much to hope for." (1)

In the light of future events it might be well\to _
note here the attitude of Germeny in the matter of tpngnpqnte
of 1904. As early as March 23, 1964, Delcassd had mentioned
1nforma11y to Prince Radolin, of the_German Embasay in ?aris,
the negotiations fqr the proposed Ahglq%French agreement.
Radolin had informed Bilow of this conversation,zthe first
definite knowledge which Bulow had received of the impending
agreement. Aside from this informal notification, and the
fact that the public articles were soon after printed in the
newspapers, Germany was not officially notified of the text,

nor formally consulted about the agreement, which involved in

l. Charmes, Francia chronique de la Quinzaine, Revue des
Deux Mondes, May 1, 1904, 239.

2. von Radolin to Bulow, March 23, 1904, Dugdale, op, cit., III,
188 - 90.
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a rea}vway her commercial and political interests in Moroceo.
In spite of these facts the attitude of offielal Germany was
at first friendly. 1In answer to a question on the subjeect
in the Reichstag on April 12, Bilow cautiously stated that he
could hardly say much because the English and French ministers
had not explained it publicly. He went on to state:
"] can only say that we have no cause to imagine

that the Treaty has a point against any other Power.

It seems to be an attempt to remove a number of differences

by peaceful methods. We have nothing from the standpoint

of Germen interests to objJject to in that. As to Morocco,

the Xkernel of the Treaty, we are interested in the

economic aspect. We have commercial interests, which

we must and shall protect. We have, however, no ground

to fear that they will be overlooked or infringed." (2)
The pan-German party felt Germany to be humiliated by the
agreement and gave voice to its protests; The Kaiser, however,
expressed no alarm, and on his visit to Kiel in June he
informed King Edward that he had no objeetion to the Treaty,

3

and that Moroceo had never interested him. But as events
moved forward Germany was not to take just as lightly a8 view
of the Agreement as was inferred in the Chancellor's speech.
The next few months were to reveal a dramatie change of fronst
at Berllin, and the forces which were set moving by this change
of front were to make Morocco the storm centre of Buropean
politics, and this in turn was to react upon Anglo-French

relations in a most significant manner.

l. Fay, op. cit., I, 178.
2. Gooch, op. cit., 350. '
d. cambrldge History of British Foreign Policy, IXII, 338.
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In this then lies the importance of the Anglo-French
Agreement of 1904 - Engiand had plunged into the contentious
affairs of the Continent. For years the casting vote of
England had been the great prize sought by the European Powers,
and how she would bestow it, and whether it would be bestowed
at all, had been one of the great problems. Now it had been
cast in favour of France. True, in the Agreement of 1904
Britain had promised only "diplomatie support" to France in
certain specified problems, and there was nothing in the
secret articles to enlarge or strengtheh that promise. It
- may well have seemed to the British leaders that in pledging
themselves to "diplomatic support" on certain colénial questions
that England was paying a small price for ridding herself of
" the chronic trouble and friction with France. But if the
forming of the Entente was an immense achievement, it was not
an unalloyed gain. The price of partnership witha Great Power
is entanglement in its feuds. The following chapter will show
that the casting of the British vote on the side of France was

to have serious implications in the future.



CHAPTER II1I

The Testing of the Entente



CHAPTER III
The Testing of the Entente

The Anglo-French Agreement within a few short months
brought Morocco, a country which hitherto had played a relatively
unimportant part in world affairs, to the very forefront of
international politics. It was now to rival Alsace-~Lorraine
a8 & point of discord between France and Germany, and to react
in a very real way upon Anglo-Germasn and Anglo-French relations.
To find how this came about willl involve a somewhat detailed
following of the events of the years 1904, 1905 and ;906.

It has been chérged against Germany that her sudden
intervention in Moroccan affairs early in 1905 was dus to her
desire to break up the Dual Alliance, sihce at that time Rusaia
was engaged in war with Japan, and that she was seeking a
pretext to force a war on France, while the Republic would be
without the aid of her ally.l From & military point of view
that prospect was undoubtedly extraordinarily attractive.
General von Schlieffen, the Chief of the German General Staff,
declared to the Chancellor at this time that Russia could not
possibly carry on two large wars, and at the same time added,

"If the necessity of a war with France should present itself

l. Newton, Lord, op. cit., 340. Spender, J.A., Fifty Years
of Europe, (London, 1933), 241; Tardieu, Andrd, France
and the Alliances, (New York, 1908), 168f.
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A A 1
to us, the present moment would be undoubtedly favourable.®

In épite of the many who uphold this view, and of circumstances
which are pointed to in substantiation of it, there is no evidence
in the German documents to prove that the German Government
contemplated taking advantage of the situation.z

It has been frequently maintained also that Germany
was influenced by a keen desire to weszken the Anglo-French _
Entente - that she was motivated by the desire toAdrive a wedge
between England anler'anee.-3 Just to what extent this influenced
German action is not easy to decide. But this assumption also
seems to have little foundation in fact.4

The real reason for the sudden intervention in
Moroceo would seem to have been largely one of prestige, combined
with the desire to safeguard the interests of Germany in

. 5
Morocco. Fearing that France might, as in Tunis, take into her

1. Schlieffen to Bulow, April 20, 1904, cited in
Brandenburg, op. cit., 209. ,

2. ¥ay, op. cit., I, 185. Dickinson, G.L., The International
Anarchy, (London, 1926), 126; Brandenburg, op. c¢it., 209.

3. Seymour, Charles, The Diplomatiec Background of the Great
War, (Hew York, 1916), 168-74; Grey, Sir Edward, Twenty-
Five Years, (London,1925) I, 54; Lee, op.cit., II, B37.
Spender, op. cit., 23b.

4. Bwart, J.S., Routs and Causes of the War, (New York,1932),
IX, 751; Fabre-Luce, Alfred, La Victoire, (Paris,1924),118.
Bourgeois, E., et Pagds, G., Les Origenes et les Respon-
sabilités de la Grande Guerre, (Paris, 1922),307-09.

5. "Germany," Billow had written on June 3, 1904," must object
to the control over Morocco that France has in view, not
only for material reasons, but even more for considerations
of prestige." Note to Holstein, cited in Renouvin, P.,

Hogeghe War Came, Foreign Affairs, VII, April, 1929,
P .
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hands all the administrative machinery of the government and
put Morocco under hgr political and economic domination, and
this in spite of very rea} German interests, Germany deecided to
act. There‘can be no doubt that Germeny had a good case for
complaint against the French action, as shgll be shown shortly.
The difficulty was that in spite of her legal justification
the poiicy which she adopted to defend her case lacked finesse.
Her methods were blundering and her claims were asserted in a
blustering and arrogant manner. Her crude diplomacy and the
amount of violence she expended in the handling of her case
aroused such resentment and fears that she defeated her own
' purpose.1

In claiming a vbice in thg settlement of Moroccan
affairs in 1906, Germany could rightfully point to substantial
economic intgrests there.2 An equally important point, and one
on which she based the legality of her claims, was that in
1880 she had been one of the Signatory Powers to thé Madrid
Convention. This Treaty had been signed@ by twelve of the
Powers who met with the Sultan's_representative to determine
the rights of foreigners in Morocco. In 1890 she had signed
a commerclial treaty with Morocco in which it was declared
"that the subjects of the swo parties will have the same rights
énd advantages as those which exist, or may come to exist, as

3
regards subjects of the most favoured nation." Clearly Germany

1. Trevelyan, G.M., Grey of Fallodon, (London, 1937), 125.
2. Bwart, op. cit., II, 755-57; Barelay, op. cit., 276.
3. Cited in Ewart, op. ocit., II, 757.
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had a strong case when she asked to be considered in Moroccan
affairse. ’

From time to time after 1890 Germany had displayed
her interest in Morocco. In 1899 the German ambassador and
Lord sSalisbury had exchanged views on the future of M’orocco.1
When the Kaiser mede his visit to England in 1899 Chamberlain
put forward the suggestion of a possible partition between
England and Germany, but this came to nothing.z In 1900 Bulow
had stated that Germany had interests in Morocco and that as
a result she could not be indifferent to the future of that
count‘,mr.:5 Again, in 1901 when Chamberlain was proposing a
possible agreement between England and Germany he favoured as
a firsf step a secret agreement between the two countries
with reference to Morocco.4 Though nothing éame.of these
proposals they do show that Morocco did have a ﬁlace in German
diplomacy.

In spite of these very real German interests France
had chosen to disregard Germany in carrying out her Morocqan
policy. As M. René Millet has said in criticizing this grave
blunder in Frenech poliey, "With incredible blindness the
Government took precautions with everybody except the only

5
one of its neighbours whom it had serious cause to fear.”

1. B.D., II, No.307, pp.2o6-57.
2. Brandenburg, op. c¢it., 146. )
3. Anderson, E.N., The First MoroccanCrisis,(Chicago, 1930)64.
4, Supra 27. » ' ' :
5. Cited in Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy,

op. ¢it.,III,340; Report of the Belgian Minister in London

%gfe 8, 1905, Morel, E.D., Diplomacy Revealed, (London, 192
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By & treaty with Italy in 1900‘France removed Italian opposition
by»promising to allow her a free hand in Tripoli.1 Negotiations
with Spain failed in 1902 owing to a change in the government,
but after the sueccess of the Anglo-French Entente of April 1904,
which assured France of British support in Morocco, an accord
waes made with Spain, as has been shown, on Qctober 3 of that
year.z France did not attempt to assure herself of German
support or acquiescence of her Moroccan plans, nor did she,
according to diplomatic usage, glve official notification to

the Germen Government of the Pranco-British Declaration referred
to above.3 She chose to ignore Germany, and assured of British,
Italian,and Spanish support, proceeded to carry out her own

blana .

l. Bwart, op. cit., IX, 761-62.

2. Supra. 51

3. Biulow to the German ambassador in Paris, May 1, 1905:
"It was conformable to international usage that France
after the conclusion of the Anglo-French Accord concerning
Moroceo, should communicate this Accord in the customary
form to a1l the interested parties. M. Delcassé has
declared, it is true, that this communication had become
superfluous by the fact of the publieation of the conven-
tion in the French Journal officiel. The Minister will
not omit to notice however, that these two methods of
‘notification possess a character essentially different.
The direct communication is not a simple act of courtesy.
The French Government, in deeiding to make it, would '
have declared itself ready to enter into discussion with
the persons to whom it ig delivered with reference to
thelr interests, in case they estimated them to be
affected. Publication in a French official paper, on
the contrary, places the other persons interested who have
not been interrogated in the presence simply of an
accomplished fact." (Cited in Ewart, op. oit., II, 770:).
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_ The Chancellor's Rgichétag speech on April 128, 1904,
was only a temporary acquiescence 1n4the Anglo-French Agreement,
and an invitation to France and Britain to consult Germany over
Moroceo. The German Government in truth liked that Accord less
than the German people, even though it knew nothing of the
secret articles. Bulow, who publiely proclaimed that the
-agreement placed Germaeny in no actual danger, admitted that
"doubtlessly both Powers (France and Great Britain) win in
international influence and in freedom of movement by this
sccord and by their rapprochement, and that the drawing force

. 1
of the Anglo-French Entente on Italy will elso be strengthened."

The prospective loss of Morocco to Germany,and the general )
dissatisfaction in Germany over the conduet of féreign affairs,
acecentuated Bilow's 111-will towards the agreement.

To manifest its dissatisfaction at being excluded
from the Moroccan settlement snd to force M. Delcassé to come
to an agreement with Germany on that question; the German _
Government first considered in April the project of dispatching
a warship to Tangier, ostensibly to settle certain grievances
which Germany held against Moroceo at the time.z The proposal
was not acted upon at the time however. On May 21, the German
Foreign Office telegraphed to Mentzingen that "since a forceful

action could be easily misunderstood and lead to erroneous

1. Bilow to William II, April 20, 1904; cited in Anderson,
op. cit., 143. o

2. Dr. Genthe, a.German resident in Morocco, had been
recently murdered by natives; a native employee of a
German firm had been illegelly imprisoned; and certain
indemnities from the Moroccan Government had to be
collected. See also Dugdale, op. cit., III, 219.
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_ 1
conclusions about Germany policy"™ the ship would not be sent.

It is regretable that similar foresight was not adopted in the
spring of 1905.

Bulow, however, had not made up his mind to relinquish
German ambitioné in Morocco; he ﬁas determined to share in the
settlement of Moroccan affairs. In spite of the fact that the
Kaiser himself had little interest in Moroeco, and had diaelaiméd
-in a conversation with the King of Spain at: Vigo on March 16,
1904, any interest in territorial acquisitions, but only in
the maintainance of the ™open door," Bulow held other views.
It is only fair to say of the Kalser that in these days he
played no great part in determining German Morocean policy;
the motive force behind 1t was Bilow. |

Late in April, 1904, Bulow seized the opportunity to
intervene in Moroccan affairs through Spain, with whose Government
France was then negotiating for the later asgreement. He gave
every encouragemeﬁt to Spain in order that she might receive
better terms from the more powerful France. But it was soon
seen that Germany could derive little profit from the Franco-
Spanish negotiations.

- German grievances against Morocco meanwhile remained
unsettled. German trading firms were demanding protection
against monopolistic actions of the French. 1In June France
had practically galned control of the Sultan's finances.

1. Anderson, op. cit., 148. :

2. Ibid., 152-533 Lansdowne to Lascelles, June 1, 1904,
B.D., III, Ro.61, p.53. Renouvin, Pierre, La Crise.
Buropéenne et la Grande Guerre, (Paris, 1924), 70.
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Kor-hgd M. Delgassé up_to this time shown any inclination to open
up negotiations with Germany.

Already disgruntled at the French foreign minister,
the German Government now came to feel itself slighted ahd
humiliated by this disregard. 1Its resistance towards his
policy came to be concentrated upon the one grievance which
could be best upheld in the eyes of the publie, that France
was infringing upon German economic interests in Morocco. 1t
therefore began to adopt a more active policy.

On June 3. the Belgian minister at Berlin informed
the German Foreign Office that he suspected that there were
secret articles in the Anglo-Freth Aoccord concerning‘the
Rhenish frontier. Count Metternich, al though he believed the
Agreement did contain secret articles concerning Egypt, doubted
the suspicions of the Belglen minister, but mentioned the
rumor to Lord Lansdowne on June 19. The latter assured him
that the Accord contained no articles which concerned@ European
complicat;ons.l Neve;theless, Bﬁlpw»real;zed that any attempt
pf Germany to interfere in the Moroccan éuestion would lead to
far;reaching consequences, and would néea caution; for this
reaéon he sought to learn how the British Government regarded
its obligations to France with respect to Morocco.

With this in mind,Mettérnich discussed the Qnastion
of Morocco with Lord Lansdowne on August 15. Expressing fears
of French monopolization in Morocco, he asked Lord Lansdowne,

invvigw of the danger to German economic interests, how the

British Government would interpret Article IV of the Anglo-French

l. Anderson, op. cit., 155.
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Agreement, which article stated that the/concessionsvfbr roads,
railways, ports, etc., were to be grgnted "only on such condition
as will maintain intact the authority of the State over these
great undertakings of public interest.™ He wished also to know
how Article IX pledging Great Britain to lend diplomatic support
to France would be interpreted. '

‘Lord Lansdowne cautiously stated that he did not wish
to express an opinion upon Article IX in a purely hypothetiecal
case. He went on to say: 7

. "We made no attempt to dispose of the rights
of other Powers, although we made certain concessions
in respect of the rights and opportunities to which we
were ourselves entitled. I could at any rate say that
it was not at all probable that, if any Third Power
were to have occasion to uphold its treaty rights, we
should use our influence in derogation of them."™ (1)

Metternich;inferred from this interview that the
British Government would limit the scope of Article IX, and
that in case Germany's actions did not infringe‘upon the
Sultan's authority Germany would be quite safe in opposing
France in Morocco. He reported, however, that Great Britain
would oppose Germany seeking control of a harbour there; and
warned his gévernment-that if a third Power should dispute
politically the French position that both the English people
and thg government would support France. Within these limits
Germeny might carry out her Moroccan policy.2

Just previous to receiving this reply Biilow had
proposed dispatching an ultimatum to thé Sultsn, demanding

under threat of a naval demonstration that the outstanding

1. Lansdowne to Lascelles, August 15,1904,B.D., III, No.62.
&. Anderson, op. cit., 156-7.



German clalms be satisfied within three months. The Emperor,
who remained steadily qpposeﬁ to active interference in the
Sherifian Empire, refused his consent to the plan, and nothing
was done.

But while no German action was taken during these
months, feeling continued to smolder. The non-committal
communications from the French Government with regard to the
Franco-Spanish agreement in October; along within the repeated
petitions from German firms for defense of their interests
augmented the bitterness against France. By the end of the
year the Moroceo question was still very much alive. As the
American vice-consulhremarked to a leading Moor, "Germany has
not yet spoken,_and until then we cannot believe that anything
definite. has been decided.ﬂl A

Soon afterwards Germany put to one side her grievances
with the Sulten and his government, and.began to assume an
attitude of friendliness. She began to encourage the Sultan
to resist the "Tunisification™ programme which Delcassd and
the French Government were believed to be foreing on Morocco.
On Februery 11, 1905, the French chargé at Tangier. reported
to Delcass€ an ominous communication received from Kuhlnann,
the German ambaésador; in which the latter stated,

After the Anglo-Ffench arrangement of 1904
we supposed the French Government was waiting for the
Franco-Spanish agreement before putting us in possession
of the new situation. But now that everything is '

settled, we see that we have been systematically kept
aloof. The Chancellor tells me that the German Government

1. Cited in Fay, op. cit., I, 181.



was ignorant of &ll the agreements éonéefning |
Morocco, and does not acknowledge himself bound
to them in any way. (1)

Delcasse complained to Berlin of this language, and
reminded the German Government that he had answered Prince
Radolin's enquiries of March 23, 1904, and stated that Berlin
hed asked for no explanations of the Agreement. The German
Under-8ecretary, von Muhlberg, who received the complaing,
replied that he knéw nothing of Kuhlmann's declaratidn, but
added that Germany was not bound.by the Anglo—French or the
Franco-Spanish treaties.2

France meanwhile had_been procseding with her policies
in Moroecco: On January 1ll, 1905, the French ministe: at Tangier,
M. Saint-René Taillandier, had been ordered to Fez, the
Morocecan capital, to lay before the Sultan a programme of
reforms consisting of a military programme and a list of
rigorous demands dealing with finances, tariffs and concesslions
for publie works, in all of which France was to act as a general
advisef, instructor and regulator. It has been alleged that
the French Ambassador, in eairying out his mission, sought to
produce the impression that‘he was acting on behalf of all the
Great Powerg in reorganizing the military and civil government

of Morocco. Germany was now convinced that very soon her

1. Gooch, G.P., History of Modern Europe, (London, 1923),361.
Debidour A., Histoire Diplomatique de 1'Europe, (Paris ,1920),
11,15. Paleologue M., Un Grand Tournant de la Politique
Mondlale (Paris, 1934) 238-39.

&. Gooch, op. cit., 351-1Pa1eologue, op. cit., 242. :

3. Delcasse denied this charge; Ewart, op. cit., 11, 768.

It was denxedfalso by Taillandier himself; Debidour,
op. eit., II;*18; also in Bérard, Victor, Le Livre Jaune
Sur Maroe, La Revue de Paris, January 1, 1906 210.
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economie activities in Moroceo would be at an end if the
French obtained their demands.

Acceordingly, Dr. Vassel was sent to Fez to inform
the Sultan that Germany had not given her consent to the Ffench
programme. Bﬁiow was careful to warn his agent, however, not
to encourage the Sultén to expect German support in a war with
France,lbut yet the Sultan was to be encouraged to resist the
‘French demands. The Sultan decided to call together an
Assembly of Notables to examine what steps should be taken.
Kuhlmann approved this step as a "skilful anti-French move."a

In order to strengthen his hand against France,
Bulow sought to win the support of President Roosevelt in the
Moroccan question. As Germany and United States had coopérated
cordially in preserving the "open door" in China, Bulow
endeavoured to extend this effort to Morocco, and to win the
United States to his side against France and Britain. On
February 25 he invited Roosevelt to unite with Germany in
advising the Sultan that the calling of the Notables was a
correct move in fortifying his government and in inaugurating
reforms. Although not interested in Morocco, the President
agreed to instruct the American representative in Tangier to
keep in close touch with his German colleague. This answer
satisfied the German Government, for they now felt assured of

3
Roosevelt's moral support.

l. Fay, op. cit., I, 183.
2. Ibid., 188.
3. Anderson, op. cit., 185.
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On March 10 a note was sent to the Sultan stating,
that although the German Government realized that his country
must be reorganized, Germany

hopes that the rumours of & prospective change

in existing conditions in Morocco -~ equal rights and

freedom for all nations - are unfounded; Germany would

disapprove of such a change. Germany and the United

States are favourably inclined towards the maintenance

of the present conditions «.... the attitude of the

other Powers is not definitely known. (1)
Germany here showed her strong disapproval of the whole French
action, and sought to augment Moroccan resistance without
committing herself to any definite poligy.

When speaking in the»Reichstag on March 15, the
Chancellor intimated that Germany intended taking steps to
defend her Moroccan interests. He stated:

I understand entirely the attitude which 1s
given here to events in and around Morocco. I regard
it as a duty of the German Govermment to see that ...
our economic interests in Morocco are not injured. (2)

At this same time a most dramatlic coup was being
planngd. Holstein has been charged as the moving spirit behind
this, but in his memoirs Bulow takes unto himself the full

4 .
responsibility. In the spring of 1905 the Kalser was planning
a trip in the Mediterranean, and it was now suggested that he
use the opportunity tovland at Tangler to visit the Sultan.

The Kaiser, in keeping with his past policy with regard to

1. Anderson, op. cit., 185.

2. Ibid., 186. '

3. Brandenburg, op. cit., 220; Paldologue, op. cit., 289,
Hammasn, Otto, The World Policy of Germany, 1890-191%,
(London, 1927), 149. _

4. Bulow, Prince von, Memoirs,(London,1931),IX,107. Debidour
blames the Kaiser; op. cit., IX, 17.
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1
Morocco, had small inelination for this undertaking, but was

persuaded by Bllow to agree. In order to prevent the ruler
changing his mind the Chancellor had the newspapers announce
the forthecoming visit. 1In answer to objections of the Kaiser,
he wrote the same day, "Your Majesty's visit to Tangier will
embarrass M. Delcassé, traverse his schemes, and further our
business interests in Moroccg."z A few days later he wrote;
"For apart -from the fact that the systematic exclusion of all
hon-French merchants and promoters from Morocco according to
the example of Tunis would signify an important economic loss
for Germany, it is also a want of appreciation of our power
when M. Delcassé has not considered it worth the effort to
negotiate with Germany over his Moroccen plans. M. Delcasse
has conmpletely ignored us in this affair."3

The Emperor had agreed to the plan, but when he
learned from the‘newspapers that the Tangier population was
planning to exploit his visit agaéinst the French,he wrote to
Bilow; "Telegraph at once to Tangier that it is most doubtful
whether I land, and that I am only travelling lncognito as a
tourist; therefore no audiences, no receptions."4 The Chanocellor,
however, pointed out that a public announcement of the visit

had already been made, and if it was now given up it might

appear that the plans had been changed owing to pressure from

1. Bilow, op. cit:, II, 106. ‘

2. Bilow to the Emperor, March 20, 1905, Dugdale, op. cit.,
\ I1I, 223. .

d. Cited in Anderson, op. cit., 187.

4. Cited in Fay, op. cit., I, 183.
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‘France. William again consented, though at Lisbon, and even
at the last moment in the harbour at Tangier, he hesitated once
l .
more. -But he finally yielded and carried out the programme
others had arranged for him. It was on March 31 he landed to
play his dramatic role. The object of the visit had been
previously explained in the Reichstag by Bulow on March 29,
when he declaréd:
A year ago the Kaiser told the King of Spain
that Germany does not strive for territory in Morocco.
It is therefore useless to attribute to the Tangier
visit any selfish purpose directed against its integrity
or independence. NoO one who does not pursue an
aggressive goal can find cause for apprehension. We
have economic interests, and in Morocco, as in China,
it is to our interests to keep the open door. (2).
Onhathe Kaiser's arrival at Tangler there was a
reception of the foreign diplomats at which the French chargé
dvaffalres unexpectedly made a spesch as if he were welcoming
the Kaiser to Morocco in the name of France,_stating that his
government had no thought of infringing upon the economie
equality of other nations. The Xaiser replied somewhat
brusquely that he would deal directly with the Sultan as a
ruler of an'independent country and would secure satisfaction
‘for his own just claims, and expected that these would be

5]
respected also by PFrance.

1. Schoen to the German Foreign Office, March 31,1905, Dugdale,
op.cit.,I¥I,224. Ludwig,op.cit.,286-87. '

2. Cited in Gooch, op. cit., 352.

8. Brandenburg, op.cit.,221; Anderson,op.cit.,194. See also
Newton, op. cit., 332-33, who relates a conversation
which the Kalser had with Prince Louis of Battenburg
on April 1 in which-he unbosomed himself freely on the
‘Subject of his visit in his well-known style. fThis
conversation was later reported to Lansdowne by Xing
Edward. The Kaiser sald: "I went to Tangier for the
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In an address to the German colony he said,

"I am happy to salute the devoted pioneers of
_German industry and commerce who aid me in my task
of maintaining the interests of the Fatherland in a
free country. The Empire has great and growing interests
in Moroecco. Commerce can only progress if all the
Powers are considered to have equal rights under the
sovereignty of the Sulten, and compatible with the
independence of the country. My visit 1s a recognition
of this independence." (1)

The theme of this address was further developed in a speech
delivered to the Sultan's uncle and Plenipotentiary.

"My visit is to show my resolve to do 8ll in
my power to safeguard Germen interests in Moroecco.
Considering the Sulten as absolutely free, I wish to
discuss with him the means to secure these interests.
As for the reforms he contemplates it seems to me he
should proceed with great caution.” (2) :

The Kaiser's visit and hisAspeeches°at Tahgier
created a sensation throughout Europe. What did Germany mean
by this theatrical step? The real object of the visit was
for the public at large shrouded in mystery, and this very
naturally gave rise to the wildest of rumors. Bulow, himself,
contributed to this by his instruetions %o the Foreign 0ffice
on March 24 to give out no explanations whatsoever to foreign

diplomats should they meke inquiries, but to "play the Sphinx."

It was most commonly held in Paris and in London that Germeny

express purpose of telling the French minister what

my views were. I sald, 'I know nothing of any agreement
between France and Morocoo. For me, the Sultan is an
independent sovereign. I am determined not to have s
repetition of what happened in Tunis .... When the
minister tried to argue with me I said, "Good morning,"
and left him standing.'"™ Lee, op. cit., 1Y, 340 - -
Paléologue mentions this conversation, 279.

l. Cited in Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, I11,339.

2. Ibia, 338.
3. Bra.ndenburg, op. cit., 222.
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was seeking a quarrel with France, or was endeavouring to
destroy the Entente.l

As has been mentioned above, there is no evidence
to show that Germany was seeking such ends. The purpose of
the German leaders seems to have been to uphold Germen prestige,
to show that Germany was not willing to be left out where her
interests were concerned, to check French peantration in Morocco
until Germany's consent had been obtained or bought by means of
concessions elsewhere. The French press had spoken openly of
setting up a second Tunis in Morocco,aand certainly French
policy seemed to be tending in that direction. Germany believed,
and not without reason, that unless she entered an emphatie protest,
Moroceo would bé entirely lost to France. 1% is important to
reaiize that Delcassé had not purchased Germany's. assent to
French policy. He had assured himself of the goodwlll of Italy,
Spain, and Great Brifain,but he had totally disregarded Germany
as a factor in Morocecan affairs despite her great economio |
interests there and her signing of the Madrid Treaty, and

3
despite the fact that of all Powers her pride was most sensitive.

1. Ewart, op. cit., 774 Supra. 57.

2. cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, op. cit.,IX1,339.

. Bwswmn Mr. G.P. Gooch censures Great Britain for her part
in disregarding German interests. He states: "It is
regrettable that the British cabinet did not perceive - or
at any rate did not help France to perceive - the wisdom
of securing German consent by a "solatium." Though the
Secret Treaties of 1904 reserved no share for Great Britain
in the contingent partition of Moroceo, and though it has
been argued that it was reasonable for the contracting
parties to make alternative arrangements in the event of
Morocco collapsing from internal weakness, our share in a
transaction which suggested double-dealing involves the
British Government in partial responsibility for the erisés
of 1905 and 1911."™ Cambridge History of British Forelgn
Policy, op. cit:, III, 340.
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Though the Tangier visit was to bring about many
unexpected and unhappy results it did have the désired result
for Germany of making France aware that she could no longer
disregard the Empire in Moroceo. On March 31, the day of the
Kaiser's landing, Delcassé declared in the Senate:

Nothing in our Moroccan policy,; nothing in our

execution of the accords of April 8, and October 3, 1904,

can explain the movements of the German press .... You

may legitemately hope that in the western basin of the

Mediterranean ...: France will succeed, without ignoring

any right, without injuring any interest, in assuring

her future. (1)
At the same time he instructed M. Saint-René Taillandier, who
was s8till carrying on his negotiations with the Sultan, to warn
the monarch against following the proposals put forward in the
German press for an international conference to discuss Moroccan
affairs.z He felt it was wise also to now open up negotiations
with Berl;n for an understanding with regard to Moroceo, and he
made efforts to approach indirectly the German Government with
this end in view. On April 7 he stated publiecly in the French
Chamber that "France was ready to dissipate any misunderstandings
which .... may still exist."a On April 13, while dining at the
German Embassy, he repeated'this offer to Prince Radqlin, an
discussed with him French policy in Morocco, pointing out that
freedom of commerce fof all nations was safeguarded in the

4 .
agreements made with England and Spain. Immediately after, the

l. Cited in Anderson, op. cit., 198.

2. Ibid., 198.

3. Ibid., 199.

4. Ibid., 199; Paldologue, op. cit., 290-91.
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British Government was asked "to help convince the Emperor
that German interests were_in~no way threatened%in Moroceo .

M. Delcassé was greatly handicapped in carrying out
his policies at this time because he did not have the loyal
support of either the publiec or of his government.z The f@&n
that he had blundered and aroused German enmity, the feag of
complications with might result, along with political Jealousy,
aroused by his long tenure of office and a dislike of his
secretiveness, all combined against him. He was attacked by
all parties as well as his colleagues; hardly a volee was raised
in his support. On April 22 he offered his resignation, but
reconsidered it on the appeals of President Loubetzand Eaul
Cambon who was in Paris. M. Rouvier half-heartedly supported

the foreign minister, but assured the Chamber that in future
he would personally supervise foreign affairs.4 Thus publie
opinion forced an almost complete surrender in the face of a
German menace. It remained, however, to be seen how faerrénce
would yield before her desire for peace would conflict with her
national honour.

If the Kaiser's dramatic assertions at Tangier had

forced France to reconsider her Moroccan policy, they also forced

1. Lansdowne to Lascelles, April 27,1905;B.D.,III, Ho.BO,p 67
Note (1). See also No.QO,p 3, editor's note.

2. Hele, 0.J.; Germany and the Diplomatio Revolution,
(Philadelphia, 1931), Chapter V. Paldologue, op.cit., 293,
296; Porter,C.W.,The Career of Théophile Deloasse,
(Philadelphia, 1936), 232-33.

3. Paléologue, op. cit., 300; Porter, op. cit., 239-40.

4. Porter, op. cit., 239.
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Germany how to take positive action in that question. As
Holstein said, "a retreat would stand on the same level with
Olmutz and cause Fashoda to be forgotten."l Bulow had now
decided on the”following policy: to continue denying any
territorial ambitions in Moroceco, to demand economic equality
for all nations, to insist updn an international conference
like that at Madfid in 1880 to diScués the whole question of
Moroccan reform.2 No separate‘negotiations with France would
be considered.
Had German policy with regard to Morocco not been
so widely procléimed to the world at Tangier, and in so
theatrical a fashion, there is little doubt that the German
Government could have obtained compensations from France and
settled outstanding differences with the Republic. Delcassd
was willing to settle such differences,5 and Rouvier was later
to offer proposals to this effect. Germany, howéver, insisted
always on the conference as ﬁhe»best meens of settling the
question. Bulow did not doubt that the proposal for a
conference would be accepted,'and that the conference on meeting
would refuse to turn Morocco over to France. Writing to the
Kaiser on April 14, he said:
In case a conference meets, we are already
certain of the diplomatie support of America in favour
of the open door .... Austria will not quarrel with us

over Morocco .... Russia is busy with herself ....
e N N

l. Anderson, op. eit., 202.

2. Bulow to the Emperor, April 4, 1905, Dugdale, op.cit.,
ITII, 224, , , i

Se Sup}a 73; Also, Lester to Lansdowne, April 21, 1905, B.D.
IIT, No. 89, p.72; and Bertie to Lansdowne, April 27, 1905,
Ibid, No.84, p.68. Renouvin, op.cit., 71.
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The English Government - between Roosevelt and those
BEnglish groups which think as the ™Morning Post,"
"Manchester Guardian" and Lord Rosebery(I) - will not
stir. Spain is of no importance, and also has a strong
party in favour of the status quo. We should certainly
be able to hold Itely in order .... If France refuses
the conference she will put herself in wrong towards all
the Signatory Powers (2) and thereby will give BEngland,
Spain and Italy a probably welcome excuse to withdraw. (3)
~ On April 9 it was decided to send Count Tattenbach
to Fez to combat the efforts of the French mission under
Taillandier, and to win the Sultan's approval of a conference.
At the same time, by messages to the Sultan, Biulow sought to
prevent him from making any decisions before the Count arrived.
Bilow realized that if the French sucoceeded in gaining the
Sultan's acceptance of their proposals for reforms the.entire
German polioy would be frustrated. On April 12, by means of
a circular dispatch to the Signatory‘Poners'of the Madrid
Preaty, he explained Germany's stand and proposed the reference
. 4
of the whole question to an international conference.
Meanwhile what was the British reaction to this
situation® Both the Government and the publiec believed that

Germany was striking as much at Great Britain as at France in

l. These three had eriticized the Anglo-French accord.

2. Referring to those Powers which had signed the Treaty
of Madrid in 1880.

3. Bllow to William II, April 4 1905, cited in Anderson,
op. cit., 203.

4. Por this dispatch see Ewart, op. cit., II, 774-75.
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in an effort to break the Entente. British feeiing was well
expressed by XKing Edweard, who wrote indignently on April 15
to Lord Lansdowne:

The Tangier incident was the most mischievous
and uncalled for event which the German Emperor has ever
engaged in since he came to the throne. It was also a
theatrical fiasco, and if he thinks he has done himself
good in the eyes of the world he is very much mistaken.
He is no more or less than a political "enfant terrible,"”
and one can have no faith in any of his assurances. His.
own pleasure seems to wish to set every country by the
ears. (1)

The eriticism by Lord Lansdowne was no less severe. 1In a
letter to Lascelles on April 9 he wrote:

I am afraid that we can hardly regard this
Tangier ebullition as an isolated incident. There can
be no doubt that the Kaiser was much annoyed by the
Anglo-French Agreement, and probably even more so by
our refusal to vamp up some agreement of the same kind
with Germany over the Egyptlan question.

We shall, I have little doubt, find that the
Kaiser avalls himself of every opportunity to put spokes
in our wheels, and convince those who are watching the
progress of the game that he means to take an important
part in it.

My impression 1s that the German Government have
really no cause for complaint either of us or the French
in regard to the Moroceo part of the Agreement. We made
no secret of 1ts existence. It dealt exclusively with
French and British interests in Morocco, and so far as
the other Powers were concerned, it provided adequate
security for their interests, and for the integrity of
Moroceo itself. What else does the Kaiser want? (2)

What was considered the threatening attitude of the
Kaiser suggested to that atdent spirit, Admiral Fisher, a

"golden opportunity"™ for making war on Germany. In a letter

l. Lee, op. cit., II, 340.
2. Cited in Newton, op. cit., 334.
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to Lord Lansdowne on April 22 he actual;y undertook that if

it came about, "we could have the German Fleet, the Kiel Canal,
i 1l

and Schleswig-Holstein within a fortnight.®

The Britiéh Government feared for a time that Germany
was seeking a port in Morocco, and was very anxious to check
the realization of such an objective. On April 22 Lord Lansdowne
wrote to Bertie in Paris with regard to this matter:

It seems to me not unlikely that German
Government may ask for a port on the Moorish coast.

You are authorized to inform Minister for Foreign
Affairs that we should be prepared to Jjoln French Government
in offering strong opposition to such a proposal and to
beg that if question is raised French Government will
afford us a full opportunity of conferring with them
as to steps which might be taken to meet it.

German attitude in this dispute seems to me most
unreasonable having regard to M. Delcasséd's attitude, and
we desire to give him all the support we can. (2)

On April 24 Bertie communicated these views of Lord
Langdowne to M. Delcassd, but in his draft of the communication
he seems to have gone a little further than did his chief,
giving greater emphasis to the offer of British support.

The British Government finds that the ccnduct of
Germany in the Moroccan question is most unreasonable in
view of M. Delcasséd!s attitude, and it desires to give
his Excellency all the support in its power. It seems not
improbable that the German Government may- ask for a port
on the Moroccan coast. In that event the British Government
would be willing to join the French Government in offering
strong opposition to such a proposal and it asks M.
Deleassé, in case the question is raised, to give the
British~Government full opportunity to concert with the
French Government upon the measures which might be taken
to meet that demand. (3)

l. Cited in Newton, op. cit., 534-5.
2. Lansdowne to Bertie, April 22, 1905, B.D.III,No.90, 472-73.
3. Draft by Bertie, April 24,1905,1bid,N0.91,pp.73-"74.
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| M. Delcassd was"very grateful"lfor this offer of
British support. He denied that Germany'had made a request
for a Moroccan port, but promised to communicate with the
British Govefnment if such a request should be made, and to
warn the Sultan against makihg any concessions to Germany. By
the offer of support from Britain Delcassd felt encouragedAto
hold to his policy in spite of Germany's opposition, and in
spitevof the lack of support from his own people.
He was not supported, however, by his premier, M.
Rouvier, who as well as being premier, had assumed a general
control over foreign policy since‘April.2 M. Rouvier was much
more cautious than the daring Delcassé; he was essentially a
man of peace, and>feared en open confliet with Germany. Offers
of British support did little to quliet his fears, since he realized
that the British navy "did not have wheels." He now intervened
personaily in the question to attempt a settlement with Germany.
In conversations with Prince Radolin on April 25 and April 28
he stated that the idea of a conference was not aceeptable to
France. He suggested that if Berlin was willing, the purpose
of the proposed conference might be served by sending a French
circular note to all the Signatory Powers, and if the majority
of those Powers were opposed to‘French action in Moroceco, it
would not be carried out. Again and again he endeavoured to
learn what concessions Germany would ask for relinquishing her

demand for a conference, and showed himself réady to enter into

1. Bertie to Lansdowne, April 25 1905, D.D.,IIX,N0.92, p.74
2. Supra. 74,
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a general agreement concerning disputed colonial questions.

Bﬁt since Germany had so widely proclaimed her disinterestedness
ih Moroecco she was not in a position to negotiate for compen-
sations. Moreover, it would have meant now sacrificing the
Sultan to the'Frendh, after having encouraged him to resist
them. Thus Gérmany was forced to continue travelling along
the route on which she had set out.

Meanwhile the German Government had sought the aid
of the United States in overocoming the resistance of France
and Britain to the holding of the conference. It was fels
that the attitude of Britain would be greatly influenced by
that of the United States, and therefore Germany asked
President Roosevelt on April 5 for his support.z On April 26
the German ambassador in Washington again wrote the President,
saying that the Emperor would be most grateful if he (Roosevelt)
would intimate tb'England that he would like to see England and

1. Anderson, op.: cit., 218-219; Hamman, op: ecit.; 166;
Brandenburg, op. clt., 223. Ludwig, op. cit., 359. It
is significant to note that Bllow and Holstein concealed
from William II. M. Rouvier's offers of a direct Franco-
Germaen agreement. They doubtless felt that he, who was
no very sound supporter of their Morocoan policy, might
accept. In this interpretation of his probable attitude
they were correct. Some years later when the Kaiser
came to learn of M. Rouvier's offers and their rejection
by Blulow, he wrote, "If I had been told about this, I-
should have gone into it thoroughly, and that idiotiec
conference would never have taken place. See Nicolson,

op. cit., 166.

2. Bishop, J.B., Theodore Roosevelt and His Time, (New York,
1920), I, 468. Jusserand, J.J., What Me Befell (London,
1933), 314-15 We might note in this connection that the
United States had signed the Madrid Convention of 1880.
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' 1
Germany in harmony in their dealing wl th Morocco.™
On May 13 another memorandum was sent to Roosevelt,
insisting on thevnecessity of the conference and complaining
of English opposition;2 Again, on May 31 a third memorandum
deciarea"that England is the only Power which opposes such &
conference, though it seems she will drop her objections in
case you should participate in the conference."Z
| Roosevelt's attlitude can best be gathered from the
letter he wrote to Taft, the acting Secretary of State. It

contained the following:

I do not feel that as a Government we should
interfere in the Morocco matter. We have other fish
to fry, and we have no real interest in Morocco. I

do not care to take sides between France and Germany
in the matter.:

At the same time 1f I can find out what Germany -
wants I shall be glad to oblige her if possible, and I
am sincerely anxious to bring about a better state of
feeling between England and Germany. Each nation is
working 1tself up to a condition of desperate hatred
of the other; each from sheer fear of the other. (4)

In a letter to the German ambassador on the same
date he reiterated that the United States had no direct
interest in Morocco, but offered to serve as a mediator between
Germany and Great Britain - "to sound the British Government

5 .
and f£ind out what its views are.m

l. Bishop, op. cit., I, 469.
2. Ibid., 469.
3. Ibid., 4m.
4. Ivid., 472.
5. Ibid., 474.
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The British Government proved most unwilling to
accept the mediation of the President and assured him through
their ambassador that there was no idea in Englend of attacking
‘Germany or of anticipating a German attack on England.l The
German Government, however, was encouraged by the attitude of
.Roosevelt, for it seemed to place the United States on the side
of Germany. ‘ |

Distressed by the German rejections of French offers,
and fearful of war, M. Rouvier went a step farther to meet
Germany bj offering at the end of April to get rid of Delcassé,
suggesting that it could be done over some domestic diffigulty
Within the course of the next few weeks.z In spite of this
of fer Germany proved unwilling to effect a direct settlement.

Meanwhile, she was pressing Spain and Italy as well
as the United Sﬁates for support.3 Then on May 13 Count
Tattenbach arr;védlin Fez to persuade the Sultan to resist the
French demands. A few days later he reported that M. Delcassd
had instructed the French minister to issue a veiled threat
of violence4against Morocaeo shoﬁld the Sultan agree to a

conferencé. Bulow thereupon warned M. Rouvier against M.

Delcassé's "stormy and violent Moroccan policy." Pursuing

l. Durand to Lansdowne, April 26, 1905, B.D. IXII, No.82,
pPp:.67-68.

2. Brandenburg, op. cit., 223. Porter, op. cit., p.248.
Anderson, op. cit., 219. Blulow to German Foreign Office,
May 6, 1905; Dugdale, op. cit., III, 227.

3+ Nicolson to Lansdowne, May 5, 1905, B.D., III, No.87, p.70.

" Egerton to Lansdowne, May 5, 1905. Ibid., No.88, p.71.

4. Anderson, op. cit., 223; Bourgeols et Pagds, op. cit., 309.
The French minister, Saint Rend-Taillandier denies this
charge - see his letter to Rouvier, June 15,1905, cited in
"Le Livre Jaune Sur Maroe,™ by Victor Bérard, in the Ia
Revue de Paris, January I, 1906, 212. '
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this matter still further, the_Changellor instructed Herr von
Miquel, councilor in the German Embssgsy at Paris, to inform M.
Rouvier amicably but firmly that Delcassé would have to go,
and that Franco-German relations would not improve as long as
he remained in ofﬁ_ce.1

On May 28 the Sultan rejected the French proposeals
and gave his approval to the holding of an international
conference to discuss Moroccan affairs. Bulow then warned the
French premier that since the Sultan had acquiesced in the matter
of German policy Germany would "follow up the consequences if
France continued the policy of intimidation and violence
hitherto pursued by Delcasee’.“2 In this way the German Government
was attempting to force the dismissal of the French foreign
minister.

But Delcassé, feeling sure of the support of Great
Britain and of Russia, held out stubbornly against the proposed
conference. To his colleagues, however, this policy seemed
fraught with danger. The air was thick with rumours of a
German_ultimatum,_and with talk of French unpreparedness for

war. At a meeting of the cabinet on June 6, M. Delcassd,

1. Anderson, op. cit., 224, Paléologue, op. cit., 350.

2. The "Gaulois™ published articles on June 9 and 17, 1905,
asserting that Prince Henckel von Donnersmarck had also
been sent by the German Government to Paris about June 1
to warn Rouvier that Delcassd must be dismissed. See
Bourgeois et Pageés, op. cit., 310; Debidour, op. eit., II,
21; Fabre-Luce, op. cit., 119. Authorities seem to differ
greatly on this point. Some doubt the truth of the facts
as published by the "™Gaulois," and attribute the story to
French Jjournalistic imagination. See Fay, op. eit., I,
187, footnote; and Anderson, op. cit., 225, footnote. Hale
claims that the words attributed to the Prince were merely
opinions and rumours current in Paris from June 6 to 17;
op.cit., chapter VI. On the other hand, Porter, the biog-

rapher of Delcassd, suggests that the Prince was sent as an
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though aware of his isolation, stoutly defended his stand and
his policy of the past few years. He claimed that in an
exchange of notes with Great Britein he had recently received
an assurance of armed suppprt'in the eventvof a German attack.
Assertihg the possibility of a formal alliance with Great
Britain, he urged the acceptance of her offer and the refusal
of the idea of a conference. M. Rouvier and his colleagues'
held, however, that the acceptance of the British offer would
mean certain war wifh Germeny, and felt that France should
agree to the conference. Delcassdﬁ after warning them that
suchva weak policy would only encourage German insolence,v
resigned.l

The "British offer,® on the strength of which the
foreign minister was prepg;ed to risk a France—German war, has
remained somewhat of a puzzle to historians. 1In QOctober of »
1906 the "™Matin" published a series of revelations concerning
the fall of Deléassé. These included the assertion, as coming
from him, that he had been promised by the British Government,
in case of a German attack, that the British fleet would be
mobilized to seize the Kiel Canal, and would land one hundred
thousand men in Schleswig-Holsteindz That such an offer was
ever made by, or on behalf of, the British Government was
denied at the time by the Foreign 0ffice, and British leaders

have always since denied that any offer of an alliance or of

emissary of the Kaiser without the consent of the German
Foreign 0ffice; op. cit., 248-50.

l.pebidour, op. cit., IX, 22-24. Paléologue, op. cit.,
$50-52; Porter, op. cit., 258-60.

2.Porter, op. cit., 262-63.
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1
armed assistance was ever made to France.

In the middle of May, 1905, M. Paul Cambon had
complained to Lord Lansdowne of the attitude of the Germen
Government. He stated that M. Delcasséd regarded the situation
not as "profoundly alarming,"™ but as "sufficiently serious to
occasion him much ﬁreoocupation.“ Lansdowne replied that the
moral to him seemed to be that each government (of France and
of England) should continue to treat the other with the most
absolute mutual confidence, that each should keep the other
fully informed of everything which came to its knowledge, and
should, so far as possible, discuss in advance any contingencies
by which in the course of events they should find themselves
confront;ecl.'2

In an effort to avoid misunderstandings iansdowne and
Cambon exchanged notes to verify the above converéation. Cambon,
in his note dated May 24, referred to Lansdowne &s having said
that |

eess 1f the ceircumstances demanded it, if for
example we had serious rseason to expect an unprovoked
aggression on the part of a certain Power, the British

Government would be ready to concert with the French
Government on the measures to be taken. (3)

1. Asquith, H.H., The G@enesis of the War, (London, 1923), 90.
‘'See the written assertion of Lord Sanderson, August 17
1922, in B.D.,III, No.1l05 (a), p.87, and the comment by
"Lord Lansdowne April 4, 1927, No. 105 (b), p.87. Lord
Newton, the biographer of Lansdowne, states, "there are
no traces of any such undertaking in Lord lansdowne's
private papers." op. cit., 343.

a. Lansdowne to Bertie, May 17 1905, B.D., III, No.94, p.76.
D.D.F., 8° s.,VI No.443, pp. 522—25.

3. D.D.F., 2% g, VI, No.455 pPp.538-39.
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Landsowne, in his note, dated May 25, sought to avoid such a
broad commitment, and said it was the British desire
that there should be full and confidential
discussion between the two Governments, not so muech in
consequence of some acts of unprovoked aggression on the
part of another Power, as in anticipation of any
complications to be apprehended during the somewhat 1
anxious period through which we are at present passing.

. In trensmitting this note to Delcassé, Cambon
remarked that the wording had been carefully studied by the
British Government and had the approval of the Prime Minister,
Arthur Balfour, and that it gave recognition of lLansdowne's
willingness to discuss in advance measures to be taken in viéw
of every contingency. According to the Ambassador's interpre-
tation Lansdowne intended it to apply not only in the case of
an unprovoked aggression, as in the French version, but to 7
every possible cintingency. This would mean if France acoep ted
the British proposal, she might be led into a general entente
which would be in reality an alliance.z

Delcass€ and his advisers in the diplomatie service
seem go héve given this broad interpretation to ILansdowne's

note. Having received the British message and the comments

of Cambon on May 30, Delcassd at once telegraphed to the latter:

1. B.D.III, No.95, p.77; D.D.F. 2%.vI, No.465,pp.558~559.
2. D.D.F. 293, VI,No.415, pp.557-558; Paldologue,op.cit.,p.346.
3. Maurois, op. cit., 176; Paldologuse, op. cit., 352;

Barrére, Camille, La Chute da Delcassd, Revue des

Deux Mondes, August 1, 1932, 616.
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Say to Lord Lansdowne that I am also of the
opinion that the two Governments should more than ever
gilve each other their entire confidence and that I am
ready to examine with him all aspects of & situation
which does not fail to be a little disquieting." (1)

More than this hed not been promised at the time.
On June 12 however, lLascelles, in Berlin, informed Lord
Lansdowne that Bulow had mentioned that the German Government
had received information to the effeet that Britain had made
an offer of a defensive and offensive alliance to France.
He reported to Lansdowne that he had told the Chancellor that
he, personally, knew nothing of such an offer, and that he
greatly doubted if any such offer had been made. To this, the
Chancellor had replied, that although his information was not
official, it was of such a nature that he could not doubt its
accuraoy.z On the same date, in another dispatoh, Lascelles
informed his chief that Holstein had mentioned the same matter
to him.3 '

On receipt of this news Lansdowne sent for the German
ambassador in London, Count Metternich, and told him that he
could scarcely believe that the suggestion of such an alliance
was seriously made, or that that the story was worth contradicting.
If, however, he stated, the ambassador thought that a contradiction

would serve a useful purpose, he was glad to assure him that

no sucp an alliance had been offered or discussed by either

l. D.D.F., 2 8., VI, N0.470,pp.563-64; minute by Nicolson,
April 15, 1918, B.D., VI, No.576, pp.747-48.

2. Lascelles to Lansdowne,June 12,1905, B.D.III,N0.97,pp.79-80.

3. Ibid., N0,98, Pp080'81.
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1
England or France.

Thus it would seem from the evidence outlined above
that no alliance was contracted. But there can be little
doubt that Delcassé seems to have been encouraged by the
friendly British atftitude. He seems to have erred in inter-
preting Lansdowne's friendly attlitude as an assurance of a
British alliance and armed support.a It has been suggested that
his mistakenly wide interpretation in this maetter msy be
explained by the probability that King Edward, while on a
visit to Paris, intimated to him that in case of need Britein -
would intervene on the French side.3 It has been offered also
as an explanation that the suggestion of armed support came
from Sir Francis Bertie, who was certainlyvstrongly prQ-Frengh
in his sympathies.4 Mr. Fay suggests that the idea of ianding
oneé hundred thousand men in Schleswig-Holstein originated
" perhaps with Sir John Fisher, for 1t was the kind of strategy

5 _
he had often urged and commended. It is quite clear, however,

l. Lansdowne to Lasecelles, June 16, 1905,B.D.TI11, No.99, p.82

2. Swain, J.W., Beginning the Twentieth Century (New York,
1935), gives an interesting analysis of how Delcassé

. possibly made his error; 271.

d. Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, op. cit.;III,
843, footnote. King Edward had visited Paris on April 29,
an@ on April 30 and May 3 he talked with M. Delcassé.
Lee, op: cit., II, 342; Paléologue, op. cit., 315.

4. Dickinson, op. cit., 229.

6. Fay, op. ecit., I, 198 This view is supported also in

Wingfield- Stratford Esme, Victorian Aftermath, (London,
1933), 2ezs8.
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that Delcassé greatly exaggerated the nature of Lansdowne's
offers, whatever may have been the assurances received from

other English proposals,in order to persuade his hesitating
: , 1

colleagues to stand firm against Germany.
There was keen»disappointment in England over the

fall of the French foreign minister. ILord Lansdowne wrote to

" Bertie on June 12:

Delcassé's resignation, has, as you may well
suppose, produced a very painful 1mpression here. What
people say is that if one of our ministers had had a
dead set made at him by a forelgn Power, the country
and the Government would not only have stood by him,
but probably have supported him more vigorously than
ever, whereas France has apparently thrown Delcassé
overboard in a panie.. Of comrse the result is that
the BEntente is quoted at a much lower price than it
was a fortnight ago. (2)

In a letter to a friend he wrote in & similar vein when he

said, "The fall of Delcassé is disgusting, and has sent the
E)

Entente down any number of points in the market." Mr. Balfour,
expressed the same view when writing to the King:

Delcassé's dismissal or resignation under pressure
from the German Government displayed & weakness on the
part of France which indlcated that she could not be
counted on as an effective force in international
polities. ©She could no longer be trusted not to yield
to threats at the criticel moment of a negotiation. (4)

As Lord Newton says, it was one of the most humiliating
5
inecidents that had occurred in France for many years, and since
it was commonly believed in England that Frence had suffered

this humiiliation for having ventured to make friends with England,

l. Fay, op. cit., I, 199.

2. Lansdowne to Bertlie, July 12,1905,B.D.,IIX,No:152,p.119;
Newton, -op. cit., 341.

3. Newton, op. cit., 341. '

4. Maurois André, King Edward and His Times, (London, 1933) 178.

5. Newton, op. cit., 342,
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it was only to a lesser degree held to be a blow at England.

Thus, while at the time the fall of Delcassé seemed a triumph

for the Germen Government, Fhe ineident produced results quite
unforeseen - it made the Anglo-French Agreement closer and deeper.

M. Delcassé's bilographer has pointed out in this
connection that it quickly beceme apparent that the important
policies of the fallen minister were in no way materially
affected by his resignation. The policy of the entente was
sound, and rested upon the common interests of the Entente
Powers, and this system was maintained. Furthermore, although
Germany got rid of Deleassé, she did not get rid of the
permanent staff of the Quai d4'Orsay. Paléologue, a sincere
admirer of Delcasse's diplomacy remained there, and the foreign
diplomsts who shared his views were not removed. M. Barrere
said to his British colleague in Rome on June 13, 1905:

esss that the leaders of French diplomacy, the
two Cambons, Jusserand, an@ himself, were firmly united
in sympathy for the policy of their late Chief and
considered that there was no cause for alarm; the French
position was a sound one in harmony with England and
others. (1) '

This was made particularly clear when Ge}many made
the blunder of insisting that the humiliation of France shomld
be complete. Had she been content to stop when the fall of
Delcassé was brought about, and taken advantage of that moment
tp conciliate M. Rouvier, she might have arrested the development

‘of the Entente at that point, and thus limited it to the friendly

colonial agreement which ité authors intended it to be. But

1. Egerton to Lansdowne, June 13, 1905, B.D., III, FNo.1l22,
p. 95.
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the German diplomats wished to_takevall the tricks in the game;
as in so many cases they failed to selze the favourable moment.
Before the end of the year the continuance of German pressure
and threats hed thrown France and Great Britain closer together,
and given the Entente the weight and significance it was to hold
until the outbreak of the Great War.

The fall of Delcassélmight be taken to merk the close
of the first stage of the Morocco Crisis of 1905-1906. Germany
had thus far gained her objectives - the Sultan had accepted the
plan of a Conference, and M. Delcassé's fall had been secured.
But 8o many complications had been aroused that the crisis
continued Just as acutely after that event as before. M.
Delcassé's resignation did not relieve the tension as M.

Rouvier had hoped.a There followed weeks of difficult negotiations
with Germany before the two governments could agree on a formula
establishing a bagis on which the conference should meet. On
June 11 M. Rouvier explained his position to the German

ambassador as follows:

1. The views of Lord Bertie on the fall of Delcasse are of
interest. He says, "Delcasse would have fallen even if
Germany had not been menacing, but he might not have
fallen so soon. His elimination from the Cabinet was in
great part due to his treatment of his colleagues. He
did not keep them informed of what he did and proposed
to do. He had got to consider himself indispensable ....
Several of his chers collégues disliked him and it ended
in his being put aside. The German Government took
advantage of the feeling that a scapegoat should be found.

.. They spent money and spread about that Delcassé's
mismanagement was the sole cause of the misunderstanding,
and they so assisted in bringing about his fell." Bertie
to Lansdowne, June 15,1905,Newton, op. cit., p.341.

2. Lansdowne to Bertie,July 12,1905,B.D.,III,N0:152, p.119
Paleologus, op. cit., 359-360.
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I dislike a conference, but if I accept there must be
a preliminary understanding. Yet if that is secured a
conference is needless. We have no interest in infringing
the sovereignty or integrity of Morocco, but our common
frontier of 1,200 kilometres makes us the party most
concerned in law and order. You seem resolved to block
all our proposals, and we cannot accept a conference
where that would happen. We must therefore, first know
how Germany regards reforms. (1)

Germeny insisted on the other hand that she could

discuss the programme only when France agreed to acecept the
2
conference.

Meanwhile Britain supported the French stand most
vigorously - Rouvier was assured of the entire support of the
British Government. On June 16 Lansdowne remarked to Paul
 Cambon, who was leaving London for Paris to advise M. Rouvier,
that he saw nothing to be gained.

by admitting the theoretical necessity of a Conference;
except perhaps to enable Germany which had brought about
M. Delcasse's downfall, to secure a further success. Our
attitude must of course depend upon that of the French
Government, but if they meintained their refusal, so

most certainly should we. (3) o

Without accepting or rejecting the idea of a conference
. M. Rouvier endeavoured to dissipate all misunderstandings with
Germany, and invited the latter to negotiate further in order

4
to make unnecessary the proposed gathering. The German reaction

was exceedingly hostile; the Government did not hesitate to use

1. Cited in Gooch, op. cit., 357-58; Paléologue, op. cit.,359-60.
2. Paléologue, op. cit., 3656 -
3. Lansdowne to Bertie, June 16, 1905, B.D.,;III, No.l24, p.97.
4. Gooch, op. cit., p.358. See Vietor Berard, Livre Jaune
Sur Maroe, loe. c¢it., 213-214. -
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threafs to bring France to terms. The French_Ambassgdor in
Berlin reported that 1n a conversation with the Chancellor on
June 23 the latter emphasized "the negessity not to let this
question mauvaise, tres mauvaise, drag on, and not to linger
on a road bordé de présipices et méme dfabﬁmes."l At the same
time the German representatives in Rome and Medrid were using
violent language to win Italy and Spain to the German side.z

While these negotiations were being carried on,
Germany was seeking also further support from President
Roosevelt. 1In asking his mediajion in the'dispute it was
prdposed that he should suggest to Paris and Londoh that the
United States considered a conference the best means of
bringing the Moroccan question to a peaceful solution.3 Mr.
Roosevelt did take up the task of mediation, and working
through the French and German ambassadors in Wash;ngton,
Jusserand and Sternburg, he played a valuable part in securing
the assent of the French government to the holding of “the
proposed conference.4

l. Debidour, op. cit., II; 27. Berard Livre Jaune Sur
Maroo, 1oc. cit., 214.

2. Lansdowne to Bertie, June 21, 1905 B.D., III, No.las,p 97.

3. Memorandum from the Kaiser to Roosevelt sent through
Baron Sternburg, June 11, 1905, Bishop, op. eit., I,
477. Jusserand, op. cit., 317.

4. Bishop, op. eit., I, 477-79; Jusserand, op. oit., 319-20.
On securing the assent of the French government on June
23, Roosevelt endeavoured to persuade Germany she should

be satisfied with this triumph, and not to raise questions

of minor details. Roosevelt to Sternburg, June 25, 1905;

Bishop, op. eit., I,.483-85. See also Paléologue, op.
ol t., 364+65. .
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M. Rouvier had by this time become more inelined to
accept the plan of a conference, despairing of any'other
solution. On June 28 he Jjustified this course to the British
chargé dtaffaires as follows:

He (M. Rouvier) considered that under the conditions
a conference was perhaps the best way of arriving at
a satisfactory solution. The Emperor had made it a
point of personal honour: France would go into it with
the support of England, Spain and possibly Italy, whereas
Germany would be alone; Germany was prepared to admit
the preponderance of French interests on the Algerian
frontier. It was absolutely necessary to arrive at some
solution as the present situatinn was excessively
dangerous. S0 long as the Conference was not accepted,
Germany considered that she was entitled to a free hand
in Moroceo, and she was very active. (1) :

The French assent now given, terms were then drawn
up in an agreement to form a basis on which the conference

, 2
might be h#ld. These were signed on July 8. France was
assured that Germany would pursue no goal at the Conference
which would compromise the legitimate interests of France in
Morocco, or thatrwould be contrary to the rights of France
resulting from treaties or arrangements. Agreements reached
were t0 be in harmony with the following prineciples: the
soverelgnty and independence of the Sultan; the integrity of
his Empire; economic liberty without any inequality; the
utility of police and financial reforms, the introduction of
which would be regulated for a short time by means of an

international agreement. It was further agreed that the

1. Lister to Lansdowne, June 28, 1905, B.D., ITI, No.134, p.107.

2. Before these were signed France submitted them to London
for approval, Approval was given by Lansdowne. Iansdowne
to Bertie July 1, 1905, ibid., No.137, p.l110.
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gpecial interests of PFrance as a frontier neighbour in the
maintenance of order throughout the whole of Morocco should be
recognized. Finally the two governments agreed to work out
a programme for the conference which was to be submitted to the
Sultan for acoeptanceQ1

An analysis of this agreement reyeals clearly
Germany's first reverse in her Morocecan campaign. It is true
that the winning of the French assent to the plan of a confer-
ence, which the Republiec had so vigorously opposed, might be
taken as a diplomatic triumph, but the agreement of July 8
recognized the special interest of France in Moroceco, and in
~no way nullified her accords with Britain and with Spain.z
Germany had not weakened the Entente. Moreover, she had failed
to make a colonial accord of hef'own with France, when she had
refused the offers tendered by Delcassé and Rouvier. She had
chosen rather to keep her prom;ses to the Sultan, and to forece
a conference on an unwilling Burope, refusing offers of present
colonial gain in the hope of winning these in the future. As
Mr. Anderson puts it, "her virtue, not appreciated by any
other Power, was greater than her common sense.":5

What is still more important, however, than Germany's

failure to make any appreciable gains by this agreement is

that her government had embittered the French nation against

l. These terms given in B.D., III, No.l47, pp.115-116.
2. Fabre-Luce, op. cit., 120-12l. Paléologue, op. cit.,381-82.
é. Anderson, op. cit., 256.
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the Empire, and aroused it to the united defense of its
- 1
national honour. On July 11, M. Jusserand wrote to President

Roosevelt:

I leave greatly comforted by the news concerning
Morocco. The agreement arrived at is one which we had
considered, and the acceptance of whieh you did so very
much to secure. Letters just received by me from Paris
eess confirmed what I guessed was the case, that is,
that there was a point where more yielding would have
been impossible; everybody in France felt it, and people
braced up silently in view of possible great events. (2)

Germany's actions had antagonized M. Rouvier and
converted him solidly to the Entente. The British chargé
dtaffaires reported on June 28;

His Ma jesty (The Germen Emperor) had expected a
complete c¢limb-down to follow upon the change of
direction of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, but as
His Excellency (M. Rouvier) said, there weas no reason
because he had parted with M. Delcasse that he should
throw himself "dans les bras de l'Empereur, et sur
son cou."™ (3)

M. Cambon had informed Lord Lansdowne:

that after all that had happened M. Rouvier was more
convinced than ever of the necessity of maintaining

a close understanding with this country (Great Britain).
It was, in his view, essential that the two governments
should treat one another with the fullest confidence,
and that no further steps should be taken without
previous discussion between us. (4)

This policy, as expressed by the French leaders, met with Lord

Lansdowne's entire approval, for it signified success in the

1. Paléologue, op. cit., 386-87, Report of the Belgian
Minister in Paris, October 24, 1905, Morel, op.cit.,22-23.

2. Bishop, op. cit., I, 488. .

. Lester to Lansdowne, June 28, 1905, B.D., III, No.1l34,p.108.
Also Paleologue, op. eit., 387.

4. Lansdowne to Bertie, July 13, 1905, B.D., III, No.1l58,p.118.
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efforts to maintain intact the Entente Cordiale. He assured
M. Cambon that "we had no intentions of wi thdrawing our
suppori;.“:L

Yet another sign which further assured the strengﬁh
of the Entente in the eyes of the world was the exchange of
visits between the fleets of Great Britain and France which
took place in July and August of 1905. The British Atlantic
fleet was received at Brest in July with the greatest
énthusiasm. "The feeling, openly expressed on all sides, was
one of intense gratitude to the King and the British nation
for the way in which they had stoed by France in the recent
Mdroceq ineident. It was a public ratification of the
Entente (2ord:|.a.le."2 This visit was returned by the French
fleet in August, when it was received in England with
enthusiastic demonstrations of English goodwill.3 Germany's
" vaction had thus furthered the process which Germans have
‘called her “encirclement“ and isolation.

After the signing of the agreement of July 8 new
and wearisome discussions began between the French and German

governments to work out the formulae for deliberations at

the forthcoming conference. It was not until September 28

&

1. Lansdowne to Bertie, July 1g, 1905, B.D. III, No.152,p.119.
8. Lee, op. cit., II, 345. Paléologue, op. cit., 387-88.
3. Paldologue, op. cit., 393-94.
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1
that an agreement as to the progremme was signed. The

conference was to be held, not at Tangier, to which the French
had objections, but in Algeciras, in séuthern Spain. In the
programme drawn up the subjects for consideration were defined
in general terms as the police force, the suppression of the
smuggling of arms, the reform of}finances, the opening up of
new sources of revenue, the Sultan's undertaking not to part
with any branch of the public service for the benefit of
private interests, and the allotment of contracts for public
works. A few minor disputes of a local nature were also
regulated. After some ogposition the Sultan agreed to the

programme on (Qctober 23,

L. A grave situation arose during these negotiations when
news reached France that through Count Tattenbach a
German firm had received from the Sultan a contract for
building a mole in the harbour of Tangier, and also,
that a loan had been arranged by German banks for
10,000,000 marks. France accused the German Govermment
of double~-dealing; and England and Spain joined her
in protest. Bllow upheld the transactions, asserting
that the negotiations for the mole contract had been
going on for months, and that the loan was not a real
"loan," but merely a "Temporary advance”" which could
be repaid at any time. See Anderson, op. cit., 264-67.
Also, Bérard, LelLivre Jaune Sur Maroc, loc. cit., 217-22,
Also, Francis Charmes, in his Chronique de la Quinzaine,
in La Revue des Deux Mondes, September 15, 1905,

472.

2. After this agreement was signed Bulow expressed to France
the willingness of the German Government to negotiate
over other colonial matters, such as the frontiers of
the Camercons, and the Bagdad Railway. M. Rouvier coldly
replied that he had previously offered to negotiate on
such matters so as to avoid the holding of the forthcoming
conference, and to settle the Morocco question in a
friendly manner between France and Germany alone. They
could not return to that now, he said, until it was seen
how the conference turned out. Braddenburg, op. cit., 229.
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The Conference was %o open in January'of*l9og.
Before that time, however! a new government came into power
in England, when on'Decembep 4,,1905, the Conservative administ-
ration of Balfgur WQS'replaced by the Liberal gpvernment of
Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman. Sir Edward Grey succeeded Lord:
Tansdowne as Foreign Secretary. It seemed of supremg_importance
to the French.Go#ernment to ascertaip the intentions of this
new administration in the matter of foreign policy before the
Conferenée opened. Would France be able_to_count on its suppoft
as it had in the past been able to count on the support of
Lord Lansdowne and his colleagues? 1In a sPeéch on December 22
at the'Albert»Hall the new Prime Minister pledged his government
to continue the poliey of his predecessors,.énd affirmed his
adhesiog to the polliey of the Entente'Cordialea But the French
Government felt it necessary to have Sirg@dward'érey renew ﬁhé
assurances given formerly by Lord Lansdowne. |

Colonel Repington, the Military correspondent of the
"Pimes," has related how on December 28 he met with Major Huguet,
the French Military Attaché in'iondon, who stated that his
Government was seriously alarmed about the intentions of
Germany and was worried over the failure of the new British’
Foréign Secretary to renew the assurances given by his
.predecessor.1 "The French knew," records Colonel Repingtoﬁ,
"that our sympathies were,with them, but they wénted to know
- what we should do in case Germany confronted them with a crisis."2

‘He immediately reported his conversation with Major Huguet to

1. Repington,Colonel, The First World War,(New York,1921),I,2-6:
- Callwell, C.E.,Field-Marshall Sir Henry Wilson, (London,1927),
2. Repington, op.cit., I, 1. 1,89 f¢,
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Sir Edward Grey, who was at the time electioneering in
Northumberlend. The latter replied on December 30, "I havé
‘not receded from anything that Lord Lansdowne sald to the
French, and have no hesitation in affirming 11;."1

Colonel Repington communicated hig_coﬁversation with
the French Military &ttaché to Sir George Clarké,’Seéretary
of the Defense Committee, and to Lord Esher, a member of that
Committee. They agreed that in view of the German menace
active steps towards coopération with France should be takanaz
. "They thought ;t indispensable that_something should be done,
and as both Lord Esher and Sir George.clarke were serving in
official capacities, and as Repington was a free lance, it was
eventually agreed that he should sound the French Government
through Mejor Huguet, and that when the French views were thus
privately and unofficially ascerﬁainéd that they should pass
the matter on to the British Government which would be completely
uncommitted and able to continue the conversations or to drop
them ésﬂthey pleased."3 » |

The Colonel prepared a short list of questions which
Major Huguet took to Paris on January 7. These were consldered
in Paris by M. Rouvier, the Prime Minister, Ms‘Etiénne, Minister
of War, M. Thomson, Minister of Mar;ne, and his naval staff,r

and by General Brua and General Brugére. 'On January 12. Ma jor

1. Repington, op. eit., I, 4.
2- Ibido, 5- -
50 Ibido, 5-6-
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Huguet again visited Colonel Repington, bringing a cordial

reply from Paris and assuring him that everything possible

would be done to make the necessary arrangements for cooperation.
Colonel Repington then imparted this reply to the Defense

Commi ttee.

Meanwhile, on January 10 M. Cambon, who had discussed
1 .
the matter with M. Rouvier, approached Sir Edward Grey on the

matter of & closer and more definite understanding between the
two governments. Grey replied as follows:

that at the present moment the Prime Minister was out
of town, and the Cabinet were all dispersed seeing
after the elections; that we were not as yet aware of
the sentiments of the country as they would be expressed
at the polls; and that it was impossible therefore for
me, in the ceircumstances, to give a reply to his
Excellency's question. I could only state as my
personal opinion that, if France were to be attacked

by Germany in conseguence of a question arising out of
the Agreement (of April 8, 1904) which our predecessor -
had recently concluded with the French Government,
public opinion in England would be strongly moved in
favour of France. (2)

When M. Cambon replied that "nothing would have a more pacific
influence on the Emperor of Germany than the conviction, that
if Germany attacked France, she would find Englénd allied
agsinst her,"a Grey answered that he thought "the German
Emperor did believe this, but that it was one thing that this
opinion shéuld be held in Germany and another that wz should

glve a positive assurance to France on the subject."™ He

could give no assurance, he added, of which he was ﬁncertain.

1. Huguet, General L'Intervention Militaire Britannique
en 1914, cited in Anderson, op. cit., 337.
2. Grey to Bertie, January 10,1906,B.D. III‘NO.ZlO(a), p.170.
3. Ibid., 171.
4. IBid., 171.
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He "did not believe that any Minister coﬁld, in present

ciréumstances, say more than I had done, and, however strong

the sympathy of Great Britain might be with France in the

case of a rupture with Germany, the expression which might

be given to it and the action which might follow must depend

llargely upon the circumstances ih which the rupture took place.“1
- Since a positive answer was thus postponed until

after the eléctiohs M;_Cambon replied that he would repeat

his request at that time. But he asked that in the meantime

"the unofficial communications“-betwegn the British Admiralty

and War Office and the Frendhrﬁaval and Military Attachés

"as to what action might advantageously be taken in case the

ﬁwo countries founad themselves in alliancé in sueh a war®™

might be permitted to continue. "They did not pledge'eiﬁher

Governmentrzhe added, and Sir Edward "did not dissent from

this view.™ , | _

The ministers of the Cabinet were scattered for the
elections, but Grey sent a report of this conversation to the
Prime Minister, and also to Lord Ripon, the senioi minister
available in London. On Januery 12, he met Mr. Haldane,
Secretary of State for Wat, at Berwick, and discussed with hiﬁ
the question of the Military conversationse3 He had learned

that under the former government in the previous gear such

military and naval conversations had taken place, and that at

%. Gi:y to Bertie . January: 1Q 1906, B.D.III, No. 210 (a), p.l71.
« Ibid. '

é. Spender, J.A., The Life of Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman,
II (hereafter cited as Spender, Campbell-Bannerman)
London, 1983) 251¢f.
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the presént time official conversations were going on betwseen
Admiral Sir John Fisher and the French Naval Attachd, while

the military conversations were being held unofficially be-
1
tween the French Military Attachd and Colonel Repington.

When consulted on January 11, Genéral Grierson, the Director

of Military Operations, had stated "that if there is even a
chance of 6ur having'tb give armed assistance on land fo France,
or to.take fhe field on her side in.Belgium'in consequence of

a violation of Belgian territory by the Germans, we should

'havé as soon as possible informal communication between the

military authorities of France and/or in Belgium and the Gen-
2 .
eral staff."”

In agreeing that these conversations might be carried
‘on officially neither Haldane nOr‘Grey could see anything
against such a policy. As Grey argues in his memdirs:

I was quite clear that no Cabinet could undertake
any obligation to go to war; but the Anglo-French
Agreement was popular in Britain. It was certain that
if Germany forced a quarrel on France upon the very
matter of that Agreement, the pro-French feeling in
Britein would be very strong, so strong probably as to
justify a British Government in intervening on the side
of France or even to insist on its doing so. We must,
therefore, be free to go to the help of France as well
as free to stand aside. But modern war may be an
affeir of days. If there were not military plans made
beforehand we should be unable to come to the assist-
ance of Framnce in time, however strongly public opinion
in Britain might desire it. We should in effect not
have preserved our freedom to help France, but have cut
ourselves off from the possibility of doing so, unless
we had allowed the British and French staffs to concert

. plans for common action. (3)

l. Grey, op. cit., 1, 74-78,

2. Grierson to Sanderson, January 11, 1906 B.D.,III,No.211,p.172

3. Grey, op. cit., I, 75, Also, Haldane, Viscount Before
the War, (New York 1920), 44-49. . _
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Such was the rgasoning of the British officials who
approved the conversations.‘ In an_interview with Cambon o6h
January 15 Sir Edward Grey gave his consent. That interview
was recorded in a dispateh to the British ambassador in Paris:

I told M. Cambon today that I had communicated to
the Prime Minister my acecount of his conversation with
mé on the 10th instant. I had heard from the Prime
Minister that he could not be in London before the 25th
Jaenuary, and it would therefore not be possible for me
to discuss things with him before then, and the Members
of the Government would not assemble in London before
the 29th; I could therefore give no further answer today
on the question he had addressed to me. He had spoken -
to me on the 10th of communications passing between the
French Naval Attachd and the Admiralty. I wunderstood
that these communications had been with Sir John Fisher.
If that was so, it was not necessary for me to do any
more; but, wlth regard to the communications between the
_French Military Attaché and the War 0ffice, I understood
from him that these had taken place through an intermediary.
1 had therefore taken the opportunity of speaking to Mr.
Heldane, the Seeretary of State for War, who had been
taking part in my election contest in Northumberland on
Friday, .and he had authorized me to say that these
ommunlcations might proceed between the French Military
Attaché and ‘General Grierson direct; but it must be
udaerstood that these commnnications did not commit
either Government. M. Cambon said that the intermediary
in question had been a retired colonel, the military
correspondent of the "Times," who, he understood had
been sent from the War Office. (1)

The Prime Minister seems to have had some mlsgivings
about theé interpretation which mlght be put upon these "ecommun-
ications.-' "T do not like the stress laid upon joint preparat-
lons," he wrote to Lord Ripon on quruary &, "It comes very '
close to an honorab;e undprtakingi and 1t will be known on both

2
sides of the Rhine. But let us hope for the best.” But he

‘1. Grey.to:Bertie, January 15, 1906, B.D:, III, No.215, p.177.
Sanderson to Grlerson January 15 1906, ibid No.217

’ (a), pp.178-79.

‘8. Spender Campbell-Bannerman, II, 257.
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was cognhmant of ahd a party to the steps'taken in‘thig policy;
he had been made aware of all the circumstahces, and had given
his consent on the understanding that they were provisiona}
ang preoautionary measurés, and that the Government was not
bound by their results. Thus limited, he regarded them as
rais;ng no new question of polioy and therefore within the
competenoe of the War Office.l It was definiteiy understood
that these conversations did not bind the governments.z

on January 17 the conversations were begun between
Ma jor Huguet'and General Grlerson and continued unlnterrupted
between the general staffs until the outbreak of the War in
19’14.3 ' | |

The same line of reasoning which had led the British
to enter upon these “communicationo" with France applied with
equal force to Belglum, for both the British and French
authorities expected Germany to violate Belglan neutrality
should she wish to_striké at France. On January 15, therefore,
Sir Edward'Grey instructed General Grierson to open conversations
with the Belgian military autﬁorities “as‘to the manner in which,
in case of need, British assistance could oe most effectually
afforded to Belgium for the defense of her neutiality."g "Such

: 5
communications must be solely provisional and non-committal."

l. Spender, Campbell-Bannerman II, 253. .

4. Repington, op. cit., I, 13, Grey, op. c¢it., I, 76.

d. Repington, op. cit., I, 14.

4. Sanderson to Grierson, January 16, 1906, B.D., III, No.214,
Pp.176-77. ‘

5. Grierson to Barnardiston, January 16, 1906 ibid, No.217
(b) p.179.
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Colonel_Barnardiston; the British Military Attachéyin Brussels,
brqached the subjeet to the Belgiaﬁ Chief of Staff, General
Ducarne, on January 18, telling him that the Bri tish Minister
would take up the matter with the Belgian'Foreign Minister.
After‘consulting.the Minister of War, General Ducarne agreed
to the conversations.1 ' |

These conversations, both military and naval; were
kept secret. The Anglo-Belgian negotiations were known to
only a very few persons; the ones with France were not known
%0 all the members of the British Cabinetsa

Now Sir Edward Grey had to again answer that iarger~
request of the French ambassador, the request for_é formal
agreement bgtween_the two governments, whieh had been made on
January 10, and the answer to which the Forelgn Secretary had
postfoﬂed until after the elections. After discussing the
matter with the Prime Minister and Mr. Haldane, both of whom

were in London after January 26, Sir Edward met M. Cambon on

1. Bgrnardiston to Grierson, January 19, 1906, B.D: III,
Fo.221 (C 1), p.187££f. Callwell, op. cit.; I, 89.

2. Grey, op. cit., I, 93, Anderson, op. cit., 342. See
Earl Loreburn and ILloyd George, both of whom were members
of the Cabinet at this time. Loreburn, op. cit., 80-81.
Lloyd George, War Memoirs, .(London, 1933) I, 46-=5l1;

While Grey admits that he did not reveal these conver-
sations to the cabinet at the time, he states in his
memoirs, ®they must subsequently have become known to
those ministers who attended the committee of Imperisl
Defense;™ op. cit., I, 93. TLord Sydenham, a member of
that committee until September, 1907, writes, "This was
not so. In my time the question never came to me offic-
ially, and I only heard quite informally what was going
on ...: Whether different arrangements, engbling the
Committee of Imperiasl Defense to be cogniBant of the
negotiations, were made after the end of September (1907)
when I left for India I do not know."™ Written statement
by Lord Sydenham, July 19, 1927, B.D., III, No.221 {a),p.185.
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the iast day of the month.. That interview was reported in a
iong dispatch to the British ambassador at Paris.

When M. Cambon again asked whether France would
be able to count on the assistance of England in the event of
ban attack upon hér by Germany, Grey submitted first of all a
review of the relations between the two governments as they
stood at that moment. Pointing to the military énd naval
commgnications,he stated that if a erisis arose no time would
be lost for want of a formal engagement. Secondly, only a
week previously he had informed Count Metternich, the German
ambassador in London, that it waé,his perSonal opinion that
"in the event of an attack upon France by Germany arising out
of the Morocco Agreement, public opinion in England would be
so strong that no British Government could remain neutral.”
In this way, he assured M. Cambon that what would be the
moral effect upon Germany of a formal engagement between France
and England had been already given éffect. Ip the third place,
he pointed out that the present relationship between England
and France as a result of the Entente of 1904 left France a
free hand in Morocco and gave her unreservedly Britain's
dipiomatic support. But, should this'prqmise be extended
beyond.diplomatic support, and "should we take an engagement
Which might involve us in a war," he félt sure that Britain
would demand consultation with regard to French policy in
Moroeco, and demand concessions or altefations ih that poliecy

1
‘which might seem désirable to avoid a war.

l, Grey to Bertie, January 31, 1908, B.D.,III, No.219, p.180.

;-
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In summing up his case, he asked M. Cambon "to
weigh thesé considerations in_his mind, and to consider
whether the present situation as regards ourselves and France
was not so satisfactory that it was uﬁnecessary to alter it
by a formal declaration as he desired.";

To this M. Cambon replied that a war might break
out so quiekly that if it were necessary for the British
' Government "to consﬁlt and wait for manifestations of English
public opinion, it might be too late to be of use." To his o
repéated request for some form of verbal assurance Grey pointed
out the main difficulties ;n giving what could be "nothing
short of a solemn undertaking.” ‘”It was one whiech I‘could
not give without submitting it to the Cabinét," and if this'
were done, he felt sure that they would say ip was tod serious
a métier to be dealt with by a mere verbal engagement, but it
would have to be in writing. Such a change as this, Grey
maintained, would transform the "Entente" into a defensive
alliance. He admitted that pressurq of circumstances - the
activity of Germany, for instance - "might eventually transform
the "Entente" into é defensive alliance,” but he d4id not think’
-“such a change was needed at the moment. To this he added, that
a defensive alliance could not be kept from Parliament; "no
British Government could commit the country to such a serious
thing and keepi'%he engagement secfet." For-Britain to support

1. Grey to Bertie, January 31, 1906, B.D., III, No.219, p.18I.
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France in a war with Germany, “mnch-would depend on the manner
in which war broke out.™ The British would not be willing to
fight in order to put Fiance in possession of Morocco,‘but
*if it appearedAthat war was forced upon Fragce by Germany to
break up the Anglo-~French 'entente,' public opinion would
undoubtedly be very strong on the side of France;"’ He added,
however, that British sentiment was much aﬁerse to war and
that he could not be certain whether this aversion would be
overcome by the deéiie t0 aid France:. He informed M. Cambon
that he was willing to re&pen the.conversation at any time
in the future, but he did not think that the situation
‘justified such a fadical change as had been suggested.l M.
‘Cambon,appeared to be satisfied with that answer.2 |

Thus Sir Edward ' Grey embarked upon the policy. with
France which he followed until the outbreak of the War. In
his mind he was .open and frank with_both France and Germany.
He had told the German ambassador of the probability of
.British intervention in favour of France in the event of a
- Franco-German war: To France he had pledged full‘diplomatic
support, while pepmitting preparations for an emergency. He
had refused her absolute assurance of ald in case of war,
preferring to‘kgep, és he believed_he had kept, British hands

free. By this apparently simple, but what was really to prove

1. Grey to Bertie B. D., III, No. 219 P«182.

2. Memorandum by Sanderson February 2, 1806, B.D. IIT,
No.220-(b), p.185. Campbell-Bannerman to Lord Ripon,
February 2, 1906, cited in Spender, Campbell-Bannerman,
I1, 287.
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an intricate policy, he hoped to satisfy the needs of
‘Britein's foreign policy.

He has Justified this policy to what seems his own
satisfaction in his speech in the House of Commons on August
5, 1914, and haé furthei developed the Justification in his
Memoirs. He clings consistently to ﬁis contention that England
was in no way bound to France, and that he had kept her hands
completely free.1 But it is difficult to understand how he.
could have deceived himself into this belief. 1If may be true,
as he so‘often mainteins, that the military and naval
conversations, d4id not absolutely bind the two FPowers, but it
cannot be denied that they constituted an excesdingly powerful

tie between them. It is impossible to‘escape the contention

that at least a potent moral obligation to aid France had

 been created. In spite of Grey's protests such at least is

the verdiep of history. As has been pointed out, these
preparations continued down to the»outbreak of war in 1914,
and "inevitably came to involve England in increasingly
binding obligations of honour to support France in case of &
European War arising out of any question whatsoever - not -
merely one arising out of the Morocco question < provided

. . ]
that Franca did not appear to be the active aggressor.?

l. Grey, op. cit., I, 76 82, 85, 96 251 .

2. Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, op. cit.,III
508.Dickinson, op.cit.,398,405,470-71,480. Ewart,op.cit.;I,
115-131. Churchill 20D« cit.,27 Loreburn op.cit.,l? 225-26.
Fay,op.cit.,I,208. Lutz,Hermann,Lord Grey and the World War,
(TLondon,1928),94-105. Reuouvin Pierre The Part Played in
International Relations by the Conversations between the
General Staffs on the Eve of the World War,Studies in
"Anglo-French History, edited by Alfred Coville and Harold
Temperley, (London,1936), 170.

8. Fay, op. cit., I, 208.
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Aﬁd Grey stands con&emned on this point out of his own mouth;
as Gooch_points out in speaking of the"Forqign Secretary's
gpeech of August 3, 1914, ?His whole speech breathed the
conviction that we should be’forever disgraced if we left
France in the lurch.'-'l

A furtherbweakness in thie pblicy was that neither
Sir Edward Grey's statement to M. Cambon, nor his approval
of the naval end military conversations, was made with the
knowledge and sanétioh of the Cabinet. The explanation, he
offers, of his failure to eonsult‘with his colleagues in these
matters is by no means convincing..-He explains that the
Ministers were scattered, seeing to the elections, and could
not be summoned. It has been clearly shown that it would not
have been impossible to summon the Cabinet at that time.2
On January‘21 the Prime Minister wrote to ask him 1f he wished
to consult the,Cébinet,and suggested January 30 aﬁd 31 and
February 1 as dates for a meeting.3 In his mamoirs Grey
states he has no'recbllection of his answer to that question;4
He explains that the earliest date suggested by the Prime
Minister was January 30 and that "the French had been_kepﬁ

5 .
long enough waiting for & reply." But, this can hardly be

l: Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, op. cit.,III,508.
2. Loreburn; op. cit., 80. Ewart, op. cit.;, I, 116.

3. Spender, Campbell-Bannerman, IX, 253.

4. Grey, op. cit., I, 86.

5. Ibid., 86.
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regarded as satisfactory sinée his_interview with Cambon 4id
not take place until the January 51, and moreover, since a
Cabinet meeting was held on that very day;l It would therefore
seem that he might easily have consulted his colleagues on such
a grgve matter before talking with Cambon, or at’lgast_immediatély
after. But he did not reveal his poliey then, nBr’for a long
time to come; it was not until 1912 thgt circumstances~caused
the matter of military and naval conversations to_be revealed
to the Cabinet, and not until»his speech of August 3, 1914,
that Parliament and the public were made aware of them.2 In
the 1light of what experience showed him in after years Grey
admits in his memoirs that the Cabinet should have bgen
consulted.5 J

The Conference of Algeclras opened formally on
January 16 1906. Twelve Powers in addltion to Moroceco were
represented. The presidential chair was occupied by the
Spanish Foreign Minister, the Duke of Almadovar. For almost
three months the Conferénce swung from crisis to crisis. It
would be superfluous to record here in any detail the discussions
which took place since_thej bore mainly on techniecal points.

But behind the whole question lay the essential problem of the

 balance of power, and it is in this aspect only that interest lies.

l. Loreburn, op. c¢it., p.8k. Trevelyan, op. cit., 130 and 138.
2. See Lloyd George, op.cit.,I, 46-51, on this question of
the Cabinet and its partlclpation in matters of foreign
affairs.
3. Grey, op. cit., I, 86<99.
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Agreement wes soon reached on & number of minor
problems.ll The really troublesome questions were those of the
organization of the police and the establishment of & state
bank, since the solution reached on these questions would
determine whether Franece or Germany should emerge v;ctofious.

Germany's aim seems to have been to have the Moroccan
police officered by the Minor Powers, or to perm;t the Sultan |
freely to choose his own policse. She wished to prevent France
from organizing them, and thus rejected France's demand for
a police'mandate, and later her revised proposal to share such
s mandate with Spain. When the question of the State bank
reached a deadlock a rupture in the Conference was expected.
After much discussion, and after Roosevelt intervened on behalf
of France, Austrié put forwara a plan of mediation that the
Franco-~-Spanish police mandate be anepted under a Swiss
Inspector;General: This was accepted at fhe end of March§2
The bank question had meanwhile been settled on a basis of
Joint participation. The main difficulties having thus been
overcome the Conference was hastily concluded and the final
Act of Algepiras was signed on April 7.

While it is unnecessary to list all the details of

the Act, the chief provisions might be noted to show how,

l. Such problems as - the surveillance and repression of
contrabrand of arms. - the better collection of taxes
and creation of new revenues - regulations concerning
customs duties - the question of public services and
publie works. Anderson; op. cit., 350-351. -

2. Anderson, op. cit., 392; Gooch, op. cit., 364-365.
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though Germaﬁy had won hgr point in securing the holding of
the Conference, France had won in practical results. From
two thousand to twenty-five hundred police were to be distributed
among the eight Moroccan ports, with Spanish and French officers
to act as instructors under a Swiss-Inspector General at
Tengier. Thus, in this all 1m§ortant questioh of police
France really triumphed, for she had secured the predominant
share of the control and excluded Germany and hér Allles
altogethér._ In a backward and disturbed area such as Morocco
the police control was likely to be the lever of power. In
the ﬁatfer of financlal control and qommercia14opportunity
Gérmany had more success. A State Bank»practically under the
control of the four Powers ; Franee,'England, Germany and
Spain - was set up, with equal opportunities for each nation.
But France and her satellite, Spain, made further gains in
that the regulation of the Customs Act and of the traffic of
arms on the Algerian frontier was to be carried out by France.
in conjunction with Morocéo, and on the Riffvfronfier by
Spain and M.oroccc.l r

The effect qf the Conference upon Mbroccq can“be
dispensed with in this study. To the Powers taking part
Moroccan interests was not the issue. The conclusions reached
"yere determined by the exigencies of international relations

and the interests of European Powers, not by the needs of

1. Gooch, op. cit., 366-367.
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. N |

Morocco.m The less interested Powers had aimed chiefly at
preserviﬁg peace. France and Spain had been cdncerned,with
maintaining their interests in Morocco and with preventing any
other Power from gaining a foothold there. Germaeny alone
appeared to be the champion of Moroccan.rights but only
because that policy had been in accord,with.her'interests.
Throughout the Conferencé France had been steadily and

openly supported by her neighbour,Spain her old ally, Russis,
‘and her new friend, England._ She had received less open, but
no less effegtive, support from Roosevelt, on behalf of the *
U’nit-ed'states.3 Germany, on the other land, received only
scanty support from her friends. Austria was determined not
to quarrel with France, while Italy, already pledged in advance
by her secret arrangement with France respecting Moroéco and-
Tripoli, supported the Republic and not her ally.

| Germany had established the theoretical prlnciple

that Morocco concerned all Powers equally, and the principle
‘of the open—d¢or. But France had practically safeguarded her
individual action for the futufe. The French and Spanish
military control assured those two Powers the main economic
advantages. Both éides expressed satisfaction with the outcome,
which according to officlal interpretation left nei ther victoi

nor vanguished. None the less,it was evident that Germany had

1. Anderson, op..cit.; 394.

2. Report of the Belgian Minister in Berlin April b, 1906
Morel,, op. cit., 44<45.

d. Jusserand, op. cit.;, 322-25.
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émerged the loser. She had been‘opposed by eﬁery Power, emcept
Austria, and she had failed to obtain more ﬁhan lip éervice to
her demands. What is more significant,she had driven France
and Great Britain into a closer intimacy and had strengthened
the ties betweén them. When Grey wrote to. President Roosevelt
a year later in a confidential letter giving an account of
his poliey, he summed matters up in these words: "The long and
the short of the matter is that, to secure peace; we ﬁust
maintain the Entente with France, and attempts from outside to
shake it will only make itwstronger."l

It has been shown that Germany had an excellent case
on which to base her interference in Morocco. But, as_Nicolson
points out, she had handled it hadly.z By her menacing
attitude and her policy of mystification, she had lost the
confidence of Burope; she obtained no compensation, she had
caused France,KSpain, England and Russia to draw closer
together. Abo&e ail else, she had given the Anglo-French
Entente a hew charécter; 1% now assumed a new meaning in
international affairs. Not only had the two countries remained
refractory to every effort made to disunite tﬁem,_but in the
‘play of events the Entente had changed its nature; &fter being
ofiginally signed for the purpose of liquidating past
differences between the governments it had how become a

S
principle of action. As Tardieu says "the Franco-English

l. Grey to Roosevelt in a confidential letter,December; 1906,
- cited in Trevelyan, op. cit., 115.

2: Nicolson, op. eit., 198, Trevelyan, op. cit., 125.
d. Tardieu, op. cit., 204-205.
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binomial had acquired weight. It had changed from the
static to the dynamic state."l

The Morocco Crisis of 1905-1906 thus marked an
important stage in the development of the Entente; from the
test supplied by that Crisis 1t had emerged strengthened
and confirmed. In 1901 Great Britain had offered an alliance
to Germeny; in 1904 she had settled her difficulties with
France{ in 1906 the two, brought more closely together, weie
discussing possible measures of war against Germany. The
process which the Entente Powers like to call “insurance,"
and which the Germans describe as "encirclemen ] had begun.

It mist be realized, moréover, that the forces
which had caused this situation still obtained as before.
Algeeciras was merely a breathing space between the rounds.
Prestige and national interests were at stake on both siﬁes;
neither side appfeciated the other's point df view. Each
accused the other of aiming at ;ts defeat, of being a menace.
Reither side had learned anything from the Crisis except to
be more cautious; neither had changed its method. So events

were moving. The road to Armageddon lay open.

l. Tardieu, op- cit.; 204,
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CHAPTER IV
The Further "Encirclement™ of Germany?

It was not surprising that the reconciliation with
France should raise the question of an agreement between
England and Russia to remove the many sources of friction
which existed between the two Powersl A rapprochement with
Russia was, a8 Sir Edward Grey states, "the natural complement:
of the agreement with France."l Theré were numerous points
of difference between the twovin the Middle East; with Pergia
and the Indian frontier as particular danger points. And
since Russia was an ally of'France,3Britain could not pursue
at one and the same time a policy of agreement with the latter
and a policy of hostility against the former. ”Moreover, now
that Britain was defini tely committed to European affairs the
assurance of Russian friendship in the face of the growing
Gefman menace, to which we shall turn shortly, would be most
welcome.

Russia, too, was anxious for British friendship.

She had suffered a specectacular humiliation in the Far Bast in

l. Grey, op. c¢it., I, 153; The "Times® pointed out that such
a rapprochement was "an inevitable .corollary" to the
Entente Cordiale; "cited in Morel, op. cit., 68. See also
Trevelyan; op. cit.:,m 180-85.
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.in'1904-05, and a rapprochement with Britain added to her
alliance with France would prove valuable in_helping her
regain her position as a Great Power. During the Moroceo
Grisis of 1906 Russie like England had oast her vote in favour
of France against Germany, and friendly feelings had been thus:
fostered. -

Buf‘theré was no easy pathway to such an agreement;
many obstacles new and old blocked the way. Russian despotism
was repugnant to British ideals of“liberaiism, and the internal
affairs of Russia; the Czar5§ suspension ofAthe'Duma in 1906,
and the treatment of Jews and Poles, did much to alienate
British opinion and to stir up indignation. Nevertheless,
when negotiations were seriously undertaken it was found
possible to reach an agreement. As far back as 1903 such
an agréement had been considered in England, and a conversation
between Chamberlain and Delcassd, when the latter #isite@
London in July of that year, may be taken as the starting poihth
of the discussions which later culminated in the final
convention of 190-7.1 Delcassé and Cambon acted the rdle of
mediators between thevtwo in discussions during‘1903,but
differences over Tibet, Manchuria, Turkestan and Persia proved
formidable difficulties.z

During the Russo;Japanese War, the position of Britain

as an ally of Japan caused friction with Russia, although

l. B.D:, II, No.242, p:212. Gooch,G.P., Before the War,
(London, 1936) I 70.

2. D.D.F., 28série IV No.44 ,No. 56 No.58. Gooch, Before the
War, I, 71-78.
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'during the_opening phases of the war the relations between
the two governments remained friendly enough.-:L A most eritical
point in Anglo-Russian relations was reached, however, during
the War‘when a Russian squadrqn en route to the Far East fired
on a Hull fishing fleet on the Dogger Bank. Fortunately both
governments acted cooly wwhilézbelcasSé pleaded.in bpth
capitals for moderation.z Thus the War had made necessary
the postponment of negotiations for a general settlement. But
the ending of the war removed the main obstacle to a rapproche.
ment, and England's closer association with France ih 1904 and
1905 made the prospects far more prom;sing;' Lansdowne went out
of office with the change of government in 1905, but the same
consideratibnshwhich had induced him to enter into negotiations
with Russia were not without influence on the new goverament.
We have already seen the views of Sir Edward Grey in regard to .
this matter. 1In the folloWingvmonths the two sidesidrewApearer.
¥o useful purposé can be served here by entering
ipto the detalls of the negotiation§.3 On August 31, 1907 a
‘Convention was signed in Petrograd concluding arrangements
cohcerning»affairs in Persia, Afghanistag end Tibet. This
Pact, though more limited in scope than the Anglo-French
Agreement of 1904, had the same purpose of cléaring off the

slate the causes of antagonism between two historie rivals.

l. Conversation between King Edward and Isvolsky, April,
1904 citgd in Lee, op. cit., II, 284-87.

2. D.D.F., 2 série, V, 468-477; Gooch, Before the War, I,
77-8. Porter, op. cit., 186.

d. The negotiations are given in B.D., Vol.IV. For the
part played by Sir Arthur Nicolson in these negotiations
ggg Nicolson, Harold, Lord Carnock, (London, 1930), .

-57. : .
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The contents of the Convention were all made publiec.
It included no obligations of military or diplomatic support,
and thus it did not at once lead to a closely-knit diplometiec
partnership. But it did nevertheless complete the circle for
8 closer political eooperation_hetweeen Russia, France aﬁd
England. The Anglo-French Entente and the Dual Alllance had
as a result of the new treaty, broadened into the Triple
Entente which now confronted the Triple Alliance on the chess
board of Buropean diplomacy. Though not definitely allied to
France and Russia, and in theory still retaining liberty of
action, England had chosen to throw in her lot with these
Powers. The French made no secret of their satisfaction over
the new.Convention, or of their opinion that Britain had
advanced a step further into their camp.l
| The history of the next seven years is mainly that
of the diplomatic conflict which led to the final struggle
between the now established groups of Triple Alliasnce and
Triple Entente. During these seven years all manner of
seemingly unrelated subjects are seen gradually becoming
classifised into causes for which - irrespective of their
merits -vthe two groups were committed to stand. There
developed an increasing orystallization of opposition between
the two camps. During the first four years it developed more
slowly, then after 1911, with the French oceupation of Fez,
the German threat at Agadlir, the Italian seizure of Tripolil,

1. Spender, J.A., Fifty Years of Europe (hereafter cited
as Fifty Years), 266.
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the growing menace of Anglo-~German naval rivalry, the failure
of the Haldane Mission, and the Balkan Wars, it proceeded
more rapidly. This growing tension was reflected in events
both large and small over widely-separated areas. To give a
full account of all the factors which made for this crystall-
ization of opposition would go far be&ond the limits of this
work. HNo attempt, therefore, is made to give a detailed
analysis of the period. The aim, rather, is to bring to light
those factors Which tightened and strengthened the Anglo-Frenéh
Entente.

The firsf serious crisis to affeet the new balance
- of power was the Bosnian Crisis of 1908. The Young Turk
Revolution of 1908 seemed to offer to Isvolsky of Russia and
to Aehrenthal of Austrla & favourable opportunity for a
mutually advantageous bargain at the expense of Turkey.
Isvolsky saw in.it an opportunity of opening the Straits, and
Aehrenthal an opportunity of converting Austria's occupation
of Bosnia-Herzogovina, assigned to her for administrayioh by
the Treaty of Berlin.1878, into a full annexation. While
Aehrenthal had long been considering the annexation,lthe
initiative in this bargain seems to have come from Isvolsky in
a lengthy alde-mémoire dated July 2, 1908, which discussed

2
Balkan railways) the entente of 1897 and Macedonian reforms.

1. Brandenburg, op. cit., 314.
2. Gooch, Before the War, I, 332, 394-95.
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Aehrenthal was keen to accept the offer, and at the end of
August gave his assent, although no definite agreement was made.l
Following this reply, the two met as the guests of Count
Berchtold at Buchlau on September 15 where the matter was
discussed and further details were sasrranged. There were no
witnesses to the discussions, and since no definlte agreement
was put in writing, violent controversy arose a few weeks later
when the plans did not work out as Isvolsky had anticipated.
He has claimed that the consent of the Powers was to be obtained
in a Conference before the annexation took place; but the polint
of most bitter controversy was the date at which the changes
were to be made. Whatever were the agreements reached, Isvolsky
does not seem to have expected that Aehrenthal would act so
precipitately, and he gppears to have been taken by cqmplete
surprise when, on arriving at Paris on October 2,he recelved
word that the annexation would take place within the next few
days. It was carried out on Qctober 5.2

The news of the sudden annexation produced an instant

reverberation throughout Europe; surprise and indignation were

voiced on all sides. Isvolsky felt he had been tricked. A

l. Gooch,; Before the War, I, for his reply.

2. The controversy 1s summed up in two articles in the
Fortnightly Review of September and November of 1909
attributed to the two statesmen. Isvolsky's statement
that he had been tricked over the date is hard to
understand in view of his statement of September 25
to Herr von Schon at Berchtesgaden that the matter
would be announced to the Delegations which were 'to
meet on October 8. Gooch, Before the War, I, 400.
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stotm of indignation rose in Serbia, and there was talk of war.

No warning of the change had been given to either the govern-

ments of Franée or of Britain. Turkey, very naturally, was

most indignant, gnd‘in protest she organized a boycott of |

Austrian goods. In the eyes of Europe, presented with this

"falt accompli,” Turkey stood as a victim of Austrian aggression.

.It remalned to be seen what stand the Powers would take.
Aehrenthal had anticipated that Germany would support

her ally, Austria, although the Kaiser was furious that his

government had not been warned when the annexation was to have

- taken place. The Austrian statesmen felt that if Germany

étood with Austria, Russia and France would submit. PFrance,

. he knew; was only remotely interested in the Balkans, and

Russia, after her recent defeat, was notoriously unprepared for

war. But what stand would Britain take? If she were to take

a strong stand her two assoclates might hold out with her, and

in this event the situation might well become difficult.
Isvolsky was in a most painful position. He feared

Aehrenthal was about to secure his part of the Buchlau agreement

before he himself had obtained the assent of the fowers to his

share. 1In Paris he found the French Government sympathetic but

rather non-committai. The French were prepared to adhers to

the Russian Alliance and glive support to the Russian Government,

but it was made clear that public opinion could not be converted

to the notion that enough was at stake to risk'a war. The

French Government, moreover,4disapproved of Russia's having

come to an agreement with Austria without the knowledge of

France.
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In London he met with hardly little more success
for his plans of opening the Straits. Grey admitted that the
reQuest for opening the Stralts was "fair and reasonable™ eand
not objectionable "in principle,™ but insisted they must-be
opened "on terms of equality to ail.ﬁ He refused to consider
opening them to Russian warships while leaving them celosed
against those of other Powers. This of course was what
Isvolsky wanted.l But though the Russian Minister had failed
to win support for his main objeective, his visit to London
was not wholly in vAin. Grey wes not prepared to accept the
sudden annexation of Bosnia by Austria as a "falt acéompli."
He felt that aetion was a blow to good faith and to treaty
obligations and should be discussed at a Conference of the
Powers. He maintained that the asnnexation was an untimely
and unmerited blow at the Young Turks, who, as it appeared
to him, were struggling to put their house in order, and for
whomn British sympathy was known to be strong. Accordingly,
standing on principle, he called.fdr a European Conference,
and if then the annexation was approved, he felt Turkey must
receive cqmpensation.2 |

A visit to Berlin brought the unhappy Russian

Minister no more comfort. Appeals to the German Government

for discussion of the annexation at a Conference and for the

l. Grey, op. cit., I, 177-179.

2. Ibld., 178-77; Trevelyan, op. cit., 224. Also, Spender,
J. A., and Asquith Cyril, Life of Lord Oxford and
.Asquith (cited: hereafter as Spender, ASQuith) (London,
1932), I, 244-49.
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opening of the Straits proved vain. He saw clearly that
Germany was detefmined to stand by her ally.

Isvolsky saw his dreams fading; Britain would back
him only in the matter of a Conference; and France waé unwilling
to give effective support in a métter in which she had not been
consulted and in which she had little interest. Ashrenthal
had the firm support of Germany, and with this support he
refused to submit the question to a Conference unless it was
agreed to heforehand that it would be held only to sanction
the annexation and not to discuss it.

During the next few months no settlement was arrived
at. Meanwhile the tension was inereased by the exeitement
which was raging in Serbdbia, which country was putting forward
loud claims for compensation. Encouraged by Russian sympathy,
armed bands were massed along the Austrién frontier and
agitators sent into Bosnia. To keep a check on this situation
an Austrian army was mobilized and kept in readiness. Meanwhile
the Austrian war party was suggesting that the time was now at
hend for & final settlement with Serbia.

The situation became inereasingly fraught with danger
as the weeks rolled on. It was eased somewhat on February 26,
1909, by an offer of Austria to compensate Turkey for the loss
of her shadowy rights over Bosnia-Herzogovina with two and a
half million pounds. ﬁut Isvolsky was unwilling to agree that
e direct understanding between Austria and Turkey excluded

‘the necessity of submitting the whole question to a
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Conference.l Isvblsky's failure, however, was a foregone con-
clusion. The Serbian elaim had no legal justification, and it
was clear neither England nor France would go to war over a
Balkan question. Russia standing alone against Austria and Ger-
many was unthinkable. In the weeks following Austria's settle-
ment with Turkey the Great Powersvmade several attempts to
reconcile Isvolsky's views with those of Aehrenthal. When no
solution seemed possible the German Government on March 17 made
a proposal of mediation to the Russian Minister which eventually
relieved thé tension.

The offer stated that the German dovernment would re-
guest Austria to invite the Powers to give their formal
approval to the changes made by an exchange of notes, provided
that Russia beforehand promised to give her sanction to the
changes when invited by Austria to do so. Isvolsky, still
clinging to the hope of a Conference, acknowledged the
conciliatory purpose of the offer, but hesitated to give a
definite angwer.

A week later, when no answer had been received from
Isvolsky, Germany renewed her offer of mediation, this time
with greater emphasis, in & note of March 23, which has been
interpreted as somewhat closely resembling an ultimatum.

Before suggesting that Austria should approach the Powers,

Germany wished definitely to know that Russia would accept the

1. Isvolsky to the Russian Embassy at London, March 11,
1909, Siebert, B. de, Entente Diplomacy and the World,
(New York, 1922), 248,

-
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note, and Russia was informed "that a negative or even an
evasive answer” on her part would result in Germany withdrawing
and allowlng "things to take their own courase.“:L

‘Thus pinned down,ZIsvolsky, after eonsﬁlting the
Czar, surrendered, and gave an affirmative replya After
Russia accepted the proposal, England, France and Italy agreed
also, and the exchange of notes followed giving a belated
sanction to the annexation. Serbia, too, ylelded, deciding
to place her hopes in ths future.v On March 31 she made an
agreement with Vienna promising to live on good neighbourly
terms with the Dual Monarchy.3 The“long crisisAwas over.

The results of this bloodless conflict on the
chancelleries may not be passed over lightly. ‘Its effects
continued to be felt down the years until the time of the
f£inal conflict in 1914. 1In the phrase of Dr. Gooch, "it

, 4
left deep scars on the body politiec of BEurope.® Austria had

l. Isvolsky to Russian Embassies at Parls and London,
March 23, 1909, Siebert, op. eit., 260.

2. The idea that this note was sent as an ultimatum grew
up in later days. Mr. Fay claims that this idea was
exploited in the Russian Press and used by Isvolsky
deliberately to save his face before his crities. The
idea that it was to be regarded as an ultimatum was
spread in England by Sir Arthur Nicolson; Pay, op. c¢it.,
I, 391. Mr. PFay adds that it was not intended by the
German Government as an ultimatum, but merely as an
attempt to bridge the gulf between Russia and Austria,
and to prevent war between Serbia and Austria. Mr.
Gooch agrees with this view - Gooch, Before the War, I,
348. Mr. Spender appears to view the note as an ultimatum
however; - Fifty Years, 310.

d. Fay, op. cit., I, 393. ’

4. Gooch, History of Modern Europe, (cited hereafter as

- Modern Europe), 422-23.
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unguestionably secured a diplomatic victory, but a P&rrhic
victory; viewed in the light of later years it brought mis-
fortune rather than success.1 In the words ofjmr. Dickinson,
"Serbian iiredentism had been provoked, and the formula she was
constrained to sign was nothing but words"? She did not live up
%o her promise to_“live in future on good neighbourly terms"
with Austria - "she allowed her soil to be the hearth from “
“which a subversive agitation was spread, encouraging disloyalty
and treason among the Bosnians and other Slav subjects of the
Hapsburg Monarchy.'?3 And, as later events were to prove, this
Serbian quéstion threatened at every moment to involve Russia,
.andvso Germany, France and Britain, | ‘
Furthermore; Aehrenthal.had caused Europe to view with
distrust Austrian diplomacy, and hé incurred the.odium ettendant
upon the unjustifiéd breach of a solemn treaty. His ally,
Germany, likewise, in giving her swport to the Aﬁstrian action,
incurred some 6f the suspicion which fell upon him; especially
the suspicion among the Entente PoWers. 1t was commanly held
that the Imperial Government was.an‘accomplice in the whole
situation, approving of its ally's action. It has been shown
how the attempt_of Berlin to find a final solution which wouid :
sanction Austria's "fait aceompli® and yet at fhe same time

afford Isvolsky a dignified line of retreat from his most
difficult position,was twisted into a "threat of force" or

l. Churchill, op. cit., I, 3l; Trevelyan, op. cit., 224.
&. Dickinson, op. cit., 181. .
d. Fay, op. eit., I, 394.
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"ultimatum.™ It was,peprésented as a brutal Germen attempt
to humiliate Russia and drive a Wedge into the Triple Entente.
It was set down as new evidence of the brutality of Germany's
diplomatic methods.1 It was used as further evidence to prove
Germeny's reputation of thirst for ﬁastery and leadership,
which was already obnoxious to France and the Western Powers.
It was in Russia that the Bosnian Crisis left its
most serious effects. In the press there was the.most bitter
resentment against a settlement which brought such deep humil-
lation and submisslon to the dictates of a foreign Power.3
The Pan-Slav press was excited to a violent campaign against
Germany, the tenor of which was that a war between Slavdom

and Germanism was inevitable. To Isvolsky, personally, this

diplomatic defeat was perhaps the most bitter experience of

l. Fay, op. cit., 395-96.

2. Brandenburg, op. cit., 332. Confirmation seemed to be
given to this feeling by Emperor William's vainglorious
and tactless speech when on a visit to Vienna in 1910,
he proclaimed to the world that he had stoocd by his
ally "in shining armour™ - PFay, op:. cit., I, 396. Grey
uses this speech against the Kaiser; op. cit.; I, 186. °
It is interesting to note as Mr. Ewart, points out,
that little notice has been taken of the facet that the
British Prime Minister, Mr. Asquith, by his speech at-
the Guildhall Banquet on November 9, 1908, plainly
announced to the world that the United Kingdom was
standing by her ally, France, and through France, by
Rugsia. He sald: "Nothing will induce us in this country
to falter and fall short in any one of the special
engagements which we have undertaken, to be disloyal or
unfaithful even for a moment to the spirit of any
exlsting friendship.™ Cited in Ewart, op. cit., I,
167’680 . ’

. Nicolson to Grey, March 29, 1909, Grey, op. cit., I
188-89.
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his life; the desire for revenge and for the recovery of 1ost
personal prestige was never to leave him in the days which
followed. The criticism levelled at him for his failure was
one of the reasons for his leaving the Foreign Offiqe‘for the
Russian ambassadorship in Paris. There he was to work unceas-
ingly for closer-knit bonds with France and England.l

In retirement Blilow stated with reference to the
events of the years 1908-1909, "the group of Powers whose
influence had been so much overestimated at Algepiras fell to
pileces when faced with the tough problems of Continental policy."2
Most certainly this is a sentiment of delusion, and not at all “
in accord with fact; If Austria and Germany had won é striking
diplomatic victory, it was hot at the expense of the Entente.
The ecrisis in no way estranged the Three Powers. On the contrary,
it had the completely opposite effect of consolidating aﬁd‘
‘meking much closer their relationship. In the face of what
was interpreted as a Teutonic threat, the solidity of the
- Entente was considered even more of a necessity than previously,
1f German hegemony was to be checked. Mr. Churchill sums up
the effects of the Crisis on France-Russian relations in these
words:

Frahce, after her treatment in 1905, had
begun a thorough military reorgenization. Now
Russia, in 1910 made an enormous increase in
"her already vast army; and both Russia and

France, smarting under similar experiences,
closed their ranks, cemented their alliances

l. Fay, op. cit., I, p.397. Gooch, Before the War, I, 363.
2. Cited in Nicolson, op. cit., 309.
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and set to work to construct with Russian labour
and French money, the new strategic railway
systems of which Russia's western frontier stood
in need. (l)

And the Russian Ambassador, writing from Paris on

April 1, 1909, shows the result on all three Entente governments

when he reported:

In

In connection with this (the Crisis), German
and Austrian journals have emphasized the success
of Austriasn diplomacy, and the predominant
position of the Dual Monarchy in the Balkans.

In consequence of this, public opinion in France

as well as in England demands more and more a

8till greater rapprochement between Russia, France
and England, as they have already acted in common
during the Austrian-Serbian conflict. Foreseeing
the further development of the Buropean situation,
many newspapers come to the conclusion that
precisely as Germany and Austria have now achieved
a brilliant vietory, so must the two Western Powers,
together with Russia, now pay their attention to
the systematic development of their foreces in order
to be able, once they are in a position not to

fear a challenge of the Triple Alliance - and in
this case Italy would separate herself from the
Triple Alliance - to set up on their part demands
which would restore the political balance which

has now been displaced in favour of Germany and

Austria .:... This is the direction which the Paris,

and also apparently, the London cabinet wish fto
give to their policy. (2)

another report of the same date he wrote:

The cabinets of Paris and London have concluded
from this that Russia, France and England must pay
more attention than ever to action in common and
must at the same time proceed to the necessary
military measures in order to convince their
opponents they are dealing with a political combination
which knows how to make itself respected and te '
carry through its demands. (3)

1. Churchill, op. cit., I, 3l.

2. Russian Ambassador at Paris to Isvolsky, April 1, 1909,
Siebert, op. cit., 266-67.

30 Ibido, 269'70.
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The Czar expressed a similar view when he assured
Nicolson on April 14 that the result of the crisis had been
to strengthen the Entente. "We must," he said, "keep closer
and closer together.ﬁl _

Important_as_is the Crisis of 1908 as a factor in
the consolidating the Triple Entente, in the matter of England's
participation in the alignment of the Powers before 1914 there
was an infinitely more important factor, namely, the naval
‘rivalry with Germany.>'Among all the many problems making for
rivalry this question stands out in the foreground. 1In the
Navy Law of 1900 Germany had embarked on her plan for building
her navy. Britain, having "ruled the waves" for a hundred
years, felt that rivalry in battleships was not only a menace
in the matter of a possible attack, but an unwarranted infringe-
ment upon her rightful prerogative. German rivalry in colonies,
in industry, in trade, or in shipping, these might have been
tolerated, but a rival in the matter of naval power - never.
0fficlial assurances by German leaders failed utterly to dispel
anxiety roused by the appearance of a German navy, the completion

of the Kiel Canal and the fortification of Heiigoland. It

l. Nicolson, op. cit., 313. The next year a misunderstanding
arose between the Entente Powers in connection with the
Czar's visit to the Kaiser at Potsdam on November 4, 1910.
Sazonov, who accompanied the Czar, had interviews with the
German Chancellor and Foreign Secretary. In the conver-
sations during the visit Sazonov promised Germany a free
hand, so far as Russia was concerned, in the completion
of the Bagdad Railway. France feared that Germany was
trying to weaken the Dual Alliance. It was feared in
England that Russia was abandoning the Triple Entente. The
German press paid glowing tributes to Russia on acecount
of what was regarded as a blow to France and Englend. As
e matter of fact none of these apprehensions or hppes, it

branspired; were justified. Nicolson, op. cit.,336-38.
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cannot be denied that Germany, in the words of Mr. Haldane,
was ﬁithin her "unfettered rights" in building up a fleet,
if she chose to‘follow such a policy, but the fact
remained, that in choosing such a course she rendered
impossible friendly relations with England, and by persist-
ently clinging to that policy, she raised an almost insur-
mountable barrier to English amity. The inevitable result
followed - the maintenance of close cooperation with
France and Russia "became the pivot of British foreign
policy."1 I |

The start of the rivalry goes back to the opening
of the century when the first beginnings of the German
navy resulted in the adoption by the British Government of the
Cawdor programme calling for four new batfleships a year,
Sir John Fisher, who was appointed First Sea Lord in 1904,
proceeded drastically to change the diétribution and composi-
tion of the fleet. The Channel Squadron was greatly reinforced
and a Home Fleet stationed in the North Sea. The harbour of
Rdsyth in Scotland was developed into a permanent base, and in
1905 the "Dreadnought," the first of a new type of ship, which
far surpassed all previous types in fighting power, was laid
down. On February 3, 1905, Mr. Arthur Lee, First Lord of fhe
Admiralty, in a speech to his constitutents struck an ominous

note when he declared that the British fleet should conéentrate

1. Ewart, op. cit., II, 683.
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in the North Sea, and in anticipation of war, should "strike
the first blow, before the other side found time to read in
the newspapers that war had been declaredf"l

B These events had inevitable repercussions in Germany.
Tirpitz in a new Naval Bill ef 1906 added six new cruisers to
the German fleet which had been refused in_1900, and secured
money to widen the K;el Canal. Anglo-German naval rivalry
had begun in earnest; a dangerous stage was thus reached in
1906 with the admiralties of each Power attributing aggressive
designs to the other.

The Liberal Government which took office under
Campbell-Bannerman in December,.1905, was opposed %o increases
in naval estimates. Pledged to lnaugurate an extensive
programme of social reforms there was need of economy in the
matter of armaments.2 As a result the naval estimates for
1906-08 showed a slight decrease. 1t was stated that one of
of the four ships provided for in the Cawdor programme would
be omitted, and the prime minister announced his intentions of_
proposing limitation of armaments at the second Hague Conference
which had been called to meet in 1907. This intention Qas
communicated to the other Powers. Any hope of the British for
success in this plan was dispelled when the German Government

announced that it could not take part in any such discussion

l. Cited in Ewart, IYX¥, II, op. cit., 6823.

2. Speech of Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman December 21,
1905; Fay, op. cit., I, 237.

d. Belgian Minister in London July 28, 1906, Morel,
op . Cito, 49,
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~since it was felt to be impractical, and_insisted that the
matter of limitation should not be raised at the Conference.1
Despite this attitude of Germany, the subjeet was brought up
at the fourth plenary sessioh by the British delegate. The
matter, however, was passed over almost without debate and
nothing of value achieved. It was unfortunate Germany did
not take up this offer. There is little reason to belie?e
that discussion would have led fo any valuable formulae which
could have prevented the catastrophe of 1914, but her partic-
ipation iﬁ such discussion would have lightened British
suspicions of her peaceful intentions, and saved.her from
incurring the odium of having wrecked the proposals.z

The Kaiser's visit to Windsor in November, 1907,
seemed to somewhat lessen the tension which had been growing
up between the two countries. He wap most cordielly received,
and friends of peace in both countries were filled with
satisfaction.5 The aspirations of peace and friendship
expressed by press and leaders appeared to be fully realized.
The visit had not been intended for political discussion, but

4 . .
the matter of the Bagdad Raillway 4did arise. Sir Edward Grey

l. Russia and Austria were also opposed to its being
discussed. ‘ :

2. Pay, op. cit., I, 233; Brandenburg, op: cit., 277-78.

3. Lee, op. cit., II, 557-559. ~

4. Ibid., 559. The Kaiser spoke of it first of all to
Mr. Haldane who took the matter up with Grey.
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Sir Bdward Grey insisted that in any settlement of this
question France and Russia would have to be consulted, for
their interests were involved.1 Some weeks later the Berlin
Government stated its readiness to discuss the Rallwey with the
British Governmeht but placed a veto on discussion with Russia
and France. The matter‘epded there.2

This royal visit had brought a short period of
reconciliation between the two qountries. For a few weeks
Anglo-German relations had breathed a cordiality they had not
known for some years, and which they were not to know again for
years to come. Under the influence of a warm royal welcome
relationships had yielded.to a revival of family associations,
and a desire to resume the political intimacy of earlier years.
But the good omens were soon %o vaniéh, as darkening clouds
filled the sk;y.5 |

With the opening of 1908 tﬁe atmosphere became
charged with electricity. Germany was unwilling to admit the
right of any foreign Power to dictate the extent of her naval
armaments. Whille Willliam II was on English soil a new German
Naval Bi1ll reduced:the life of battleships from twenty-five
to twenty years, and provided for the early replacement of old

obsolete vessels by new ships of the new Dreadnought type. The

construetion of the new and replacement ships was to proceed at

l. Note of conversation between Grey and Haldane, November
14, 1907, BCD;, VI, NO.62, pp.95-96-

2. Lee, op. cit., II, 559-561. Haldane, op.cit., 68-66.

3. Lee; op. cit., II, 563.



-138-

the rate of four a year from 1908 to 1911 and two.a year from
1912 to 1917. It was this programme which seems to have brought
home to the English ministers the full seriousness of the
situation.l |

The Press on both sides was whipping up national
passions. Then, early in 1908 the Kasliser wrote his well-meant
but injudicious letter to Lord Tweedsmouth, the First Lord of
. the British Admiralty.a This was a private letter, sent
without the Imperial Chancellor's knowledge, in which the
Emperor sought to produce a tranquillizing effect by eﬁphasizing
the fact that Garmany was not thinking of challenging Britain's
supremacy of the sea, and in which he endeavoured to Jjustify |
the German nsaval programme.3 Lord Tweedsmouth Sent & courteous
reply. But vague rumours of the exchange of letters leaked out
to reach the publiec ear. The Kaiser was suspected of attempting
to influence a British minister to effect reductions in the
naval budget. The matter came up in Parliament, where the
English leaders defended their colleague, who had shown them
the letter, and they maintained that the matter was one of a
purely private exchange of letters. The matter was thus closed_.5

It was,however, a most imprudent act of the Keiser's, well-

}ptended no doubt, but tactless, and it brought untoward results

l. Fay, op: cit., I, 237. Brandenburg, op. cit., 278.

2. For this incident see B.D. VI, No.88, 89, 90, 91.

3. Lee, op. cit., II, 606. -

4. The "Times," March 6, 1908; article by Colonel Repington.
50 Leﬂ,op. Citc, II, 607c
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which added fuel to the flames of national feeling, and
widened the gulf between the two countries.

The growing conviction in Germany that England was
trying to put a check on her navy; and "encircle™ her in other
ways, was fostered to a still greater extent by numerous visits
and interviews which Edward VII had with French and Russian
rulers and ministers in the summer of 1908.l In May Presideht
Falliérés was cordislly received in London,zand given a dinner
at the Foreign Office, to which the only person invited outside

o : 3
the French and English group, was the Russian Ambassador.

In June King Edward‘vis;ted the Czar at Réval, accompanied by
Admiral Fisher, Sir John French and Sir Charles Hardinge, who
had long converssations with Isvolsky and the Russiaen Premier,
Stoiypin. There was nb attempt to Reval %o puild up a closer
Anglo~Russian combination, and assurances were offered td
Germany that no unfriendly steps towards her were taken.4

‘But the visit‘pdt‘the seal on the Anglo-Russian reconciliation,
and rumours of agreements hostile to'Germany'increased the

. ' . : 5
convietion that the Fatherland was being hemmed in. When in

l. Lee, op. cit., II, 596; Pay, op. cit., I, 240. _
2. Lister to Grey, May 28, 1908, B.D.VI, No.95, pp.149-150.
. Lee, op. cit., II, 584-86. : '

5. Bay, op. ecit., I, 240.

4. Grey to do Salis, June 15, 1908, B.D.VI, No:97, p.154.

6. The idea that King Edward was a busy intriguer using
these visits for political ends, particularly for weakening
the Triple Alliance and for "encircling" Germany became
more deeply rooted in the German mind. ILee, op. cit., II,
596. Grey's comment on the years 1907-1908 are of interest.
He says, "In looking through old papers, it is depressing
to read of the distrust and suspicion with which Governments
and peoples regarded each other in these‘years. The
impression given is of an atmosphere so miserable and
unwholesome that nothing healthy could live in it
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the course of his stéy abroad in the summer of 1908 His
Ma jJesty visited the‘Austrian Emperor at Ischl, vague rumours
arose that England‘ﬁas endeavouring to weaken the Triple
Alliance by winning the support of Austria_from Germany.l

No one recognized the Anglo-German tension more
clearly, nor deplored it to a greater extent, that did Count
Metternich in ILondon, who accurately guaged the British feeling
in this matter of naval armamenté. He kept the German Government
informed éf British opinion, pointing out that while there was
no real hostility to Germeny there was a growlng fear of her
naval power, and that the inerease of the German fleet prevented
confidence. The Kaiser was incensed at the Ambassador's
suggestion that English friendship could be obtained only at
the cost of Germany's fleet. "If England only intends graciously
to offer us her hand on condition that we reduce our fleet, |
that is an unparalleled impertinence, and a bitter iﬁsult t§
the German p60ple and thelr Kalser, which the Ambassador must
_reject."a He was of course strengthened'in this attitude by‘
 the leading naval circles. |

A positive refusal to discuss limitation was put
forward by the Kaiser when Hardinge broached the subject to him
on the occasion of King E@ward's visit to Cronberg in Augusf |

op.cit.,1,143: Again, speaking of the royal visits he
states, "An even more fertile source of suspicion were
royal visits. These visits were matters of civility and
courtesy; as such thelr effect was good; they made a friendly
atmosphere. But they caused me the greatést drouble;®
{ibid., 149-151.
L. Gooch, Modern Europe, 439. Grey, op.cit., I, 150.
2. Cited in Brandenburg, op. cit., 284.
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1
of 1908. THardinge explained the uneasiness of the British

leaders and pointed out the dangers of naval competition. He
insisted on the necessity of limiting such rivalry; "You must
stop or build more slowly.® The discussion became rather
heated; and the Kaiser replied rather brusquely{ "Then We shall
fight, for it is & question of national honour and dignity."z
It was the last time that the British Government officially
suggested an agreed limitation. In the following months
English alarm'steadilysincreased,and the tide of excited feeling
rose higher.

_ In QOctober, 1908, further antagonism between the
two countries was caused by the publication of the "Daily
Telegraph"vinterview.3 A conversation the Kaiser had held with
& private citizen, Colonel Stuart-Wortley, whose guest the
Emperor had been in 1907; was published with his approval in
October 28, 1908. The interview was undoubtedly meant as &
sincere gesture of friendship and as a contribution to friend;y I
relations. But it produced the opposite result. The dominant
note of the reported interview was the Kalser's avowed friendship
for Great Britain, as evinced both openly and secretly during
the years of the Boer War, and since steadlily maintained,
though neither shared by his own people nor recognized by the
British. He declared that although Germany was expanding her

navy, the sole aim of her fleet was the protection of her

l. Lee, op. cit., II, 618.

2. Fay, op. cit., I, 243; Brandenburg, op. cit:, 243. The
long memorandum of §ir Charles Hardinge, August 16,1908
B.D. VII, Nooll",'pp0184"900 .

3. For this incident see B.D. VI, pp.201ff.
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inereasing trade, the maintenance of German interests in the
Far East. He posed throughout his reported words as one who
was completely misunderstood in Great Britain.l

The‘geshure was another pathetic example of the
Kaiser's ineptitude. However well-intentioned, it increased
the ™malaise" it was intended to dispel.z His protestation of
friendship was jeered in England; his sincerity was doubted,
and the idea that his advice had been of service against the
Boers was resented. But his admission that the German publie
was hostile to Britain was noted, and thus further colour was
- added to the British mind of Germany as an Anglophobe nation.
The publication of the interview caused a storm of newspaper
attacks on both sides of the Channel. In Germany the action
was regarded as most ill;considered, and attacks were made on

3
the personal rule of the Kaiser by the Liberals and Socialists.

lo Lee, Op. Cito, II, 6210

2. Grey wrote in this connection, "The German Emperor is
ageing me; he is like a battleship with steam up and
serews going, but with no rudder, and he will run into
something some day and cause a catastrophe.m Grey to Ella
Pease, November 8, 1908, cited in Trevelyan, op. cit., 154.

3. Before the interview was published the Kaiser had sent the
manuscript to the Foreign Office for approval. It was
forwarded to BlUlow who was taking a cure at Norderney. He
unfortunately omitted to read it. Minor officials did not
venture on any criticisms, supposing it had Bulow's
approval; it was allowed to go out, and was published
October 28 1908. As & result of the storm raised by this
mistake Bulow offered his resignation, which was declined.
In the debate which followed in the Reichstag the Kaiser
felt the Chancellor did not adequately defend him and -
this incident led to a growing coolness between them.
Brandenburg, op. cit., 291.
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In 1908 ?eliefiin England that the German "menace"
was a reality was growing stronger. Powerful voices'were
striking this note, and the dénger was portrayed in such a
manner as to cateh popular imagination.r From the opening of
the century the "National Review" had preached Germany as
"the enemy." Lord Cromer in a sﬁeech in the Housevof Lords
in July, 1908, urged the Government to meke provision for
a coming conflict. On November 23 Lord Roberts in the same .
placé made a stirring appeal for compulsory military service.
Sir John Fisher had talked to Kinq Bdward of the wisdom of
“Copenhagening“ the Germen Fleet. In France also similar
feelings were growing. During his cure at Marienbad'in;
August of 1908 King Edward received a visit from Clemenceau,
the French Premier, who urged upon England the creation of a
nationail army.z' To what extent these views represented ’
public opinion is uncertain, but as long as the question of
naval armaments reﬁained unsolved, normal relations betweenu
Germany and Ehgland were an impossibility: The United Kingdom
would not permit encroachment upon he? ocean-predominance.

.As has been shown above Metternich in London was
greatly perturbed over the growing tension; he saw the two
countries drifing into miSunderstandings and@ reeriminations
which might soon lead to war., "It is not the economic

development of Germany which makes our relations to Englam

1. Lee, op. cit., II, 604,'
2. Goschen to Grey, August 29, 1908; B.D., VI, No.1l09, pp.l157-58;
Lee, op. cit., IX, 628. ' \
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worée from year to jear, but the rapid increase of our fleet.™
He:suggested the desirability of slowing down the German
programme of construction from four to three ships annually,
and of ﬁrying to arrive at some understanding with England.
Blulow personally favoured'Such a policy, and stirred by the
Ambassador's repeated warnings, he took up the matter with
Tirpitz. The Admiral's answer was a decided negative; he
disagreed apsolutely with the Ambassador's diagnosis of the
situation. There must be no slowing down of pace, but rather
the pressing forward of the programme with iron energy. If
such alterations in the naval programme were insisted upon,
as BlUlow suggested, he would resign. The cor}espondence
between the Chancellor and Pirpltz ended with Bilow giving
wey; they came to no agreement, and Bulow virtually abandoned
Metternich's suggestion for the time at least.

In'Februéry of 1909 there arose a new opportunity for
coming to some‘ggreement with BEngland, but it eame to néthing.
The visit of the English King and Queen to Berlin produced é
momentary détente.z Lord Crewe who accompanied'their
Ma jesties touched upon the Question of naval competition in
conversation with Bﬁlow, but while the conversations ﬁere
friendly enough, and while cordial assurances were given, they

3
were without significance.

1. Metternich to Bulow, eited in Gooch, Before the War, I,
269. 4

aq Lee, Opo Cito, II, 673"770
3. Gooch, Before the War, I, 272.

1
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Metternich reported at this time that the British
Government believed Germany to be secretly accelerating her
programme, that they were secretly alérmed, but had not asked
for an explanation. Blilow feplied that no acceleration was
planned. This statement produced little effect, however, since
the British leaders preferred the information of the British
Admiral ty. Grey unofficlally suggested an occasional exchange
of informetion, but Builow replied that since precise declar-
ations were not believed such a pian would be of no use.

When, howéver, Asquith and Grey suggested inspection by the
respective Naval Attachés, the Chancellol advised the accept-
ance of the proposal as a means of calming opinion in England.
Tirpitz was also in favour of this within certain limits, but
the Kaiser refused his consent{1

sIn England the suspicion grew that Germany was
building at a faster rate than prescribed by law. The effect
of the rivalry of the past few years came to a climax in the
spring of 1909 in the form of the "German naval scare.4 AAs
a result of the increasing Britishvagitation, Mr. McKenna,
First Lord of the Admiralty, in his speech of Mhrch 16, 1909,
proposed that for three years England should lay down six
Dreadnoughts} To aid his argument he hinted that Germany, by
concealing her building activities, had almost reached squality

in naval power with Britain. His words crystallized the

l. Gooch, Bp. c¢it., 272-73; Brandenburg, op. cit., 294-95.
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general feellng of uneasiness whicg existed in England. This
speech was followed by an Opposition attack led by Mr. Balfour
which increased the prevailing fear. He'pictured mdst vividly
"the alarming circumstances in which this country finds

itself,“ and declared that "the'programme asipresented by the
Government is utterly insufficient." By 1910, he said, Germany
would be ahead of Britain with thirteen Dreadnoughts to Britain's
ten. By 1912 Germany would have twenty-five. His figures, |

" time was %o prove, were unbelievably fantastie = in 1912‘Germany
had.only twelve. But the British were in a mood to believe the
wildest prophesying. "There was no limit to the stupidity of
the stories which filled the newspapers, and the conversation

of the readers.“l The demand arose over all England, "we want
eight and we won't wait,® and in response to this cry, fantéstic
thdugh it was, and based upon nothing more than suspicion,
dislike and apprehension, the eight were voted.2 Although

Mr: McKenna later admitted his statements to.have been incorrect,
they.had done their damage in further increasing Anglo-German

] .
antagonism.

l. Bwart, op. cit., II, 690. Reports of the Belgian Minister
in Berlin, March 22 and 31, 1909, Morel, op. cit., 151-53.

2. Spender, Asquith, I, 253. .

3. Fay, op: ci%., I, 298. Mr. Winston Churchill, who succeeded’
Mr. McKenne as First Lord of the Admirelty, has the
following to say of this "naval scare;" "I was still s
sceptic about the danger of the European situation, and
not convinced by the Admiralty case. In conjunction with
the Chancellor of the Exchequer, I proceeded at once to
canvass this scheme and to examine the reasons by which .it
was supported. The conclusions which we both reached were
that a programme of four ships would sufficiently meet
our needs .:.. I could not agree with the Admiralty conten-
tion that a dangerous situation would be reached in the
year 1912. I found the Admiralty figures on this subject
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In July of 1909 Bethmen-Hollwég succeeded von Bulow
as Imperial Chancellor, and Kinderlen-Wachter entered the German
foreign office. The former was powerless to alterAthe course
whiech had been set in the past few years, but he agreed with
Metternich as to the need for coming to some agreement over the
naval question with England. His views were shared by the new
Foreign Secretary. Thus a more accomodatihg spirit entered'
into the Wilhelmstrasse. The new Chancellor was determined on
a frank exchange of views, and with this in mind he opened
negotiations with the British Ambassador in Berlin, Sir Edward
Goschen, in August 1909.l The discussions thus begun, and which
lasted during the next few months, took much the same course
as the later ones of 1912.. The Germans insisted, that desirable
as any building truce might be in itself, 1t must be conditional
upon a political agréement.2 In the éyes of the British,
however, there was little'hope of a political agreement unless

D
the tension was first relaxed by a substantial naval reduction.

. were exaggerated .... The gloomy Admirelty anticipations
were in no respect fulfilled in the year 1912. The
British margin was found to be ample in that year. There
were no secret German Dreadnoughts, nor had Admiral von
Tirpitz made any untrue stdtement in respect of me jor
construction. The Admiralty had demanded six ships; the
economists offered four; and we finally compromised on
eight." op. cit., I, 32-35. '

1. Goschen to Grey, August 2, 1909, B.Db., VI, No.186, p.283;
No.187, p.284.
2. Ibid., pp.283-84.

8. Nicolson to Grey, September 22, 1909; B. D., VI, No.l98,

P.291. Goschen to Grey, October 15, 1909, 1bid., Ko.ZOO
Pp.293-96.
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There was little room for comprdmise, The German Governmenk
could not agree to any departure from their building programme,
(since it was claimed this would not be supported in the
Reichstag), but they were willing to discuss "retarding the
rate™ of building new ships.l The draft political agreement
| that was sﬁggested proposed that in the event of an attack
made on either Party by a th;rd Power or group of Powers the
Party not attacked should remain neutral.z The‘signing_of
such an agreement by the British would prevent them from
supporting France or Russia and frpm teking a part in future
Continental affairs in which they might be greatly'interested.Z
Neither in 1909, nor in 1912, was Britain willing to pledge
neutrality. It is not sgrprising therefore that the proposal
was turned down. Politically it was open to the gravest
objections, and on the naval sgide it offered no substantial
reduction.4

The negotiations were taken up several times in the
next year but led to no result.5 The British suggested the plax
of instituting periodival feports by the naval attachés on

both sides as to the progress of building new vessels, and

%. Goschen to Grey, November 4, 1909, B.D.VI, No.204, p.305.

L] Ibid. . . )

3. Grey to Goschen, May 5, 1910; ibid., No.361, p.479.

4. Négolson to Goschen, February 6, 1911, Nicolson, op. cit.,
539.

5. Memorandum of Sir Edward Grey, B.D., VI, July 29, 1910,
enclosure in No.387, pp.501-508.
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thq inspection of shipyards in both countries, in order to
remove the suspicion of the English that Germeny was building
more ships than was offieially admitted.l But these came to
nothing.2 During 1909 and 1910 English domestic politics was
- disturbed by the acute constitutional struggle waged by the
two Houses over finances. There were two genefal elections.
These circumstances interfered with negot;ations wi th Germany
so that by the end of 1910 no progress had been made.3

Despite the failure to mitigate the rivalry, the
Anglo-German tension seemed less acute by 1911. The death of
King Edward seemed to bring about a slight détente.4 The Kaiser
had come to London for the funeral ih May, 1910, and his
manifest sympathy was warmly appreciated.5 In May, 1911, he
accepted XKing George's invitation to attend the unveiiing of a
statue of Queen Victoria. His reception in London was mpst
cordial. Shortly afterwards the Crown Prince attended the
coronation of Kiné George. But Just at this time, when the

tension seemed eased, & new crisis broke out in Moroceco, the

Crisis of Agadlr, which put to an end the political dead calm.

l. Memorandum of Sir Edward Grey, July 29, 1910, B.D., VI,
No.387, pp.501-28, and statement handed to Tirpitz by
Captain Watson, August 24, 1910. B.D., VI, enclosure
3 in No.397, pp.517-18.

2. Brandenburg, op. cit., 368-369.

d. The negotiations outlined in the previous pages wsre
summarised for the Cabinet Committee in a memorandum of
Mey 24, 1911 by Sir Edward Grey, given in B.D., VI, No.
468, pp 631-35.

4, Gooch Modern Europe, 457.

6, Brandenburg, op. cit., 359.
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Thus, up to 1911, attempts_to solve the rivalry in
navel armements had failed. It is difficult to see how there
could have been any result but failure. During all the discussions
the fundamental issues had not been touched. Was 1t possible
- to reconcile the interests of two powqrful state3m-'fhe one of
which desired to prevent change, the other of which was bent
on changing a ratio of power which it felt to be unjust?

Each side approached the question from its'bwn point of view
only. Each could make out a good case for itseif; each had
grounds for fear; each changed and magnified the objéctive

of - the other. Underlying this fundamental issue there were
two significant problems - Britain was unwilling to make any
political agreemept/Witthermany which would in any fespectA -
1imit her existing relationship with France ; and Germany waes
unwilling to meke any reduction in her naval programme which
would satisfy Britain. While this question of naval rivalry
remained no nearer solution, -adhesion to the Triple Entente

seemed more than ever a necessity to Britain.



CHAPTER V

The Agadir Crisis, 1911
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CHAPTER V
The Agadir Crisis 1911

On July 1, 1911, the diplomatic world was startled -
and alarmed by:an announcement on-the part of the German -
Government that a gunboat, the “Paﬁther,“ had been dispatched
tovAgadir. Lgedir was an Atlantic port in the extreme south
of Morocco, some five hundred miles south of Tangier. It was
claimed that German firms established in the south of Morocco
head been alarmed by unrest among the local tribesmen and had
applied to the hoﬁe government for protection. The gunboét
had been sent to their assistance, and to waﬁch over German
interests, which were said %o be considerable in that area.

As soon as normal tranquillity had been restored the ship

would ZLe.c.a.ve.:L The news of thié action_on the part of the
German Government, for which no warning had been given, aroused
indignation and surprise in the chancellories of Europe. Wh%t

did it mean? To find an answer it will be necessary to review

the course of Morocean affairs after the Conference of Algeciras.

1. B.D:, VII, No.338, p.322. Alde-mémoire communicated by
Count Metternich, July 1, 1911; Fo.339, pp.322-23,
minute by Sir Arthur Nicolson.

2. Agadir was a closed port, and not open to trade. It was
doubted if there were German residents or merchants in
the vieinity.
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A The Conference of 1906 had produced no truly

satisfactory conditions in Moroceo; it was followed by neither
improvement in the internal conditions,; nor by 1mprovement in
the relations between France and Germany. The French found
themselves busily engaged in the onerous and thankless task of
enforeing economic and administrative reforms. The Sultan's
brother, Mulai Hafid, gained a strong following among the
chieftaing, who resented French and Spanish intrusion, and with
this backing he revolted. In‘the disorders which arose in 1907
the murder of a doctor gave the French occasion to ocoupy
Oud ja, near the Algerian border, and further 6utrages led to
the landing of troops in Casablanca and to the placing of French
police in seaports on the west coast. In the struggle Mulal
Hafid proved strong enough to depose his brdther.l |

While negotiations were being carried on with~régard
to the recognition of the new Sultan, an incident at Casablanca
threatened to cause a serious breach in Franco-@German relations.
Six deserters from the French Foreign Legion had been assisted
by the German Consul at Casablanca in an attempt to escape
aboard a German ship in September, 1908: French scldiers
attempted to arrest thém, and in the struggle which followed
two German officials were maltreated. Over this incident =a
bitter dispute arose between the two governments{ In spite of

the excitement which flared in the press good sense prevailed

l. Ewart, op. cit., II, 806-13. For a criticism of French
policy in Morocco during these years see the reports of
the Belgian Minister in Berlin given in Morel, op. cit.,
p.68-70, 71-78, 117-18, 118-20, 121-22, 181.
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among the leaders, for fault existed on both sides. The ﬁatter
was referred to the Hague Tribunal for arbitfation which . .
declared both parties must share the blame. The incident itself
was not importént, but minor episode though it was, it proved
painful and dangerous, and precipitated almost a erisis in the
whole Mbroccan Question and in the relations between France

and Gefmany.l | | ‘

The Incident is important also in that it reveals
clearly, as did the affalrs of 1906 and 1906 how the British
and French Entente policy might have become operative. " In
November, before the affair was settled, the French Government,
through Sir Francis Bertie, asked whether France could count
on the support of Britain ig resisting what they chose to
term ''the unjustifiable demgnds*' of the German Government.z
This request obviously contemplated for certaip eventualities
military support. Grey placed the following minute on Bertle's
dispatch: ''The 1line, if the question becomes acute, will have
to be decided by the Cabinet.”f'3 This reply or comment, which
presumably would be conveyed to the French Government, was

certainly not a refusal to consider giving support, and as

Professor Mowat suggests, 1t would not, according to the normsl

l. Gooch, Before the War, I, 275; B.D., VII, pp.109-131.
The fears of the British officials that the incident
might lead to grave resulis - minutes to No.129, p.118.
Also, see Nicolson to Grey, November 5, 1908, No.130
ps118, for the alarm of the Russian Government.

2. Bertie ‘to Grey, November 4, 1908, B.D., VII, No:l29,
pP-117.

d. Ibid., p.ll18.
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4

interpretation of diplomatic language, be considered
discouraging.l

Ffance, however, had no need at this time to ask
further for the contemplated support. But there was little
doubt that the inereasing activity of the French in Morocco
would inevitably result in the establishment of a preponder-
ating political influence there. No one saw this more clea:ly
than the Kaiser, and it is to his eredit that he displayedAmuch
wisdom in favouring a poliey of friendly conciliation. He
had'never favoured the Blilow-Holstein Morocecan policy, and he
now came to the conclusion that it was impossible to cheeck the
extension of French control in Morocco‘without resort to forece.
On October 4, 1908, he informed his Foreign Office that so
far as was practicable Germany should withdraw with dignity
from Moroccan affairs, and eome to an'understanding with France.

Blilow was by this time also in favouf of liquidating
this question, and he thus intimated te France thet Germany
would be willing to negotiate a settlement. Pichon, the
French premier; was anxious to avoid friction with Germany and
favoured a "détente."3 After short negotiations an agreement
was signed on February 9, 1909.‘ "To facilitate the execution
of the Act of Algeciras," France, professing still to respect

the independence and integrity of Morocco, promised equality

1. Mowat, R.B., New Light on the Agadir Crisis, the
Contemporary Review, Vol.l4l, June, 1932, 709.

20 Fay, Opo citi, I, 247-480 -

3. Gooch, Before the War, I, 276.

2 .
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of economic opportunity to the Germans; and Germany, promising

to pursue only economic aims, redognized the special political

interests of Ffance,in preserving peace and order, and promised
not to interfere with them.

The conciliatory attitude of Germany was warmly
welcomed in France as putting an end to & long standing source
of irritation betweeh the two nations. The British Government;
too, was delighted, and expressed pleasgre that a question
which hed occasioned such anxiety to England, and over which
England was bound to glve France support, was now sgttled.z 4
It was welcomed as well in most of the European_capitals, more
especlally at this particular time, since BEurope was entang}ed
in the Bosnian Crisis. |

But unfortunately for the peace of Europe this pact
of 1909 proved only a breathing?space and not a solution of
Moroccan problems. For a short tiﬁe it did bring about more
cordial relations between France and Germany;>but it did not
bring to fruition all the happy results expected of it. The
proposed economic partnership served as a basis for frlendly
relations during the next two years, and cooperation in the
economic field was begun hopefully. But every one of the
schemes embarked upon proved failﬁres; whatever may have been

the intentions of the parties. This was seen in plans made with

regard to mines,’railways, and other public works. At every

l, Pay, op. cit,, I 248.

2. Grey-to Goschen, February 9, 1909, B. D., ViI, No.152
p.136, and Grey to Bertie, February 9, 1909, No.153,
PP. 136-37.
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1
point, in every region, arrangements brgye down. The Germans,

not unnaturally, were angry and mistrustful. And as a result
of the failure of the Agréement to reconcile the-economic
interests of the two Powers political cerises continued to‘ocoui.

At the same time, while the Pact of 1909 was failing
to bring forth the résults for which it had been arranged,
further disorders in Morocco were furnishing the French with a
pretext for a steady extension of their police and military
control. 1t can be easlly understood that in the eyes of
Germany the stipulated basis of the agreement, "the maintenance
of the independence and integrity of the Shereefian Empire,"
was becoming more and more of a myth.z "It became clearer and
clearer that with this extension of French influence the equality
of economic opportunity contemplated inuthe 1909 Agreement,
and the ideafof an independent Sultan at the head of a well-
regulated government, were both fictions in contradiction
with the actual trend of events.“3

It was while events were passing thus in Morocco that -
Sir Edward Grey was asked in the House of Commons, in March of
1911, a question with regard to England's obligations td support
France. Both his reply to this gquestion, and the attitude of

l. Dickinson, op. cit., 189; Ewart, op. cit., II, 815-17.
For a criticism of French policy in this regard see
Fabre-Luce, op. cit., 123, and Haldvy, Elie, World.Crisis,
1914-1918, (London, 1950), 24, -

2. Brandenburg, op; cit.. 370. '

d. FPay, op. cit., I, 278. For the way in which France continued
to extend finan01a1 and military control over the Sultan,
see Ewart, op. cit., II, 808-24 and The Belglan Minister
in Berlin, April 21, 1911 Morel, op. cit.;, 177-78, and
May 1, 1911 ibid., 181.
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the French Foreign Minister to that reply are of interest, to
say the least. Dld there exist at the time he entered into
office, Sir Edward was asked, any understending, "expressed or
implied, in virtue of which Great Britain would be under
obligations to France to send troops, in certain evegtualities,
to assist the operations of the ﬁrench army?" Grey replled,
"The extent of the obligations to which Great Britain was
committed was that expressed or implied in the Amglo-French
convenﬁion laid before Parliament. Therelwas no other engagement
bearing on the subJect."l This answer, of course, gave no
hint of the secret articles of the 1904 Agreement whiéh were
unknown to Parliament at this time,znor of the'military and
naval "ceonversations™ which began in 1906.

When M. Cruppi, the French Foreign Minister, heard
of Sir Edward's answer he complained to Sir Francis Bertie in
Paris that Grey's statement was rather regrettably positive
in its denial of the existence of an obligation to support
France. "He regretted that you had found it necessary to
repudiate so strongly the existence pf any unknown Agreement
between England and France,for your repudiation has had a
regrettable effeet in certain Parliamentary circles. He
{M. Cruppi) knew what had'paséed between the Departments of

the two Governments for he had seen the dossier. He would

have preferred that there should have been a susplecion that an

10 B.D., VII, N0o197, polsao
2. Supra. '
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1
understanding did exist for possible eventualities.”

Meanwhile trouble was rising in Morocceco. The new
Sultan had roused native discontent, as had his predecessor,
by his subservience to the French. This discbntent came to
a head in March, 1911, when a revolt broke out in Fez. This
was the situation when the French sent out alarming reports
that the Europeans in Fez were in danger. On April 5, Jules
- Cambon, the French Ambgssador in Berlin,linformed'the German
Government that a French expeditionlwas to be dispatched to
Fez to relieve the Sultan and to ensure the safety of‘the
Europeans there. The troops started early in April, and
arrived in Fez on May 21. |

The expedition Wés not dispatched before warning
had been sent to the various Powers; and not before Kiderlen,
who directed Germany's policy at this time, and the Chancellor
had offered repeated warnings that such action might reopen
the whole Moroccan Question. They warned Cambon that thé
occupation of ¥ez might be considered as a furthér step in
the annulling of the Act of Algeciras, and that it would.
entitle Germany to resume complete liberty of action. They
expressed the hope that the action would be delayed as long
as possible, and that France and Germany might work out a
satisfactory compromise on Moroccan affairs. This was a hint
at compensation for Germany. It was pointed out that it was

much easier to occupy a city than to leave it, and that once

1. Bertie to Grey, April 9, 1911, B.D., VII, No.205,
Pp.188-89.
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Fez was in French possession public opinion on both sides

would be roused, and a compromise would be difficu}t. They

did"not give an approval, nor did they lodge a protest, but ¢ ...l
contented themselves with warnings, preferring to wait on events.1
The French insisted that the action was only due to extreme
necessity, and would be expressed in gccordance with the

spirit of the Act of Algeciras. The troops‘wbuld restore order

and then retire.

Sir Edward Grey accepted the assurances of‘the French
Government without queétion,'and in pursuance of treaty promises
to give France diplomatic support in Morocco, approved the
expeditionf Some English leaders at first shared the German
feelings as to the difficulty of withdrawal once French troops
had undertaken occupation. Sir Arthur Niéolson, the Foreign
Under-Secretary, reports the Russian Ambessador in London,

"did not conceal from me the fact that the Morocco question is
disquieting,the London Cabinet.... The experience of all
European states, beginping with Englahd, shows that it is

2
easier to oceupy a city than to withdraw-ag&in.

- *

l. Bertie to Grey, April 25, 1911, B.D., VII, No.216, p.199.
Goschen to Grey, April 28, 1911, ibid., No.227, p.206
and No.229, p.207. Minute by Sir Arthur Nicolson, April
28, 1911, ibid., No.230, p.209. Bwart, op. cit., II,
829-831; Fay, op. cit., I, 278-79. Russian Chargé

"d'Affaires at Berlin to Sazonov, April 13, and April 28,
1911, Siebert, op. cit., 578-80.

2. Russian Ambassador at London to Neratov, May 9, 1911 and
May 23, 1911; Siebert, op: cit., 58l. - The question has
been raised - were Europeans in real danger? On this
point there is much confliet of evidence. How true the
French reports were, to what extent they were exaggerated
as a pretext for their metions, it is diffiocult to say.
Fay, op. eit., I, 280; Dickinson, op. eit.,u 194, '
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It is important to note at this stage that Delcassé,
who hed been forced from office over the Moroccan problem in
1905, had again become a member of the French Cabinet in March,
1911. He had not charge of forelgn affairs, but held only the
naval portfolio. The Prime Minister, Monis, had told the |
German Ambassador that he had taken Deloassé into his cabinet
on aceount of his notable work in the navy, and because of his
great technical knowledge. He further assured the Ambassador
that"Delcassé has firmly proﬁised not to mix in foreign poliey;
anyway his views‘foday differ from those of some years ago.“l
Bﬁt'with the memories of 1905-06vunforgotten, it was natural
that the German press should suspect Delcassé of taking a
yleading part in.the directing of France's Moroccan policy of
191152 ‘The Russian Chargé d'Affaires at Berlin writing to
Sazonov: on'ﬁpril 28, informed him that "in some of the German
papers, Delcassé is regarded as the true originator of French

3
Moroccan policy.% M. Cruppi was Foreign Minister, but he was

Ewart, op. cit., IXI, 834. Apparently neither the
British nor German Governments had any apprehensions for
the safety of their nationals. See guestions asked in
the House of Commons, April 25, 1911, with reference to
the danger to British interests and Europeans at Fez;
B.D., VII, No.l29, pp.201-08. A fortnight after the
arrival of the French oceupation of Fez Spain had landed
troops at Larache and El-Kaesar, which action, in imitation
of the French precedent, was explalned by the necessity
of preserving order, and accompanied by the assurance
that the occupation would be only temporary.

1. Cited in Pay, op. cit., I, 280.

2. Report of the Belglan Minlster in Berlin, March 3, 1911,
Morel, op. cit.; 170-72.

3. Siebert, op. eit.,m 580.
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rather weak, and without experience in foreign affairs. There
wes every good reason %o suspeét that the foreceful, and
energetic Delcassé with phe experienece of 1905 behind him,
would 1nf1uence.the work of Cruppi and the Cabinet. Such ﬁas
the agssumption generally held in Europé.1 Mr. Porter, his
biographer, claims that he Mocecupied a very influential
position in this ministry," and that he "completely overshadowed
M.'-Cruppi."2

The German policy remained somewhat of a puzzle to
the French when the expedition to Fez was first suggested, but
Kiderden's policy is clearly revealed in a memorandum he drew
up on May 5.5 When Fez would be occupied.by the French he
would ask how long they intended to remain there. If they did
not adhere to thé time limit announced, Germany would then
declare the Act of Algeciras annulled by the French actlion and
demand compensation. As protests alone would prove useless
Germany should send a warship to Agadir, claiming Justification
for this action by revealing it as a measure to protect the
life and property of German subjects. The ship would be station-
ed there, and developments awaited to see if France would offer
suitable compensation. 1In this way he felt past failures might
be made up for, and a good effect would be provided on the

4
impending Reichstag elections.

l. Belgian Minister in Paris, March 4,1911, Morel, op. cit.,
173. Russian Ambassador at Paris to Sazonov Mareh 14,
1911, Siebert, op. cit., 559.

a. Porter, op. cit., 284.

d. Given in Dugdale, op. cit., IV, p.204.

4. Pay, op. cit., I, 281-82. Brandenburg, op. cit.,; 371.



-163~

The German Minister does not seem to have looked
through carefully to the possible results his poliecy might
have brought'about. He did not consider, apparently, what
effeect his plan miéht produce on France and the outside world.
What was to happen should France, in spite of his action,
refuse compensation, or inadequate cémpensaﬁion? Would Agadir
then be occupied indefinitely? These questions seemingly dld
not present themselves to his mind. He seems to have expected
with rather extraordinary simplicity that his gesture of sending
the ship would immediately bring forth offers of compensation
from France. The Chancellor was in favour of this plan, and
the Kaiser gave his approval to the principle of seeking
compensation, although at this time he did not definitely
authorize the dispatech of a gu.n-boat.l

On May 21 the French occupied Fez. Kiderlen waited.
On June 11 Cambon dropped a guarded hint to the Imperial
Chancellor that France was prepared to discuss compensation
for Germany, and mentioned concessions in the Congo. Klderlen
now saw his poliey working out as he planned. He met Cambon
at Kissengen on June 19 to discuss the matter of compensation.
It was agreed on principle that compensation for Germany could
be found in the Congo. Cambon returned to Paris to arrange
métters with his Government, but not before Kiderlen warned
him Germany must receive "a decent mouthful."™ During the next

several days no offer was made from Paris. Kiderlen then

l. Brandenburg, op. cit., 372, and footnote (3)
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decided to act. By occupying Agadir he hoped to forece France
to surrender suitable compensation; in negotiating with her he
wished his hand strengthened by a "fait éccompli." On June 26
he visited the Kaiser who was at Kiel, described to him the
situation as it existed, and secured his consent to dispatch a
warship.l Accordingly, the gunboat "Panther," which was return-
ing from southern.Africa, and which was the only vessel near
enough to the North African coast to be of use in the plan, was
ordered to drop anchor at Agadir on Juiy l. At the same time

a note was sent to the Great Powers explaining the German
action.z In spite of the explanation so offered,the real
motive undoubtedly was to bring the French to the point of
making a generous offer of compensation.

The French Government ﬁas deeply stirred by this
sudden action. Germany had given no warning of the step taken,
whereas, France had given a preliminary notification of her
march to Fez. The news was received with consternation in
Downinglstreet, for it raised great fears that Germany wa.s
planning the setting up of a naval base in Morocco.4

On July & Sir Edward Grey informed the German
Ambasgsador thet "we regard the situation as so important that

5
it must be discussed at a Cabinet.® On July 4, after

l. Dugdale, op: cit., IV, 6.

2. Supra.ldl, '

d. Belgian Minister in Paris, July 2, 1911, Morel, op. cit.,190.
4. Belgian Minister in London, July 5, 1911, ibid., 191-92.

8. Grey to de Salis, July 3, 1911, B.D., VIE, No.347, p.328.
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" oconsultation in.the Cabinet, he told him that the Br’itish-
attitude could not be disinterested in view of British interests
in Morocco,and of Britain's treaty obligations to France;"-{a;
a néw situation had been created by the dispatch of a German
ship to Agadir. Future developments might affect British
interests moré,directly than they had hitherto been affected,
and therefore webcould not reQOgnize any new arrangements that
might be come to without us;"} |
In a note of July 2, after announcing to the Powers
the dispatch'of the "Panther," the German Government issued
the followingvnotige: hThe German Government is quite ready
to enter upon an amicable exchange of views in order to obtein
& solution of the Moroccan question satisfactory to all Powers,"
and "it is altogether disposed to examine in a friendly spirit |
every proposition maQe by the French Grovernment:."2 In pursuance
of“this statement negotiations between Jules Cambon and Kiderlen
began, negotiatiqns which were to prove most difficult, and
which were to be exfended over the next four months.3
Sir Edward Grey seems to have expected information

from Berlin in the matter of German policy after his conversation

with the German Ambassador on July 4; but Kiderlen disregarded

. b~

l. Grey to do Salis, July 4, 1911, B.Di, VII, Ko.356, p.334.
Mr. Asquith expressed the same view in almost identical
words in answer to a question on Moroccan affairs in the
House of Commons on July 6, 1911; cited in ibid., No.364,p.342.
2. Cited in Ewart, op. cit., IF, 839-40.
9. Only a few days before the dispatech of the "Panther™" to
Lgadir M: Monis had been succeeded in the French premiership
by M. Caillaux, and M. Cruppi as Foreign Secretary by
M. de Selves. :
4. Grey, op. cit., I, 223.
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PROSRPU. —-

the very obvious hint given in that conversation that England
wished to be consulted. This failure to give reassurances to
Grey was to prove a great mistake; but the German ‘Government
appears to have felt i1t unnecessary, end gave the British
Government no assurances until three weeks later. Grey would
certainly have been less disturbed had he known that Germany's
objective was compensation outside Morocco, and not a naval
base on the coast. Kiderlen seemingly felt quite safe in
disregarding Britain because he was not seeking Moroccan .
territory. He had as a matter of fact mentioned to Cambon at
the commencement of the negotiations that the conversations
must be confined to the two Powers - that it would be impossible
to admit a third Pafty, wiﬁhout bringing in all the signatories
of the Aet of Algeciras.l To this negotiation "& deux™ M.
Cambon agreed, but made it quite clear that France "meant to
remain absolutely faithful to her understandings with Great
Britain™ and to "keep His Majesty's Govermment informed of any
conversations which might take place on the above or any
other basis."2

There can be no value for the purpose of this study
in here recording the Frénco-German negotiation in any detail.
It is sufficient to point out only their extremely thorny and
difficult nature. On July 15, after a previous meeting in
which each side was reluctant to commit itself to anything:

1. Goschen to Grey, July 10, 1911, B.D., VII, No.367, p.345.
- Bertie to Grey, July 11, 1911, ibid., No.369, p.347.
2. Goschen to Grey, July 10, 1911, ibid., No.367, p.345.
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definite, Kiderlep askgd fqr all the French Congo for Germany.
The French Ambassador appeared shocked at such a demapd. He
'replied'that while French public opinion might consent to
compensgtion for Germany, the ceding of a whole colony was
unthinkable.l He stated, however, that part of the Congo might
be ceded if Germany on her part_was willing to yield.to France
territory in quoland and the Cameroons. The negotiations
reached a point of extrema tension af this stage, and the
interview between_Cambon and Kiderlen on July 20, following
that of the 15, was rather bitter.2

It was at this point, when the negotiations seemed
to be. making little progress, that England intervened. When
Klderlen demanded the French Congo the French and British
Foreign Offices exchanged views as to the possible outcome.
On July 20 the possibility of holding an internationallconfer-
ence in the event of a breakdown of the negotiations was
discussed by Sir Francis Bertle and the French Forelgn Minister.
The latter replied that the negotiations had reached a critical
stage and although they had not as yet broken down, they would
likely continue for some long time, but should they fail
France would no#t obgect to Britain inviting a conference as

had been suggested. It will be noted from these communications

that the British and the French were considering together

1. Bethmenn's report of this meeting to the Kaiser is given
in Dugdale, op. cit., IV, 11-123.

2. Bertie to Grey, July 18, 1911, B.D., VII, pPp.371-72, and
minutes added, especially minute by Nicolson, p.373.

d. Grey to Bertie, July 19, 1911, B.D., VII, No.397, pp.376-77.
Bertie to Grey, July 20, 1911, ibid., No.40l, pp.378-79.
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eventualities in this erisis. It must be noted also that in
anticipation of a possible outbreak of war, the "econversations®
between the Genefal Military Staffs, which had beep inaugurated
during the first Moroceo Crisis of 1905~190é, were now being
pressed.l . v
| Thus, by July 20 something of a c¢risis had been
reached. Negotiations were on the point of rupture, and there
were feelings of'strain, uncertainty and apprehension. Sir
Edward Grey seems to have shared these feelings. He, therefors,
_asked the German Ambassador to come to see h;m on July 8l. 1In
his speech in the House of Commons, on November 27, 1911, he
tells of the conversation whieh took place. After stéting to
the Ambassador that he understood that there was danger of the
negotiations ending in failure, he went on to say:

I wished it to be understood that our silence in
the absence of any communication from the German
Government - our silence since the Cabinet communication
of July 4, and since the Prime Minister's statement
of July 7 in this House - our silence since then must
not he interpreted as meaning that we were not taking,
in the Morocean question, the interest which had been
indicated by our statement of the 4th of that month.
eeee We thought it possible that a settlement might be
come between Germany and France ..s:. without affecting
British interests. We would be very glad if this
happened, and in the hope that it would happen at a
later stage we had hitherto put it aside «... I heard
that negotiations were stlll proceeding, and I still
hoped they might lead to a satisfactory result, but
it must be understood that if they were unsuccessful,
a very embarrassing situation would arise. I pointed
out to the German Ambassador that the Germans were in

1. Infra.yetBwart, op. eit., II, 849; Grey, op. cit., I, 242.
Mr. Lloyd George in a spsech in Toronto, October 10,
1923, made reference to these military conversations.
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the closed port of Agadir:... which was the most
suitable port on that coast for a naval base....

We could not say to what extent the situastion might
be altered to our disadvantage, and if the negotiat-
ions with France came to nothing we should be
obliged to. watch over British interests and to
become a party to discussion of the matter.... I
wished to say all this now while we were still
waiting in hope that the negotiations with France
would suceeed, for if I did not say this now, it
would cause resentment later on if the German
Government had been led to suppose by our previous
silence - our silence since July 4 - that we did not
take an interest in the matter."

The Foreign Secretary explained ;o the House, "I
‘made that statement on July 2l because I was getting anxious,
~because the situation seemed to me to be developing unfavour-
ably, and the German Ambassador was still not in a position
to make a communication %o me from the German Governmenﬁ."l'

Count Metternich's report of this conversation
reached Berlin the next day, and the German Government gave
a reassuring answer as to their iptentions on July 25. ‘It
would have been well had Down%ng Street waited for thatvreply
before taking their next step, or had Germany given her

guarantee of good faith earlier, for a few hours after the

interview between Grey and Metternich a new element of dénger

l. This speech of November 27, 1911, is cited in Knaplund,
Paul, Speeches on Foreign Affairs, (London, 1931 ),145-71.
The content of the conversation with Metternich is given
also in a dispateh from Grey to Goschen, July 21, 1911,
B.D., VII, No.41ll, p.390. An extract from Metternich's _
reporg of the conversation is given in Dugdale, op. cit.,
Iv, 13.

With regard to Grey's statement of British policy to

Metternich on July 4, and to which Grey complains the

German Government gave no answer, Professor R.B.Mowat

says, "This statement did not caell for any answer; it

was Jjust a declaration of policy. It could not even be
'~ formelly acknowledged by the Germsan Govermment, for
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had been introduced into the already delicate situation.
In the evening of July 21, and thus before the
German reply had been received, Mr. Lloyd George, the
Chancellor of the Exchequer, made & resounding declaration of
British policy. .In a public address at the Mansion House he
reviewed the general situation and stated
that Britain should at all hazards maintain her place
and her prestige among the Great Powers of the world....
If a situation were to be forced on us in which peace
could only be preserved by the surrender of the Great
and beneficent position Britain has won by centuries
of heroism and achievement, by allowing Britain to be
treated, where her interests were vitally affected, as
if she were of no account in the Cabinet of nations,
then I say emphatically that peace at that price would

be humiliation intolerable for a great country like
ours to endure. (1)

This speech coming from & Minister who was supposed
to belong to the most pacific section of the Cabinet created’
an immense sensation in Germany, where it was interpreted as
a threat on the part of the British Government, and as an act
of unwarranted interference in the Franco;German negotiations.
It greatly increased the already existing tension between
Germany and England growing out of the naval competition. I¥%

might indeed in the existing state of affairs have leﬁ to war

Grey appears to have sent no Note, but passed on the
statement in his conversation with Metternich. There
was, therefore, nothing to alarm the Cabinet in the
fact that no reply came.™ New Light on the Agadir

- Crisis, loe. cit., 712.

l. Lloyd George gives an account of his action in volume I
of his "War Memolrs,™ p.41-45. Both Sir Edward Grey and
the Prime Minister had been consulted before this speech
was given and approved it. Grey, op: cit., I, 225;
Churchill elso approved it; Churchill, op. cit., 43.
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had not the Kaiser and Bethmann been determined not to allow
the Moroccan question to cause an actual conflict. The reply
of the German Government to Sir Edward's questions in the
interview of July 21 had been dispatched before the text of
the Chancellor's speech had reached Berlin. The German answer
to those questions was given by Metternich on July 84.1 On

the following day he again saw Grey, and on this occaslion he
presented a strong protest agginet the Mansion House speech.
Grey, however, remained determined in his defense of the
British stand, and conversations between the two on July 26
and 27 were more courteous,3 Oon July 27 the British Prime
Minister made a reassuring speech in the House of Commons in
which he made it clear that while Britain had no desire to
participate in the negotiations then being carried on between
France and Germany, and while it was the British hope that
these might issue in a settlement satisfactory to both Parties,
in the event of a rupture, however, Britain would be obliged
etovwamch over her interests, and become an active Party in the
discussion of the situation. “That“would be our right as a
Signatory of the Treaty of Algecirsass; i1t might be our obligat-

4
ion under the terms of our agreement of 1904 with France.®

l. Grey to Goschen, July 24, 1911; B. D., VII No.417, pp.594-96.
2. Grey to Goschen, July 25 1911; ivid., No.419 pp.397-99.
Also Russian ambassador in London to Neratov, August 1,
1911, Siebert, op. cit., pp. 594-95.
Se Brandenburg, op. cit., 380-81.
4. Aszgéth The Genesis of the War, 149; B. D., VIiI, No.426
p .
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The British stand at this time had an immediate
effect on the situation which had been arrived at in the past
wéeks. It greatly increased Anglo-Germen tension, but it
simplified the difficulties which had arisen over Morocco.

The British had accurately defined their attitude to this
problem, displayed what their interests were, denied all

hostile intention, expressed the hope for a peaceful solution,
yet made it clear to Germanj that Great Britain would be on

the side of France if war was forced upon the Republiec. Germany
now adopted a more conciliatory attitude towards France; she

did not lmmediately recede from her policy of demanding
conceséions, but she was careful to avoid acts of provocation,
and her future conduct of the negotiations tended to open in

" directions of accommodation and retreat.l

The immediate danger of a rupture in July was thus
passed; but the core of the question remained unaltered.
Kiderlen and Cambon wers unable to carry their negotiations to
a satisfactory settlement for some time. The discussion lasted
for another three months,Awith compensations proposed, rejected
and proposed anew. Several times the situation became so acute
that a breskdown was threatened. A particularly critical stage
was arrived at in September. A solution was finally reached
however. On October 11 ah agreement was signed over Morocco,

and on November 3 a settlement over the Congo. On the following

1. Churchill, op. cit., 47; Fay, op. cit., I, 289-90.
Russian Ambassador in London to Neratov, August 1, 1911
Siebert, op. cit., 596.



~178=

day a Jjoint treaty was drawn up. By these agreements Germany
'agreed that the French might establish virtually a protectorate
~ over Morocco; while, on her part,‘France ceded to Germany more
than one hundred thousand miles of the French Congo. The
Agadir Crisis had_come peacefully to an end.

But, although it had ended in a peaceful solution,
the Crisis had created reverberations in Europe whiéh were to
be felt down to 1914. Much more had been at stake than merely
~ the question of whether France should obftain Moroceco, or
Germany territory in the Congo. In this crisis there was
displayed once again.a clash between the two opposing camps
in the field of power politics. Aslin 1906 over Moroceo, and
as in 1908 through their friendship with Russia, so again in
71911; ?rance and England stood together to oppose Germany.

- And, as in the former instances, this latest crisis led to a
tightening of the bonds between the two Entente Powers.

| The action of Germany had given rise‘to'increased
suspicion in the minds of leaéers in both,Efancé and Britain
of the Imperial Government's war-like intention. We know
today frdm.facts obtainable that there was no intention on
vthe part of Germany to go as far as war in»thié natter, but
the manner in which her policy was conducted did little to
reagsure the English and French leaders. .Her action waé
regarded'as further evidence of.herlwar-like Yendencies, and
as another instance of her brutal tactics in diplomatie

sabre-rattling, Sir Edward Grey certainly sharéd this view.
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in his'meméirs he states that the Agadir Crisis convinced the
_ Entente Powers of the dangerous reality of Germen militarism,
and made them more anxious to act together. "The Agadir Crisis
was intended to end elther in the diplomatie humiliétion of
France or in warQ% Winston Churchill was only one of a
nuhber of others who corcurred in this interpretation. "It
.(the Agadir Crisis) had terminated in the diplomatic rebuff
of Gérmgnys Once more she had dietﬁrbed all Europe by a éudden
. and menacing gesture.“z |
The importance of these suspicions of German intent-

ions,which now further coloured the minds of British and
French leaders; may not be minimized, but 1t was as & clash ‘
between the two diplomatic groups of Powers that Agédir takes
on significance in the play of forces before 1914. The Entente
Cordiale was glven dgeper meaning; during the dayé of tension
resulting from the “Copp" of Agadir it had grown in cohesion
and strength. Nicolson was expressing the feeling of many
in England and in France when he wrofe on July 24, 1911, to
Sir Edward Goschen, |

There is no disguising the fact that the situation is

a serious and delicate one, and it is not simply a

question as to whether the French will give such and such
concessions to Germany, or whether the establishment of

1. Grey, op. cit., I, 240.

2. Churchill, op.cit., I, 656. For similar expressions of
this view = Nicolson, op.:cit:, 350-51; memorandum of Sir
Eyre Crowe, January 14 1912,8.D.,VII, Appendix III,p.284;
memorandum by Mr. H:A. Gwynne " editor of the "Mbrning
Post," July 25,1912, B.D.,VII,p:795; Poincare Raynmond,
Memoirs (London, 1926) I, 37-41. v
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Germany in such and such ports of Moroceo is or 1is

not a vital question for us. The whole question is

whether we intend to maintain the Triple Entente, and

I think that it is upon this broad ground that the

sxtuation.should be viewed. (1)

Whether the English leaders, and especially Sir

Edward Grey, who has made such protestations to the contrary,
would admit it or not, the Entente was being hardened into
an allisnce. 1In his speech of August 3, 1914, when discussing
the Crisis of 1911, he explained "that he took precisely the
saﬁe line that had been taken in 1906,“2at which time, "in
hy view public opinion in this country would have rallied to
the material’Sﬁpport of France‘;“3 France was to be supported
diplomatically, and, if necessary, by arms. As Mr. Ewart
ppints out, "the great significance of this attitude was, and,
ié; that (as in 1914) the merits of the quarrel’ﬁgre immater-
ial.“4 Whether France or Germany was right, the'Brifish
Govefnment was determined to support France. Even beforeAthé
French troops had arrived at Fez, on May 18, 1911, when talking
with Count Metternich, Gréy maintained, in the words of'fhe
Russlan Ambassador, who reported this conversation on‘May 23,

that France "was not only Justified, but obliged to protect

1. Nigolson to Goschen, July 24, 1911, Nicolson, op. cit.,
350,
2. Speech by Sir Edward Grey in the House of Commons,

August 3, 1914; Grey, op.cit., 11, appendix D, 297.
d. Ibid., 296.

4. Ewart, op. cit., II, 853.
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the interests of the French, English and other foreigners in
the capital of Mbrocco.“‘ He made it clear to Metternich
"that the Agreements between England an@ France imposed on
England the obligation to support France." The German
Ambassador did not oppose these arguments§ he expressed thor-
oughly friendly sentimenté, but pressed the contingency that
the French occupation of Fez might be of_"considefable
duration.™ 1In that case the hands of the Powers would be
freed. Sir Edward replied "that even in this case, the
English standpoint would remain unchahged.“l In his own
report of this conversation sent to' Sir Edward Goschen on
May 18, Grey states that he told Metternich, "the question
of Morocco was one in regard to which some of us were bound
by Treaty engagements, which would of course come into
operation if‘difficulties arose. It was not like a general
question in which there were no special engagements."a
Relating further details of this cenversation,the Russian
Ambassador reports, (and these he gained from Sir Edward
himself), "Count Metternich had asked what the consequences
would be if the Morocecco Government came under French influence,

and the Algeciras Act were violated. Sir Edward replied, that,

in the event of entanglements, all English obligations would
3
become 'operative.'® After the Mansion House speech, the

l. Russian ambassador to London to Neratov, May 23, 1911,
Siebert, op.: cit., 583.

2. Grey to Goschen, May 18, 1911, B.D., VII, No.2378, p. 256.

d. Siebert, op. cit., 584.
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Ambagsador reported that "there is no use concealing the fact
one step further, and a war between England and Germany might
have broken out as a result of the Franco-German dispute."l
On August 16 the same Ambassador reported a conversation with
Grey in which the latter stated, "in the event of war between
Germany and France, England would have to participate."z To
preserve the Entente with France, England had been drawn to
the verge of war, and had the need arisen, would have plurnged
into war itself.

With respect to this latter and very much more
important Step.it must be noted that England was prepared to
mobllize not only her entire Fleet but also her Expeditionary
Army against Germany.3 The preparations made in anticipation
of a conflict were far more advanced than was realized by
British publie opinion. Mr. Churchill tells how on JulyA25
Sir Edward Grey, after his interview with Count Mebtternich,
stated to him, "I have just received a communication from the
. German Ambegsador so stiff that the Fleet might be attacked
at any moment. I have Just sent for McKenna (head of the

Admiralty) to warn him." fThe warning orders were then sent
4 _

to the Fleet.

1. Russian Ambassador to London to Neratov, August 1, 1911,
ibid., 595.

2. Ibid., 598.

é. Callwell, C.E., Fleld-Marshall Sir Henry Wilson, (London,
1927),1,96ff. Wilson was Director of Military Operations.

4. Churchill, op. eit., I, 44. B.D., VII, Editor's Note o
No.637, p.625.



=177~

As has been shown the Crisis was_not settled until
November. During_the_tense deys of September Grey felt the
danger, and on September 17 wrote to Nicolson:

The negotiations with Germany may at any moment take
an unfavourable turn, and if they do so, the Germans
may act very quickly, even suddenly. The admiralty
should remain prepared for this. It is what I have
always said to McKenna. Our fleets should, therefore,
always be in such & condition and position that they
would welcome a German attack, 1f the Germans should
decide on that suddenly. We should, of course, give the
Admiralty news immediately of any unfavourable turn in
the Franco-German negotiations. (1)

It was not commonly known‘that from September 8 to
September 22, in constant'expectation of hostilipies, the
tunnels and bridges on the South-Eastern Reilway were being'
patrolled day and night. And Nicolson's biographer tells us,
"it was not until the morning of September 22, om the receipt
éf news from Berlin that Herr von Kiderlen was weakening, that
Nicolson was eble to give the wor@ that s state of 'war prepar-
ednesa' might be relaxed."2 The extent of the preparedness
which had been maintained can be guaged from the letter
Nicolson wrote to Lord Hardinge‘on September 14:

I spent a week at Balmoral last week, but nothing
very important occured during my visit. I was glad to
find that the King is perfectly sound as regards foreign
affairs. I have had some talks since my return with
Haldane, Lloyd George, and Winston Churchill; I am glad
to find that all three are perfectly ready - I might -
almost say eager - to face all possible eventualitiaes,
and most careful preparations have been made to meet any
contingencies that may arise. These three have thoroughly
grasped the point that it is not merely Morocco which is
at stake. It really amounts to a question of whether we
ought to submit to any dictation by Germany, whenever she
considers it necessary to raise her voice. I may tell
you in confidence that preparations for landing four or

l. Cited in Nicolson, op. cit., 346; also in B.D., VII;
No.647, p.638.

2. Nicolgom,.op. cit., 346-47.



-178-

six divisions on the Continent have been worked out to

the minutest detail. On the other hand, reports which

we have received from our vari ous military informants

all point to the fact that the French army has never

been in a better state of equipment, organization and

armament, or been inspired by so strong a feeling of

.perfect confidence and unity.... (1)

These preparations in both England and France were
. _ the

being carried out along lines laid down by,General Staffs of
the two countries cooperating the one with the other. The
military_and naval conversations begun in 1906 had been carried
on down to the present Crisis. On July 20, after Kiderlen's
demands proved unacceptable to the French, and the day before
Lloyd George's Mension House Speech, there took place at the
French Ministry of War a Conference between General Wilson,
the Head of the Department for Military Opefations of the
English General Staff, and General Duball, the French Chief of

Staff. The purpose of thelr meeting was "to determine the new

l. Nicolson, op. cit., p.347. Lord Haldane tells how he was
prepared to mobilize the Expeditionary Force "to send it
straight off to the Continent;" Autoblography, (London,1929),
224-25. The details of military and naval preparations
undertaken at this time are given in a memorandum by
Brigadier-General Sir G.N. Nicolson drawn up on November
6, 1911. It is given in B.D., VII, No.639, pp.626-639.

It is headed "action taken by the General Staff since

1906 in preparing a plan for rendering military assistance
to France in the event of an unprovoked attack on that
Power by Germany." Further light is given in Churchilli's
acocount, op. ecit., I, 49-64. He gives a full account of
the meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defense held on
August 23, showing the difference between the military

and naval points of view expressed there. See also Spender,
Fifty Years of Burope, 337-38.

In the matter of French preparations, Nicolson's summary
glven above 1s borne out in ,dispatches of Colonel Fairholme,
the British Military Attache in Paris, given to Bertie and
passed on to Grey. See B.D., VII, No.641, August 25, 1911,
PP«632-34; No.643, September 2, 1911, pp.634-635; No.644
September 8, 1911, pp.635-37. - ’ ’
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conditions for the participation of an English army in the
operations of the French armies in the North-East in case of a
war with Germany." It was definitely stated, as was usual in
the earlier conversations, "that these conversations, devoid of
ail official character, cannot bind either Governﬁent,in any
way"® and were aimed merely at planning for certain indispensable
preparatory measures.l Six weeks after this meeting, according
to Mr. Fay, General Duball stated to the Russlans, as 1f there
were no doubt in the mattef, that the Frepch army was ready to
take the offensive against Germany "with the aid of the English
army on its left.wing."z Members of Parliament were totally
unaware of these preparations, preparations for dispatching men
to the Continent, or of the orders given to the Fleétf

The events set forth in the pages of this chapter
‘must have made élear the mannef in Which the entente_was being

gradually transformed into what emounted to & virtual military

l. A memorandum of this matter is given in B.D., VII, No.640,
- pp.629-632. See also Fay, op. cit., I, 291-98. Asquith
himself expressed fear that the French might come to rely
t00 much on English support. He wrote to Grey on September
- 5, 1911 as follows: "Conversations such as that between
General Joffre and Colonel Fairholme seems to me rather
dangerous, especially the part which refers to possible
British assistance, The French ought not to be encouraged,
in present cirfumstances, to make their plans on any
assumptions of this kind." @Grey's answer is of interest,
written on September 8. He replied, "It would create
consternation if we forbade our military experts to
converse with the French. No doubt these conversations
and our speeches have given an expectation of support.
I do not see how it can be helped." Grey, op. cit., I, 95.
2. Fay, op: cit., I, 292. Lutz, Hermanny Iord Grey and the
, World War, (London, 1928), 90.
3. Conwell-Evans, T.P., Foreign Policy from a Back Bench,
(London, 1932), 56. :
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allience; how a gradual transition had taken place from the .
static to the dynamic state. It had become an alliance in
glmost everything but name. Britain, with Sir Edward Grey
directing foreign affairs, was following a poliey of which
he was seemingly unaware, a policy which seems not %ovhave
‘been clear to him, a policy he partially concealed and which
he frequently repudiated, but yet nevertheless which he
rigidly pursued. Great Britain had entered into entente
relations with France. When disputes arose between that Power
and Germany, Britain supported her diplomatically, and had it
been demanded by the occasion, would have lent military
agsistance. Growing ﬁension between England eand Germany, along
with her new friendship with Russia, the ally of France, made
this entente policy of greater importance to Britain and even
of greater necessity. Britain was definitely committed to
that policy at the end of 1911, and Sir Edward was determined
to continue in that path. In his spesech to the House of
Commons on November 27 he stated he was willing to enter into
new friendships, but these must not be to the detriment of those
already existing. He said:
One does not make new friendships worth having by

deserting old ones. New friendships by all means let

us meke, but not at the expense of the ones we have.

I desire to do all I can to improve the relations with

Germany, as I shall presently show. But the friendships

we have have lasted now for some years, and it must be

a cardinal point of improved relations with Germany that

we do not sacrifice one of these.... We keep our

friendships. We intend to retain them unimpaired, and
the more we can do, so long as we can preserve that
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position, so much the better, and we shall endeavour

He felt it was England's paramount duty to hold
fast to the Entente. And this he continued to do during the
last days before Armageddon.

1. B.D., VI, No.72l, p.733.



CHAPTER VI

The Tightening of the Entente
Cordiale, 1912-1913
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CHAPTER VI
The Tightening of the Entente Cordiale, 1912-1913.

The preceding chapter has shown how the Agadir
Crisis was to prove a most important episode in the play of
events which was preparing the way for the tremendous confliqt
soon to array in combat the nations of Europe. The Ag:eement_
concluded on November 4, 1911, between France and Germany
cen by no means be regarded as a reconciliation. France did
not forgive Germany for what she chose to interpret as the
Imperisl Power's policy of intimidation. Germany, on her
side, resehted the fact that France had proved less pliable
in the negotiations than she had counted on. But her resent-
ment was vented more particularly upon Britain for having
intervened in a Franco-German f{ispute, and for having forced
ol Germany a diplomatic defeat. It was held that but for the
British interference Germany could more easily have come to a
settlement with France, and a settlement less damaging to
German dignity and prestige.

In England, despilte the assurances and explenations
of British policy during the Crisis which Sir Edward Grey
qffered in the House of Commons on November 27, there were
many expressions of dissatisfaction from a public eager for

peace; dissatisfaction which was aimed at the Government
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when it was realized how close to the abyss of war the nation
had been led.

When first the Entente with France had been concluded
the country as a whole had supported the new policy, rejoicing
in the hope that it meant the end of dangerous quarrels with
the Republic. But after Agadir it was realized that in some
mysterious way the nature of the Entente had changed, and that
it was bringing new dangers to peace and making relations wi th
Germany more difficult. Mr. J.L. Hammond, in his life of
Ccf. Scott of the “Mahchester Guardian," points out how at
this time many Liberals tgrned against Grey's eonduct 6f the
Entente policy, suspeéting that it was being transformed into
"something sinister.“l Three main objections were stressed
by those who were protesting against the direction in which
British foreign policy was pointing; England was seemlngly
being tied dangerously to French ambitlon, the resulting
tension with Germany was leadinglto a great naval expenditure,
and the rights of weaker peoples, like those of Morooco and
fersia, were being disrega:ded. Whether or not these obJjections
were valid, or whether or not those who put them forward
unders tood fully the difficulties of the international situation
which faced the Foreign 0ffice and which had led those in
charge there to lean so heavily in favour of the Entente, cannot

be discussed here. Whatever might be argued in this regard,

l. Hemmond, J:L., C.P. Scott of the "Manchester Guardian,®
(London, 1934), 149ff. :
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nevertheleés the obJjections to Grey's policy were vigorously
set forth in the press, and especlally in the Liberal jburnals.
The "Manchester Guardian™ was most outspbken in its criticism,
but it was by no means alone in the views it expressed. Mr.
Hammond states:
Seldom, indeed, has a Government or Mimister encountered
such skilled and such severe criticism from political
opponents as Grey encountered from his political friends
eees The Liberal Foreign Secretary found himself depending
almost entirely on Conservative support, a support often
embarrassing and misleading, for among Libveral writers
his only steady advocate was Mr. J.A. Spender, the able
and experienced editor of the "Westminster Gazette." (1)
Some measure of the extent of the opposition in the
House of Commons to the foreign policy of the Government is
revealed in the papers of Mr. Noel-Buxton, in 1911 a private .
member of the House, and later a cabinet minister. He reveals
how a number of the Liberal Party, alarmed by the Agadir COrisis,
were roused to consider ways and means of effecting some control,
however slight, over the poliecy which‘Grey, Asquith and Haldane
were developing, a policy with which, it was felt, Parliament
was not kept sufficlently in touch. Aécordingly, Mr. Noel-Buxton
and Mr. Arthur Ponsonby )later Lord ansonby) organized a
Foreign Affairs Group of the Liberal Party, the aims of which

were to establish a more effective contact with the policy of

the Foreign Office, and especlally,to improve Angle~Gemman

1. Hammond, J.L.; op. cit., 150-51. Ensor, R.C.K., England,
1870-1914, (London, 1936), Appendix C, 572-74, gives

an interesting study of Grey's relationship to the
Liberals.
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relations. The first resolution of the group read:
This meeting of the Liberal Foreign Affairs Group
views with great concern the relations of Great Britain
and Germany, regards with disapproval any policy which
might seek %o oppose the legitimate aspirations of
Bermany, and urges upon H.M. Government the necessity 2
of taking action with a view to reaching an understanding.
This opposition was not sufficiently serious to
threaten the position of the Government, but Mr. Asquith and
Sir Edward Grey perceived that the only way to satisfy publie
opinion was to do everything possible to appease relations with
' the
Germany, if this could be done without endangering eitheg\Anglo-
French Entente or British naval supremacy. The Ministers hoped
that with the settlement of the Agadir question a new éhapter
would be opened. It was felt that efforﬁs should be made to
heal the smarts from which Germany might be suffering, and to
3
arrive at a. common understanding on the matter of naval strength.
This task was to be made easier by the fact that

certain members of the German Government entertainéd similar

l. Conwell-Evans, T.P., Foreign Policy From a Back Bench,
1904-1918, (London, 1932), 8l. This study is based on
the papers of Lord Noel Buxton.

2. Ibid., 82-83. Meetings of the Group continued at
frequent intervals. Mr. Phillip Morrel became Cheirman
in 1913, and Mr. Ponsonby in 1914. The outbreak of the
War brought the organization to an end. The Committee,
-says Mr. Conwell-Evans, failed in its purpose. "Few
of the members exerted themselves with sufficient vigour.
They were in general too easily satisfied and lulled
into tranquillity by the soothing speeches of the Foreign
Secretary, and by the misleadlng assurances of the Prime
Minister." 84. -

3. Spender, Asquith, II, 64. Churchill, op. cit., 95.
Halevy, E., A History of the Emglish People, 1895-1915,
(London, 1934), IX, 557. Russian Ambassador in London
to Neratov, Februany 28, 1912, Siebert, op. cit.:, 614-18.
Kuhlman, in London, to the Chancellor January 8, 1912,
Dugdale, op. cit., IV, 56.
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sentiments. It has been shown how Bethmann-Hollweg, impressed
by the persistence with which Count Metternich urged from
London a poliecy of caution_on his goverhmentvin the matter of
the naval programme, had favoured a rapprochement. A previous
chapter revealed how negotiations had been opened in 1909 and
hed continued until they were broken off at the time of the
Agadir Crisis.l The Emperor now consented %o the reopening

of these negotiations; though he had 1little faith in their
resulting in success.

The negotiations whieh took place in the first half
of 1912 were opened by two business_men, Albert Ballin, the
head of the Hamburg-Americen Line, and Sir Ernest Cassel, a
rich_and_influeﬁtial~L6ndon banker, egch of whom was "peféona
grata“ with his owanovernment, and each anxious to bring

‘about better understanding between the two nations. These

- two constituted themselves unofficial diplomats early in 1912,

and their work paved the wéy for the Haldane Mission.

Ballin suggested that Mr. Winston Churchill, who had
succeeded Mr. McKenna as Eirst TLord of the Admiralty, should
come to Berlin. Mr., Churchill answered on January 7, 1918,
thaf it would be inexpedient for him to mak; a special Journey.z
Mr. Churchill referred the matter ﬁé Sir Edward Grey and Lloyd

George, and with the concurrence of the Prime Minister, it was

_agreed to send Cassel to Berlin with & special memorandum.

1le. Supra 147-49,
2. Churchill to Cassell, January 7, 1912, B.D.,VI,No.492, p.6566.



-187-
Sir Ernest, through Ballin, saw the Kaiser and the Chancellor,
and returned home bringing a cordial letter, and a statement
from Bethmann;Hollweg of the newly propoéed German Navy iaw.
It was suggested that Sir Edward Grey should visit Berlin as
the most effectual way of bringing negotiations to a successful
cbnclusion.2

Sir Edward replied to the German offer through
Cassel that if the German naval expenditure could be so érranged
by a modification of the rate of construction, or in some other
way so as to render unnecessary any serious increase of British
naval expenditures, "the Bifitish Government will_be prépared at
once to pursue negotiations, on the understanding, that the
‘point of naval expenditure is open to discussion and that there
is a fair prospect of settling it favourably.ﬁ If this under-
standing proved acceptable to’Germany, 2 British Minister would
go to Berlin. Bethmann replied that this was acceptable,
provided England gave adequate guarantees of a friendly
orientation of her general policy. "The Agreement would have
to give expression to a statement that both Powers agreed‘to
participate in no plens, combinations or waflike engagements
directed against either Power."5

Grey was unwilling to accept the invitation for

himself to go to Berlin, and it was arranged that Mr. Haldane,

1. Memorandum by the Chancellor, January 29, 1912, Dugdale
op. cit., IV, 71.

&. Grey -to Goschen, February 7, 1912; B.D., VI, Fo.497,
Pp.668-69.

é. Fay, op. citii, I, 301-02; Churchill, Op. cits, 96-100.



-188~

~

. , A 1
the Minister of War, should undertake the mission. Mr.

Haldane arrived in Berlin on February 8, 1912.

The details of the discussions which followed his
arrival need not be set forth in this study.z Haldane has
given a full account of what took place in his book, "Before
the War."3 He was cordlally received in Berlin, where he
held conversations with the Kaiser, Bethmann and Tirpitaz.
After the géneral fleld of Anglo-German relations was surveyed,
coloniel and marine problems were discussed. The Kaiser
declared himself rgady,'if a political agreement could be
reached, to renounce the building of a new ship in 1912, and
to delay the three new ships Germany proposed building in
1912, 1914 and 1916, until 1913, 1916 and 1919. The British

Minister welcomed this suggestion and attempted to work out

1. His reasons are given in Grey, op. cit., I, 250-52;
Grey -to Goschen, February 7, 1912, B.D., VI, No0.497,
pPp.668-69. This dispateh tells why Mr. Haldane was
chosen. It was convenient for Mr. Haldane to undertake
the mission. He was Chairman of a University Committee
on sclentific education, and was at this time planning
to go to Berlin with his brother, Professor Haldane,
to make some studies on that subject. It was felt he
could at the same time enter upon a frank exchange of
views with the German Chancellor to discover if there
was a favourable prospect for negotiations to improve
the relations of the two countries.

8. Grey informed the French and Russian ambassadors of the
- undertaking and also of what took place at Berlin. 1In
the negotiations which followed Haldane's return the
Russian and French Governments were kept informed of
developments. From the British and French documents we
learn that the French Government was most uneasy at the

prospect of an Anglo-German understanding.

3. Also, Diary of Lord Haldane's visit to Berlin, B.D., VI,
No.506, pp.676-684; Reports of the conversations by :
William II and the Chancellor are given in Dugdale, op.
cit., IV, 74-76. See also Bethmann-Hollweg, Th.von,
Reflections on the World War, (London,1920),47¢¢F.
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with the Chancellor the formula for a political agreement.
The Chancellor, however, wanted a promise of benevolent
neutrality from England, and of help in localizing a confliet
in the event of one of the Parties being involved in a war
with one or several opponents. Such a proposal, Haldane 8aw,
was too far-reaching for his Government. It would preclude
England from coming to the assistance of France should Germany
attack her and aim at getting fossession of such ports as
Dunkirk, Calais and Boulogne.1 Furthermore, such a formule
might hamper England in discharging her treaty obligations to
Belgium, Portugal and'Japan. He offered, instead of the
Germén proposal, a much more modified formula - that neither
of the contracting Parties should make an unprovoked attack
on the other, nor join any coalitions designed against the
other. This did not satisfy the Chancellor. A new formula
had to be formed.

In colonial matters it was easier to come to a
tentative agreement, which, however, was not to be regarded as
binding on either. 1In the matter of the Portuguese colonies
Germany was to get Angola, and Englend Timor; Germany might
buy the Belgian Congo, 1n return for granting a right'of way to
the Cape-to-Cairo Railway. It was further indicated that
England might cede %o Germany Zanzibar and Pemba in the event
of a satisfactory arrangement being arrived at in the mattér

of the final sector of the Bagdad Railway.

-

1. Asquith, The Genesis of the War, 56-57.
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Haldane returned to London bringing with him the
drafts for a political and colonial agreement. The Kaiser had
glven him as well the draft of the new German Naval Law %o
show privately to his colleagues, although its contents had
not yet been revealed to the Reichstag.

When the British leaders studied the new Naval Law
they found it much less to their liking than they had anticip-
ated it would be. It provided not only for three new capital
ships, but at the same time there was to be a greater increase
in personnel and in the number of minor craft. To meet this
new programme would involve England in tremendous expenditures
during the next few years. It was agreed by the Cabinet that
Grey should inform Count Metternich of the grave difficulties
which these navel proposals put in the way of the desired
rapprochement, and point out that for any political agreement
to be made at a time when both countries were making increased
naval expenditures was an 1mpossibility.l ThereVWere diffic;
ulties also in the matter of a colonial agreement. The
settlement reached in this problem would depend on the settle-~
ment of the naval estimates, Hence Grey suggested the latter
point sh;uld be discussed firgt.z
The Kalser and Chancellor felt thet Grey was now

changing the basis for negotiations agreed upon im Berlin with
Haldane; he was, they felt, shifting from the neutrality

1. Memorandum by Grey, February 22, 1912, B.D:,VI, No.523,
pPpP.696-97. '

2. Brandenburg, op. cit., 408; Fay, op. cit., I, 309.
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agreement, and giving priority to a qriticism of the Naval
Law.l Meenwhile, negotiations continued in London through
Metternich. But there was little chance of suoccess. The
problems of the neutrality agreement and naval limitation
proved stumbling blocks. On March 29 Grey informed Metternich
that the English Government could not accept the German
neutrality formula. The British were offering in its place

.a more reétricted formula, which Germany, in her turn, rejected,
feeling that it gave no satisfactory security against war

with England.z |

™ To avoid severing communications altogether, the
proposal was revived as to the possibility of a periodicsl
exchange of information on the progress of ships under const-
ruction; and the discussion of colonial questions3- the African
colonies, the Bagdad Rallway, Persia - was continued in the
hope that an understanding on special points might prepare the
ground for a compromise agreement later on. The negotiations
for a treaty of neutrality and for a reduction of the fleets

was considered to have falled. On April 15 the German Naval

Law was submitted to the Reichstag where it was accepted on

1. Memorandum communicated by Metternich, March 6 1912,
B.D., VI, No.529, pp.704-06.

2. Grey to Goschen, March 29, 1912, B.D., VI, No.557 p.730;
also March 15, 1912, No.539 pp.714-15. Fay, op. cit.,
I, 311, Brandenburg, op. cit. 413.

3. In this less dlfficult field mutually satisfactory
agreements were worked out, and were complete for
signatures on the eve of the War.



- =192

1
May 14.

The Haldane Mission had proven a failure - neither
of the two great questions which loomed so large in the minds
of the Governments had been solved = the two questions which
constituted the essence of the negotiations. Britain had
failed to achleve a slackening in the pace of German naval
construction, and Germany had failed to obtain her objective,
a promise of English neutrality. Britain might claim in
accounting for the failure that Germany's terms were to00
onerous. In reply, Germany could answer that England was
asking of her too great a sacrifice in demanding that she
regulate her fleet, not in accordance with the standard she
regarded as necessary to protect her commerce and uphold her
prestige, but by the standard prescribed by the security and

2
prestige of a forelgn power.

l, On March 18, Mr. Churchill had laid before the British

Parliament the Navy Estimates, providing for two keels
to every additional German one, and for the other
greatly increased naval expenditures which he had
threatened as England's reply to the expected Berman
Naval Law. The Atlantic Fleet would be moved from
Gibraltar to Home Waters and replaced at Gibraltar by
the Mediterranean shifs which had hitherto had their
base at Malta. He indicated, however, that if Germany
made no increase neither would England. He did not
make this proposal officially to Germany however.
Churchill, op. cit., 107£f; Fay, op. ecit., I, 311l1.
A year later, on March 26, 1913 Mr. Churchill mede an
appeal to Germany for s "naval holiday," a cessation
of new construction for twelve months, but this evoked
no response. Asquith, op. cit., 102.

2. Halevy, op. eit., II, 572.
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But in this particular study, the great. importance
of the failure of the Mission is that it reveals, among other
facts, the solidarity with which Britain was c¢linging to her
Entente poliey. Polncere's boast, as reported by Isvolsky,
that he had wrecked the negotiations by bringing pressure to

. _ 1
bear on Sir Edward Grey, seems to be a gross exaggeration.
But there can be no doubt that Grey's rejection of Germany's
proposals of neutrality was based'ﬁpon French feeling. He
was gquite definite in his opinion that the friendship of
France was too high a price to pay for German friendship. On
May 26, 1911, when invited by the Prime Minister to givé
before a meeting of the Committee of Imperial Defense to
which Dominion delegates to the Imperial Conference were
1nvited; "an exposition, comprehensive and strietly confiden-

. 2
tial," of the international situation, he had stated as an
important point in his poliey:

We must make it a cardinal condition in all our
negotiations with Germany that if we come to any
understanding with Germany of a publiec kind which puts
us on good relations with Germany, it must be an
understanding which must not put us back into the old
bad relations with France and Russia. That means to
say that if we publicly make friendship with Germany,
it must be a friendship in which we take our existing
friends in Europe with us. (3)

From a report of the German Ambassador in London, of March 17,

1912, we learn:

1. Infre 201 and note 5.
2. Asquith, op. cit., 121.

3. Extract from the Minutes of theJCommittee of Imperial
Defense at a Meeting of May 26, 1911, B.D., VI,
Appendix ¥, p.783.
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The Minister (Sir Edward Grey) said he would
frankly tell me why the British Government objected
to incorporating the word "neutral" or "neutrallty"
in the treaty. With regard to the proposal for a
treaty, Sir Edward Grey said he must consider not
only relations with Germany, but also those with
other countries. The British Government must reckon
with the facts of Germany's growing naval power,
‘which would be considerably increased by the projected
Navy Bill. Therefore Great Britain could not jeopar-
dize her existing friendships. A direct neutrality
treaty would most certainly irritate French sensibility,
which the British Government must avoid. Sir Edward -
Grey could not go so far as to imperil the friendship.
with France. (1

That the maintenance of cordial entente relations with France
was the pivotal factor in the conduct of British foreign policy
is further emphasized by Grey's Memoirs, where he states in
telling of the plans for the Haldene Mission:

I always felt that the pro-German element here had

a right to demand that our foreign policy should .

go to the utmost point that it could to be friendly

to Germany. That point would be passed only when

something was proposed that would tie us to Germany

and break the Entente with France. (2)

These previous paragraphs prove beyond doubt that
Britain's membership in the Entente contributed very largely
to the failure of the negotiations begun by the visit of

Haldane to Berlin. But what is of infinitely greater importance,

l. Cited in Ewart, op. cit., I, 174.

2. Grey, op. cit., I, 252. For further evidence that the
British Foreign Office was determined to make no
bolitical understanding or neutrality agreement with
Germany which would in any way limit England's freedom
to aid France, see Grey %o Goschen, May 5, 1911, B.D.,
VI, No.361, p.479 Nicolsan to Hardinge April 11 1911,
No.461, pP-. 621 the minute of Sir Eyre Crowe, March 3,
1912, pp. 702-03' and after the failure of the Haldane
Mission Goschen to Nicolson, April 20, 1912, No.579,

p.750, and Grey to Nicolson, April 21, 1912, No.580, p.751.



-195-

the failure of the negotiations.reacted in turn upon Britain's
Entente policy, reacted in such & manner, that she made further
decisions in favour of the Entente, which gave more r;gid form
and more solid substance to its rather nebulous relationship.

After the negotiations had admittedly'broken down,
when speaking in the House of Commons on July 10, 1912, the
Fdreign Secretary took the occasion to reaffirm his attachment
to the Entente. He said:

The starting point of any new development in European
foreign policy is the maintenance of our friendship
with France and Russia. Taking that as our starting
point, 1et us have the best possible relations with
other countries. (1)

During the same debate, Mr. Bonar Law, leader of the Opposition,
made a statement in this regard, worthy of note:

The right honourable Gentleman said tonight that the
Triple Entente - the good understanding with France
and Russia - should be the starting point of our
foreign policy. I prefer to say that it is the keynote
of our foreign policy ...:. The strength of this
particular part of our foreign policy is this: It is
not the poliey of that Government, it was not the poliecy
of their predecessors; or it was equally the policy of
their predecessors. What is far more important, it
is the policy which is necessitated by the facts of the
gituation. I% is the national poliey of this country.
It was really for the purpose of saying this that I
have taken part in the debate. It is the policy of
country, and if the party to which I belong is ever
returned to power, it will equelly be the poliey of
that party. (2)

l. Cited -in Ewart, op. cit., I, 175.
2. Ibid., 176.
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The feeling that Britain Was now attached more
definitely than ever to the Entente was also keenly felt in
Berlin. On June 7, 1912, the Russlean Chargé there telegraphed
to his Foreign Office:

Not the fact of the conclusion of an alliance between
England and France mekes itself felt, but rather the
circumstance that the Germans have been finally convinced
that BEngland is now turning away from the possibility of
a rapprochement with Germany - a rapprochement which
Germany in truth passionately desired. (1)

Although the Haldane conversations, and the negotiat-
lons which followed had failed to establish an Anglo-Germen
agreement, and although the French had been kept informed of
what was transpiring while the negotiations were in prOgress;z
and given every assurance that no action pfejudicial to the
Entente would be considered,zthe negotiations had caused great
uneasiness in Paris. This was esbecially true in the case of
Mr. Raymond Poincaré. He had come to power in the French
Govermment immediately after the Agadir Crisis at the head of
a Nationalist Ministry. Although Britain had supported France
during the Crisis of 1911, he was mbst anxious to tighten
relations between the two nations.4 ‘

The actions of Germany in Moroccan affairs in 1905
and 1911, her support of Austria in the Bosnian Crisis of 1908,

&and the bellicose gestures of the Kalser had aroused in a small

l. Siebert, op. cit., 644.

2. Poincare, op. cit., I, 80-82. Grey, op. cit., I, 251.

é. B.D., VI, Numbers, 498 499,504,505, 509 ,013,614, 525 540,
550,556,558,559,564, and D.D.F. 3° série, II, Numbers 9,
4 12 30 55 105 119.

4. Poincare, op. cit., I, 71.
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group of French leaders a new national spirit. The feeling

had been oreated by 1911 that France had suffered long enough
from the German "menace.®™ There had grown up a determination
that in the future, if Gérmany should make a new threat of
force, it would be better to risk a war than accept 2 new
humiliation. The desire for "revanche,® and the recovery of
Alsace-Lorraine had been revived anew. 'This new national
spirit of determination and_self-confidence had been fostered
also by the assurance of English friendship, and the convietion
that in the event of & Franco-German confliet the support of
Britain could be counted upon. It wés not that these French
leaders wanted war, any more than d4id the mess of the French
people, but if Germany in her desire for the hegemony of
Europe, should attempt again to use the "mailed fist"™ it was
felt it would be better to fight than to yield. And the
long-felt suspicion of Germany had led French leaders to feel
sure that Germaeny, in line with what was interpreted as‘her
aggressive designs of the past, would most certainly attempt
somé new threat in the future.a This, then, created the feeling
that war was "inevitable." France would have to fight; France
must prepare for such a day by increasing‘hér army and navy

at home, and by further cementing her friendships with Great

3
Britain and Russia.

1. Schmitt, B.E., Triple Alliance and Triple Entente (New
York, 1934), 94.

2. Tbid., 93.

d. Fay, op. cit., I, 312-16
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This new feeling wes personified in M. Poincaré,
and the small group with which he was aesociated. He was
not only the embodiment of the "™réveil national," but by his
determination, firmness and abiiity, he, more than any other
man, did most to strengthen and stimulate it. One of the
first tasks to which he gave himself‘was the establishment
of closer relationships with England.1

While Poincare was anxious to strengthen the Entente,
his feeling was shared by a good many people in England, who,
with the failure of the Haldane negotiations, began to make
themselves articulate in this view, and to express the opinion
that the bonds with France should be drawn still more closely.
Previous pages have shown how anxious the Government was to
preserve the Entente, and if there were manyiwho desired
better relatioﬁs with Germany, there was this most active
group which desired even closer relations with the Republie.
The "Morning Post," the "Daily Express," the "Spectator,®
the "Daily Graphic," the "Observer," and the "Pall Mall
Gazette™ cogducted a eampaign to transform the Entente into

an allisnce.

On May 31, 1912 the Russlan Ambassador wrote from

London in this connection:

1. Poincaré, op.cit.,I,71l. For a year Poincard directed
French foreign poliey as prime minister. He was then
elected President of the Republie, in which office he
continued to exert a powerful influence on foreign affairs
as well as on domestic policies.

2. Halevy op.cit.,II,565; M.Fleuriau, Charge d'Affaires of
France in London to Poincaré May 30,1912, D.D.F., 3%série,
III, No.56, pp:76~77, and No.57 PP 78 79. '
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I have sent you lately various newspaper articles,
dealing with a question whiceh is very important in
itself, but which, as far as I know, has so far been
dlscussed only by the Press - i1.e., the question of an
alliance between England and ¥France. I think that this
press campaign has been the indireet result of various
articles published in the "Times" and written by its
military correspondent, Colonel Repington, who is

himself one of the most convineed adherents of the
Entente of England with France and Russia. These articles
referred to Bngland'S military position in the Mediterr-

- anean, which has been rather weakened since the withdrawal
of the British Squadron, (1) and which is not, in the
belief of a considerable part of the British publie,
sufficiently secured by substituting a French squadron,
as long as the relations of the two countries are based
upon an entente and not an alliance. (2)

In his report of June 2, 1912, the same official
wrote:
I should not like to assert, that the majority of

the nation has already been won for an alliance with

~France. Things do not move so fast in Englend, but,
roused by a certain part of the British publie, whlch
from various, undefined, and not always patriotic
regsons, begins to incline towards Germany, this
majority is beglnning to feel a certain anxiety, and
believes that a policy based exclusively on ententes

is not wholly satisfactory: (3)

‘ Sir Francis Bertie, the British Ambassador in Paris,
seems to have shared these views. On March 27, 1912, he had
taken a rather curious step. Although no concessions had
been made to Germany, and although the negotiations at that
date had virtually broken down, he appears to have been alarmed,

and evidently fearing that Sir Edward Grey might be influenced

l. Incident to the growth of the German navy which had made
necessary the strengthening of the British Home Fleet.
Supra.

2. Siebert, op. cit., 640-42. Sir Henry Wilson favoured an
Alliance Callwell, op. cit., 112-13.

3. Siebert, op. cit., 642-43.
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by members of the Cabinet such as Loreburn, Harcourt and
others, who were more eager for an understanding‘with Germany,
and who might make trouble if they learned of the Anglo-French
militery and naval conversations of which they had not as yet
been made aware, he called on M. Poincaré, quite privately and
unofficially, and asked leave to speak "as though he were not
an ambassador."l He suggested to M. Poincard that he would
do well to point out firmly to Sir Edward Grey the dangers
involved in any neutrality agreement with Germany. "It is
essential," he declared, "that Cambon express his dissatis-
faction. If you will only employ firm lenguage in London,
the false step I dread will not be taken."z

1. Poincaré, 6p. cit.,I, 85. Wolff, Theodor, The Eve of 1914,
(New York, 1936), 109-110, suggests that Bertie's action
might have been inspired by Nicolson, or by "other
opponents of the Liberal pacifists at home." :

2. Poincard to Cambon, March 28, 1912, D.D.F., 3e série, II,
No. 269, DPP.264-65; Poincaré, op. cit.,I 86. A dispatch.
from Bertle to Grey giving an account of an interview he
held with Poincare on March 27 contains no hint of this
conversation; B.D., VI, No.564, pp. 736-37. Bertie, pro-
French as he was, was suspicious of, and opposed to, the
Haldane Mission from the beginning of the undertaking.

On February 11, 1912, he wrote to Nicolsong "I think that
the Haldane Mission, which it was absurd and of no use to
surround with mystery, is a foolish move, intended I
suppose to satisfy the Grey-must-go radigals. It certainly
creates suspicion here, not with Poincare and perhaps not
with those of the Ministry who are in his confidence, but
with many political people. We ought to bear in mind,
that in any territorial arrangements or exchanges which
we may make with the Germans we may injure the interests
of our friends if not our own. The French consulted us in
the course of their negotiations with the Germans whether
we would- have any objection to certain cessions of territory
including islands. We ought to act similerly in regard to
the French if there be questions of cessions of British
territories to Germany.

It is evident that the German Government whatever they
may pretend to us will not abate their intention to
compete with us at sea. The more dignified course for
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Poincare welcomed this suggestion of Sir Framcis;
it was entirely in accord with his own views. Accordingly, he
at once sent an energetic dispatch to Cambon to the effect |

1

proposed. Cambon presented the substance of this dispatch to
2

Grey on March 29. This'happened to be the very date on which
the British Cabinetlfinally decided to give a negative answer

to the German Chancéllor's neutrel ity formula. Although
Cambon's interview with Grey preceded the Cabinet meeting of
that day,4 it was not hisvinterview which had the decisive
effect on the Cabinet decision.5 That decision had already

- been arrived at.6 In view of the very evident determination

_of the British leaders from the outset not to concéde to any
neutrality agreement which would limit British freedom in teking
sides with Ffa’nce,7 and in view of the fact that even before

March 29 negotiations had virtually broken down, it is not true

us would be not to waste words, but to go on in increasing
ratio.- to construct against the German building programmes.
Any underteking given to us by the German Government would
not be ‘observed in the spirit as would any engagements
entered intoc by us. We have many examples of thiseceo”
BoDo, Op. Cito, VI, NO.509, pp.687"880 ) ' .

1. Poincaré to Cambon, March 28, 1912, D.D.F., 3¢ seriell,
NO. 269, po 2650 E .

2. Cambon to Poincaré, March 29, 1912, D.D.F., 3e série, II,
No. 271, pp.266-67; B.D. VI, No. 559, p. 731.

3. Grey to Goschen, March 29, 1912, B.D., VI, No., 5359, p. 730.

4. Cambon to Poincaré, March 29, 1912, D.D.F., 3® serie II,
No. 271, p. 267, ‘

5. According to Isvolsky, Poincaré boasted of having wrecked
the negotiations with Germany by bringing pressure to bear
on the British leaders: Un Livre Noir (Paris, 1922), I,
365-663 op. cit., 133-34, 394-95. .

6. Cambon to Poincaré, March 29, 1912, D.D.F., 3® serie, No. 271,

pP. 267. Grey to Bertie, March 29, 1912, B.D., VI, No.559, p.731l.

Woodward, E.L., Great Britain and the German Navy, (London,
1935), 360. .
'7. Supr& 190"910 . AN
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to say that this interview did weigh heavily in determining
the British policy.1

| M. Poincaré was now impelled to endeavour to secure
from England a binding statement in wfiting. The plan of
Mr, Churchill to with draw British ships from the Mediterraneen
for a stronger concentration of the fleet in home waters
against Germany, which was fore-shadowed in his speech on
March 18,lhad aroused lively discussion not only in the
British, but also in the French press.z It was seen that if
Britain withdrew her forces from the Mediterranean and protect-
ed the north coast of France against the possibility of =a
Germen attack, France could, in return for this protection,
withdraw her fleet from Brest, and look after British interests,
as well as her own, in the Mediterranean.5 It was in this
connection that many British papers were urging that the
Entente should be extended intc a defensive alliance.4

The French Government felt the time was now ripe to

attempt to work out a more precise agreement.5 In reviewing

the situation M. Paul Cambon was summoned from London to

1. Mr. Barnes believes that it was the influence of Poincare
which led to the British refusal; op. cit., 133-34,
594:"05 .
2. Supra 198-99; Poincaré, op. cit., I, 111; Fay, Op. c1t., I, 318.
3. Schmitt, Triple Alliance and Triple Entente, 96.
4. "The only alternative to the constant menace of war is a
new system of precise alliasnce," in the "London Dally Express,”
May 27, 1912, cited in Fay, op. cit., I, 319.
5. Poincard, op. cit., I, 87-88.
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- ' <

attend their deliberations. He returned to London on April 14,
and on the following day visited Sir Arthur Nicolson at the
1 .

Foreign Offlce. Nicolson has recorded their conversation in
' 2
a minute of some length. M. Cambon first reviewed AnglO-French

relations. as far back as 1905, pointing out the main develop-
ments in the forming of the Entente. In reviewing the situation
of the moment he stressed the danger in the Agadir Crisis and
French.fears of future relations with Germany. His Government,
he said, was not sure, "as to how far France could count upqn
British support in the event of any difficulties with Germany."
He went on to say: |

In these circumstances, M. Poincaré considered that
it was necessary to take stock of the position of France,
and to see on what outside assistance she could rely when
the moment arrived.: It was evident that the attitude of
England was a very important factor, and the recent
endeavours of Germany to neutralize her clearly indicated
that England was regarded as the Power which held largely
the balance for or against peace. Were Germany assured
that England would remain neutral, her hands would be
free for dealing with France. Were she in doubt, she
would hesitate. But it was of great importance to France
also to be assured what would be the attitude of Englandg,
and if she could count on her. M. Poincaré was anxious
to be c¢lear in his mind on that point, and the very recent
assurances ‘and communications which he had received from
H.M. Government had not been sufficiently clear and precise
thoroughly to satisfy and enlighten him. (3)

Nicolson answered that, in a question of such
importance, he naturally could give only his personal opirion.

He assured the Freneh Ambassador, that he, personally, was a

1. Cambon to Poincaré, April 18,1912,D.D.F., 3° II,No.362,
Pp.369-71; Nicolson, op.cit., 267. ‘

2. Minute by Sir Arthur Nicolson April 15,1912, B.D., VI,
No.576, pp.747-49; Nicolson, op.cit., 267-69.

9. Nicolson, op. cit., 268-69.



' “
RN

~204-

warm adherent of the understanding with France, and yhét

"no one would be better pleased than himself if it were
strengthened." But there were many factors which had to be
taken into consideration. He first of all doubted if the
British Government would be at all disposed to tie their
hands in sny possible contingency. "They would," he felt
sure, "desire to preserve complete liberty of action.™ Then,
it must be remembered, among large sections of the community
there was a strong feeling, which was shared possibly by
some members of the Government, that an understanding should
be arrived at with Germany. In view of these circumstances,
Nicolson said:

If, at this moment, France were to come forward with
proposals so to reshape our understanding, as to glve it
more or less the character of an alliance, I felt pretty
sure that neither the Government as a whole nor large.
sections of British public opinion would be disposed to
welcome such proposals, which would be regarded by many
as offering umbrage and a challenge to Germany. It would
be far wiser to leave matters as they were; and not to
strain an understanding which was at present generally
popular, and did not by itself afford the slightest 1
reason to any other country to resent or to demur to it.

This important minute, which analyses so lucidly
the British poliey of that time, was sent to the Prime Minister
and to the Foreign Secretary. That Nieolson had correctly
interpreted the policy of his Government is revealed by the

answers received from Asquith and Grey. The former replied on

l. Nicolson, op.:cit.,269. For some reason the French and
English kept Russia in the dark in the matter of these
negotiations. Denials that negotiations were undertaken
were made to the Russian ambassadors in London and Paris

gy Nicolson and Poincaré. Siebert, op. cit., 641 and
44 .
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April 18,,“I‘entiré1y approve the language used by Sir
1
Arthur Nicolson." Sir Edward wrote on April 21:
You could have taken no other line with Cambon

except what you did take. I shall have to say the same;
I shall however, impress upon him that although we cannot
bind ourselves under all circumstances to go to war with
France against Germany, we shall also not bind ourselves
to Germany not to assist France. (2)

Thus, the endeavour of the French to ascertain to
just what extent they could rely on British assistance was
checked by the refusal of the British Government to commit

)
themselves in advance to any binding engagement. The attempt
" was to be renewed agein in the fall. |

But although the British had rejecﬁed the French
overtures in the spring of 1912, a few weeks after their
re jection, circumstances arose which led the Cabinet to make
certain dispositions and arrangements in the fleet which in
effect committed Great Britain to intervention in any war

between France and Germeny. Mr. Spender, in his "Fifty Years

of Europe," referring to these naval arrangements, emphasizes

l. Minute to No.577, B.D., VI, Dp.749.

2. Grey to Nicolson, April 21,1912, B.D.VI,Xo0.580, p.751.
3. M. Poincard's answer to Cambon's summary of the conver-
sation with Nicolson is of interest. He wrote: "The
conversation you had with the Under-Secretary will have
certainly enlightened the British Govermment as to the

price we attach to the Entente Cordiale, and which we
would wish to see affirmed in writing so that its
existence could not be doubted. I am glad to learn
that Mr, Nicolson shares personally in this oginion.
Poincaré to Cambon, April 30, 1912, D.D.F., série,
IT, No.396, p.414.
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their importance when he says, ®If there is one 1link in the
long chain of fate or circumstances compelling Britain and
France to stand together upon which we can lay our finger and
say that here the decision was taken, it ie this."l What was
this important move? |

In May, 1912, Mr. Churchill, accompanied by Mr.
ASquith, had visited Malta to confer with General Kitchener
as to the situation in Egypt and the British position in the
Mediterranean. Upon their return, Churchill announced more
definitely in Parliament on July 22, when introdueing a
Supplementary Naval Estimate, the plan of the Admiralty for
withdrawing ships from the Mediterranean for concentration
in the North See, which act had been foreshadowed in his
earlier speech of March lSe2 At the same time he proposed to
the French Neval Attaché a draft plan for the cooperation of
British and French f;eets.3 The French, however, hesitated
to accept this plan, because Churchill had drafted with it a
cautious preamble, stating that the plan was in no way to
affect the liberty of action of either Partyba a statement,

in the eyes of the French, which robbed the proposed concert
4 ,

of action of its value.

1. Spender, Fifty Years 384,

2. Supra. ,

3. French Nagal Attache in London to Delecassé, July 18,1912,
D.D.F., 3° série, III, No.207, pp.270-72. Renouvin, P.,
Conversations Between the General Staffs on the Eve of
-War, Studies in Anglo-French History, Coville and
Temperley, editobs,164; Poincare, op.cit.,I, 110 111;
Porter, op. 01t.,303.

4. Cambon to P01ncaré September 21,1912,D.D.F., 3° série , IITI,
No.431,p.524,N0.448,p.544 . Poincaré op.ci t., I, 111,
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Consisteﬁtly adhering to their policy of making sure
that their hands would be free, the British were exceedingly
anxious to aveid a binding written agreement. But, even though
there was no written agreement, of which they were so afraid,
an arrangement by which Britain WOuld withdraw her Mediterranean
fleet to the Norfh Sea, while the French would shift their
fleet from Brest to Toulon, was most dangerous; in fact it
would contain all the elements of limiting British freedom of
action, in so far as it would of necessity create an obligation
on ﬁhe part of Britain to protect the northern coast of'Francé
in the case of that country being engaged in a war.l Mr.
Churchill, himself, was keenly aware of the obligation which
would thus be created. He perceived that the French would be
encouraged to count upon British assistance, which fact would
virtually create the obligation upon England, énd thus limit
Englandts freedom of acfion.2

Despite the dangers inherent in suéh a policy, the
Cabinet decided in August that naval conversations should take
place between the French and_British‘admiralties, conversations
similar to those which had been héld since 1906 between the
General Staf.fs.5 Mr. Harold Nicolson, in his father's biography,
states thaﬁ few of the Cabinet realized the vital impoftance

4 S
of the move at the time. But when the step was decided upon

l. Trevelyan, op. cit., 217. -
2. Churchill, op. cit., 114-16.
d. Ibid., 115.

4. Nicolson, op. cit., 271.
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it was not without warnings from Mr. Churchill. In his
"World Crisis™ he tells how he fuliy realized that "the moral
claims which France could make upon Great Britain if attacked

by Germany, whatever we had stipulated to the contréry, were
' 1
enormously extended:"™ He set forth the dangers of such &

policy in a minute of August 23 to Sir Edward Grey and the
5 A , .
Prime Minister. He tells how difficult the negotiations were;
' 3
but adds,"We 4id our utmost to safeguard ourselves.™

The technical naval discussions could only be conducted
on the basis that the French Fleet should be concentrated
in the Mediterranean, and that in case of a war in which
both countries took part, it would fall to the British
fleet to defend the Northern and Western coasts of France.
The French, as I had foreseen, naturally raised the point
that if Great Britain did not take part in the war, their
Northern and Western coasts would be completely exposed.
We, however, while recognizing the difficul ty steadfastly
declined to allow the naval arrangements to bind us in
any political sense. It was eventually agreed that if
there was any menace of war, the two Governments should
consult together and concert beforehand what common action,
if any, they should take. The French were obliged to
accept this position, and to affirm definitely that the
naval conversations d4id not involve any obligation of
common action. This was the best we could do for ourselves
and for them: (4) '

While these negotiations were still under consider-
ation, but before any decision had been reached, it was
announced prematﬁrely,_through an error of French Admirelty
officials, when M. Delcassé was absent in his constituency,

- 5
that the Brest Fleet was to be transferred to the Mediterranean.

1. Churchill, op. cit., 115.

20' Ibido, 1150 '

3. o c 115.

40 " 116. ’

5. D.D.Fi, 3° série, III, No.431, p.523, and footnote on
P.523; Poincare, op. cit., I, 118; Porter, op. cit., 304.
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This news caused great exciﬁement in the Press of both countries,
and was interpreted as a certain sign that an Anglo-French
naval agreement had been definitely concluded.

France was thus assuming before the whole world the
task of protecting against possible attack Britain's route to
India between Gibraltar and Port Said now stripped of British
capital ships, and Britain was making herself responsible for
the defense of the French coast on the North Sea, the Channel
and even the Atlantiec. As the negotiations continued, the
dréft agreement drawn up in July was discussed and amended
several times until it finally took shape in February, 1913.3 I
- On April 4 the French Naval Attachd in London reported that
the Admiralty considered "the agreement® as "definitely
conélu.ded."4 His reference is to three conventions which laid
the foundation for Franco;British naval cooperation in the
Mediterranean, Western Channel and the Straits of Dover. The

5
text of these agreements is given in the French Documents.

1. Poincaré- op.cit:, I, 112. Woodweard,op.cit.,380-81.

2. Supra.

3. Delcassé to Poincare September 17,1918, letter enclosing
8 prelimigary draft of a naval convention with notes;
D.D.F., 3° série,IIT, No0.420,pp.506f£f; Cambon, to Poincare
September 19 1912, 1bid., No.431, pp. 525ff. P01ncare to~
Cambon September 20, 1912, ivid., No.436,p.530. Captain
de fregate Le Gouz-de-Saint Seine to Vice-Admlral Aubert,
September 21,1912, ibid. No.449, p.546. See also, Halévey,
op.cit., II, pp. 603 04, Renouvin Pierre, Conversations
between -the General Staffs on the Eve of the War; loc.
cit., 164.

4., Le Commandant de Saint-Seine to Vice-Admiral Aubert, D.D.
F., 3° gérie, VI, N0.198, p.247.

5. Ibid., v, No.397, P.483-490.
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‘ 1
At the same time cooperation was provided for in the Far East.

As Mr. Churchill tells us, these technical agreements were merely
provisional, binding the contracting parties only fo take the
necessary steps for cooperation in the Mediterranean or elsé-
where "in the event of a war in which Great Britain and France
are allied against the Triple Alliance," and to defend the
Straits of Dover and the Channel "iﬁ the event of being allied
with the French Government in a war with Germany."
M. Poincaré tells in his Memoirs how unsatisfactory
this arrangement was to the French. They could not remain
3
satisfied with so loose an arrangement. Accordingly there was
once more urged upon Sir Edward Grey the necessity of a written
agreement. M. Cambon in London pressed the matter in the fall
of 1912. "How could we," he asked, "expose our Channel and
Atlantic coasts to the insult of a German fleet without knowing
how far we could rely on England?" When the Foreign Secretary
explained that no engegement could be entered upon without
referring it to Parliement for its consent, M, Cambon replied:
It is no question of an agreement here and now; we only

want some assurance as to the defence of our coast. Could

we not revert to Lord Lansdowne's proposal, and agree

that in the event of a threatening situation we would put

our heads together, and decide how best mutually to protect

ourselves from the dangers of war? In a word, if in

presence of such danger we should consider an alliance or

a military convention our best way out, we should resort

to this. If our opinions differed, and then either of us
refused to go to war, each party would take its own

1. D.D.F., 3° série, V, No. 303, p.385; ibid, VI, No.l98, p.247.
2. Supra 208. Porter, op. cit., 305.
3. Poinceré, op. cit., I, 112.
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precautions; Franée could not police the Mediterranean

without agreement in other respects. (1)
When the French insisted on the matter, Sir Edward Grey took
it up with Mr. Asquith. The Prime Minister saw the same
difficulties as his Foreign Secretary. It was finally agreed,
however, that an exchange of letters might teke place between
the two Powers, it being first clearly understood that these
letters must not be ranked as diplomatic documents, but merely
a8 a personal correspondence between a Secretary of State and
an Ambassador, and second}y that the wording must be approved
by the Cabinet.z The British Cabinet discussed the matter
on October 30, and it was at this meeting that all its members
were at last informed of the Anglo-French "conversations™ which
‘had been conducted steadily since 1906,3 The British letter
was drawn up and approved, and accord;ng to the plan, an
exchange of letters took place with Cambon on November 22 and
23. .

So important is this exchange of letters, they must

be given here. Grey's letter, courteously expressed,'read-

as foilows:

1. Cambon to Poincaré, September 21, 1912, D.D.F., 3° série,
ITI, No.448, p.545; Poincaré, op.cit., I, 113.

2. Cembon to Poincaré, October 31,1912, D.D.F. 3° série, IV,
No.30l1, pp.318-20; Poincare, op.cit., I, 113; Grey, op.
cit., I, 96-97. : '

d. Grey, op. cit., I, Pp.96-97. Lloyd George tells that
when the Cabinet heard of these, most of them for the
first time, "The majority of its Members were aghast.
Hostility barely represents the strength of the sentiment
which the revelation aroused; it was more akin to
consternation." Grey and Asquith endeavoured to allay
apprehensions by "emphatic assurances" that Britain was
not bound by the conversations. op.cit., 50.
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Sir Edward Grey to M. Cambon, French Ambassador in London.
Foreign Office,
November 22, 1912.

My Dear Ambassador, - From time to time in recent years
the French and British naval and military experts have
consulted together. It has always been understood that

.such consultation does not restrict the freedom of either
Government to decide at any future time whether or not to
assist the other by armed force. We have agreed that
consultation between experts is not, and ought not to be
regarded as an engagement that commits either Government
to action in a contingency that has not arisen and may
never arise. The disposition, for instance, of the French
and British fleets respectively at the present moment is
not based upon an engagement to cooperate in war.

You have, however, pointed out that if either Government
had grave reason to expect an unprovoked attack by a third -
Power it might become essential to know whether it could,
in that event, depend upon the armed assistance of the
other. _

I agree that, 1f either Government had grave reason to
expect an unprovoked attack by a third Power, or: something
that threatened the general peace, it should immediately
discuss with the other whether both Governments should
act together to prevent aggression and to preserve peacs,
and, if so, what measures they would be prepared to take
in common. If these measures involved action, the plans
of the general staffs would at once be taken into consid-
eration, and the Governments would then decide what effect
should be given to them.

Yours, ete.,
B. Grey.
The letter which M. Cambon gave in exchange for that of Sir
Edward's reads:

M. Cambon to Sir Edward Grey
(Translation)

French Embassy, London,

November 23, 1912.
Dear Sir Edwerd, - You reminded me in your letter of

yesterday, November 22, that during the last few years the
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military and naval authorities of France and Great Britain
had consulted with each other from time to time; that it
had always been understood that these consultations should
not restrict the liberty of either Government to decide in
the future whether they should lend each other the support
of their armed forces; that, on either side, these consult-
ations between experts were not, and should not be, consid-
ered as engagements binding our Governments to take action
in certain eventualities; that, however, I had remarked

to you that, if one or the other of the two Governments had
grave reason to fear an unprovoked attack on the part of

a third Power, it would become essential to know whether

it could count on the armed support of the other.

Your letter answers that point, and I am authorized to
state that, in the event of one of our two Governments
having grave reason to fear either an act of aggression
from a third Power, or some event threatening the general
peace, that Government would immediately examine with the
other the question whether both Governments should act
together in order to prevent the act of aggression or
preserve peace. If so, the two Govermments would deliberate
as to the measures which they would be prepared to take in .
common; if those measures involved action, the two Govern-
ments would take into immediate consideration the plans
of their General Staffs and would then decide as to the
effect to be given to those plans.

Yours, ete.,
1
Paul Cambon.

1. These letters cited in Grey, op. cit., I, 97-98. MNMr.

: B.E. Schmitt in his article, "Triple Alliance and
Triple Entente,"™ American Historical Review, April,
1924, asks us -to compare the concluding paragraph of
each of the letters with the political clauses of the
Franco-Russian Alliance. These latter read: "The two
Governments declare that they will take counsel together
upon évery gquestion of a nature to jeopardize the general
‘peace;  in case that peace should be actually in danger,
and especially if one of the two parties should be
threatened with an aggression, the two parties undertake
to reach an understanding on the measures whose immediate
and simultaneous adoption would be imposed upon the two
Governments by the realization of this eventuality....”
Mr. Schmitt points out that it is difficult to make any
distinetion between the engagements contracted in each
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These letters, exchanged in November, 1912, fixed
the relations between the British and French Cabinets down to
the outbreak of the Great War so far as any written statements
were concerned. Actually the only engagement undertaken in
them was to make a Joint study of the situation should a
crisis arise. France had received a promise that there should
be a conferring in the face of danger, and with this, a hypot-
hetical acceptance of the plans drawn up by the General Staffs.
Thus, literally, there was no alliance, no definite promise
that armed help would be given. Invactual wording the letters
left the hands of the Brltish Government free, and that freedom
was to be frequently solemnly reiterated in later months by
the Prime Minister and Sir Edward Grey.l And theoreticaily
the British hands were free. But as Sir Henry Campbell;Bannerman
had pointed out in 1906,2 and as Mr. Asquith had himself pointed

S : :
out in 1911, the military conversations were dangerous in the

1. On March 10, 1913, the following question was put to
the Prime Minis ter in the House of Commons: "There is
a general belief that this country is under an obligation,
not a treaty obligation, but an obligation arising out
of an assurance given by the Ministry, in the course of
diplomatic negotiations, to send a very large armed
foree out of this country to operate in Europe. That
is the general belief."™ Wr. Asquith replied, "I ought
to say that is not true." On March 24, 1913, two weeks

. later, he went even further to say, "As has been repeat-
edly stated, this country is not under any obligation,
not publie and known to Parliament, which compels it to
teke part in a war. In other words, if war, arises
between European Powers, there are no unpublished agree-
ments which will restrict or hamper the freedom of the
Government or Parliament to decide whether or not Great
- Britain should participate in a war.™ (ited in Ewart,

op. cit., I, 128.

2. Supra. 104.

3. Supra. 179 (note 1).
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encouragement they gave the French. Mr. Churchill had expressed
warnings in 1918 that the new arrangements for the British and
French fleets tied England and France in a dangerous manner,

' creating, as they did, an inescapable moral obligation to
protect the coast of France in the events of a Franco~German
war = that is to participate on the French side; no matter

how the war arose. In the words of Mr. Nicolson, the British
had "committed themselves to a guapantee which would involve
England either in a breach of faith or a war with Germany."l
And now, in November of 1912, in the Grey-Cambon letters, the
conversations, military and‘naval, assumed & new character and
significance, in however a guarded form it might be, 1in the
‘form of a written agreement.

It is necessary to examine only briefly England's
diplématic relationship with France to see how very closely
her fate was in reality bound up with that of France by the
end of 1912. By her departure from isolation at the start of
the century, and by the very act of entering into the Continental
system, however anxious she might be to think herself free,
she was forced %o accept obligations and invite risks. Her
Agreement with France in 1904 had been based on a common policy
with regard to Morocco, and it had virtually insured the solid-

arity of the two Powers in case of a war arising over Moroceco.

But, as Mr. Fabre-Luce points out, the Agreement of 1912 prepared

l. Nicolson, op. cit., 272
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the way - for concerted action on a much more widely extended
basis. Coming at a time when the question of Morocco was
settled, and the Agréement of 1904 consequently no longer need
apply, the new agreement "meant in fact that Franco-British
solidarity would now be extended to all other problems'in

which the Ententé might have common interest.“1 And, what is
more important, the technical su@plements to the Entente defined
this attitude more clearly. The cautious correspondence‘of
Grey and Cambon was backed by conversations between the military
and naval expefts which decided on possible methods of common
action, and by an intimacy between them which»prepared the way
for such'action, and which anticipated it.

In the eyes of the British Cabinet the letters were
intended to put on record the fact that the British were still
free to act as they thought best in a time of erisis; from
this view, they were interpreted as an admission on the part of
the French of Britain's freedom. But, the French saw in them
a quite different interpretation, or at least, a quite different
emphasis; to them the letters were an admission on the part of
the British to Franée's claim for suwpport. There can be little
doubt that M. Poincaré took from them this assurance. On
February 27, 1913, Isvolsky wrote to Sazonov, reporting a

. /
conversation with Poinecars:

l. Fabre-ILuce, op. cit., 154; Lutz, op. cit., 88.
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England is not bound to France by any definite
political engagement, but the tone and nature of
the assurances given by the Cabinet of London allow
the French Government, in the existing political
con junctures, to count upon the armed support of
England in case of conflict with Germany. (1)
The British leaders were sure their hands were free, and did
not hesitate to tell the people that this was so. The French
meanwhile were fully prepared to gamble, as on a sure certainty,
on British participation in a war which might break out.z
There was a further glement of danger in this relat-
ionship of 1912. The indefinite nature of the Entente at this
time did not give the British any right to exercise any
measure of control over French policy. It merely gave the
latter, in their minds at least, as has been shown, increased
hopes for victory should the threat of war come, without
enabling the former to exert any effective influence in the
direetion of peace. Mr. Churchill has written no truer words
.than those he penned when he described the situation, "Everyone
must feel, who knows the facts, that we have the obligations |
of an alliance, without its advantages, and above all without

3
its precise definitions.™

1. Un Livre Noir, II, 32-33; Schmitt, Triple Alliance and
Triple Entente, loc. cit., 461,

2. The French authorities in drawing up Plan XVII, upon
which their plan of campaign in 1914 was based, counted
definitely on British naval assistance. They were not
entirely sure of military aid on land, but stated that,
"on sea; however, we can count without risk upon the
effective support of the British fleet.®™ Porter, op.
cit., 307; Fay, op. cit., I, 324. _

é. Churchill, op. cit., 116, 217. Chamberlain, Austen,
Down the Years, (London, 1935), 66.
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The exchange of letters in 1912, following upon the
consistent diplomatic support which England had given France
throughout the Morocco Crisis of 1911, had thus established
a wider basis of mutual confidence between the two Governments.
After 1912 England was brought still further within the orbit
of French policy by her closer relationship with Russia. Just
aé her friendship with France before 1907 was a factor in
aiding England to negotiate the Anglo;Russian Convention of
that year, the closer friendship in 1912 was an important factor
in drawing tighter the bonds with Russia in 1913 and 1914.

| It is true that British relations with Russia never
reached the same degree of intimacy as those with France.
This is accounted for in part by the fact that British publie
opinion 4id not regard questions of the Near East, which were
of such vital concern to Russia, as falling within the scope
of British interests which might be worth'fighting for, and in
part by the fact that Russian activity in Persia caused
considerable concern to Great Britain, and often seemed not in
harmony with the Convention of 1907.l During the Balkan Crisis
of 1912-13 British efforts were directed to mediate between |
Russian end Austrian claims, and Grey refused to commit himself
Adn the question of whether Great Britain would take part in a
war arising out of the Balkans. Likewise, in the winter of

1913-14, when the Russian Government became greatly aroused

over the sending of a German milifary mission to Turkey, the

1. Grey, op. cit., I, 166-170.
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the Liman von Sanders Mission:, Sir Edward Grey, did not give
whole-hearted support to the Russian protests.1

In the spring of 1914, however, a new turn was given
to Anglo-Russian relations, brought about, in part at least,
through>the_closer relationship each of the two Powers had
cemented with France during 1912, for not only England during
that year, but Russia, also, had come into closer friendship
with the Republic. Closely connected with the Anglo-French
Naval Agreement was a Franco-Rpssian Naval Convention of July,
1912. Negotiations for such an agreement had started in the
spring to arrenge a naval convention analogous to the military
convention of 1894. The resulf was the secret naval convention
signed on July 16, 1912, by the admirals and»naval_ministers,
and confirmed by an exchange of notes between Sazonoy and
Poincaré when the latter visited Russia a month later.2

On this visit one of the main topies of conversation
was the closer cooperation of the naval forces of.the Triple
Entente. Poincaré confided to Sazonov, according to the latter's
report to the Czar, that "although there does not exist between'
France and England any written treaty; the Army and Navy Staffs
of the two countries have nevertheless been in close contact.

This constant exchange of views has resulted in the conclusion

between the French and English Govermments of a verbal agreement,

l. GFay, op. cit., I, 498-524.
2. Poincaré, op. c¢it., I, 204, 212, 225; Porter, op. cit.,
501-03.
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by virtue of which England has declared herself ready to aid
France with her military and naval forces in case of an attack
by Germany."l He begged the Russian Minister to "preserve the
most absolute secrecy in regard to the information,"™ and not
to give the English themselves any reason to suspecf that he
had been told of it. He:urged him to take advantage of his
coming visit to England to discuss the question of & possible
Anglo-Russian naval agreement, which would thus complete the
naval cooperation of the three Entente Powers in case of war
with Germany. ‘

Sazonov followed this suggestion. On his visit to
England, which took place in September, he informed Grey of
the substance of the Franco-Russién Naval Convention and asked
whether England would safeguard Russia in the north by keeping
the German fleet out of the_Baltic.a Accofding to Sazonov's
report of this interview, Grey declared that in the case of a
war with Germany, England would make every effort to cripple
the German fleet, but explained that, in the view of the naval
authorities, British entrance into the Baltie would be risky
since Germany might succeed in gaining control of Denmark and
thus close the exit from that sea. “Accofdingly, Great Britain
would have to confine her'opérations tq the North Sea." But

Grey wentcon' to inform Sazonov, "on his own initiative,™ so

the latter reports, of what Poincaré had made him already aware -

1. Sazonov to the Czar, August 4, 1912 Un Livre N01r
op. cit., II,~339.
2. Ibid., 347. '
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of the agreement which existed between France and Britain,
"under which in the event of war with Germany, Great Britain
has accepted the obligation of bringing assistance to France-
not only on the sea but on land, by landing troops on the
Continent.“l |

Whether Sazonov reported correctly what Poincaré
and Grey had said is very doubtful.2 But, the fact that he
made such statements to the Czar would indicate how much the
French and Russians were encouraged by the existence of the
Ahglo-French military and naval "conversations,"™ and inclined
to interpret them as a promise of British support in the case
of a European War.3

Although the Balkan Wars closed without breeding

wider conflict, serious tension remained. Having good reason

for apprehension, when the Liman von Sanders affair created

1. Sazonov to the Czar, op. cit., 347. 1In his Memoirs
Grey has something to say with regard to this report
of Sazonov to the Czar, "That I (Grey) made a promise
to Russia going far beyond anything promised to France
in communication with the French Govermment." He says,
that if Sazonov's report to the Czar was made "without
giving the Czar clearly to understand that Britain could
make no promise and come under no obligation, it was
in effect an untrue report.®™ "The record of our conver-
sation which I made at the time is quite clear on this
point."™ - he gives the record at this point. He goes on
to say, "To construe these words as a declaration of an
intention to go to war with Germany, and still more as
an obligation to do so, would have been unpardonable.
Sazonov never for a moment understood them in this sense;
neither he nor Beckendorf nor anyone ever suggested such
a'construction to me afterwards." Grey, op. eit., I,
298-99.

2. Fay, op. cit., I, 328; Schmitt, Triple Allisnce and
Triple Entente, loc. cit., 460 (note 75).

é. Lloyd George, op. cit., I, 49.
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further uneasiness, Sazonov, on February 12, 1914, suggested
to the Ruséian Ambassador in London that Grey be sounded on

a proposal of having representatives of the three entente
powers meet to Mestablish the community of their views."1

Grey raised no objection to this proposal,zand since a visit
to Paris by George V, who was to be accompanied by Sir Edward
Grey, had been arranged for the near future, Sazonov telegrap-
hed to his ambassador there on April 2, proposing "a further
reinforcement and development of the so-called Triple Entente,'
and, if possible, its transformation into a new Triple‘
Alliance.“5 The Ambassador in his reply informed Sazonov that
- he had taken the matter up with the French leaders,and that

M: Doumergue,the French Foreign Minister,would speak to Grey
when he was in Paris.4 "He believes that it will prove very
easy to bring forﬁh convineing arguments in favour of this
thought, for it is very obvious that, France, having military
and naval conventions with Russia and England, the system

ought to be co-ordinated and completed by a corresponding
5

accord between Russia and England.™

1. S,iebert, (¢] O Citc,' 713"'15.
2. Tbid., 713.
3. Ibid., 714.
4. Tbid., 715.
5. Tbid., 715.
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Sir Edward Grey accompanied His MajJesty to Paris
in a visit from April 21 to 24 and during the visit found
time to meet with Doumergue and Isvolsky. The question of
Anglo-Russian relations was brought up for discussion. Grey
was of the opinion that the political situation in England
would not permit the convé:sion of the Triple Entente into a
formal alliance. But, at the wish of the French, he agreed
to communicate to the Russlan Government the notes whieh had
been exchanged between Great Britain and France in November
of 1912, and he consented also that conversations should be
carried on between the Russian and British admiralties
analogous to those between the British and French naval experté.
These offers were subject to Grey obtalning thé coneurrence
6f Mr. Asquith and the other members of his Government.1
- Asquith saw no difficultieés in the carrYing out of the plan;
and on May 23 the Russian Ambassador reported thaﬁ Grey had
informed him}that‘"the Engliéh Minister's Council had approved
of the answer which he (Grey) gave to Doumergue in Paris in'
his own name."z As Grey tells us in his own words:
I could see little if any strategic necessity or value
in the suggestion. To my lay mind it seemed that in a
war against Germany, the Russian Fleet would not get out .
of the Baltic and the British Fleet would not get into
it; but the difficulty of refusing was obvious. To refuse

would offend Russia by giving the impression that she 4
was not treated on equal terms with France; it might even

1. Grey, op. cit., I, 283-85; Un Livre Noire, op.cit.,II, 261.
2. Siebert, op. cit., 538; Grey, op. cit., I, 285.
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give her the impression that, since we first agreed to
military conversations with France, we had closed our
minds against participation in a war. To give this
impression might have unsettling consequences, as well

as being untrue. On the other hand, it was unthinkable
that we should incur an obligation to Russia which we

had refused to France. It was as impossible as ever to
give any pledge that Britain would take part in a contin-
ental war. The fact that we remained unpledged must be
made quite clear. On this understanding we agreed to let
the British and Russian navel authorities communicate

as the French asked. (1)

Thus through her close relationship with France,
England was brought into closer friendship with Russia before:
July, 1914. Mr. Sazonov was exceedingiy happy over this fact.
On May 28, 1914, he wrote to his Ambassador in London:
The readiness of the British Government to begin,

without delay, negotiations, regarding the conclusion

of an agreement between Russia and England, which would

concern Jjoint operations of our naval forces in the

event of a common military action, has been received

on our part with a feeling of greatest satisfaction.

Quite apart from the fact, that such an agreement is

desirable from a special military standpoint, we attach

great importance to it in a general political sense.

In the conclusion of such an agreement, we see an

important step towards bringing England into closer

union with the Franco-Russian allience. (2)
Sazonov saw that the Triple Entente was being tightened and
took Joy in that prospect. True, the Entente was not a
definité_alliance, but it wes being conducted as if it were
one in effect. The words which Grey himself used in describing
the Entente to the German Ambassador on June 24, 1914, reveal

how close to an alliance it had become. He summed up the

lo G’rey, Opc cita, I, 284-85o
2. Siebert, op. cit., 724~
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situation most admirably when he said, "Though we (Britain)
are not bound by engagement (to France and‘Russia) as Allies,
we did from time to time talk as intimately as Allies."1
Meanwhile, the nation as a whole knew almost next

to nothing of the policy the British Government was following.
It has been shown how Grey had kept secret from most of his
colleagues impoftant facts of Britein's relations with France
before 1911, and that it was only after 1911 that the whole
cabinet became aware of what had been and was being done. But
these facts were not revealed to the whole nation until the
eve of the war. Whether Grey actually believed that Britain
was absolutely free from entanglements, as he so often avowed,
will perhaps never be known. The important point is that he
kept relterating this fact until war came. |

" The situation beceme difficult when the Germen
Government learned of these Anglo-Russian naval conversations.2

Suspicion was immediately kindled in Germany that hostile

measures were being prepared against the Empire. Reports

1. Grey, op. cit.,I, 304, Schmitt, Triple Alliance and Triple
Entente, 99.

2. Jagow to Ballin, July 15, 1914, Dugdale, op. cit., IV,
No. 640, pp. 375-77; Ballin to Jagow, July 24, 1914, No.643,
pp. 377-78, Bethmann-Hollweg, op.cit.,64. See Wolff, op.
cit., 379-86. Theodor Wolff was editor of the "Berliner
Tageblatt" which first published details of the Anglo-
Russian conversations in Gemany. He reveals how the
Gemman Diplomatic Service was kept secretly in touch
with the Russian Embassy in London through M. de Siebert,
and how news of the project of the Anglo-Russian naval
conversations reached Germany through this source. Copies
of the Russian diplomatic telegrams and letters were
supplied by de Siebert, 380-81, 357-60.
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appeared in the Press, and thus fusél was added to the flames
' 1
-0of bitterness and suspicion already brightly ablaze. This

led to questions about military arrangements arising in the
House of Commons. Similar questions asked on previous

oscasions of Grey and the Prime Minister had been answered
2
emphatically in the negative. Once again, on June 11, 1914,

and this was within two months of the outbreak of the war,
Sir Edward was asked if there was any naval engagement with
Russia. His reply follows:

The Honourable Member for North Somerset asked a
similar question last year with regard to military
forces, and the Honourable Member for North Salford
asked a similar qguestion also on the same day as he
has again done today. The Prime Minister them replied
that, if war arose between European Powers, there were
no unpublished agreements which would restriet or
hamper the freedom of the Government, or of Parliament,
to decide whether or not Great Britain should participate
in a war. That answer covers both the questions on
the paper. It remains as true today as it was a year
ago. No negotiations have sinece been concluded with
any Power that would make the statement less truse.

No such negotiations are in progress, and none are
likely to be entered upon, as far as I can Jjudge. But,
if any agreement were to be concluded, that made it
necessary to withdraw or modify the Prime Minister's
statement of last year, which I have guoted, it ought
in my opinion, to be, and I suppose that it would be,
laid before Parliament. (3) :

It is obvious that this answer, to offer the most
kindly critiecism of it, 1s an evasion of the question that
was asked. Grey admits in his Memoirs that he did not answer

4 _
the question. But in defense of his evasion he goes on to

l. Brandenburg, op. cit., 469; Grey, op. cit., I, 288-89.
2. Supra. 214.

. Grey, op. cit., I, 289. Wolff, op.cit., 383-84.

4. Grey, op. cit., I, 289, Trevelyan, op. cit., 241.
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explain in his most disarming and naive style that while
"Parliament has an unqualified right to know of any agreements
or arrangements that bind the country to action or'restrain
its freedom it cannot be told of military and navel measures
to meet possible con‘c:i.ngenc:ies.":L His faith, openly avowed
and proclaimed to the nation, that the hands of the Govermment
were still unfettered in the matter of continental entangle-
ments was at this late date apparently unshaken. Events

which followed were‘not to justify that fai th.

From this account of how the Entente had been
strengthened 1t might be wise to turn briefly to a review of
the international situation in Burope on the eve of the war
to see what was the likelihood of England having to plunge
into war either on her own account, or to aid her friends.

It must be noted first of all; that while the
Powers of the Triple Entente were more closely united in
July of 1914 than at any previous time, the same was true of
the Triple Alliance. During the Balkan Crisis of 1912-13
Germany had resolutely supported Austria;Hungary in preyventing
Serbia secure an outlet on the Adriatic. It is true that
Germany had in July, 1913, counselled moderation and vetoed
her ally's wish to save Bulgaria by action against Serbia.

But in Octoher of that year William II had promised Conrad,

l. Grey, op. cit., 289-90. The German Foreign Office
was of course not deceived by Grey's answer, since
the truth was known in Berlin through the work of
de Siebert; Wolff, op. cit., 386.
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the Austrian Chief of Staff, that if Austria marched against
Serbia, "I'll go with you,™ and to Berchold, the Foreign
Minister he had said, "I stand behind you, and am ready to
draw the sabre if ever your action makes it necessz—n'y."-l
The Austrians were surely Justified in thinking that they
had only to seize the first opportunity offered for a reckoning
with Serbia.

The Balkan Wars had also had the effect of bringing
Italy back into the Triple Alliance more securely. The
Alliance was formally renewed by the three Powers in December,
1912, a year and a half before its expiration. During the _
Balkan Crisis Italy had stood with Austria in opposing Serbian
claims on the Adriatic. Although these two members of the
Alliance continued to be suspicious of each other over Albania,
& naval convention was signed by all three members providing
for naval cooperation in the Mediterranean. This convention
went into effect on November 1, 1913. Furthermore, in March,
1914, an agreement was reached between Germany and Italy by
which the latter pledged herself to send fhree'army corps
and two cavalry divisions to the German army in the event of
war with France. Moltke felt that Italy could be counted on
as a faithful member, and endeavoured to convince his sceptical
Austrian colleagues of this. He wrote in this connection,
"All these agreements were made so clear and so binding that

n 2
a doubt of Italy's loyalty to the alliance could hardly arise.m

l. Cited in Schmitt, Triple Alliesnce and Triple Entente, 100.
2. Ibid., 101. :
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‘Whether the Austrian and German Foreign Offices were equally
optimistic may be open to doubt; but the faet remains that in
1914 the military and néval arrangements of the Triple Alliance,
as well as those of the Triple Entente, were more complete
and extensive than they had ever been before.lv

In 1914 then, the two rivals diplomatie groups
stood face to face. Was there any immediate préspect of war .
between them? It would seem not, beyond the general feeling
of insecurity of the past few years. Europe had successfully
weathered the storms raised by the Mdrocco erisis of 1906, by
Bosnia-Herzogovia in 1909, by Agadir in 1911, and perhaps the
most difficult of all, the Balkan Wars of 1918-13; and these
were infinitely worse problems than any that appeared above
the horizon in the spring and early summer of 1914_.2 And of
all the Powers, England perhaps had the least concefﬁ as to
the coming of war. Her relations with Germany had at this .
date reached a more cordial state than at any time since thé
Boer War. One cannot say that the naval rivalfy had subsided,
but the calmer temper in which the leaders now discussed
their problems was in marked céntrast to the feverish excite-
ment which had previously attended upon this vexed problem.s

So greatly had the tension been appeased that in June, 1914,

a British squadron visited Kiel, where the intercourse between

l. Cited in Schmitt, Triple Alliance and Triple Entente; 101.

2. Grey, opoloit., I, 302.

3. Schmitt, B.E., England and Germany, 1740-1914, (Princeton,
1916), 198 and 194. ’ '
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the officers and crews of the two countries proved most
friendly.1 The two Governments had cooperated during the
Balken Wars in working for peace, restraining respectively,
Russia and Austria. Most important of all, they had negotiated
successfully agréements to liquidate their differences in
Africa and with respect to the Bagdad Railway. These agree-
ments had not beén formally signed when war came, but for all
practical purposes they had been sealed when the Austrian
ultimatum to Serbia ushered in the final crisia.2 It would
seem then, that by the summer of 1914 England and Germany
were well on the way to "clean the slate."3 The collapse of -
these auspicious efforts is one of the most tragic features

of the crisis of July, 1914.

1. Rumbold to Grey, July 2, 1914, B.D., XI, No.6, pp.6-7.
Captain Henderson to Rumbold, enclosure in No.7, pp.8-1l.

2. Brandenburg, op. cit., 465-68.

3. Grey, op. cit., I, 303; Trevelyan, op. cit., 242..
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CHAPTER VII
The Last Days of Peace

On June 28, 1914, with the assassination of the
Austrian Archduke Franz Perdinand and his wife, was struck the
spark which set fire to the pile of combustible material which
the diplomatic clashes of the previous decade had heaped up.
The murderous act was carried out by Bosnian nationalists in
Sarajevo, the capital of the provinces of Bosnia-Herzogovina,
which had been administered by Austria-Hungary since 1908.
Many details of the plot have not yet been revealed, but enoughv
has come ﬁo light to prove that Serbian officials were to some
pxtent implicated or at least had some knowledge of the plot.l
The Austrian government was not awarevéf these facts in 1914,
but investigation at the time gave rise to strong susplcions
that Serbian officials shared the guilt.

The Archduke was not at all well-known in England,

and it is true to say that few Englishmen could have located

l. Dr. R.W. Seton-Watson, one of the leading authorities
on South Slav affairs and history, declares Serbia to
be innocent. 1In his study, “"Sarajevo,"™ (London, 1926),
he champions the Serb case and condemns the policy of
Berchtold and the complicity of Germany. Miss Edith
M. Durham has presented the case against Serbia; "The
Sarajevo Crime," (London,1925). In this study she
summarizes evidence to show that the Serbian government
was aware of the plot and did nothing to warn Austris
or to prevent its being carried out. MAustria was
right when stating that the threads of the crime reached
Belgrade." (p.200).
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-Sarajevo on the map, yet such was the diplomatic net in which
the Buropean Powers were caught, ank ln which England had now
become entangled, that within a few short weeks after the
assassination British soldiers weré»meeting death on the continent.

The news of the assassination had no audible effect
in Downing Street. In the early summer of 1914, before the
tragedy, and during the days immediately foliowing it, British
leaderé were far more concerned with events which were passing
in Ireland than in those in the Balkans.- The news of the
murders reached London at the height of the Irish Crisis and
of the feminist agitation, and in the turmoil created by these
problems little significance was attached to the Sarajevo
incident. There appeared to be no reason why the European
situation should be seriously disturbed.

The attention and the time of the Cabinet were
largely absorbed by the acute domestie problems, and it was
not until some daysllater that Sir EdWard Grey expressed a
feellng of anxiety as to the European situation which was then
arising as a result of the mhrders. Mr. Churchill fecqrds that
-1t was as late as Friday, July 24, that Sir Edward asked the
Cabinet to remain for a few moments after a session which had
met to discuss the Irish Crisis. It was then he told the
members for the first time of the grave situation developing

1 .
on the continent. Preoccupied with the Irish situation, the

l. Churchill, op. cit., 204; Lloyd George, op. cit., I, 54.
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Cabinet had left foreign affairs to the Foreign Minister. He

now announced to the members the note which Austria had delivered
to Serbia, and expressed the hope "that the conversations which
were proceeding between Austria and Russia might lead to a
-pacific settlemenf." The Cabinet separated on that assurance.1
Grey states in his Memoirs, "that things were not yet so
~eritical that it was unsafe to be out of town,"2 and he passed
the weekend at his fishing lodge in Hampshire legving Nicolson
in charge of the Foreign Office.3 Lloyd George records that
®g1l other Ministers followed his example and left town."4

It was guite evident that no one doubted but that the crisis
would pass, and that an Austro-Serbian quarrel was of no direct
conéern to Britain.

Perhaps the best reason for the rise of this feeling
in Britain was that thé BEuropean crisis developed only very
slowly in the first few weeks after June 28. It is quite
evident today that the Austrian Government saw immediately in
the assassinations a pretext for the long contemplated move
égainst Serbia. On June 29 Berchtold declared to Conrad von
Hotzendorf thaﬁ the time had come to settle the Serbian question
once and for all, and he anhounced to Count Tisza "his intention
of taking advantage of the ecrime at Sarajevo to square his

5
account with Serbia." But though the chief of staff was eager

l. Lloyd George, op. cit., 54.

2. Grey, op. ecit., I, 3185.

é. Ibid., 315, Nicolson, op. cit., 413.

4. Lloyd& George, op. cit., I, 54. ' -
5. Renouvin, The Immediate Origins of the War, (London,1988),36.
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. for immediate mobilization, Berchtold wished to be sure of
German support in the event of European complications arising,
and he had to win over to his view point the Emperor and Count
Tisza. These necessary preliminaries took_time, and thus for
some days the Austriasn action was delayed, and the European
capitals were unaware of Austria's intentions.

Germany's pledge to support her ally was obtained on
July 5, when Count Hoyos was sent to Berlin with a "memorandum,™
part of which had been prepared before the crime, accompanied
by a personal letter from the Emperor. The letter stated in
part that ®"the efforts of my government must in future be
directed toward the isolation and diminution of Serbia,™ and
declared that the murders had made it necessary for the'Monarchy
"to destroy with a determined hand the net which its enemies
ére attempting to throw about its head..“1 The Kalser declared
that Austria might count on the "whole-hearted support of Germany,"
and expressed the opinion that she should act without delay.
The Chancellor was more restrained in his assurances of support,
but promised that his government would "faithfully™ stand by
Austria; "as is required by the obligationé of their alliance
and their ancient friendship."z This was the fateful "blank
cheque™ which Germany gave to Austria, and which the latter
proceeded at once to cash with such dire results for all the

world.

1. Renouvin, op. cit., 38-40.
3. Ivia., 53-65.
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Assured of German support the choice of methods now
lay entirely with the Ballpatz. While energetic and immediate
action seemed called for, further prelimingry measures dragged
on for some eighteen days. In a Crown Council meeting of
July 7, Tiszé raised strong objections to war against Serbia
in view of the danger of European complications. It was not
until July 14 that his opposition was overcome, and agreement
was reached on the conditions to be demanded of Serbia.l The
draft of the ultimatum was not completed uﬁtil'July 19,2nor
approved by the Emperor until July 21.,3 It was not handed to
the Serbian Goverrment with its brief time-limit until July 23.
Thus, almost four weeks had passed since the érime had taken
place at Sarajevo, and more than two weeks since Germany's
promise of support had been secured. It was on July 28 that
war was declared ageinst Serbla, and July 30 that the bombard-
ment of Belgrade began.

Aside from the fact that Sir Edward's time and
attention were largely absorbed during these earlier days with
- Parliamentary affairs and the acute Irish situation, there was
no reason Why he should have felt serious alarm for the peace
of Burope. It was generally felt in England that Austria

would be Justified in taking some action against Serbia to
/

prevent the recurrence of similar outrages, and with few

lc Renouvm, Op. Cito, 53-55.
2. Ibid., 56.
5. Ibid., 57.
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exceptions the entire British press reflected this view.
As the days passed and the Austrian Government took no apparent
action at Belgrade, reports from Vienna, though containing
notes of strong action to be taken, were for the most part
reassuring.2

Grey's failure to realize grave danger was shared
by his subordinates in the Foreign Office. On July é Nicolson
expressed the opinion that apart from the Albanian problem
- ®™we have no very urgent and pressing question to preoccupy us
in the rest of Europe."5 On July 9 he wrote, "I have my
doubts as to whether Austria will take any action of a serious
character, and I expect the storm wili blow over."’4 The German
ambassador noted the same day that Grey was equaliy optimistiec.
He was "in a thoroughly confident mood," Lichnowsky wrote,
"and declared in cheerful tones that he saw no reason for

. 5
taking a pessimistic view of the situation." As late as

1. Scott, J.F., Five Weeks, (New York, 1927), 208ff. for a
study of British Press. B.D., XI, No.58, p.46, contains
an extract from the "Westminster Gazette, dated July 17,
1914, which contains the following: "In such circumstances
the RAustrian) Government cannot be expected to remain
inactive; and Servia will be well-advised if she realizes
the reasonableness of her great neighbour's anxiety, and
does whatever is in her powser to allay it, without waiting
for a pressure which might involve what Count Tisza calls
"warlike complications.”

2. Sir M. de Bunsen to Grey, Numbers, 46 50,55 56 59 ,65,
dated prior to July 23, B.D., XI, Dp. 37ff.

3. Nicolson to ‘de Bunsen, July 6, 1914 ibid., No.33, p. 25 26.

4. Minute to de Bunsent's telegram to Grey, ibid., No.40 p.33.

5. Lichnowsky to the Chancellor, July 9, 1914, German

T Documents on the Outbreak of the World War, collected by
Kautsky, (cited hereafter as K.D.), (New York 1984)
No.30, p.95.
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As late as July 17 Lloyd George,in delivering a speech at
Meansion House, passed lightly over questions concerning peace
abroad, reminding his listeners that the international situation
had been more serious in 1913, and added that if there were
still clouds on the horizon it was because "you never get a
perfectly blue sky in foreign affairs."1 From a report of
Lichnowsky we leafn that on July 20 Sir Edward was "still
viewing the Austro;Serbian quarrel optimistically,"™ and that
he "believed that a peaceful solution would be reached. He
said that he had received no information that would indicate
anything to the contrary."z Lichnowsky himself at this time
regarded the situation as "“very unc:omfor’t:able."Z He assured
Grey that although he had no news of what Austria planned to
do, she was "certainly going to take some step" with regard to
Serbia. '

After July 20 Grey saw that the situation was not
Just as hopeful as he had previously viewed it. De Bunsen's
warning from Vienna on July lé that Austfia was contemplating
strong measures4he now saw to be worthy of attention. On
July 18 Sir George Buchanan had reported to Grey "the great
uneasiness which Austria's attitude to Serbia" was causing in
Russia, and gave Warning that "anything in the nature of an :
Austrian ultimatum at Belgrade could not leave Russia indifferent."5

1l. Cited in Halédvy, II, op. cit., 647.

8. XK.D., No0.92, pp.l44-45,.

3. Grey to Rumbold, July 20, 1914, B.D.,XI, No.68, p.54.
4. De Bunsen to Grey, July 16, 1914, ibid., No.50, p.39.
5. Buchanan to Grey, July 18, 1914, ibid., No.60, p.47.
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The change in Grey's attitude is reflected in the
warning notice which he sent to Buchanan on July 20, suggesting
direct conversationé between Russia and Austria as a solution
of diffieuities "if occasion seems to require it."l Two days
later he set forth this idea more definitely to the Russian
ambassador in London, Count Beckendorff, who did not see that
it was at all feasible.2 The suggestion had undoubted merit,
but it met with an instant and emphatic condemnation from
Poincaré when Buchanan proposed it during the latter's visit
to St. Petersburg after July 20. "His Excellency' wrote
Buchanan, "expressed opinion that a conversation } deux between
Austria andARussia would be dangerous at the pfesent'moment,
and seemed favourable to moderating counsels by France and
England at Vienna."3 To Count Mensdorff, the Austrian
ambassador, who interviewed him on July 25, to give notice
of the ultimatum to be delivered to Serbia, Grey spoke gravely
of the "awful consequences involved in the situation,™ and
warned him that any influencngritain might be expectéd to
use in restraint of Russia "would deﬁend on how reasonable
were the Austrian demands and how strong the justification
that Austria might have discovered for making her demands."4

In turning down Grey's proposal of "direct conver--

sations" between Austria and Russia,Poincaré had suggested

l. Grey to Buchanan, July 20,1914, B.D.,XI, No.67, p.54.
2. Grey %o Buchanan, July 22,1914, ibid., No.79, p.64.
d. Buchanan to Grey, July 22,1914, ibid., No.76, p.6&.
4. Grey to de Bunsen, July 23,1914, i¥id., ©No.86, p.70.
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that the ambassadors of the Triple Entente should make a

joint representation to the Austrian Government.l In line
with his past policy the French President was reiterating his
desire to have the Entente Powers concert together their line
of action. The Russian Government approved this plan, and
their ambassador in Vienna was instructed to act with his
French and British colleagues "with a view to giving friendly
counsels of moderation."a This proposal, however, was not
approved in iondonzsince it ran contrafy to the poliey which
thé Foreign Office had consistently pursued for the past two
years, never to oppose to each other the two diplomatic groups
of the Triple Entente and Triplé Alliance. It is difficult

to believe that Sir Edward's proposal of "direct conversations™
would have succeeded,in view of Austria's determination to .
cérry through her humiliation of Serbia, but 1t was the
opposition of the French and Russians which prevented its
adoption.

But, while unwilling to fall in line with the French
and Russian proposals Grey at the same time refused to link
himself with German poliecy. In conversation with Lichnowsky,
the latzer had urged England to exercise restraint upon

Russia. Committed since July 5 to support'Austria, Germany

was most anxious to localize the cerisis, and desired that

1. Buchanan to Grey, July 22,1914, B.D.XI, No.76, p.62.

2. Buchanan to Grey, July 25 1914 ibid., No.84, p.69, ani
note (3); de Bunsen to Grey, July 23, 1914, No.90 P.73.

3. Minutes to No.8%4, ibid., p.69.

4. Grey to Rumbold, July 6, 1914, ibid., No.52 p 64.



-240-

British activity should be directed to holding back Russia.
Sir Edward answered cautiously that the situation would depend
upon what measures Austria might take, and hinted that "the
more Austria could keep her demand within reasonable limits,
and the stronger the Justification she could produce for
maeking any demand, the more chance there would be of smobthing
things over."1

Grey was thug éndeavouring to steerva middle course -
to avoid offending Germany by siding too definitely with Russia
and France in exercising preésure on Vienna, and to avoid
arousing the ill-will of Russia by concurring in the policy of
Germany. This was consistent with his policy of the past
years, a policy of keeping in with the Entente Powers, yet
attémpting also to remain on good terms with Germany, and of
giving her no reason for offense.

If events had moved rather slowly up to this point,
they now moved with startling and breath-taking rapidity with
- the dispateh of the ultimatum to Serbia on July 23. Grey says
of the ultimatum, it was "unexpectedly severe; harsher in tone

and more humiliating in its terms than any communication of
which we had‘recollection addressed by'bne independent Govern-
ment to another.‘?2 It was in such terms that no independent
Power could accept it. Sazonov tersely described it, "c'est

3 A
la guerre européenne." Qn July 25. Serbia gave her answer -

l. Grey to Rumbold, July 20, 1914,B.D.,XI,No.68, p.54.

. Grey, op. cit., I, 310. ,

3. How the War Began in 1914, Diary of the Russian Foreign
Office, (London, 1925), 28.
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a reply of a contrite and coneiliatory nature. As Grey says,
"The Serbian answer went further than we had ventured to hope
in the way of submission.“? Nevertheless, it was immediately
rejected by the Austrian Government, who instructed their
representative to leave Belgrade. At the same time mobilizat-
ion against Serbia was begun. | »

The excessively harsh terms of the @ltimatum and the
summary, re jection of the reply made it plainly evident that
Austria would be content with no ordinary reparation, but had
fully determined on erushing Serbia. Again, fq use words of
Grey, "from that moment, thingé went from bad to worse.“2

The crisis now entered upon a second stage; it could
no longer be regarded as a purely Austro;Serbian quarrel.
Russian- support of Serbia in the event of an Austrian attack
was regarded as a cerﬁainty. Thus, the crisis was widening
into one between Austria and Russia, with Germany and France
bound by the terms of their alliances to support their respective
allies. A memorandum of Sir Eyre Crowej;dated July &5, reveals
the situation as it then was, charged with dangers

It is clear that France and Russla are declded to
accept the challenge thrown out to them. Whatever we
may think of the merits of the Austrian charges agalnst
Serbia, France and Russia consider that these are the

pretexts, and that the bigger cause of Triple Alliance
versus Triple Entente is definitely engaged. (3)

1. Grey, op. cit., I, 311.
20 Ibido, 5110 . - i
b+ Minute by Sir Eyre Crowe, July 25, B.D., XI, pp.81-82.
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What policy would England follow now that it seemed
that Austria was deteimined to move against Serbia? Would
Sir Edward Grey Jjoin with Russis and France to bring pressure
on Vienna, or would he, as the Central Powers hoped, stand to
one side, concurring in the view that the whole matter should
be regarded merely as an Austro-Serb quarrel? Sir Edward
inclined as yet to neither of these policies; he chose still
a third path. Though seriously alarméd by July 23, he continued
to place his faith in mediation, andcto seek a formula which
might preservé the honour and prestige of the Powers and thus
maintain the péace. He showed himself most ready to take the
lead in such a policy.

It is not easy'to see at this stage that he could
have chosen any wiser, or for that matter, any alternative
poiicy. Publice opinion was not yet truly aware of the real
gravity of the situation, and had been concerned thus far, as
has been pointed out, with the Irish sitruggle. Nor had the
Cabinet yet considered the matter. Thus, Sir Edward. could
only wait upon developments, working all the while to guide
them, in so far as he-could, in the direction of peace. Those
who criticize his failure to take a determined stand in the
crisis at this stage on either one side or the other apparently:
have no understanding-of the situation as it obtained in
England at this moment. “

Oon July 24 Count Mensdorff called on Sir Edward to

communicate the text of the Austrian note. Sir Edward

commented adversely on the time limit, and declared that point
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five "would hardly be consistent with maintenance of the in-
dependent sovéreignty of Serbia." Though admitting that many
of the demands were justified, he "refused to discuss the merits
of the dispute" or listen to Count Berchtold's complaints against
the Serbian Govermnment. He was, he said, concerned "solely
from the point of view of the peace of Europe" and he exXxpressed
"great apprehension." He stated that he would enter into an
exchange of views with the other Powers to see what could be
done to mitigate difficulties.l
On the same date, July 24, the Geman ambassadors in
the Entente capitals delivered notes to the gdvernments,defend-
ing the Austrian action, "The course of procedure and demands
of the Austro-Hungarian Government can only be regarded as
equitable and moderate,"” but since Serbia might refuse these
demands and allow herself "to be carried away into a provocative
attitude toward Austria—Hungafy," the latter "would then have
no choice but to obtain the fulfilment of their demands ffom
the Serbian Government by strong pressure, and, if necesseary,
by using military measures." The notes went on to state:
The Imperial Government want to emphasize their opinion
that inthe present case there is only question of a -
matter to be settled exclusively between Austria-Hungary
and Serbia, and that the Great Powers ought seriously to
endeavour to reserve it to those two immediately concerned.-
The Imperial Government desire urgently the localization
of the confliect, because every interference of another

Power would, owing to the different treaty obligations,
be followed by incalculable consequences. (2)

1. Grey to de Bunsen, July 24, 1914, B.,D., XI, No.91l, pp.73-74.
2. Communication by the German Ambassador, July 24, B.D., XI,
No. 100, pe 79, :
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1
This was most assuredly "very strong support," on

behalf of Austria, and revealed clearly the line Germany was
prepared to take. The interference of other Powers was warned
off by a fhreat of what might follow if the-system of allliances
was invoked. War was to be the alternative to acceptance of
the Austrian policy.

Grey had met with Paul Cambon on the afternoon of
July 24, previous to a meeting with‘Lichnowsky, to discuss the
guestion of mediation. A divergence of views arose between the
two when Cambon favoured mediation between Austria?Hungary and
Serbia, while Grey was considering mediation between Austro-
Hungary and Russia.g In meeting with Lichnowsky to hear the
German stand, Grey replied that if the ultimatumbdid'not lead
to trouble between Austria and Russia "he had no concern with
it." But he was apprehensive of the stand Russia might take.
"In view of the extraordinary stiff character of the Austrian
note, the shortness of the time allowed, and the wide scope of
the demands upon Serbia, I felt quite helpless as far as Russisa
was concerned, and I did not believe any Power could exercise
influence alone."3 He then proposed a plan of mediation adding
to it Cambon'slproposal for restraining Austria.

The only chance I could see of mediating or moderating
influence being effective was that the four Powers,
Germany, ltaly, France and ourselves, should work together
simultaneously at Vienna and St. Petersburg in favour of

moderation in the event of the'relations between Austria
and Russia beconing threatening.

l. Minute to No.l00,B,D.iXI,p.79. :
8. Grey to Bertie, July 24, 1914, ibid., No.98, pp.77-78..

Cambon to Bienvenu-Martin, D.D.F. 3° série, XI, No.23,
pp. 22"23 .

4. Grey to Rumbold, July 24,1914,B.D.,XI,No0.99,p.78.

Liohnowsky to German Foreign Office,July 24,1914,K.D.,
No.157,pp.183-84.
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The immediate danger was that in a few hours Austria
might march into Serbis and Russian Slav opinion demand
that Russia should march to help Serbia; it would be
very desirable to get Austria not to precipitate military
action and so to gain more time. But none of us could
influence Austria in this direction unless Germany would
propose and participate in such action at Vienna. (1)

Grey was thus refusing toAjoin in the German plan of
mere localization. More than that, he was appealing to Germany
to abandon the position set forth in her note and to Jjoin the
Powers in restraint of Austria. He would not promise to restrain
Russia, but rather was asking Germany to put pressure on Vienna
to prevent war from starting.

The next day, July 25, having received news that

2
Russia was likely to make alarming moves, Sir Edward telegraphed
his proposal of mediation to Buchanan in St. Petersburg and %o
Bertie in Paris,and discussed the proposal with Beckendorff in
4
London. It is of interest to note the attitude of the Powers
to this proposal. Germany quite approved the plan at this
5 ‘ .
date. ' The proposal was one of mediation, it must be pointed
out, between Austria and Russia - there was no question of
intervening between Austria and Serbia, and Germany‘was thus
quite satisfied. But Russia and France took a definitely
negative attitude. Beckendorff objected to it, being "very

apprehensive that what (Grey) had said would give Germany the

l. Grey to Rumbold, July 24, 1914, B.D., XI, No.99, p.78.

2. Buchanan to Grey, July 25, 1914, ibid., No.1l0l, pp.80-81.
é. Grey to Buchanan, July 25, 1914, ibid., No.ll2, pp.86-87.
4. Grey to Buchanan, July 25, ~.. IbidL,, No.132, pp.97-98. '

5. Li;ggowsky to Grey, July 26, 1914, ibid., No.145,(postscript)
D. o ‘ .
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_ 1
impression that France and England were detached from Russia."

Cambon, likewise, was opposed to mediating between Austria

and Russia, as he had earlier represented to Grey,sinée he
favoured mediation between Austria and Serbia.2 'He was absent
from London on the twenty-fifth and twenty-sixth, and the known
documents record no further attempt on the part of the French
Government to exert any influence at this time upon London.
The reply of the French Govefnment to the proposal, which had
been sent to Paris on the twenty-fifth,zwas handed to Sir
Francis Bertie only on:the twenty-seventh,4along with & reply
to a later proposal of G;ey for a_conference.5 While the
French Ministry for Foreign Affairs expressed itself in favowr
of common action toward Austria and Russia on the part of the
Powers, the view was expressed that "it would be dangerous for
Entente Ambassadors to speak at Vienna until it is known that
the Germans have done so with some success.“6

Meanwhile a proposal Grey had made on the twenty-fourth

that Vienna extend the time=limit of the ultimatum had met with

1. Grey to Buchanan, July 25, B.D., XI,No.l32, p.97. It
should be noted that this dispatch was omitted from the
British Blue Book of 1914, ibid., p.98 (note).

3- Cfo Supra. 244, :

3. D.D.F. 3% sdrie, XI, No.48, p.49. It was not delivered
until ll o'clock July 26. .

4. Ibid., No.l64, p. .135.

5. Thés was the proposal made on July 86 ibid., No.107,

- P.91.
6. Bertie to Grey, July 27, 1914, B.D., XI, No.1l83, p.l2a7.
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no success. He had requested the German Ambassador to
communicate this proposal to Berlin where it arrived at ten
o'clock on the morning of the.twentyffifth.l The German
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs did net reply until
the early afternoon,when he geve a negative reply to the
proposal in which he said, "as‘the ultimatum expires.today,
and Count Berchtold, according to newspaper reports, is at
Ischl, I believe that a prolongation of the time 1imit will
no longer be possible,"z it is now evident that von Jagow did
not communicate this suggestion -to Vienna until four o'clock
that afterhoen, only two hours before the time limit was to
expire, and in hlS communication at that late hour, he 1nd1cated.
that he had already made a reply to the British. It is
difficult to believe that this action was the result of mere
chance.

Grey's first peace proposals had thus failed of the
results desired, but he was nevertheless still unprepared to
align his Government definitely with either of the two diplo-
matic groups, in spite of the views expressed by his subordinates,
Sir Eyre Crowe and Sir Arthur Nicolson, who felt strongly that

a declaration of British solidarity with France and Russia was

l. Rumbold to Grey, July 25,1914, ibid., No.lzz p 91.
Renouvin, says one o'clock op. cit., 91. .

2. Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to Lichnowsky,
KeD.; N0:l64,p.190; Rumbold to Grey, July 25,1914, B.D.,
‘op. cit.,XI, No.lzz p.91. '

3. Jagow to Ambassador at Vienna, July 25, 1914, K.D., No.l71;
P.1956: Renouvin, op. cit.:; 91-92; Schmltt , B E. The Coming
of the War, {(New York, 1950) I, 621-22. ‘
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the only effective means of preventing war. The Foreign

Minister conﬁinuéd still to work for mediation.

Sir Edward could feel_that on the twenty-fifth war
was probable, but not entirely certain. However, by the late
evening news of ominous events began to reach Lohdon; Austria
had broken off diplomatic relations with Serbia.z From St.-
Petersbu:g came news that Ruésia was ready to mobilize
.i,IO0,000 men, that "necessary preliminary preparétions would
be begun at once,"™ and that “secure of support of France,

Russia will face all the risks of war."3 With this menacing
news,Buchanan,appealed for British support for Russia; ﬁfor
ourselves position is a most perilous one, and we sha ll have

to choose between giving Russié our active support or renouncing
her friendship. If we fail her now we cannot hope to maintain
that friendly cooperation withiher in Asie that is of éuch
importance to us."4 Still more ominous was the news received
the following morning; from Vienna came word from the Ambassador,
"war is thought to Dbe imininenf.“5 ~Alarming notes came also

from Norway; according to Norweglan papers the German fleet

had "received orders to concentrate during last night at

1. Minutes by Crowe and Nicolson, July 24, 1914, to No.lOl,
BQD-', XI, pp.81‘82- . »
2. Crackanthorpe to Grey, July 25,1914, ibid., No.1l3l, p.97.
2. Bgehanan to Grey, July 25,1914, ibid:; No.l25, p.94.
] I id.. : ‘ . :
5. De Bunsen to Grey, July 25,1914, ibid., No.l35, p.99;
received 8 A.M., July 26.
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predetermined point off the Norwegian coast," and the Kaiser
had given up his northern cruise to return to Kiel.

It was at this point in the crisis that the First
Sea Tord of the Admiralty, with the approval of Mr. Churchill,
who, though he had gone to the seaside, was in constant touch
with the Admiralty, decided that the situation jﬁstified holding
together at Portsmouth the British fleet which was zbout to

3 :

disperse after manoeuvres. Mr. Churchill returned to London.
on the evening of the twenty-sixth to inform Grey of this
precautionary measure. He writes:

Grey viewed the situation gravely. He sald there
was a great deal yet to be done before a really dangerous
crisis was reached, but that he did not at all like the
way in which this business had begun. I asked whether
it would be helpful or the reverse if we stated in publiec
that we were keeping the Fleet together. Both he and
Tyrrell (Grey's secretary) were most insistent that we
should proeclaim it at the earliest possible moment; it
might have the effect of sobering the Centdal Powers

- and steadying Burope.
Accordingly, Mr. Churchill sent the press a notice of the step
| 4
taken which appeared in the papers on Monday, July 27.
On this same date, while the Admiralty was thus

preparing for any eventuality, the Foreign Office also took a
definite step in a further endeavour to preserve the peace. It
should be noted that while Beckendorff, the Russian Ambassador,

had frowned upon Grey's earlier suggestion of "mediation &

l. Findlay to Grey, July 26, 1914, B.D,.XI, No.137, p.1l00.
2. Findlay to Grey, July 26, 1914, ibid.; No.1l38, p.100.
é. Churchill, op. cit., 209.

4. Ibia., 210.
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quatre," his chief,Sazonov, in the Russian Foreign Office,:
had expressed himself in favour of such a proposal to Buchanan
on July 25. "Were Serbia to appeal to the Powers," he stated,

"Russia would be quite ready to stand aside and leave the
‘ 1

question in the hands of England, France, Italy and Germeany."
‘Noting this suggestion, Sir Arthur Nicolson, in charge of the
Foreign Office. in the absence of Sir Edward,who had gone %o
‘the country, wrbte to his superior:

I think that the only hope of avoiding a general
conflict would be for us to take advantage at once of
the suggestion thrown out by Sazonov in the second
paragraph of Buchanan's telegram No.1l69,  (2) which you
will receive this morning, and that you should telegraph
to Berlin, Paris, Rome, asking that they shall suthorize
their Ambassadors here to join you in a Conference to
endeavour to find an’issue:to prevent complications and
that abstention on all sides from active military
operations should be requested of Vienna, Serbia, and
St. Petersburg pending results of Conference. (3)

' 4

Grey at once telegraphed his approval, and the proposal
for a Conference of Ambassadors in London was communicated that
afternoon to the British representatives in Paris? gome and -

- Berlin. It was repeated also to the representatives in St.

Petersburg, Nish and Vienna, with instructions to endeavour to

prevent active military operations pending the results of the

‘l. Buchanan to Grey, July 25, B.D., op. cit., XI, No.l35, p.93.
Dg Fleuriau to Bienvenu-Martin, July 27, 1914, D.D.F.,
3° sdrie, XI, No.115, p.99.
2. Supra. -
3. Nicolson to Grey, July 26, B.D., op. cit., XI, No.l39
(a) p.100.
4. Ibid., No.139, (b), p.100.’
- 5. Note de l'ambassade de Grande Bretagne, D.D:F., 3° série,
XI, No.l07, pp.91-92. :
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1
Conference.

This proposal most assuredly marks an undeniable
change in ﬁhe mind Qf Sir Edward Grey. His mediation proposal
of two days before called for mediation between Austria and
Russia. Though the draft of the new proposa; sentvout on the
twenty-éixth did not expressly state the faet, it could only
mean intervention between Austria and Serbia in order to prevent
Austria from invading Serbian territory.2 The main points in
the Serbian reply were now known in London,and the intransigency
of Austria was clearly revealed. The rupture of diplomatic
relations might at any moment lead to war an@ Russian intervent-
ion was imminent. The Austro-Serbian_conflict had to be settled
by immediate intervention, and the local crisis.there prevented
from spreading. The general situatiqn had become much more
serious since July 24, and with the crisis taking on such a
menacing'aspect an altogether new policy was needed. The
Conference plan was felt to answer this need. With what success
did the proposal meet?

Italy gave unqualified approval the same day.5 The
French Government accepted on the twenty-seventh, although the

view was expressed that there could be little hope of success

unless the German Government was disposed to place restraing

l. B.D., op. cit., XI, No.140, p.1l0l.
&. Renouvin, op. cit., 107; Fay, op. cit., II, 383;
- Schmitt, op. eit., II, 46. ‘
3. Rodd to Grey, July 26, 1914, B.D., op. cit., XI, No.lb54,
P 0107 .
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1
on the policy of Austria. The reply of Sazonov was also

favourable, though he stated that he would prefer direct

conversations with Vienna. If these, however, could got be

reallized he was ready to accept the British proposal.‘ ~Gérmany,
however, answered with anvabsolute refusal. Lichnowsky in
London personally favoured the plan,sbut Bethmann telegraphed
to him on July 27, "We could not take part in such a conference,
as we should nqt be able to summon Austriawbefore a Buropean
court of justice in her case with Serbia."4 To thé ambassador
in Paris he wired, "We must hold fast to the contention that

" the Austro-Serbian conflict concerns those two nations alone.
Therefore we cannot mediate in the conflict between Austria
and Serbia but possibly between Austria and Russia."5 Jagow's
answer given to Sir Edward Goschen in Berlin was in a similar
veins "Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs says'that the
conference you suggest would practically amount to a court of

arbitration and eould not in his opinion, be galled together

except at the request of Austria and Russia,"A As Mr. Fay:

l. Bienvenu-Martin to de Fleuriau; July 27,1914, D.DF., 3°

séris XI, No.123, pp.107-108; Bertie to Grey, July 27,
B%D.XI,No.183, p.127.

2. Buchanan to Grey, July 27, 1914, B.D., op. cit., XI, No.198,

p.139. Communication by the Russian Ambassador, July &8,
ibid., No.206, p.l423. '

3. Lichnowsky to Foreign Offiece, July 26,1914, K.D., No.238,
pp.230-31; also No.258, No.265, No.266. '

4. Bethmann to Lichnowsky, ibid., No.248, p.237.

5. Bethmann to Ambassador in Paris, July 27, K.D., H0.247,p.237.

6. Goschen to Grey, July 27, 1914, B.D.; XI, No.l85, p.l28.
J. Cambon to Bienvenu-Martin, July 27, 1914, D.DF., 3°
série, XI, No.148, pp.123-24.
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points out, there may have been good reasons for Germany's
oppogition to the holding of the conference, but her absolute
rejection of the proposal was nothing short of a grave blunde_r.1
The suspicion was now strengthened among the Entente Powers
that Germany was not sincere in her protestations that she
wished peace, and they were led to doubt thé good faith of
Germany's later desperate efforts to avert the catastrophe.

The suspiclion was steadily growing in the Bfitish
Foreign Office that Germany was determined to stay with
Austria whatever happened; and that the issue of peace or war
now depended on what action Germany might take.z "So far as |
we know,™ wrote Crowe on the dispatch which brought notice of
Germany's refusal to teke part in the Conference, "the German
Government has up to now sald not a single word.at Vienna in
the direction of restraint or moderation.... The inference is
not reassuring as to Germany's goodwill."5 And Sir Arthur
Nicolson complained bitterly to Buchanan,,"Lichnowsky>says he
is so pleased that Anglo-German cooperation seems likely to
be suceessful. His interpretatién of the word "™cooperation"
must be totally different from that which is usually accepted."4

Grey's own feelings of pessimism at this stage of

the crisis are recorded in his Memoirs. The &€ffect of the

l. Pay, op. cit., II, 385-86.

2. Minute to No.1l74 by-Nicolson, July 27,1914, B.D., XI,
P.123; Minute to No.l175 by Crowe, July 27, ibid., p.1l24.

d. Minute by Crowe to No.185 July 28, 1914, ibid., p.129.

4. Nicolson %o Buchanan, (private) July 28, 1914, B.D., XI,
No.239, p.157.
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German reply, he states, was "not only depressing® but "exasp-
erating.™ He felt "angry" wifh Bethmann-Hollweg énd von Jagow.
"I rememBer well the impuise to say that, as Germany forbade

a conference, I could do no more, and that it was on Germany
that the responsibility must rest if war came .? But this
impulse was set aside. ™"To have.acted on it,™ he says, "would

have been to give up hopes of peace and to make it the object

of diplomatic action to throw the blame for war on Germany in

advance. That would mean not only ceasing to work for peace,

but making war certain.® He was, therefore, "still ready to

- cooperate in any other way for peace that von Bethmann-Hollweg

. 1
could devise and preferred."”

_ Sir Edward was still at this late date unable to
take a definite étand in the erisis. His personal view was
that British policy should be tied to‘that of France, not
because of any existing committments necessarily, but rather
from the point of view of British intergsts.z The other
members of‘the Fdreign Office agreed with him, feeling that war
was inevitable and that Britain could not afford to stand
aside.5 But 1f the Foreign 0ffice was decided as to what
course should be taken, the Cabinet was not. The crisis had

A 4
first been brought to its attention on July 24, but after the

l. Grey, op.-cit., I, 321-22.
2. Ibid., 336-37. .
d. Minute by Crowe, July 87, 1914, to No.l70, B.D., XI,.
pp.120-21; Nicolson to Buchanan July 28, 1914, ibid.,
- No.239, (private) Pp.156-57.
'Supra.252.

gwb
»
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twenty-seventh it was discussed at length daily. "Every day,"
records Churchill, "there were long cabinets from eleven .

1 - .
onwards." Though the Foreign Minister sought to secure from
his colléagues a clear line of action, he found this impossible.
On July 27 he communicated to them Buchanan's telegram of
July 24 which indicated that Russia and France were prepared
"to make a strong stand,™ and which carried an appeal from
Sazogov for a promise of British solidarity with them: Grey
then clearly stated his own view:

The time had come when the Cabinet was bound to make
up its mind plainly whether we were to take an active
part with the other two Powers of the Entente, or to
stand aside in the general Buropean question, and preserve
an absolute neutrality. '

We could no longer defer decision. Things were moving
very rapidly. We could no longer wait on aceident and
postpone. If the Cabinet was for neutrality, he did not
think he was the man to carry out such a policy. (2)

This placed the Cabinet face to face with the situation: But
no decision was ﬁaken, divided as the members were in their
views. "We rambled,™ says Lord Morley, "as even the best
Cabinets are apt to do...: I could not, on the instant; gather
: - 3
with any certainty in which direction opinion was inelining:"
War had not yet broken out, and there was still hope that it>
might be averted. The result - Grey could only cast about for
a possible plan of preventing war from starting on the continent.
Churchill, meanwhile, was determined not o allow

the diplomatic situation to develop dangerously before the

l. Churchill, op.: cit.:,; 2l2.

2. Morley, Viscount John, Memorandum on Resignation,
(London), (1928), 1-2.

é. Ibid., 2.
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British Fleet was prepared for action, and he wished to‘be
sure that the Grand Fleet would be in its War Station beforé
war came. It has been shown that some"preparatory measures
were taken on Julx 27. That same night a secret telegram was
sent to all foreign stations stating that war was "by no means
impossible," and that preparations should be made to shadow
"possible hostile men of war" of the Cehtral‘Powers. on July
28 orders were givenbthat the éh;ps were to complete full
‘ecrews and teke all precautions against surprise. At five P.M.
‘the First Fleet, staﬁioned at Portland, was ordered to proceed
during the night at‘high speed and_with_lights out through the
Straits of Dover to Scapa Flow, its fighting base. This order
was not brought before the Cabinet; Mr. Churchill had-informed
only Mr. Asquith, who at once gave his approval. Mr. Churchill»
says in regard to these moves, "We were now in a position, |
whétever happened, to control e#ents."%
Sir Edward Grey, now that his Conference proposal
had been rejected by Germany, decided before making another
move to await the outcome of ﬁhe direct negotiations, which
had begun betwéen Austria and Russia.z These negotiations,v
however, in which the Russians hoped the Sefbian rebly might

serve as a basis for discussion, came to nothing owing to the

1. Churchill, op. cit., 226. '

8. Grey to Goschen, July 28, 1914, B.D., op. cit., XI,
No.223, p.150. The credit for the starting of these
negotiations wag due largely to the German Ambassador
in St. Petersburg, Count Pourtales. Buchanan to Grey,
July 29, 1914, ibid., No.271, p.l75.
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uncompromising attitude of Berchtold. M™No one in Austria,
he wrote, "could understand or approve negotiations bearing
on the terms of the Serbian reply, at the very moment when we
have declared it to be unacceptable." He clinched this
rejection with a final argument, "It would be still less
possible now, because of the way in which feeling has been
rising both in Austria and in Hungary, and, furthermore, war,
has actually been declared today upon Serbia."? Grey had
supported this plan of conversations between Russia and
Austria, seeing in them a prospect of peace, but that prospect
was thwarted by Austria's refusal to consent to any modification
of her demands, and by a declaration of war to forestall any
kind of mediation which might prevent her action against Serbia.
This decisién on the part of Berchtold to prevent
further measures of conciliation by means of a "fait accompli™®
had thus brought to nought yet another df Grey's endeavours to
find a solution to the crisis. The previous day, July 27,
while he had been at the time unaware of how Berlin had reacted
to his proposal of a Conference, he had received the full
text of Serbia's reply to the Serbian note. He felt that
"Serbia had agreed to the Austrian demands to an extent he
would never have believed possible." Sir Eyre Crowe wrote in
a minute that "the answer is reasonable. If Austria demands
gbsolute compliance with her ultimatum it can only mean that

_ 2 )
ghe wants war.™ The Kaiser expressed a somewhat similar

l. De Bunsen to Grey, July 28, 1914, B.D., XI, No.248, p.l163.
&. Minute by Crowe, July 28, 1914 to No.l71, ibid., X1, p.121.
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sentiment when he said, "With it every reason for war drops
away;"1 Should Austria reject the answer as a foundation for
negotiations, or ocecupy Belgrade, said Grey to. Lichnowsky,
"Russia could not regard such action with equanimity, and would
have to regard it as a direction challenge. The result would
be the most frightful war BEurope had ever seen." Communicating
these views to the German ambassador, Grey urged.Germany to

use her influence %to have Vienna accept the Serbian reply

elther as satisfactory or as the basis for a conference for

2
peaceful negotiations. Lichnowsky added in his report:

I found the Minister irritated for the first time.
He spoke with great seriousness and seemed absolutely
to expect that we should successfully make use of our
influence to settle the matter ... I am convinced that
in case it should come to war after all, we should no
longer be able to count on British sympathy or British
support, as every evidence of ill-will would be seen
in Austria's procedure. Also, everybody here is
convinced.... that the key to the situation is to be
found in Berlin.: (3)

The way in which the situation had developed by
July 27, and this report of Lichnowsky's, along with equally
alarming telegrams from St. Petersburg and Rome, somewhat
shook the confidence of Bethmann in the wisdom of the poliecy
his Government had hitherto pursued. He decided now to accede
to Grey's request, "to press the button® for peace, and to

accept for the first time the rfle of mediator. He telegraphed

1. Note by the Kaiser, July 27,1914, K.D., No.271, p.254;
Also his letter to the Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs, July 28,1914, No.293, p.273.

2. Grey to Goschen, July 27,1914, B.D.,XI, No.l76, p.1l24.
Lichnowsky to the German Foreign Office, July 27, 1914,
K.D., No.138, pp.243-44.

4. K.D., No.138, p.244.
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Lichnowsky's warning telegram to his ambassador at Vienna,
with the British proposal that the Serblan answer be accep ted
as a basis for settlement. He pointed out that-it would be
impossible to reject this new suggestion on the part of Britain.
"By refusing every proposition for mediation, we should be
held responsible for the conflagration by the whole world, and
be set forth as the original instigators of the war.t At
the same time he notified Lichnowsky in London, "We have at
once inaugurated a move for mediation at Vienna along the
lines desired fy Sir Edward Grey."2

Doubt has been expressed as to the sincerity of the
German.Chancellor in thus accepting his new r8le of mediator.
That he should éonsent at all to counsel moderation at Viénna
was & significant change in German policy, and a reversal in
attitude. It is pointéd out in questioning his sincerity that
while he did submit the British proposal for consideration
at Vienna,he did not urge its adoption, although he.knew at
the time that Berchtold was going to declare war on Serbia
the next morning, for a telegram giving this information had
‘reached Berlin on July 27 at 4:30 P.M. The essential fact
in the British probosal was that there shoﬁld be no military

action taken whatsoever, yet Bethmann made no effort, other

than the mere sending of the proposal, t¢ restrain Austrian

1. Bethmann to Ambassador at Vienna, July 27, 1914, K.D.,
No.277, pp.255-56.

2. Bethmann to Lichnowsky, July 27,1914, ibid.,No.278, p.257.
4. Ibid., No.257, p.243. "They have decided to send out the
declaration of war tomorrow, or the day after tomorrow,
at the latest, chiefly to frustrate any attempt at inter-

-vention." Bethmann did not send his dispateh to Vienna
until 11:50 P.Me.
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action. It is further charged that he merely wanted to give
, 1
some tangible evidence of pacific intentions to Britain.
There are students of the crisis, however, who credit the .
5"
Chancellor with sincerity and good faith.
Whatever were the motives behind the change of
policy, it was barren of good results. Berchtold had earlier
won from the Emperor permission to declare war. When Tschirschky
presented Bethmann's communication, the Foreign Minister,
according to the report of the ambassador,
thanks your Excellency most kindly for the communication
of the English mediation proposal and will very soon
forward a reply to the Imperial Government. The
Minister states now, however, that since the opening
of hostilities on the part of Serbia (3) and the ensuing
declaration of war, he thinks that BEngland's move was
made too late. (4)
On July 29 Austria drew up a definite refusal. ™"To her great
regret™ the British suggestion could not be accepted since
5
"the Serbian reply had been superceded already by other events.®
Thus, by July 29 the situation had assumed a most
menacing aspect. Austria-Hungary had declared war; Berchtold

had refused negotiations with Russia; and M. Sazonov, when the

l. Renouvin, op. cit., 124-25. Nicolson wrote to Buchanan
July 28, 1914. "She (Germany) contented herself with
simply passmng on our proposal as our proposal, which of
course was not what we desired or requested." B.D.,
N00239 ’ p-l57.

2. Mr. Fay is of this opinion; op. eit., II, 416.

5. It was said in Vienna that Serbian troops had flred
first on Austrian outposts.

4. Ambassador at Vienna to German Foreign Office, July &8,
1914, K.D., No.313, p.283.

5. Ibid., No.400, p. 548.



-261~-

declaration>of war became known, abandoned his previously

conciliatory manner. With regard to Austrian assurances 8

propos of Serbia's independence and integrity, the Russian

minister had declared that no engagemehts that Austria might

take on these two points would satisfy Russia, and thatkqn

the day Austria crossed the Serbian frontier the order for

1

mobillization against Austria would be issued. A Buropean

war seemed almost inevitable. ™What is the use of exchanging

views at this Jjuncture," asked Sir Arthur Nicolson, on July 29,

"I am of oplnion that the resources of diplomacy are, for the

2

present, exhausted.™ He agreed with a suggestion made by Sir

Eyre Crowe that "™We should not, in present circumstances, issue

the otherwise usual declaration of neutrality" between Austria
. 3 .

gnd Serbia.

Sir Edward Grey was impelled now to a firmer poliey

than that of the days preceding; he decided to give Germany

a more definite warning as both Russia and France had been

urging. But he was most careful to point out to Cambon in

London, to whom he explained what he intended to say to

Lichnowsky, that his warning to Germany would not mean that

' England had as yet decided what policy she would follow in the

event of Germany and France being involved in war. England was

®free from engagements,™ he pointed out, and would have to

1. Buchanan to Grey, July 28,1914, B.D.,XI,N0.247, p.162.
2. Nicolson, in a minute, July 29,1914, to No.252,B.D. XI,p.l166.
8. Minutes, July 29,1914, to No.250, ibid., p.165.
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_ : 1
decide what British interests required.®

News had arrived in the British Foreign Office that
Russia had decided to mobilize four southern districts, ahd
that she felt "mediation by the Cabinet of London with a view
to stopping military operations against Serbia was a matter
of extreme urgency." Russia had quite evidently not waited
for Austrian troops to enter Serbia. Grey now told Lichndwsky
of the Russian decision and of-the reqﬁest for mediation;

Accordingly he suggested a new peace propbsal - that it might

" be

a suitable basis for mediation, if Austria, after
occupying Belgrade for example, or other places; should
announce her conditions. Should your Excellency
(Bethmann), however, undertake mediation..:s this would
of course.sult him (Grey) equally well. But mediation
seemed now to him to be urgently necessary, if a European
catastrophe were not to result. (3)

.This new suggestion of the British Foreign Minister
was almost identical with the "halt in Belgrade" proposal |
which the German Chanéellor had already récommended to Vienna
on July-ZS,/although at this tiﬁe London was quite unaware of
the Berlin suggéstion.4 Grey then went on to give Liqhnowsky

in a “friendly and private communication" a warning that as

l. Grey to Bertie, July 29, B.D.XI, No.283, p.180; Cambon -
to Viviani, July 29, 1914, D.D.F:, 3° série,XI, No.266,
p.220, and.No 281, pp 228-29.

2. Beckendorff to Nicolson July 29,1914, B.D., XI,No.258,p. 168.

. Lichnowsky to German Foreign Offlce July 29, 1914 K:D.,
No:368, p«321l: Grey to Goschen July 29, 1914 B.D., XI
No.285, p.l82.

4. Fay, op. eit., II, 424-253 Renouvin, op. cit.; 1289-30.
Schmitt, op. eit., II, 155. ‘



-265-

long as the conflict remained confined to Austria and Russia,

England could stand aside, but if Germany and France should

be involved, the situation would be immediately aitered, and

the British Government would in that event be forced to rapid
' 1 -

decisions. He expressed the hope that the friendly tone of

Anglo-German conversations would continue, but
if we failed in our efforts to keep the peace, and if
the issue spread so that it involved practically every
European interest, I did not wish to be open to any
reproach from him that the friendly tone of all our
conversations had misled him or his Government into
supposing that we should not take action, and to the
reproach that, if they had not been so misled, the
course of things might have been different. (2)

This pronouncement on the part of Grey of British
policy surely marks a new stage in its evolution. He was
warning Germany now that the possibility of British participation
in a European war, should such a war arise from the crisis,
and particularly should France be involved, must not be set
aside. A more frank avowal of the Bri tish position at that
time could hardly have been possible; and it is difficult in
view of this exposition to see how Sir Edward's critics can
maintain that he was guilty of not letting Germany know Just
where Britain stood in the crisis. The last sentence of'the

quotation glven above rather strikingly santicipates the charges

of many of his most bitter critics in the post-war years.

1. Lichnowsky to German Foreign 0ffice, July 29, 1914, -
K.D., No.368, pp.321-22. Grey to Goschen, July 29, 1914,
B.D., XI, No.286, pp.182-83.

2. Grey to Goschen, ibid., pp.182-83.
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While the Cabinet had not even at this late date,
July 29, beén able to come to any deéisfon on British policy,
further steps of preparedness were taken by the naval and
military departments of the government, which, had they been
known, would have convinced Germany that British intervention
was a factor which might possibly have to be reckoned with in
s Buropean conflict. On the afternoon of July 29, a tv'wa'Lrning
telegram" was sent from the Admiralty to the ships of the navy
‘throughout the world, and "precautionary measures” arranged by
the General Staff "to0 meet an immediate prospect of war™ were
put into force by the Army.1 |

The "pledge plén,“ or the idea ofl"a halt in Belgrade,"
which had originated in Berlin and which was endorsed by
London, was the basis of the diplomatic negotiations in Berlin
and in Vienna after July 28. 1In spite of urging on the part
of Bethmann, who had by now made an almost complete "reversal

- 2
of poliey" to restrain his ally,

Berchtold would not heaf of
any concession. He evaded giving an answer until the thirty-
first, and then he answered in the negative. It would be
Impossible to discdntinue_hostilities against Serbia, he claimed,

ard négotiation with the other Powers would be possible only

1. Churchill, op. cit., 220.

2. On July 29 the Chancellor sent three telegrams to Vienna
urging the "helt in Belgrade" proposal be accepted: 1In
" the third he directed the Ambassador to inform Berchtold
"with all impressiveness and great seriousness"™ that he
refused to allow Germany "to be drawn wantonly into a
world conflagration by Vienna, without having any regard
paid to our coynsel."™ X.D., N0.396, pp.345-46.
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after Russia had countermanded her mobilization. This attitude
of the Austrian Government did:not conform in any way with the
proposals made. The stubboraness of Berchtold and the intran-
sigence of the Austrian Government were primary and fundamental
factors overshadowing all else during these daysQ But if
prospects of peace were shattered by the Austrian answer on

July 31, they were made finally impossible when news of Russia's
mobllization reached Berlin on that day. Control then passed
into the hands of. the military leaders,and the diplomats were
quickly pushed into the background. |

it is of exceeding lmportance that attention be
directed at this point to the events which had transpired in
St. Petersburg following the Sarajevo murders,and which had
led up the Russian decision to mobilize. Was that decision
encouraged by_assurances of support from Paris and London?

To what extent can the other two partners in the Entente be
"held responsible for the fateful step? 1In how far did French
and Russian policy coincide with each other and with the efforts
which Sir Edward Grey exerted to preserve peace? Had Pafis or
London given their approval in advance to the Russian action,
assuring the Czarist Government of their support?

The first reaction in Russia, especially in those
cireles in which the monarchical principle was strong, was one’
of horror at the cerime and sympathy with the House of Hapsburg.
"The éssassination at Sarajevo," reported the German Ambassador
at the Czar's Court on July 13, "has it seems, made a deep

impression here also, and condemnation of the shameless deed
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1
~ was expressed far and wide at the earliest moment." But in

the days following, in the wide circles of the Pan-Slav party
Russian nationelism resented the possibilities of Austrian
action égainst Serbia, and in this set, where Russia was held
to be the natural and traditional protector of the Balkan
Slavs, lack of sympathy for the Austrian Government became
gquickly noticeable. Anti-Austrian feeling early found cause
for complaint against the Dual Monarchy in the anti-Serbian
demonstrations and riots that followed the assassinations.

The Germén Ambassador became gravely impressed during July
with the bitterness of this feeling against Austria. "The
deep hatred of Austria-Hungary that is felt here," he wrofe,
"very soon began to assert itself, even during this sad event,
and the indignation at the revenge exercised against the Serbs
in the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy superseded within a few days
,all.expressions'of sympathy for the aged Emperor Francis
Joseph and his realm." Grey, in London, was well aware of the
danger inherent in this situation, and warned the Austrian
Ambassador, Count Mensdorff, against any acﬁion on the part
of his Government which might inflame feeling in Russia? As
early as July 6 M. Sazonov had warned the Austrian attache
that Russia would oppose any violence on the part of Austris
against Serbia. On July 21 Pourtales reported; "Russia would

not be able to permit Austria-Hungary to make any threats

l. The Ambassador at St. Petersburgh to the Chancellor,
July 13, 1914, X.D., No.53, p.llb.

2. Ibid. ‘

4. Grey to de Bunsen, July 23,1914, B.D., XI, No.86, p.70.
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—

against Serbia or to take military measures.... 'La politique
de la Russie est pacifique, mgis.pas pass_ive.'":L |

How was this Russian policy conditioned, if at all,
by the visit of President Poincare and Prime Minister Viviani
of Frence, who arrived in St. Petersburg on July 20, for a
visit which had been planned some months before?a_‘Apparently
no official records have been preserved, if any were méde, of
the Franco-Russian conversations which took place on this
visit, for the only documents given in the Russian collection
are the toasts exchanged between Poincard and Nicholas II at
the state banquets which have long been known for some time.3
But if no official records were kept, we Go know from a variety
of sources that the visit revealed the closest relations
existed between the two Governments, and that on‘numeréus occas-
ions at varlous functions the leaders gave repeated expressions
of their governments'.mutual friendliness. The three days
visit was "more than a round of ceremonial banquets and |

undoubtédly strengthened the bonds of the Franco-Russian
4 v

Alliasnce."

l. The Ambassador at St. Petersburgh to the Chancellor,
July 21, 1914, X.D., No.1l20, p.l62. .

2. M. V1v1ani Was also Mlnlster of Foreign Affairs. The
absence of Poincard and Viviani from Paris in these days
as the crisis developed made the situation much more
difficult for the French Govermmen t.

d. Schmitt, B.E., Russia znd the Wear, reprinted from
Foreign Affalrs October, 1934, 17.

4, Soward, F. H., The Outbreak of the World War, off print
from Queen 8 Quarterly, 1929, 10.
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On the afternoon of July 21, when meeting with the
Diplomatie Corps, Poincareé spoke in' friendly manner to all
except the Austrian ambassador. The latter he questioned on
Austrian intentions in Serbia, warning him that

_With a little good will, this Serbian affair is eafdy
to settle. But it is easy also for it to become envenomed.
Serbia has very warm friends in the Russian people. And
Russia has an ally, France. What complications are to be
feared there. (1) :

He remarked later to Paldologue on this conversation, "that
interview has left an unfavourable impression. Szarpary, (the
Austrian ambassador) was undoubtedly concealing some thing.

Austria is preparing some sudden stroke. Sazonov must be firm
. 2 :
and we must support him."

A more definite step in the line of cooperation was
taken on the morning of July 25, when Sazonov dispatched to
his representative in Vienna a warning telegram:

According to rumours which we have heard, the Austrian
Government appears to be on the point of making certain
demands at Belgrade with regard to the event at Sarajevo.
Draw the attention of the Minister for Foreign Affairs in
a friendly but energetic way to the dangerous consequences
of such action, in case this action is incompatible with
the dignity of Serbia. From my conversation with the
French Minister for Foreign Affairs, 1t seems that France
is also following with great 1nterest the relations between
Austria and Serbia, and is not disposed to tolerate any(3)
humiliation which is not Jjustified by the eircumstances.

1: Paléologue M., La Russie des Tsars Pendant la Grande
Guerre, (Paris 1921), I, 10.

2. Ibid., 10. ’

d. Cited in Renouvin, op. cit., 82-83. The telegram is

-~ dated July 22 and Renouvin accepts this date. Mr. Fay
explains this error, Fay op. cit., II, 284, footnote.
It did not reach Vienna until 3 P.M: on July 23. Even
then the Ambassador did not see the Foreign Minister
until the morning of July 24. Renouvin, op. cit., 82,
footnote.
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Poincaré had approved this warning, and the French Ambassador-'
also was instructed to give counsels of moderation at Vienna..:L

The British Foreign 0ffice, however, saw danger in
a velled threat of this kind. Sir Eyre Crowe noted, "Any such
communication at Vienna would be likely to produce intense
irritation, without any beneficial other effect.™ Nicolson
was afraid it was not a Mjudicious™ move, while Grey decided
to postpone action in this regard until the next day.z

This Franco-Russian warning came to nothing, however,
for before it could be acted upon by the representatives in
Vienna the Austrian ultimatum had been presented to Belgrade,
at 6 P.M., on July 23rd.

The sending of the ultimatum had been so timed that
Poincerd and Viviani, who were scheduled to leave St. Petersburg
on the evening of July 23, would be at sea when news of the
delivery of the note arrived at the Russian capital.3 Thus it
was that the final festivities of the President's visit took
place in ignorance of the fact that Austria had presented her
demands at Belgrade,and that the Franco-Russian step to prevent
-such a measure was to prove futile. The visit came to an end

with the President and Czar exchanging warm words of the high

regard in which each held the other's Goverhment, and by

1. Buchanan to Grey, July 23, 1914, B.D., XI, No.84, p.69.
Viviani to Bienvenu-Martin, July 24,1914, D.D.F., 3©
Série, XI, NO.l, polo

2. Minutes to Buchanan's telegram to Grey, July 23,1914,B.D.XI.
No.84, p.69. De Bunsen to Grey, July 23,1914, ibid.,
No.90, p.73.

é. Wolff, op. eit., 53b.
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expressions of mutuel cordiality which placed a seal on the
1
Franco-Russlan Accord.

There can be no doubt that the visit did have a
marked effect on Russian policy in the days which followed.
According to Buchanan, who refers to statements made to him
by Seazonov and Paldologue, agreement had been arrived at on
the following points:

1. Perfect community of views on the various problems
with which the Powers are confronted as regards the
maintenance of general peace and balance of power in
Europe, more especially in the East.

2. Decision to take action at Vienna with a view to the
prevention of a demand for explanations or any summons
equivalent to an intervention in the internal affairs
of Serbia which the latter would be justified in regard-
ing as an attack on her sovereignty and independence.

3. Solemn affirmation of obligations imposed by the
alliance of the two.countries.

It would seem as if the Russian Government had thus
obtained at the very outset of the crisis, and before either
knew of the Austrian ultimatum, assurance that the Fréncﬁ could
be depended upon to live up to the terms of the alliance. And
we know for a fact that the war party in Russia, headed by the
Grand Dukes, was to a great extenf encéuraged. The wife 6f one
of the Grand Dukes said to Paldologue at a state dinner on
July 22 "War is going to break out. Nothing will be left of

Austria. You will get back Alsace~Lorrainse. -Our armies will

1. Paléologue, La Russie des Tsars, I, 19-21.
S Buchanan to Grey, July 24,1914, B D., XI, No.l0l, p.80.

Pal€ologue to Blenvenu-Martln July 24 1914 D.D.F. 3°
série, XI, No.l19, p.18.
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' 1

meet in Berlin. Germany will be annihilated.™
Whatever might be the assurancesof French support
given to Russia on this!visit, these were confirmed again and
again as the crisis developed. On July 25, according to
Buchanan, Paldologue stated to Sazanov that "he was in a posit-
ion to give his Excellency (Sazonov) assurance that France
2

placed herself unreservedly on Russia's side." On July 27
M. Isvolsky wrote from Parisg:

I was struck with the degree to which the Minister of
Justice and his assistants understood the whole situation
and had calmly but firmmly decided to glve us their whole-
hearted support, and to avoid the least appearance of a
divergence in point of view. (3)

On the same day M. Vivianl sent instructions to M. Paldologue
from on board the "France;"

Please tell M. Sazonov that France, appreciating as
does-Russia the great importance of the two countries
affirming their entire accord in the face of other Powers
and of neglecting no effort in the solution of the crisis,
is entirely ready to second, in the interests of the
general peace, the action of the Imperial Government.4

in carrying out these instructions the Ambassador
gave a formal promise to Sazonov that'Franee would live up to
the obligations of the alliance, but he begged the Minister to
be prudent. ™"I beg you not to take any measures on the German

front, and to be very careful on the Austrian front, as long as

Germany has not uncovered her real game. The least imprudence

1. Paldologue, La Russie des Tsars, I, 15, Fay, op.cit.,II,283.
2. Buchanan to Grey, July 25,1914,B.D., XI, No.l25, p.94.
8. Cited in Renouvin, op. cxt., 64.
4. Viviani to Paldologue, July 27, 1914, D.D.F., 3° série,
XI, No.1l38 p.ll8. Paleologue to Bienvenu-Martln July 29
1914 ibid., No.248, p.210.
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‘ ' 1
on your part would cost us the help of England.”

It is.difficult to state how much weight was atﬁached
to the note of prudence in this communication, but the Russian
Government noted with satisfaction the offer of support. On
July 29 the Russian Ambassador in Paris "was instructed to
sincerely thank the French Government for the declarsation made
in ifs name by the French Ambassador that we can count on the
entire allied support of France."2

According to Mr. Schmitf the Russian documents reveal
clearly the attitudé of French military circles in support of
their ally. On July 28 Ignatiev, Russian Military Attached in
Paris, reportéd that_the French Minister of War and the Chief
of Staff had expressed "complete and enthusiastic readiness to
fulfil truly the obligations of the alliance,™ and on Juiy 29
he stated that "everything possible had been done in France,
and the ministry is quletly waiting on évents."5

This assurance of support from the French military
leaders appears to have played an important part in the final~
decision of the Russians to carry out general mobilization.

The French Government received a communication from Isvolsky at
3 A.M. on July 30 that ch Russian Government had decided to

"gpeed up™ its armaments. M. Poincard, after interviewing

M. Messimy, Minister of War, sent instructions to Paléologue

1. Paldologue, op. cit., I, 33-34.

2. D.D.F., 3% série, XI, No.30l, p.258; Diary of the Russian
Foreign 0ffice, 50. )

d. Sehmitt, Russia and the War, loc. cit., 21.

4. Viviani to French Ambassadors, July 30,1914, D.D.F., 3°
série, No.305, p.26l1.
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and renewed the declaration that "France is resolved to fulfil
all the obligations of her alliance."l Then he went on to
caufion M. Sazonov to avoid any act which might give Germany
the opportunity for retaliatory measures:
I therefore think it would be well that, in taking any

precautionary measures of defense which Russia thinks

must go on, she should not immediately take any step

which may offer to Germany a pretext for a total or

partial mobilization of her forces. (2)
When: M. Isvolsky communicated the contents of these instructiéns
to his Government he reported at the same time, however, two
conversations, the one with M. de Margerie, Director of the
French Foreign Office, and the other with M. Messimy, Minister
of War, which when coupled with the directions of Viviani, were
"of interest, to say the least. De Margerie had told him that
the French Governmeht did not wish to interfere with Russia's
military preparations, but ‘that they "would consider it most
desirable on account of the still continuing negotiations for
the preservation of the peace, if thése preparations were carried
on in the ledst open, 1eastﬁprovoqative manner possible." M.
Messimy had told Count Ignatiev that Russia might declare that
she was "willing to slow down" for the time being her preparations,
but that she might nevertheless "continue and even ~accelerate"
these preparations, only avoiding so far as possible "the |

3
transportation of troops on & larger scale.” In a written

1, Viviani to French Ambassadors, July 30,1914, D.D.F., 3© sdrie,
No. 305, p.262.

2. Tbid., p. 262.

3. D.D.F., 3 sdrie, XI, (Note), p.262; Un Livre Noir, op.cit.,II,
290-91; Renouvin, op. cit., 206; Fabre-Luce, op.cit., 211-12.
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report of the same date, according to Mr. Schmitt, who is here
reporting on his study of the Russian documents, Ignatiev |
explained that the reservations were not to be interpreted

as a tendency on the part of France "to draw back at the last
minute," and that they "had no effect on the normal course of
Franee's<preparations for War.®" "No importance,ﬁ he reported,
was'being attached to the demonstrations against war, which
were restricted to the boulevards, and the tone bf the press
caused "general satisfaction."l

M. Renouvin does his utmost to minimize the importance
of these facts, and to emphasize'the moderating influence of
the French,abut they would seem to be undeniable facts of
French encouragement, and it is impossible to explain them away.
Counsels of moderation may have been given, but no real restraint
was éxercised, and it is plainly evident that the Russians had
every reason to feel sure that their ally would march with them.
This confidence can not be minimized as a factor in the Russian
decision tq mobilize, Jjust as it was the assurance of Germen
éupport which caused Austria to refuse all suggestions of
compromise and mediation.

To what extent did British policy at St. Petersburg
correspond with that of the French? From the Russian view
England was throughout the crisis something of an enigmé; on
July 24, in a meeting with Paldologue and Buchanmn, Sazonov

strongly urged the latter to obtain from his Government a

1. Schmitt, loc. cit., 21.
4. Renouvin, op. cit., 206-09.
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statement of its solidarity with France and Russia. He vehem-
ently critiocised Austrian policy, and told the British ambassador
of the agreement of views established by the French and Russians
during the visit of Poincaré.l To this Paldologue added that
TFrance would not only give Russia strong diplomatic support,
but would, if necessary, fulfil all the obligations imposed
on hgr by the alliance."™ It was then urged upon Buchanan that
vif England did not take sides "from the very start," she would
thus encourage the Central Powers, and make war "more probable.™
To this Buchanan answered that he could not speak for his |
Government, but promised that he would telegraph to London all
‘that had been said. But he held out little hope for a British-
declaration of solidarity with France and Russia, stating that
"we had no direct interests in Serbia," and that "public opinion
would never sanction a war on her behalf.” Sir Edward readily
endorsed the ambassador's declaration,sand Sazonov was notified
to this effect on July 26-4

On July 27 Sir Edward gave Beckendorff in London some
little hope when he stated that it should not be taken for .
granted that Britaln would keep out of war, under all circumst-
ances, if a conflict broke out; but he was careful to add that

this assurance must not be interpreted as a promise to undertake

anything more than diplomatic action. The Russlan Government

A10- 1, Supra. 270.
2. Buchanan to Grey, July 24,1914, B.D., XI, No.l0l, p.80.
é. Grey to Buchanan, July 25,1914, ibid., No.11l2, p.86.
4. Buchanan to Grey, July 27,1914, ibid., No.1l70, p.120.
9. Grey to Buchanan, July 27,1914, ibid., No.l77, p.125.
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could thus.notice at least a favourable tendency in London
in spite of the guarded statements of the Foreign Minister.

Russia had proceeded with partial mobilization
megsures after July 25, and while the British Foreign Office
was unaware of the extent of these measures, 1t was felt that
some such preparations were Jjustified. As early as July 25
Grey informed Buchanan that Russian mobilization would be an
inevitable result of the Austrian note.l_The day before he had
expressed a similar viewpoint to Liéhnowsky? On July 26
Buchanan urged Sazonov to delay mobilization orders "as long
as possible,"3 but to his report Sir Eyre Crowe noted on July
27, "jpustria is already mobilizing .... Russia cannot be
expected to delay her own mobilization; which, as it is, can
only become effective in something like double the time required
by Austria and by Germany."4 ‘But while there was the feeling
of justification for'Russia, when on July 28 Buchanan learned
of the imminence of partial mobilization,he cautioned Sazonov
against taking "any military measures which might be considered
as a challenge by G'ermanjr."5 N | |

1t has been charged that Grey's expression of sympathy
for the Russian position did much to minimize the effect of
his refusal to pledge his Government to aid the Dual Alliance.

He has been bitterly criticised for not exercising greater

1. Grey to Buchanan, July 27, 1914, B.D., XI, No.112 P87
2. Supra. 244,

d. Buchanan to Grey, July 26 1914, B.D.; XI, No.:l70, p.120.
4, Minute by Sir Eyre Crowe, July 27 1914, ibid., No.l?O p.120.
5. Paleologue La Russie des Tsars, I 32.
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restraint upon Russia in this matter of mobilization. But
it would appear, on analysing the situation, that it would
have been most difficult,if not impossible, for the British
Government toﬂtéke any firmer policy towards restraining
Russia while it neither wilshed nor was able to promise her
eventual support in case éhe were attacked.2 Grey could
promise nothing, could take no definite stand, as has been
pointed out, because he was ndt*sure'of public opinion or of
the support of the whole Cabinet.

In summing up the situation at St. Petersburg it
would then appéar that while England gave Russia no such
| strong assurance of support as did France, she did not definit-
ely urge M. Sazonov to not mobilize. Nor doeé it apbear at
all certain that either London or Paris gave theilr approval in
advance to.any definite step on the part of Rusgia. The French
Government did not know definitely until the evening of July 3l
that Russia had ordered general rno‘nilization.:5 Russia felt
that she could not allow Austrian action against Serbia, and
when théfforﬁer declared war on July 28, ahd began the bombard-
ment of Belgrade, feeling sure of the support of France, and
knowing that England would not oppose her action; she ordered
her mobilization. But for this action it ‘might have been
possible for diplomacy to arrange a coﬁpromise, The military
time-tables of all-ﬁhe Great Powers were now primary consider-

ations and control passed into the hands of the militéry.

l. Barnes, op. cit.; 371
2. Grey, op. cit.; I, 313.
‘3. Infra. 287 (note 1).
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The news of Russia's mobilization did not reach the
other capitals until Friday, July 31; and the Austrian move to
mobilize was not known, except to Berlin, until Saturday,
AuguSt 1.1 'It has been earlier shown thgt Austria had delayed
in rejecting Sir Edward's las; peace suggestion,zconsequently,
on July 30 he was still hoping for a peaceful solution of the
growing danger. But on July 30 he received news from Sir
Edward Goschen in Beflin that convinced him and the Foreign
Office that Germany had practically determined on war, the
violation of Belglan neutrality, and on the erushing of France.

.On the previous evening Bethmann had sent for
Goschen and made "a strong bid for British neutrality in the
event of war." Provided that Britain remained neutral, he
said, Germany was prepared to give every assurance that she
aimed at no fterritorial gains at the expense of France 1in
Europe, though she could give no such assurances concerning
French colonies. G@Germany would respect the neutrality of
Holland, but as regards Belgium? he "qould not tell to whatx
operations Germany might be forced by the action of France,"
but he could state that, "provided Belgium did not take sides
against Germany, her integrity would be respected after the
conclusion of the war."z

This mdve on the part of Bethmenn created a disastrous

impression of German intentions in London. "I read it through

-l. Schmitt, op. cit., II, 257.

2. Supra. 264.

d. Goschen to Grey, July 29, 1914, B.D., XI, No.293, pp.l85-86.
Received July 30, 1914, at 9 A.M.
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with a'feeling of despair," says Grey. "The document made
clear that Bethmann-Hollweg now thoughtwar was probable. We
were henceforth to.discuss upon how we should conduct ourselves
in war, no longer how war could be avoided.... The proposal
1
made to us meant everlasting disgrace if we accepted it."
Sir Eyre Crowe had this to say, "The only comment that need be
made on these astounding proposals is that they reflect discredit
on the statesman who makes them.... Incidentally it is of
interest to note that Germany practically admits the intention
to violate Belgian neutrality.... It is clear that Germany is
- 2 :

practically determined to go to war."

The reply which Grey returﬁed to Goschen was approved
by Mr. Asqguith, but was not shown to the Cabinet which did not
meet until the afternoon. The Ambassador was to inform the
Chancellor that his proposal could not "for a moment be
entertained,"”

He asks us in effect to engage to stand by while French
colonies are taken and France is beaten so long as Germany
does not take French territory as distinet from the colonies.

From the material point of view such a proposal is
unecceptable, for France could be so crushed as to lose .
her position as a Great Power, and become subordinate to
German policy without further territory in Burope being
-taken from her.

But apart from that, for us to make this bargain at
the expense of France would be a disgrace from which the
good name of this country would never recover.

The Chancellor also in effect asks us to bargain away

l. Grey, op. cit., I, 326. _

2. Minute by Sir Eyre Crowe, July 30, 1914, B.D., XI, N0.293,
p‘,‘1860 .

4. Grey, op. cit., I, 329.
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whatever obligation or interest we have as regards
the neutrality of Belgium. We could not entertain
that bargain either.

««.. We must preserve our full freedom to act as -
circumstances may seem to us to requirs. (1)

But while declining this German suggestion that his
Government should prdmise to stand aside, Grey at the'same
time continued to resist pressure from the Entente Powers that
he should align his country with them. On July 30 M. Cambon
came to remind him of the terms of the letters exchanged in
November, 1912, which provided for discussion betweén the
governments of France and Britain if the peace of Europe was
threaﬁened; such a ﬁhreat now existed, claiﬁed‘M. Cémbon.z
Instead of responding to this appeal the Foreign Minister
‘evaded an answer until the following afternoon,zwishing to
avoid taking'any irrevocable stand and placing hope still in
peaceful negotiations.

liin splte of the growing danger, Sir Edward felt, even -
at this late date, that there was still a basis for discussion
among the Powers. Sazonov had offered a formula'according to
which he would eﬁgage to stop all military prepardtiopé in
Russia if Austria would agree to eliminate from her ultimatum
all points which violated Serbian sovereignt"yf.4 Besides this

there was the British suggestion of the Austrian ‘ecccupation .

l. Grey to Goschen, July 80,1914, B.D.,XI, No. 303 p.193.

2. Camboy to Viviani, July 50,1914, D.D.F., 3° série, XI,
¥o.363, p.301; Grey to Bertle July 40,B.D.XI,No.319,p. 201.

3. Ibid.

4. Buchanan to Grey, July 30,1914, B.D., XI, No.302 (A) and
(B), pp.191-92.
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of Belgréde to be followed bj negotiatien which the German
Govermmen$ was to support in Vieﬁna, and to:Which'no answer had
at this date been receiveda Late on July 30 Sir Edward offered
a new proposal, a tombination of theSevtwo.plans.
If Auetria, having occupied‘Belgrade and neighbouring
Serbian territory, declares herself ready, in the interest
- of Buropean peace; to discuss how a complete settlement
can be arrived at, 1 hope that Russia would also. consent
to discussion and suspension of further military
preparations prov1ded that other Powers did the same.(1l)
| This was, he recognized,“a slender chance of preserving
peace,“'but,it wes an appeal to Rﬁssia to stéy her hand, the
firet Qf_ite'kind, and made at this date because now Germeny
seemed at last ﬁilling'to cooperate. The offer was communicated
to Paris,ethe French GoverhmentIWas asked to suppoft it af
St, Petefsburg,zand a copy was glven to Lichnowsky to be sent
on to Berlin{? This last effort to save the.situation, heweyer,
- was immediately destroyed by the events of the following day.
on the morning of July 31 news reached Berlin of
Russie'simobilizatioh. The military perty in the Gefman}capital
now pressed for immediate action, and in the face of the Russian
move, 1ts hand was immeasurably strengthened. At one P.M. the
Goverhment proclaimed a "state of'danger'of-war" which set in

motion a number of precautionary measures preparatory to actual

mobilization. It was taken for granted that the order for

1. Grey to Buchanan, July 30, B.D,}XI,No.309, pp:1l96~-97.

&, Grey to Bertie, July 30, 1914 ibid., No. 510 p.197,
D.D.F., 3° série, XI, No.389, pp.327-29.

O Lichnowsky to German Foreign O0ffice, July 30, 1914,
K_'D‘.) N00460’ p.3850 )
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general mobilization would follow within forty-eight hours.

Now that mobllization was being undertaken in three
capitals considerations of military necessity tended to far
out-weigh diplomatic considerations. Such a statement is almost
axiomatic for any country facing sﬁch 2 crisis as was presented
. on Julylﬁl, but it was more particu;arly true for Berlin. 1In
a war with Russia supported by France the German plan of campalgn
called for a sudden and decisive drive to the west to crush
France, and then a turning on Russia where forces would be
mobilized more slowly. Speed was the essential faetor in the
»German plan to make up for inferiority of numbers. To the
military leaders, to answer mobilization by countermobilization,
and then to stand on the defensive waiting for diplomatiec
developments would mean losing the advantage which quick action
would bring.

‘Thusvthe German plan of campaign impelled the Imperial
Government to its next step, the step which actually preclpitated
war. 1t was decided to force the situation, and not to wait
on developments. DPeaceful négotiations which were pending had
completely broken'down, for at 2:45 P.M. Austria gave an
absolute refusal to the last Anglo-German proposal to negotiate.z
And since Austria declined to negotiate 1t was to be expected
that Russia mighf attack forthwith. A% 3:30 P.M. a double

ultimatum was thérefore dispatched in the form of instructions

1. Renouvin, op. cit., 222; Fay, op. cit., II, 523; Schmitt,
op. cit., II, 266.

&. Emperor of Austrla to William II, July 31, 1914, X.D.,
No.482, p.400.
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to the German ambassadors in St. Petersburg and Paris, to be
presented to the respective governments.l'

The message to Russia announced the "threatening
danger of war," and declared that "mobilization must follow
in case Russia does not suspend every war measure against
Austria-Hungary and ourselves within twelve hours and make
us a distinct declaration to that effect.®™ France was asked
fof a declaration of heutrality in a Russo-German war, her
answer to be given within eighteen hours. While it was not
expected that France would offer such a declaration, if she
should declare for neutrality, the Ambassador was ordered to
demand as a pledge of good faith that the fortresses of Toul
and Verdun be turned over to Germany to be returned after the
war.2

While these military considerations were dragging
Europe closer and closer to the abyss, the British Foreign
Minister in London made one more effort to stave off the
catastrophe. He did not know by July 31, how the idea of the
“ﬁalt'in Belgrade™ proposal had been received in Vienna, and
during the morﬁing Lichnowsky had informed him that Austria
was wiliing tovrenew direct relations with Russia, "to give
explanations about the Austrian note," and to discuss "any

. : 3
questions that affect Austro-Russian relations.m Grey at once

1. Imperial Chancellor to the Ambassador in St. Petersburg,
July 31,1914, X.D., No0.490,p.404; to the Ambassador in
Paris, ibid., No.491, p.405. '

2. This provisional clause in:the ultimatum was not used at
the time since France rejected the German question. It
was published only in 1918. Schoen,F.,von, The Memoirs of
an Ambassador,(London,1922), 194-95.

. Jagow to Lichnowsky,July 30,1914,K.D.,No.444,p.374. Grey

to Buchanan,July $1,1914,B.D.,XI, No.535, p.213
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formulated a new proposal. He telegraphed to St. Petersburg and -
to Paris, that he "earnestly™ hoped that M. Sazonov would
encourage the conversations. As to military preparations, he
told Lichnowsky that ®he could not see how Russia could be
urged to suspend them unless Austria would put some 1limit to
: 2
her advance into Serbia."
It was "suspicion",he said, which was blocking a
‘solution of the difficulties. Could not the four disinterested
Powers, England, France, Germany and Italy assure Austria that
Serbia would give her "full satisfaction,™ and assure Russia
that Serbian sovereigntiy and integrity would not be impaired.
In addition, of course, "all Powers would suspend further
mllltary operations or nreparations.“ He then went on to say:
If Germany could get any reasonable proposal put
forward which made it clear that Germany and Austria
were striving to preserve European peace, and that
Russia and France would be unreassonable if they rejected
it, I would support it at St. Petersburg and Paris and
go to the length of saying that if Russia and France
would not accept it His Majesty's Govermment would have
nothing more to do with the consequences; but otherwise
vess if France became involved we shall be drawn in. (3)
Most certainly this was going much farther than he
had gone at any time previously; he was actually stating that
Britain would, under certain circumstances, abandon the Entente.
The proposal, however, was not a practicable one in the existing

- circumstances. Russia had earlier made it clear that she would

not be satisfied with Austrian assurances, and Austria had given

l. B.D., op. cit., XI No. 535 p.213.
2. Ibid., p.213. '
d. Grey to Goschen July 31, 1914, ibid., No.340, pp.215-16.
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every indication that she would agree to nothing less than the
fulfilment of 2ll her demands on Serbia.

Sir Edward Goschen discussed the project with von
Jagow in Berlin, on the evening of July 31, "urging him most
earnestly" to act upon it. While thé latter "expressed himself
very sympathetically™ toward the proposal, and Mappreciated
the continued efforts to maintain peace,™ he declared that "it
was impossible for the Imperial Government to consider any
proposal until they had received an answer from Russia to their
communication of today," thét is to the ultimatum: "Russia's
mobilization has spoilt everything," he added.l |

On August 1 Goschen again met with Jagow to communicate
another memorandum from Grey, stating that it would be possible
still to maintain peace "if only a little respite in time can
be gained before any Great Power begins war."z To this Jagow
replied that Russia "had the welght of numbers on her side;"
that speed was essential to Germany, and that "the safety of
the German Empire forbade that Germany should allow Russia
time to bring up masses of troops from all parts of her wide
dominions."™ Russia had sent no answer to the German note;
"Germany had therefore ordered mobilization." The Russian
fefusal to "demobilize must be regarded as creating "a state

3
of war." The Berlin Government was refusing to reconsider or

l. Goschen to Grey, July 31,1914, B.D., XI, No.385, p.236.
2. Grey to Goschen, August 1,1914, ibid., No.41ll, p.246.
d. Goschen to Grey, August 1,1914, ibid., No.4568, p.265.
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to wait. Military arguments were in absolute control of the
situation. A declaration of war was dispatchéd to be presented
in St. Petersburg at 5 P.M. if at that time the German

ambassador had not received a satisfactory reply to the
1
ul timatum.

The answer of the French Government to the ultimatum
2
was to be given by 1 P.M. on August 1. The Government had

been taking measures of military precaution since the evening
. S
of July 25, and from July 30 had been pressing the British

Governmént to discover what course it would follow.. When

Qévering troops were ordered to their places on the frontiers
4
on July 380 the famous decision to keep back ten kilometres
5
was given in order to influence British opinion favourably.

The French did not know definitely of the Russian mobilization

l. Jagow to German Ambassador at St. Petersburg, August 1,
1914, X.D., No.542, pp.432-33. _

2. D.D. F., 268’ gérie, XI No.417, p.347.

3. Joffre, Marshall Mem01rs (London 1932), I, 115-16.

40 DoDoFc’ 33 Serle XI, N°0333, ppczel"sz; N0o590, p.529.

5. This order did a great deal to convince the outside
world of the peaceful intentions of France but it did
little to impede her preparations. In many places the
line designated in the order was only four or five
kilometres from the frontier, and generals admitted
later that the order was not obeyed in absolute striectness.
Marshall Joffre has written, "In regard to the ten
kilometre 1limit, I made llttle objection recognizing
the strength of the motive dlctatlng it and reallzlng
moreover, that this measure would in no way compromise
g;g mobilization or our later operations, op. cit., I,
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until fhe evening of July'él, since Paléologue's telegram did
not arrive'until 8:30 P.M.% but Joffre had been pressing. for
'compiete mobilization in Paris since the afternoon of that
date, when news of the German proclamatioh of the "state of
threatening danger of war" reached Paris.z At a cabinet meeting
in the morning of August 1 Joffre's demand for mobilization
was grantedfand the order was issued at Z§45'P.M. When Baron
Schoen called at the Foreign Office at one o'clock for the
answer to Germany's ultimaﬁum he was told briefly that "France
will act in accordance with her interests,"4a forhula agreed
upon by Poincaré and Viviani, which made it sufficiently qiear
that France would fight.

Shdrtly after the ultimatum was sent to France on
July 31, the draft of a declaratién of war was drawn up, bub
it was not sent until August 5._ Bethmann hesitated to declare
'waf against the Republie. 1Inclined to emphasize legal formulae,
he knew that although a formal declaration of war might have
1little regl significance, it would loom large in the publie
mind. He therefore waited for a pretext to satisfy his own
seruples and public‘opinion.inTﬁepeewas some hope held that

publiec opinion in France might force the Government in Paris

to commit acts of war. But besides these reasons, Admiral von

1. D.D.F., 3° série,XI,No.432,p.356: According to French
v evidence Paleologue had dispatched this telegram at 10:285 A.M.
It thus took ten hours to reach Paris. This delay has never
been satisfactorily explained. It may have been due to the
confusion arising from the military occupation of the central
telegraph office. It was sent by way of Scandinavia and did
not reach Paris until 8:30 P.M. However, the news of Russia's
‘ mobilization had arrived in Paris by indirect means.
8. Joffre, op. cit:, I, 126.
3. Viviania to Paul Cambon August 1,1914,D.D. F.,Zeserie XI,

No.523, p .418-19 Joffre,op.cit.,I,127-28.
4. D.D. F., 3 série , XTI, No 450 Pp.360- 61.
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Tirpitz had raised another problem. He stressed@ the problem
of the Navy, and requested that the declaration of war upon
France might be made as laté as possible, so that the Fleet
might have time to complete its preparations. And according
to the German plan of campalgn French soil would not have to
be invaded for.a few days. Thus the declaration of war was
- held up; Bethmann sent the following note to the Emperor on
the morning of August 2: |
In accordance with understanding with Ministry of War
an@ General Staff, presentation of declaration of war
to France not necessary today for any military reasons.
Consequently it will not be done, in the hope that French
will attack us. (1)

But onceé the Germen milltary machine was in motion
Luxemburg had to be occupiedy,and then Belgium. On the morning
of August 2 troops moved into Luxemburg, the German Government
expressing regret that such = step.was necessary ahd promising
compensation after the wér. On the evening of the same day the
German minister in Brussels was ordered to deliver an ultimatum
to Belgium. "The Imperial Government," read .the note, "is in
“recelpt of reliable information in relation to the proposed
advance of French armed forces along the Meuse, route Givet-
-Namur. ' This information leaves no doubt as to France's‘intention

to advance against Germany through Belgian territory.“2 As

Belgium was not in a position to assure her neutrality, Germany

was thus forced to send troops into the country to defend her

1. The Chancellor to the Emperor, August 2, 1914, K.D.,
No.629, p.478.

2. The text of this ultimatum had been sent to the German
minister in a sealed envelope on July 29.
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own territory. The note went on to assure Belgium that the
German Government contemplated no hostile measures against her,
that recompense for damages‘would be given, and that the
territory would be later evacuated. 'But, should Belgium rgfuse
passage to the troops she would be treated as an enemy. A
reply was demanded within twelve hours. The Belgian cabinet
decided to answer the German demands in the negative. The

next morning the Powers were notified ofvthe ultimatum and

its rejection; no military aid was asked for, though Xing
Albert asked King George for diplomatic action. The Germans were
given the answer in the afternoon, and they accordingly
instructed their minister to give notice at six o'eclock the
following morning, that Germeny was "golng to act by force of
arms."”

On August 3 Germany declared war on France. Large
movements.of troops had been going on for two days in both
countries, and violations of the frontier had been reported by
each side; reports of which were printed in the papers. One
such report announced that French airmen had dropped bombs at
Nuremberg - a report later proven to be false. When the German
Government drew up the declaration of war for presentation
at Paris, hostilities were justified by these reported frontier
violations and by the Nuremberg bombs. Schoen received the
declaration late in the.afternoon in a badly mutilated telegram{
the text havihg been "jumbled,™ as he reports, during its |

transmission. Taking what he could decode of the message he
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: 1
presented it as a declaration of war to Viviani at 6:45 P.M.

At this point end the long negotiations to preserve
peace which had begun some weeks before. The last stays which
" had restrained the launching of the Powers upon s European war
had been now knocked away; It remains to be seen how Great
Britain was dragged into the catastrophe, and this is the

theme of the chapter which follows.

1. Schoen, op. cit., 200-01 Schoen to Viviani, August 3,
1914, D.D.F., 3° série XI, No.678, p.509; Note du
Departement August 4, 1914 1b1d., No. 725 DP.537.
Wolff, op. clt., 579-81.
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CHAPTER VIII
HOW BRITAIN ENTERED THE WAR

The previous pages show clearly how anxiously Sir
Edward Grey had worked for peace, how he had tried plan after
plan to save Europe_from war, how in his desire to avert a
conflict he had made a variety of suggestions, and given his
support to those which had arisen from other sources. It has
been revealéd how ready he was to take the lead in impartial
mediation to settle the crisis which threatened Europe, and
that while there remained any possible hope that the crisis
might pass he had refused firmly to give his support to elther
of the diplomatic groups, always fearful that the pledging of
the support of Britain to one side or the other might precipitate
the catastrophe he dreaded. It now remains to be seen, how,
when war came in spite of hié efforts, Britain became involved.
Careful analysis makes plainly evident the fact that
Britain's entry was finally determined by three mixed motives -
to protect her own material intereéts, to fulfill her obligations
to France, and to preserve the neutrality of Belgium.1 In

various works each of these three has been put forward as the

l. Fay, S.B., New Light in the Origins of the War, III,
American Historical Review, vol. XXVI, No.&2, January
1921, p. 254.
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single determining factor; but it was all three together which
brought about her decision to go to war. 1In 1914 the last of
the three was Mplayed up™ by the Government as the all important
reason for the decision, but to any one with a clear understand-
ing of the situation‘it was, if anything, éf least importance.
Eefore‘Belgium was invaded Asquith and Grey had resolved on
support of France,.and the violation of Belgian neutrality
made no vital difference to that resolve. Where its real
importance lay was in the fact that it preserved the unity of
the Cabinet, except for two memﬁers, and of the country as a
whole, and enlisted the support of the entire nation behind
the Government.

In his momentous speech of August 3 the question of
Belgian neutrality was put forward very skilfully by the Foreign
Minister, very skilfully, and host prominently. He was convinced
at the time that England must take part in the confliet, that she
must not stand aside, and his appeal for support of this policy
was made chiefly as an appeal to save Belgium, because no other
appeal, he knew, would so clearly and so powerfully move
Parliament and the British public. He wished for intervention
regardless of the Belgian question, but he saw in the fate of
that little country a powerful lever with which %o mbve Parliam-
ent and the country to his side. No great idealism could be
~woven about British interests; the obligation to France, concealed
for years from tlie House, he repudiated as being a deciding
factor in the situation, though in truth it was just such a

factor; but the fate of Belgium served as a most powerful appeal,
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clothed in noble idealism, a righteous cause,lwhich won
Parliament and the public to the side of intervention. It
gave the nation enthusiasm for the crusade against the Central
Powers. The Belgian issue thus gave a splendid excuse for a
decision already arrived at on.the issues of British interests
and British obligations to France. If, then, as is here
maintained, the Belgian issue was not the deciding factor, to
what extent did the obligations to France welgh in favour of
the decision for intervention? A

It has been shown thét there was little question of
BEngland being involved until late in the crisis. There was
wide épread criticism of Serbis after Serajevo, and as the
erisis developed, a decided.disinclination to support Russis
and Franée in a war arising out of an Austro-Serbian quarrel.
Austria's intransient policy, culminating in her declaration of
war on Serbisg,did a gfeat deal to alienate English sympathy, it
is trué, but there was little enthusiasm for helping Serbisa
against Austriae, and very little more for assisting Russia.1

Grey, we have seen, made no move to take part in
negotiations'unﬁil July 20; he had not referred to the crisis
in the cabmet until July 24. On July 25 when King George said
to Prince Henry of Prussia, "We shall try all we can to kee§

out of this and shall remain neutral," he was without doubt

expressing an opinion shared by the majority of the English

l. Seott, J.F., Five-Weeks, chapter IX, for a study of
British press and public opinion.
2. Cited in Renouvin, op. c¢it., 270.



=294~

people at the time. As M. Charles-Roux, speaking from the
French viewpoint says, "BEngland had a long way to come before
she was to take an active part in any continental conflict, so

far that one wondered whether she would ever do so, or whether
, ' 1.
she would not do so when it was too late.m"

Reference has been made to the personaltopinion Grey
held that should war come, Great Britain"must support France,

and to the strong feeling of hlS associates in the Foreign
2
Offlce in this same regard. Reference too has been made to-

the secret preparatory measures'taken after July 27 by the
. ) . .\ . 5 Y.
‘Admiralty and the General Staff. But since the Cabinet was
. 4
divided in its opinion, and could come ‘to no decision as to

what stand England should take, Grey could only continue %o
work for mediation,’preserving "our full freedom," as he told

the German Government in refusing their "bid" for British
) 5 » t
neutrality on July 30. Yet he d4id not fail to warn the Germans
6
that Britain might be forced %to come in. Mr. Churchill has

1. Charles-Roux, F., Veillée a Armes 3 Londres, 22 juin-
4aodt, 1914, Revue des Deux Mondes, August 15, 1926, 7a7.

a. Supra. 253-54, ; '

3. Supra. 256

4. Lord Riddell states that as late as August 2 there were
four parties in the Cabinet; (1) the party headed by
Asquith and Grey, who thought it vital to support France;
(2) the "Peace Party," headed by Sir John Simon, who
would not have war at any price; (3) a party headed by
Lloyd George in favour of intervention in certain circum-
stances; and (4) a party headed by Mackinnon Wood and
Mastennan which was endeavouring to compose the differences
between the other three parties with a view to avoiding
iggg%lt in the Government. Lord Riddell's Diary, (London,

5. Supra. 279-80. .

6. Supra. 265 and 284.
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aptly stated the situation in which Grey found himself when
he says, "We hed to let the Germans know that we were a force
to be reckoned with, without letting the French and Russians
think that they had us safely in their pbckets."l
Sir Arthur Nicolson, in writing to Buchanan on July
28, outlined the British political system which made matters
~so difficult for the Foreiga Minister, believing as he did
personally that British intervéntion was inevitable should war
come, yet knowing that that opinion was not at the time shared
generally in political eircles or by publi¢ opinion at large.
Nicolson wrote: | | |
We, of course, living under such conditions as we. do
here, when no Government practically can take any . decided
line without feeling that public opinion amply supports
them, are unable to give any decided engagements as to 2
what we should or should not do in any future emergencies.
Acqording fo Mr. Churchill three-quarters of the-
Cabinet members were anxious "not to allow themselves to be
drawn into a European quarrel, unless Great Britain herself were
attacked.5 Lloyd George agrees that "the Cabinet was'hopelessly
divided - fully one third, if not one-half, being opposed to
our entry.4 Moreover, the Liberal press was almost unanimously
advocating neutrality.5 Professor G.M. Trevelyan says that if

l. Churchill, op. cit., 212. Trevelyan, op..cit., 251-57.

2. Nicolson %o Buchanan, July 28,1914, B.D.,XI, No.239,p.157.
He had expressed similar words to M. de Fleuriau, French £
Chargé d'Affaires in London, on July 27,D.D.F., ze série,
XI, No.l1ll7, p.1l00.

3. Churchill, op. cit., 211.

4. Lloyd George, op. cit., I, 66.

5. Hammond, op. cit., 215-56 passim. C.P. Scott sent a wire
t0 Lloyd George to state that any Liberal who supported
war would never be allowed by Liberals to enter another
Liberal Cabinet. Riddell, op. cit., 5.
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Grey in the last week of July had announced that Britain would
join France in war,

Most of the Cabinet would have repudiated him, most
of the Liberals in the country and all the Labour Party,
and a large section' of opinion in the City and the
Conservative business class. He could not speak that
word for England. (1)

on Friday, July 31, Lloyd Geofge told Lord Riadell
that he was "fighting for peace.™ He said, "All the bankers
and commerclial people are begging us not to intervene. .The
Governor of the Bank of England (Lord Cunliffe) said to me

with tears in his eyes, 'Keep us out of it. We shall all be
2
ruined if we are dragged in.'"

The hands of the Foreign Secretary were thus most
effectivel& tied. He has said, himself, recalling those days:

It was clear to me that no authority would be obtained
from the Cabinet to give the pledge for which France
pressed more and more urgently, and that to press the
Cabinet for a pledge would be fatal; it would result in
the resignation of one group or the other, and the
consequent breakup of the Cabinet altogether.... There
was also more than the division of opinion in the Cabinet
to be taken into acecount. There was division in Parliament
and in the country. (3)

‘Elsewhere in his Memoirs he says in this connection:

One danger I saw so hideous that it must be avoided
and guarded against at every word. It was that France
and Russia might face the ordeal of war with Germany,
relying upon our support; shat this support might not
be forthcoming, and that we might then, when %too late,
be held responsible by them for having let them in for
a disastrous war. (4)

1. Trevelyan, G.M., op. cit., p.251.
2. Riddell, op. cit., 2. :

5. Grey, op. cig., I, 334-35.

4. Ibid., 313.
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The attitude of reserve on the part of the Foreign Office was
therefore not the result of any deliberate wish, nor of any
prebonceivéd plan, but it arose of necessity from circumstances
linked with domestic politics and the British political system.
And Grey tbok advantage of this detached position of his
Government to negotiate a compromise among the Powers to avert
war.

The Foreign Minister's position was not an easy one.
The French were pressing him for an assurance of active support
on behalf of his country, because of past assurances and the
. conversations of the General Staffs. Grey firmly believed that
England would in the_end be forced to intervene along side
France, buf the Cabinet was divided, ahd he found himself
hindered by the assurances he had gilven Parliament that England
was under no obligations to any country to give support. He
could only wait on events. |
On'July 29 when he gave the warning to the German
ambassédor that England might be forced to come in,l he endeav-
oured to minimize the significance of this warning to M. Cambon,
lesﬁ the latter should count too surely on British support. The
situation, he informed the Ambassador,was different from that of
the Moroceo Crisis_of.l911;
The dispute between Auétria and Serbia was not one in
. which we felt called to take a hand. Even if the question
became one between Austria and Russia we should not feel

called upon to take a hand in it.... If Germany became
‘involved and France became involved, we have not made up

1. Supra. 2630
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our minds what we should do; it was a case we should
have to consider. France would then have been drawn
into a quarrel which was not.hers, but in which, owing
to her alliance, her honour and interests obliged her
to engage. We were free from engagements, and we should
have to decide what British interests required us to do.(1)
Grey could go no further than this when on July 30
M. Cambon reminded him of the letters exchanged between the
- two Governments in 1912. Sir Edward evaded an answer, and
stated that "the.Cabinet was to meet tomorrow morning," and
2 :
that he "would seé him again tomorrow afternoon."
On the evening of July 80 the President of France
made a further appeal for support}through Mr. Bertie in Paris.
According to the report of the latter, M. Poincaré
is convinced that preservation of peace between the
Powers is in the hands of England, for if his Majesty's
Government announce that, in the event of confliet
.between Germany and France, resulting from present
differences between Austria and Serbla, England would come
to the aid of France, there would be no war, for Germany
would at once modify her attitude. (3)
Bertie replied that it would be very difficult for the British
Government to make any such announcement as was sought by the
French, and held out little hope. Poincaré then answered that
: 4
if a general war resulted England would inevitably be involved.
When the Cabinet met on July 31 no decision to

support. France was forthcoming. The interview between Sir

1. Grey to Bertie, July 29, 1914, B.D.XI, No.283,p.180.

2.

S,
4.

Cambon %o Viviani, July 29,1914, D.D.F., 3°® série,XI,No.281,
Grey to Bertie, July 30,1914,B.D.XI,No0.319,p.201. p.229.
Cambon to Viviani,July 30,1914,D.D.F.,3%série,XI,No.363,p.301
Bertie to Grey, July 30, 1914, B.D.XI, No.318, p.200.

Bertie to Grey, July 30,1914, B.D.,XI, No.318,p.200.

Bertie's answer was approved by Grey; No.352, p.220.
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Edward and Cambon was accordinglyA"rather painful," as the
former told Mr. ASquith.l When Cambbn referred to a telegram
from his brofher in Berlin stating that "it was the uncertainty
with regard to whether we (Britain) should intervene which was
the encouraging element in Berlin," Grey denied this, claiming,
it wa$ guite wrong to suppose we had left Germany under the
impression that we should not intervene." On the main topic
of the interview, the French appeal for a promise of support,
he could offer nothing new. "We could not give any pledge at
the present time." He stressed the commercial and financial
situation, which was, he claimed, a grave consideration; |
England's’standing aside might be "the only means of preventing
a complete collapse of Euiopean credit." But, he added, though
no pledge could at this moment be given, "further developments
might alter the situation, and cause the Government and
Parliament to take the view that intervention was justified."z
Sir Edward did not say what the new development
might be which would alter the decision;of the British Government,
but the question of Belgian neutrality was mentioned in this
connection.:5 He went on to say he would ask the French and

German Governments if they were "prepared to undertake an

engagement™ to respect the neutrality of Belgium. This question

l. Asquith, H.H., Memories and Reflections, (Boston,1928),
(cited hereafter as Memories),II, 7. :
2. Grey to Bertie, July 31,1914, B.D.,XI, No.567,pp.226-27.
Cambon to Vivieni, July 81,1914, D.D.F., &° série, XI
No.459, pp.375-76. ' , ’
3. Ibid.
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might be an "important" though not a "decisive" factor in the
Cabinet's decisioﬁol

Mr. Cambon expressed "great disappointment™ over the
Foreign Minisfer's cémmunibation. He asked that the whole
question be submitted to the Cabihet}again. Sir Edward replied
that the Cabinet "would Qertainly bevsummoned as soon as there
was some new development." |

New developments were not slow in arising. That
afternoon the German Embassy informed the Foreign O0ffice of
the Russian general mobilization, and of the German intention to
mobilize if Russia did not within twelve hours countermand her
order.z As the German plan of campaign in.the event of war
against the ﬁual Alliance was believed to involve the invasion
of Belgium, Grey now raiéed this question at Bérlin and Pafis,
as he had hinted to Cambon he might do.

The question of Belgiah neutrality had been discussed

3 4
in the Cabinet that morning, and had arisen at earlier meetings.

l. Grey to Bertie, July 31, 1914, B.D.,XI, No.567 P.227,
Cambon to Viviani, July 31, 1914 D.D.F., 3° serie XI, No.459,
p. 376,

2. B.D., XI, No.344, p.217. Buchanan's telegram reporting
Russian mobilization was not received in London until
$:20 P.M. " The Foreign O0ffice received its first infor-
mation through reports from Berlin; note to No.347, p.21l8
in B.QDQ‘, XI. .

3. Asquith, Memories, II, 7.

4, Morley, op. cit., 3.
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.It was a question which involved both British interests and
obligations. It was certainly to the interest of Britain to
prevent the crushing of France by Germany, and in line with
British policy to keep any strong continental Power from géining
‘possession of the Chanﬁel ports. Germany must therefore be kept
frdm entering France by the most strategic route, throughl
Belgiﬁm.‘ In addition  to this matter of British interests, there
was also the question of legal obligation under the Treaty of
1839 to defend Belgian neut;ality. It was a case then, in
‘which honour, obligation and interests coincided. Thus, it was.
of‘great convenience for Sir Edward Grey to be able to urge
British intervention in case Belglan neutrality should be
violated. And as Mr. Schmitt says, "It cannot bé made &
rebroach to him that he exploited thé legal advantage which

the situation offered him.“a

At 5:50 P.M. Grey addressed to.the German and French

Governments a request asking each for an assurance that it
would resbect the neutrality of Belgium so long as no other
Power violated 11;.:3 The Belgian.Government was informed of

this step, and to the Brussels communication was added, "I
:assume that Belgium will to the utmost of her power maintain

neutrality, and desire and expect other Powers to observe and

1. The question has been widely discussed whether the Treaty
of 1839 imposed on Britain the obligation to do more than
respect the neutrality of Belgium; that is, whether she
was obligated to make another Power respect i$. This
latter view obtained in the Foreign Office in 1914.

&, Schmitt, op. ecit., II, 291.

d. Grey to Bertle and Goschen July 31 1914, B.D.,XI, No.348,
p.218.
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1 .
uphold it." The French and German Governmentswere asked for

an early réply.

France at once gave an unqualified assurance in the
affirmative.2 In Berlin, however, von Jagow told Gbschen he
must consult the Chancellor énd the Emperor. "He rather doubted
whether they could answer at all, as any reply they might give
could not fail, in the event of war, to have the undesirable
effect of discldsing to a certain extent part of their plan
. of eampaign.% |

Although Sir Edward had put off the French Ambassador
in London, in the evening of July 31 the French Government
prepared a new appeal for support. The President of the
Repgblic, with the approval of his Government, made a personal
appeal. to the King by means of an autograph letter which was
‘sent by special messenger and presented to His Majesty 1até
"the same-ev-ening.4 After outlining the military preparations
which Germany was pushing forward "especially in the immediate
nelghbourhood of the French frontier,™ Poincare pointed out the
dangers in further delay on the part of Britain:

From all the information which reaches us it would ”
seem that war would be inevitable i1f Germany were convinced
that the British Government would not .intervene in a

conflict in which France might be engaged; if, on the other
hand, Germany were convinced that the Entente Cordiale would

1. Greyito Villiersiuguly 81, 1914, B.D.XI, No.35, p.220.

&. Bertie to Grey, August 1,1914,B.D.,XI,No.382,p.284.

3. Goschen to Grey, Augusf 1,1914,ibid.,No.383,pp.234-35.

4. Communication from the French Embassy, ibid.,No.366,p.226.
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be affirmed in case of need, even to the extent of
taking the field side by side, there would be the
greatest chance that peace would remain unbroken. (1)
‘Admitting that the military and naval arrangements and the
letters of 1912 left "complete liberty to Your Majesty's
Government," he appealed to the dangers of the moment; “it is,
I consider, on the language and the actlion of the British
Government that henceforwafd the last chances of a peaceful
éettlement depend." |
When this new appeal was presented to the Cabinet
the néxt morning ,the BEuropean crisis had been advanced another
stage. Germany had sent her double ultimatum to St. Peterébufg
and Earis, and had refused to reply to the question regarding
Belgién neutrality; But the Cabinet was not yet prepared to
come to a decision.
"Sir Arthur Nicolson and Sir Eyre Crowe were again
urging a definite alignment with France and Russia.' Crowe
had emphatically expressed the view on July 31:
. The whole policy of the Entente can have no meaning
- 1f it does not signify that in a just quarrel England
would stand by her friends. This honourable expectation
has been raised. We cannot repudiate it without exposing
our good name to grave criticism. (2)
Sir Arthur Nicolson urged the immediate mobilization of the
army; "it is useless to shut our eyes to the fact that possibly
within the next twenty-four hours Germany will be moviﬁg across

. 15 , '
the French frontier.

l. M. Poineagé §o His Majesty, King George V, July 81,1914,
D.D.g., 3~ seérie XI, No.457, pp.372-73. Poincaré, op. cit.,
II, 244. ’

2. Crowe's memorandum, July 31,1914,B.D;,XI,N0.369, P.229.
d. Nicolson to, Grey, July 31,1914, ibiad., No.368, p.227.
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" But Grey Was not yet in the position, however much

these views coincided with his own, to determine policy along
‘these lines. The Cabinet was still opposed to iptervention,
‘and the prospect of its changing its opinion was as yet slight.
His Majesty's repiy to M. Poincaré, prepared at the Forelgn
Office, thus evaded the issue raised, and offered little to
satisfy the French. Great admiration for the French attitude
dﬁring the crisis was expressed, an attitude, it was said,
which could in no way be interpretéed as provocative; reference
. was made to British efforts to preserve peace; and 1t was promised
these would be continued; but, "as for the attitude of my
country,"™ wrote the King,"events are changing so rapidly that
it is impossible to foretell what their future development
will be."l — |

| This was August 1, and the Cabinet could not yet'}
decide on intervention. After & lively discussion Mr. Churchill's:
request that the total mobilization of the Fleet be ordered
was also refused.2 Thus, when Sir Edward saw M. Cambon after
the meeting he had still to reaffirm the view already expressed,:
that the crisis of 1914 differed entirely from those created
by the Morobco incidents.

Now, the position was that Germany would agree not to

attack France if France remained neutral in the event of
war between Russia amd Germany. If France could not take

1. His Majesty King George V to M. P01ncare August 1,1914,
D.D.F., 3° sé€rie XI, No.550,p.434. Poincaré , 0D« clt.,n 276.

2. This order was to affect only the oldest units since the
others were already at their war bases. !



-305~

advantage of this position, it was because she was
bound by an alliance to which we were not parties,
and of which we did not know the terms.
But though there was this difference, Grey did add, "This did
not mean that under no circumstances would we assist France,
but it did mean that France must make her own decision at
this moment without reckoning on an assistance_that we were
not now in é position to promise."l
Cambon  answered in dismay that he could not transmit
this reply to his Government, and asked to be authorized to
>ahswef that the Cabinet had not yet come to any decision.2
To this Sir Edward replied, "We had come to a decision: that
we could not propose to Parliament at this moment to send an
expeditionary force fo the continent."3
| The Ambassador then objected that as a consequence
of the Anglo-French naval agreements the French coasts were
defenseless. "ﬁill you allow Cherbourg and Brest to be
bombarded,” he asked, "seeing that it was in agreement with
ybu, to serve your interests as much as ours, that we have
conecentrated all our ships far from»there."4 When the questidn
of support was put in this way Grey could hardly evade an
answer. He insisted, however, that Britain was bound by no

ébligation to help France, or to enter into a war because‘of

French obligations to Russia. Cambon admitted there was no

1. Grey to Bertie, August 1, 1914, B.D. XI, No. 426, Dp.253.

2. Ibid. : :

3. Ibid. ,

4, Cited in Schmitt, op.cit., II,p.355;D.D.F. 3° serie,XI,
No. 532, p.424; B.DP.,XI, N0.426,p.253.
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obligation "of thls ‘kind," but asked pointedly,
In default of a formal alliance, is there not a

moral obligatibm for you to help us, at least to lend

us the support of your fleet, since it was on your

advice that we moved ours away. (1)

Grey could not but see the force of this argument,

and promised Cambon to ask the Cabinet on this pdint.f Meanwhile
the Ambassador could report to his Government that the Cabinet

» 2
had not yet taken any decision.

_ Harold Nicolson relates how Camboﬁ was much upset
-lwhen he left Grey to visit Sir Arthur Nicolson. "I1s vont
_noué lgcher," wes all he could say. Nicoison went to Greyt's
room and found him also much disturbed, pacing up and down,
and biting his lip. Grey gave no answer, but made only a
geaﬁure of despair when Nicolson asked if it was true that
Britain really refused to support France at this moment of her
greatest danger. "You will render us a by-word among nations," -
declared Nicolson angrily,and returned to M. Cambon. The
latter declared that he would now be compelled to produce the
agreement of 1918, to make known how France, relying on British
help, had depqdved her northern coasts of defenck. Nicolson
advised against publioation,.and himself sent a letter to Grey
recommendizg that the Cabinet should now be reminded of the
Agreement{ Grey replied that he would look after the matter,

and he spoke to Mr. Asquith to have this‘particular point

1. Clted in Schmitt, op. cit., 11, 355. .
2. B.D., XI,No. 426,p 253.D.D.F. 56 série,XI,No.532, p.424.
3. Nicolson, op. ecit., 419-20.

4. B.D., XI, No.424, p.252.
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o 1
settled by the Cabinet the next day.

The British now began to move more rapidly towards
that decision so eagerly awaited‘by the French. Tate that
| eveniﬂg,the word arrived in London that Germany had declared
war: on Russia.z This news was carried to Churchill at the
Admiralty, where he was entertaining some friends. He immed-
iately excused himself, and left to meet Grey and the Prime
Minister.z. When Grey saw Churchill the former said, "You
éhould know that I have just done a very important thing. I

~have told Cambon that we should not allow the German fleet to

. 4
come into the Channel." It would seem that the Prime Minister
had sanctioned such a step without waiting for the decision of

the Cabinet. It was a step with which Mr. Churchill "was in

1. B.D., XI, No.424, p.252. Shortly after this visit with
Nicolson, Cambon, on returning to the French Embassy
was visited by Mr. Wickham Steed, the foreign editor
of the "Times." The latter asked the Ambassador what
he was going to do. "I am waiting,®™ replied Cambon,
" Wto learn whether the word 'honour' has been struck
.out of the English vocabulary." Steed, Wickham, Through
Thirty Years, (London,1984), II, 14. Cambon expressed
similar words to Mr.George Lloyds; "Il vous reste de
l1'honneur dans votre pays?" Complaining of Grey's stand,
he said, "He (Grey) seems to forget that it was on your
adviee, and under your guarantee, that we moved all our
ships to the south and our munitions to Toulon. Si vous
restex neutres, nos cotes sont livrées aux Allemands." :
Cited in Colvin, D., The Life of Lord Carson, (London,1936)
14-15. . ‘ :
2. This news from Buchanan arrived at 11:15 P.M., B.D.,XI,
No.445, p.259. )
4. Beaverbrook, Lord, Politicians and the War, 1914-1916, .
(London,1928), I, 34-36; Churchill, op.cit., I, 230-31.
4. Churchill, op.cit.,I, 2831l. There is no record of this
conversation in the published British or French documents.
.Mr. Temperley gives it as his opinion that Churchill may
have misunderstood Grey. As we know, Grey had on August 1
discussed only "possibilities" with Cambon, and there is
no evidence of assurances as stated by Churchill. See

Temperley, The Coming of the War,Foreign Affai
1931, 334155, & rs, January,
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- entire accord." He returned at once to the Admiralty and gave
forthwith the order to mobilize the navy, althoﬁgh this step
was not yet authorized by the Cabinet.1 |

Meanwhile the German Ambassador had taken & step
in an endegvour to discover what position Bngland was golng to
adopt, and in which was clearly revealed Grey's determination
to support France, and what is more, his refusal to promise
neutrality even when in a position to make his own terms.
Lichnowsky on Aﬁgust 1l had come to discuss the German reply
to thé British question on Belgian neutrality. Grey informed
him that the evasive reply of the German Government "was a
matter of very great regret, because the neutrality of Belgium-
affected feeling".in England. Lichndwsky then pressed Grey
to formulate the conditions in return for which England hould
promise to remain neutral. Sir Edward fefused to make any
promise, insisting still on keeping Britain free. Wheh the "
Ambassador asked if Britain would remain neutrallif Germany
~promised not to violate Belgian neutrality)he,refused'définitely
any such promise.z

It was on August 2 that the Cabinet took its first-
- important decision; a decision which virtually brought Britain
into the war which had broken out. Before the Cabinet met at
11 A.M. both Lichnowsky and Cambon met Grey to urge their

}espective cases, the one for British neutrality, the other for

1. Churchill, op. cit., I, 231.
. 2. Grey to Goschen, August 1, 1914, B.D., XI, No.448, pp.260-61.
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intervention. Cambon had received news from France of the
violation of French térritory by German troops and of the
invasion of Lﬁxemburg;zand he pointed out to Grey that this

"~ latter indicated for & certainty that Belgium would be invaded.
.Grey promised to see him after the Cabinet meeting.

) The Cabinet sat almost all day.‘ It was at the start
of the meeting still too uncertain of British opinion and too
divided among its own members to come to a decision., For a
time there was danger that a number would resign and thus
greatly weaken the Government at é most criticai time.:5 The
news of the #iolation of Luxemburg did not of itself bring a
decisive change. That &1l importent change was made possible
to a véry great extent by the arrival of a letter from Mr.
Bonar Law, leader of the UnionistvParty, which assured the

v Cabinet of the support of his party in Parliament.4 The lettér

read:

1. Sehmitt, op. eit.,II, 357-58.Cambon to Viviani, August
2, 1914, D.D.F., 5eserie, XI, No.579, pp.452-53.

‘2.,D D.F., "ze série, XI, No.578, Pe452.B.D.,XI, N0.473, DP.270.

3. Asquith, Memories, II 8; Churchill, op.cit.,I, 232,

4, The initiative in this move to get action from the
Opposition leaders appears to have been taken by HMr. Leo
Maxse of the "National Review," and Sir Henry Wilson.
Maxse has told in his "Retrospect and Reminiscence®" in the
"National Review,"™ August, 1918, how a small group of
determined interventionists, including Wickham Steed,

Mr. Amery, Mr. George Lloyd, Lord Lovat, and Lord Edmund
Talbot, got in touch with the Conservative leaders, Lord
Landdowne, Bonar Law and Austen Chamberlain, who were out of
town. A meeting was held at Lansdowne House at 11 P.M.
Saturday, August 1, and there was further conferring in
the morning of August 2 between Lansdowne, Bonar Law and
Chamberlain, when the letter was drafted and sent by
special messenger to Asquith shortly before noon. See
also, Chamberlain, Austen, Down the Years, (London, 1935),
92-99; Callwell, op. cit.,I 153-355; Colv1n, ODe cit.,III
13- 21. Newton, op. 01t.,459 Lord Newton is mistaken when
he states that the first meeting took place on Sunday,
August 2.
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Avgust 2, 1914.

Dear Mr. Asquith:
Iord Lansdowne and I feel it our duty to inform
you that, in our opinion, as well as in that of all
our colleagues whom we have been able to consult, it
would be fatal to the honour and security of the United
Kingdom to hesitate in supporting France and Russila
at the present juncture; and we offer our unhesitating
support to the Government in any measures that they
consider necessary for that object. (1)
It should be noted that the letter said nothing of
Belgium; the offer was an uaconditional offer to support any
decision taken on behalf of the Entente Powers. The significance
of the letter lay in this; whereas there had been division in
‘the Cabinet, and doubt if the Government could rally & majority
of the Liberal Party in favour of intervention, now the support
of the Conservatives would make it possible to obtaln that
ma jority. But even after the receipt of the.offer, it was
2
only "with some difficulty," states Mr. Asquith, that the Cabinet
agreed that Grey should be authorized to give to Cambon the
assurance concerning the coasts of France which the latter had
. sought the day before:
If the German fleet comes into the Channel or ,
through the North Sea to undertake hostile operations

against French coasts or shipping the British fleet
will give all the protection in its power. (3)

l. Newton, op.cit., 439-40; Chamberlain, op.cit.,99. Mr.
Churchill notes that he received a similar assurance of
support from the Unionist leaders through Mr.F.E.Smith,
later Lord Birkenhead, On July 31, of which he informed
Mr. Asquith on August 1. op.cit., I,229-30. Grey questions
the influence of the letter of August 2 as a deciding factor
in the Cabinet's deeisionj op.cit.,II, 11. But in the
opinion of such authorities on the crisis of 1914 as Sehmitt
Fay and Renouvin it was most decisive.Schmitt,op.cit.,II,
839; Renouvin, op.cit.,293. ' ’

2. Asquith, Memories, II, 8%

3. B.D.,XI,eNo-.l4.87,p.274. Cambon %o Viviani,August 2,1914,
D.D.F. 3° série,XI, No0.612,p.469.
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This assurance was, however, stiil subject to approval by
Parliameng and did not mean that England would send troops to
the Continent.

Grey states in hls Memoirs, "the promise to defend
these coasts was given to France. The German Government ware
informed. They-promised not to attack these coasts, of course
~on the understanding ﬁhgt we remained neutral;land this naval
point ceased to have any direct influence on the decision‘of
the Britiéh Government."z Despite the slight importance which
Grey would here seem to attach to this assurance to France,
it was a step of exceeding import. It gave much.cquort to
:the French; in the opinion of M. Cambon it was 8 decisive o
guaranfee which would 1ead sooner or later to full intervention.
"He wrote later, "I was convinced (on August énd) that the game
wes won. A Great Power does not wage war half and half. From
the moment it decides to carry it on water it has no choice
but tp wage 1t on land."3 Marshall Joffre has expressed a
similar view: "When I received this important news I no longer
felt any doubts as to the British giving us on land as well as
on sea the support we so greatly desired; for it seemed to me
quite impossible that in a conflict of this magnitude a country

like England would make war in any half-heartzd fashion. The

matter was of the highest importance for us." And M. Viviani

-l. The German Government gave this assurance to the British -
about noon on August 3. B.D.,XI,No.53L, p. 291
2. Grey, op.cit.,II, 3.
d. Cited in Henderson F.E.,The Superficial Grey, The Nation
(New York), October 28, 1925, 491.
4., Joffre, op. ecit., I, 134-35.
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wrote to Cambon on receipt of the news, "We have obtained from
Great Britain a first assistance which is most valuable to
1l
us.” Nor d4id the Germans view this step as of no importance.
"That is the help of an ally,"” wrote the Kaiser, on hearing
2 : S
- the news. Lord Loreburn too is of a similar opinion. He
writes in "How the War Ceme:" _
This Memorandum of 2nd Auguét fixes the date at whiech
Great Britain became definitely and irrevocably committed
to war with Germany. War between France and Germany
was then certain and was declared next day. It prohibited
Germany from using her Fleet against French coasts or

shipping, without a corresponding prohibition of the use
of the French Fleet against German coasts or shipping. (3)

. It must be pointed out that this sfep had been taken
before Germany presented her ultimatum to_Beigium, newé of
which aid not reach London until the morning of the néxt day,
AugustIB. The step was definitelyvin line with the determination
of Grey and Asquith to éupport France at all costs. In this
connectién an extract from Asquith's own record of the Cabinet
meeting of August 2 contains thé following:
There is a strong party against any kind of intervent-
ion in any event. Grey, of course, will never consent.
to this, end I shall not separate myself from him._(4)
Several members had assented to the declaration to

defend the French coasts with only the greatest reluctance.

When the Cabinet met in the evening, Mr. John Burns, who regarded

1, Vivieni to Cambon, August 2, 1914, D.D.Fo,Sesérie;XI,No.GZI,
P.474. . '

2. Annotation by the Kaiser, K.D., No.661, p.492.

3. Loreburn, op.cit., 211-12.

4., Asquith, Memories, II, 8.
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it as a declaration of war resigned. TLord beiey also

tendered his resignation, and although he accepted the Prime
Minister's appeal £o defer a final decision till the morrow,

he resigned the next day. It was feared that four others

might also resign, Lord Beauchémp, Sir John Simon, Mr. Harcourt,
and Mr. Masterman. | :

Belgium had hitherto played a secondary part in the
discussions of the Cébinet; up to this point it had been kept
in a secondary place. But now that the Germans had occupied
Luxemburg, and thelr Foreign O0ffice had refused to give an
aésurance that Belglan neutrality would be respected, the
question became the principal card of the interventionists.
Grey, Churchill and the others saw in it the means of beating -
the non-interventionists, of overcoming their opposition, and
of winning over public opinion.

When Sir EZdward was éiving the assurance of naval
support fo M. Cambon on the morning of August 2, he sfated in
referring to Belgium, "We were considering what statement we
should make in Parliament_tomorrow - in effect whether we
should declare the violation of Belglan neutrality to be a
casus‘belli."l At the Cabinet mgeting that evening a defini te

decision was made on this point. In Lord Crewe's report of

the meeting to the King we read:

1. B.D., XI, N004:87, P.275.
2. BEnsor, op. cit., 493.
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It was agreed withoutvany attempts to state a formula,
that it should be made evident that a substantial.
‘_violation.of the neutrality of that country would place
us in the situation contemplated by Mr. Gladstone in
1870, when interference with Belgian independence was
neld to compel us to take action. (1)
Monday, August 3, was the fateful day for England,
The Cabinet met that morning at 11 o'clock in a mood quite
. different from that of the previous mbrning when, in Mr.
Churchill's opinion, it héd "looked as if the majbrity would
resign.™ Just before noon the important news came through of
the German ultimatum to Belgium, and that it had been re jected.
The Cabinet at once consented to the immediate mobilization of
the army, and it was agreed that Britain had no option but to
defend Belgium by arms. No decision, however, was yet taken to
send anAultimatum to Germany, or to send an army to France.
These decisions were reached in the face of later events. But
geheral approval to the statement which Sir Edward was %o make-
before the House during the afternoon was given. None of the
doubtful members of the previous day resigned; for them Belgium
had proved a deciding factor.
At'Z P.M. Grey went to the House of Commons to give
public utterance to his opinion, and as it had now become, the

opinion of the great majority of the Cabinet, of what policy

England ought to follow. What the House and the country would

l. Tord Crewe to the Klng, August 2, 1914, Spender, Oxford
and Asquith, II, 82.
2. Villiers to Grey, August 3,1914, 9:31 A.M., received
- 10:55 A.M., B.D., XI, No.521, p.288. The actual text
of the ultimatum, which had been presented at 7 P.M. on
August 2nd, was not known in London until the afternoon
of August 3rd.

2
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think ﬁad yet to be discovéred. The House was crowded to
the roof and tense with doubt and dreadful expeotétion as it
- had seldom been in its long history. Many have paid tribute
to the ggeat dignity? the simple eloquence, and the tragic
seriousness with which the Foreign Minister presented the mdst
memqrable speech of his career. Avoiding all the effects of .
an orator and all appeals to passion in the tones of his voice,
in the choice of his words, and in the selection of his facts,
he informed the House of the situation in which Emgland now
fouﬁd herself in international affairs.l

He began first with- 2 discussion of the guestion
whether or not Britain was under any b;nding engagement to
support France. The sﬁory of the Entente, the Military '
Conversafions, the exchange of notes in 1912; the distribution
of the two flezets.since 1918, and the previous day's pledge to
France was fully told, giving the House on many of these points
its first knowledge. He insisted, however, that "whatever took
place between the military and naval experts, they were.not
binding engagements upon the'Government."Z "We do not construe
anything which haé previdusly taken place.in our diplomatic
relations with other Powers in this matter as restricting the
freedom‘of the Government to decide what attitude they should
now take, or restrict the freedom of the House of Commons to

%
decide what their attitude should be.m Summing up - was England

1. The fext of the Speech is given in Grey, op. cit.,II
Appendix D, p.294-309. Also in Speeches on Foreign Affairs,
1904-1914, by Sir Edward Grey, selected by Paul Knaplund,
(London, 1951) 292ff.

2. Grey, op. cit., II, 297.
3. ibiad., 298.
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committed to France? - technically, he said, not at all. But
whether morally - Wlet every man look into his own heart,‘and
his own feelings, aﬁd construe the extent of the obligation
fOr.himself.“ “He did nof "Wish to urge upon anyone else more
than their feelings dictate as to what they should feél about :
the obli ga.tion. "

Whatéver view oné takes of this reve}ationTto the
Commons, one‘must admit ﬁhat it mekes strange reading beside
the statemeﬁt madé by the same speaker earlier in that same
year to the effect thatﬁthere were no unpublished agfeements
which'would‘festrict 6r haﬁper'the freedoﬁ of the Government,
quParliament, to decide whether or not Great Britain should
' particibate in a war."é He was}pointing.out that in the written
records of the negotiations and understandings with France full
fréedom of aetibn(had beén reserved, yet he was admitting that
'séme;;ortvof obligation existed. Its extent he was leaving to.
the consciences_of'men who “were ndw'hearing of these matters
 for the first time, who were being asked to make a decision in
a time of acute crisis, and who were in tfuth:having no choice
left them. He was telling thelMembers they were free to make
a choice Whether or'not France should be supported, -but he was
also making it clear - and he was the one man who knew all

about the promises, exchanges, assurances, conversations or

whatever they might be called - that he construed these as

l. Grey, op. cit., II, 299.
- 2. Supra. 226.
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binding upon England to éid France, and furthermore,.he would
- have resigned had Pérliament cbnstrued them otherwise." That
is.surely the amazing and perpleXing.note in his address - if
hé who directed the secret negotiations felt that England was in
honour bognd to aid France,how {hen he could truly say that
England was unpledged and free?
He turned from this question to discuss the matter
of Belgium, "a more serious cbnsideration,“ he termed 1%,
“becomihg'more serious every hour.,"8 He cited the committments
of 1839 and 1870 by which Britain bound herself to guarantee
Belgium, and referred fo Germany's fefusal.to give an unequivocal
promise to respect Belgian neutrality. He told of the German
.ultimatum, of its rejection, and of an appeal which King Albert
had made for "diplomatic intervention."™ He pictured for his

listeners how British interests as well as British honour were

involved in the fate of Belgium - for if Belgium lost her

l. In reading to the House the letter given to Cambon in
the exchange of notes in November, 1912, Grey omitted
to read the last sentence. (Supra 212). His crities have
made this a stréng point in establishing their case
against him. (Tutz, op.cit.,100). In defense he states
that the omission must have been quite unintentional.
He claims he was not aware of having omitted the sentence
until he was charged with having done so as late as
1928. He adds that the omission was perhaps the result
of a question about the date of the letter whieh interr-
upted the reading, or perhaps "I thought the last

- sentence unimportant.™ He cannot explain it in any other
way. Grey, op.cit., II, 16. Whatever oge might think
of the first explanation offered, it is difficult to
believe that Grey, or any one else, could regard the
sentence as unimportant.
.. &. Grey,,op.eit, II, 301.



-318~

independenée, then Holland and perhaps Denmark might lose
théirs, and if France was beaten and lost hef position as a
Great fdwer, England would be faced by "the unmeasured aggrand-
izement®" of Germany. "If, in a crisis like this,; we run away
from thdse obligations of honour and interest as regards the
Belgian treaty, I doubt whether, whatever materiasl force we
might have at the end, it would be of very much value in face
of the respect that we should have lost."

Although he was maintaining that it was up to
Parliament now to decide Britain's poliey, he waé.in reality
leaving Parliament no choice. "There is but one way in which
the Government could make certain at the present moment of
'keeping oufside this war," he said, "and that would be that it
should immediately issue'a proclamation of unconditional
neutrality.®™ But to this he added, "We cannot do that. We
have made the commitmengt to France (of August 2nd) that I
‘have read to the House which prevents us from dqing that. We
have'got the consideration of Belgium which prevents us also
from aﬁ unconditional neutrality, and without those conditions
absolutely satisfied, and satisfactory, we are bouhd not to
shrink from proceeding to the use of all the foreces in our
powerg"a

»He'was not asking the House fidr a definite endorsement

of any precise measures. He was informing them of what had been

1. Grey,. op.cit., 11, 305.
2. Iblq.,307. e, T,
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aone up to this date, assuring them that Britain's hands
were still free, a fact which it is hard to believe from his
own words; and that it was for Parliament to decide. At the
same time he was placing before the House in a most decided
and persuasive manner his own conviction that England ought
not, almost could not, stand aside. He ended with a passionate
declaration that the country would be disgraced if.it did not
déclare war. The tenor of the whole speech was that England
must support France.

The speech was received most enthusiastically by
the House; the applause with which it was greetéd left no
doubt that Parliament would support him. The news that "they
have cheered him" when carried to the Foreign‘Office,‘gave
inexpressible relief to Sir Arthur Nicolson.1

out side the House Grey told Churchill, "Now we
shall send them (Germany) an ultimatum to stop the invasion
of Belgium within twenty-four hoﬁrs;"z The Cabinet met in the
evening, and after the session Sir Edward confided to Cambon |
that 1t had been decided to send instructions the néxt morning
to the Ambassador in Berlin to demand that the German ultimatum
to Belgium be withdrawn. W"If they refuse," he addéd, "there
will be war.“3

At 9:30 A.M. on August 4 a stiff note was sent to

Berlin stating that Belgium had appealed to Britain for

1.  Nicolson, op. cit., 422.

2. Churchill, op. cit., I, 235.

&. Cambon to Doumergue, August 4,1914, D.D,F., 3° série,
- XI, No.712, pp.531-32.
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diplomatic intervention against the Germen demands. The
note stated:

His Majesty's Government are bound to protest
against this violation of a treaty to which Germany
is a party in common with themselves, and must request
an assurance that the demand made on Belgium will not
be proceeded with, and that her neutrality will be
respected by Germany. (1)

The Berlin Government was asked for an "immediate reply." At
the same time the Belglan Government was informed that Britain
would help in resisting Germany if the latter should "exert
2
- pressure to make her give up her neutrality.m
By this time Germen troops were already in Belgian
territory. During the afternoon Lichnowsky informed Sir Edward,
in accord with instructions, that Germany had no intention of
annexing Belglan territory, but that the invasion of the small
Power was for Germany a vital matter:
Impress upon‘Sir Idward Grey that the German Army
could not be exposed to French attack across Belgium,
which was planned according to absolutely unimpeachable
information. Germany had consequently to disregard Belgian
neutrality, it being for her a question of life or death
- %o prevent French advance. (3)
This communication was in no way satisfactory to
London, and aceordingly at 2 P.M., the British ultimatum was
dispatched. It referred to the ultimatum to Belgium and the

report that Belgian territory had been violated. "In these

l. Grey to Goschen, August 4,1914,B.D.,XI,N0.573, p.306.

4. Grey to Villiers, August 4,1914, ibid., No.580, p.309.

d. Jagow to Lichnowsky, Communicated by the German
Amgassador, Avugust, 4, 1914, at noon, B.D.,XI, No.587,
p.312.
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eircumstances, and in view of the fact that Germany declined
to glve the same assurances respecting Belgium as France gave
last week in reply to our request,® the request was repeated,
and a satisfactory reply asked for in London by midnight.
Failing such a reply, Sir Edward Goschen was to ask for his
passports.1 |

No sstisfactory reply was expected in London, nor
was one received. Accordingly, at 11 P.M. (midnight by Central
BEuropean time) the Foreign 0ffice delivered to Lichnowsky the
formal declaration of war.z The.sands of peace had now run
out; Britain too had been dragged over the abyss - the nation,
which had so long enjoyed its insular security.

Sir Edward Grey might well have congratulated himself
on his success in having brought Britain as a united nation
into the War to aid France. But he took little satisfaction
in this success at the time; for in his first and greatest aim,
that of preserving the peace of Burope, he had failed - failed
in spite of a8ll his efforts. And this failure he felt most
bitterly. "I hate war! I hate warl!™ he had exclaimed when
Nicolson came to congratulate him on his speech which had won
over the House of Commons.3 His biographer points out that no
pacifist realized more clearly than he the irreparable damage

4
to eivilization that must ensue from war under modern conditions.

1. Grey to Goschen, August 4, 1914, B.D.,XI, No.594, p.314.
2. B.D. XI, No.643, p.330.

4. Nicolson, op. cit., 422.

4. Trevelyan, op. cit., 266.
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Late in the evening of August 3 he stood with a friend at av
window in his room at the Foreign Office looking out into the
summer dusk, and as the first lights began to appear, he sald,
"The lamps are going out all over Europe, and we shall not see
them 11t again in our life-time."1

Ih éonclusion, looking for the prime factor which
had decided Britain's entry into the war, one must agree with
Mr. John Ewart that this is found in fhe determination to
conserve British interests.2 Even had Britain stood aside at
the outset of hostilities, she must, as Grey stéted on August
3, surely have ihtervened during the course of the war in order
to avoid the consequences of & German victory. But, back'of
this, lies the fact that Britain had been brought into opposit-
ion to Germany through her "entente" policy with France and
Russia; her interests pointed a course in opposition to Germany
very largely because she was linked with France and the Slavie
Power. Her entry into the conflicet in 1914 in support of

France was the logical outcome and the inevitable sequel of

the policy pursued since 1904.

1. The friend to whom Grey addressed these words was Mr.
Je«A. Spender of the "Westminster Gazette." - Spender
mentions the oceasion in his Life, Journalism and
Politics, (London, 1927), II, 14. Grey mentions this
incident in his Memoirs. II, 20.

2. Bwart, op. cit., I, Chapter V, and conclusions, 198.
See also Grey's letter to Mr. Barclay (Manchester, Mass.),
dated August 4, 1914, in which he defines the Chief issue
for Britain in these words. "The issue for us was that,
if Germany won, she would dominate France; the independence
of Belgium, Holland, Denmark and perhaps Norway and Sweden,
Whﬁld be a mere shadow:thelr separate existence as nations
would really be a fiction;all their harbours would be at
Germany's disposal; she would dominate the whole of Western
Burope;and this would make our position quite impossible.

We could not exist as a first class Stat :
stances." B.D.,XI, No.638, p.328. a%te under such ciroupy-
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After years of close cooperation with France, Britain
could not, because of hér interests and the moral obligation
involved, desert the Republic in the hour of crisis. The
assurances givén so emphatically by the ForéignvSecretary on
Augﬁst 3 that Britain was free and unpledged were formally
correct, but inaccurate in substance. By her interests and her
honour Britain was'bound not to leave France unprotected;
she was tied to France inextricably by countless threads which
had been woven down through the years. The coanversations,
diplomatic, military and naval, were commitments deeply
rooted in honour, if not in formal documents, Which gradually,
but formidably and inevitably bound Britain to support the
Republiec. If Britain héd literally preserved her freedom of
action, she had bound herself morally to France as closely as
1f there had been a written alliance.

- Sir Edward's speech made manifest how deeply he felt
that England must not fail the obligation whieh his words
showed to be founded equally on honour as well as on consider-
dtions of British safety. The question of British entry was
settled for the most of the public on the issue of the violation
of Belgian neutrality; Grey, however, though he felt the weighf
of this point, never pretended or felt that it was the only or
deeiding factor.:L He saw Britain's poliey linked with that of

France; facing the assumption of Britain standing aside, he

1. Sohmitt, op. eit., II, 401.
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pictured a crushed France, and a viqtorious Germany in possess?
ion of thé Channel ports turning next to settle accounts with
8 Britain ieft without a friend or ally.

How is it possible to explain, however, the position
in which the Government had to face the fact, whether‘it was
admitted or not, that it was not free to act with detachment,
that British hands were tied, in spite of the assurances of
the foreign Minister. This was uwngquestionably the result of
the policy which Grey had followed throughout the previous
decade, a policy which was at no time clear-cut, a policy which
he hoped always, and at all times maintained, would leave his
- Government midwéy between fphe two continental diplomatic camps,
but which in reality bound it to France and Russia.

| It muét be made clearbthat the British Foreign'Office
was during these yearsvpervaded’by a persistent and‘an ever-
increasing fear of a confliet with Germeny. That fear was.
basie in British policy. Gfey had entered into office, as his
Memoirs make clear( with a deep prejudice against'Germany, a
prejudice shared and nourished by his assoclates in the ‘Foreign
Office, as well és by events which folloWed his entry there.
Sir BEyre Crowe and Sir Arthur Nicolson had an almost morbid
suspicion of Germany, of her dishonesty, her hostility, and of
her determination to seize the hegemony of the world. Their
comments on dispatches published in the British Documents meker

this fear abundantly evident, and these most assuredly infiuenced
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1 .
Grey and other officials who read them. Dominated by this

fear, and continually in the grip of this bogey, Grey was anti-C
German against his will.

Hié very real desire to effect a rapprochement with
the Teutonic Power was thus nullified, and he was driven to
seek closer relations with France and Russia. This does no#$
mean that he had no reason to be suspicious of Germany.
Germeny, in the pre-war years - under the ﬁactless and outspoken
Kaiser, who was supported by the noisy propagandists demanding
a "place in the sun," and who was determined to build up a
navy for which the British could see little justification,'and
governed by officials who lacked finesse in the- conduet of
foreign affairs, and whose conduet of foreign affairs was
exasperating»and often inexcusably inept ~ would have taxed the
‘patience and the resources of any Foreign Secretary who sought
a8 happy understanding. There was then, admittedly good reason
at times to be suspicious of Germany, and this added materially
to the deep-rooted fears in the Foreign O0ffice. The rise of
the new Germany after 1870, the blundering policies of the
German diplomats in the post-Bismarckian era, and the suspicions
of her intentions, were primary factors in turning Britain to
seek and close the friendship with France.g

But in fairness to Germany, to admit the above facts

is not to imply as an absolute truth that European peace would

l. Crowe's long memorandum of January 1,1907,which Grey marked
as most valuable and helpful as a guide to poliecy and which
he gave to the Cabinet;B.D.,IFI, Appendix A; pp.397-420.

. &. See Grey's confidential letter to President Roosevelt
written after the Algeciras Conference, cited in Trevelyan
op.cit., 1l4-16, '
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i
have been assured could Germany or any other single Power

have been eliminated as a factor in international -affairs.
Europe was living unquestionably before 1914 under a system
of "international anarchy," of which all the Powers were ready
at any time to take advantage to push forward their part}cular
interests. Blind to the dangers of this "international
anarchy" the leaders of the Powers were stumbling along the
road to ruin. Nevertheless, under this system, for Britain
it was Germany which dominated the international stage, and
shaped the issues for the British leéders.

The importance of the British reaction in this
respect has been well summarized by the eminent Austrian
scholar, Professor Pribram:

It was quite obvious to British statesmen; during the
decades that preceded the World War, that England must
retain her supremacy at sea; that she could not permit any
Continental Power to establish a hegemony in BEurope and
by so doing upset the European Balance of Power in a sense
contrary to British interests; and finally, that she could
not allow Belgium to pass into the hands of the strongest
Continental Power. Since the "fear" that Germany entertained
such plans increased from year to year, British statesmen
held it to be their duty to defeat such plans if Germany
should one day seek to put them into operation. Hence the
inerease in naval armaments, the successive agreements with
their allies, and hence also their endeavours to win for
England new friends. (1)

Mr. Ensor, in passing judgment on these words, declares, "the
2
reason for the Ententes could not be better stated."

This analysis of the British attitude towards the

Entente is no less true for France. The French were if anything

- 1. Pribram, A.F., England and the International Poiicy of

the European Great Powers, 1871-1914, (London, 1931)
p.149.

&. Ensor, op. cit., 496.

’
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more deeply motivated by that fear of the new Germany after
1870, and their most subtle diplomacy was directed towards
gaining friends for the Republie, to leave behind that isolation
in which Bismarck's poliey had placed her. To regain for
France her former rank in Burope French leaders played the
game of power-politics with peculiar skill, ready to seize
any opening leading to the improvemegt of their position, ahd
as they would claim, of French security. Mr. Spender pays
tribute to the French leaders when he writes, "It is scarcely
an exaggeration to say that the French were the cleverest, the
most clear-sighted and the wisest in their generation of all
the diplomatists of this period."l The Russian Alliance was
the cornerstone of French seéurity, and to have with this an
intimate friendship with England, with her great sea power,
was & consideration of tremendous weight. To keep that
friendship, to draw it closer when possible, was the policy of
the French under Delcassé, Millerand, Pichon and Poincaré, a
policy definitely conceived, unified and continuous>in its
execution. Britain's declaration for war on August 4 marked
the triumph of this program in national defense and foreign
affairs.

The preceding chapters have shown how the Anglo-French
Entente did not stop as it began - with merely cordial offers

on the part of the Governments to support the other's colonial

e

l. Spender, Fifty Years, 372.
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ambitions in Morocco snd Egypt - it led to naval and military
conversations - staffs met - preparations for war were consid-
ered as suspici@n of German intentions deepened - and conver-
sations of this nature, like growing armaments, stimulated
belief in the greater possibility'of war, and thus falth in
‘the necessity of an even closer Entente. Sir Henry Campbell-
Bannerman, it has been pointed out, was afraid that the conver-
’ sations'might create at least "an honourable understanding,"l
and Mr. Asquith in 1911 hinted that they might be "rather
dangerous."z But once embarked upon they cduld ndt easily be
dropped. And too much evidence has been revealed in earlier
pages to doubt that fhey did create on the part of France an
expectation that British supporf in the event of war coﬁld be
counted upon. It is not clear, however, despite the fears
efpressed by Campbell;Bannerman and ASQuith, that the liabilities
which might result from the Entente as it developed were ever
fully realized by the British leaders who initiated the policy,
or fully eppreciated by the Liberal Cabinet when the measures
taken were finally revealed to them. They were, of course,
kept quite deliberaﬁely from the knowledge of the House of
Commons, and on numerous occasions hints of them absolutely
denied. |

One must agree with Lord Loreburn in censuring Sir
Edward Grey and his assocliates for thus involfing England in

secret understandings with France of which members of the Cabinet

l. Supra, 104.
2. Supra, 179 (Note 1):
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and Parliament were unaware. As Mr. Fay points out, "This was
not in-accord with what was understood to be the constitutiona;
practice in England.“l Grey claims in defense of his policy,
and perhaps with some element of justice, that Parliament
could not be told of military and naval measures taken to meet
possible contingencies.z But at times the difficulties and the
dangers in his position must have been clear to him; whether
or not he would admit them, and though he clung insistently to
his faith that his policy was the wiser one. Time after time
Nicolson, Crowe, Goschen and Bertié sought to have the Entente
cénverted into an alliance, an alliance in fact if not in
name, believing as they did that Anglo-French solidarity should
be patent and proclaimed. The question arises at this point -
did Grey in his heart agree with this view, and was he forced
to content himself wifh the Qifficult half-measures anm evgsions
because he feared his colleagues in the Cabinet and Parliament
might repudiate him‘?3 |

It musﬁ.be understood, as Mr. Ensor makes clear, that
whatever be thought on other grounds of Sir‘Edward Grey's
Entente policy, one of its greatest weaknesses was that the
bulk of the Liberal Party nelther understood nor liked it.4

In the years before 1914, and even on the brink of the catastrophe

l. Pay, loc. cit., &253.
2. Grey, op. cit., I, 289-90.
. Nicolson, op. cit., 329-34, for an admirable summary of
the divergent views in the Foreign Office.
4. Ensor, op. cit., Appendix C. 3, 572. Irévelyan, op.cit.,112.
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of the War, mqst Liberals were pro—German'in their sympathies,
and anti-French. Opposition to the Entente policy of close |
friendship with France had arisen after Agadir Crisis, ana
the poliey at that time héd been wnder fire by the Liberal Press.:L
Théfleadiné?Liberals, and chief among these, C.P. Scott, of
the "Manchester Guardian,™ were opposed not only to the details
of Grey's policy, but to his whole plan, and were in reality
isolationists,?wishing to see Britain adopt an attitude of
impartiality among the Powers. Others in the party, according
to Mr. Ensor, "the less iﬁtelligent rank and file," when they
thought of foreign affairs at all, did so in terms of:tradit-
ional prejudice against ﬁhe Frepch people and the Ruséianv
Empire. Had Grey been less aloof by nature, his cfitics wéuld
certainly have Judged his policy less severely, for they
_greatly underestimated his diffieulties; the obstacles which
Germany offered to friendship were not tfuly uﬁderstood, nor
the lengths to which he, despite his anti-German predilections,
Went to Qverdome theﬁ.

His difficulties were.thus enormously augmented.
How did he seek to deal with this hostility? In general he
sought to evade it; he did not face up to it, preferring rather
to side-step it; with the result that this defect in his polley

continued. For the most part he made no attempt to settle is;

l. Supra, 182-85. : '

2. Hammond, op. cit., 152; Ensor, op. cit., 572. Trevelyan
op.cit.,200. Trevelyan speaks of Scott as "the most well-
informed and intelligent of Grey's critics," and adds that
"his reasoned attacks on the entente policy rendered the
d%vision of opinion in the Liberail Party all the more
difficult for the Foreign Secretary.n
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and on pccaéion when a serioué breach threatened, or when
pointed guestions were asked, by a speech of tact and moderation,
of even of evasion, he silenced criticism. Because of the prestige
he enjoyed in public 1life, and by reason of the high regard in
which his character and integrity were generally held, he
réstored confidence.1 One of the chief criticisms that cah

be laid against his conduct of British foreign affairs is that

he never really instructed his party nor the House in the
‘realities of the international sifuation. And tolno lesser
degree he failed to educate public opinion as a whole through
the press. He made no provision for keeping what should have
been the friendly press informed;z Among the Liberal publicists
Mr. J.A: Spender of the "Westminster Gazette," an influential
paper but with ohly a small circulation, was his only steédy
a@vocate, and the only one in which he or Asquith ever ordinarily
conf.‘id'e—ﬁ.:5 |

In the debate in the House of Commons'on-Augusf 3, a

member made this terrible reproach to Grey as Forelgn Secretary:

l. Mr. Conwell-Evans, in discussing why the Government was
able to ignore the attitude of those who were not in
agreement with its policies, points out that these latter
were greatly at fault too in that while they were not in
accord their eriticism was ™neither sustained and constant,
nor whole-hearted and vigorous.®™ Those who were filled
with forebodings of a coming war with Germany Y“greatly
érred;"hessaysj:fin.nott coming out into the open, address-
-ing themselves to the people, and conducting a widespread
gzmggign of protest and alarm throughout the land." op.cit.,

2. Ensor, op. cit., 574. , :

$. Hammond, op. eit., 151; Trevelyan, op. cit., 201.
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I regret very much that at the end of eight years

the best you can say of the policy that has been

pursued - of the Triple Entente - is that it should

have landed us in a war like this. (1)
It is possible to argue in this vein - that while the object
of the Entente may have been to secure peace in Europe it did
not prevent war. It is possible to reason along the line of
thought - that the development of close relations between *
Britain and France, and thus between Britain and Russia,
carrying support in diplomacy and plans for cooperation in the
event of war - that this could hardly fail to breed apprehension
in a state like Germany, and thus involve Britain in the
conflict the precipitation of which she was presumably seeking
tb‘avert. But it is also possible to argue, as in fact Sir
Edward Grey contends, that whether or not Britain was bound to
France, no matter what her relations in the Entente might be,
Britain could not in any case have stood aside in 1914 and have
refused to Jjoin in the war when the conflict came, that she
could not have stood aside and have seen France crushed.

After the outbreak of the War, .as Gréy tells us, his
mind often reverted to the question whether the catastrophe
could have been averted by anything he had omitted to do in the
carryigg out of British foreign affairs throughout the pre-war
years. He arrives at a conclusion in his Memoirs, which sets

3
his doubts at rest. Butb before dismissing this question a

1. Parliamentary Debates, House of Commons, 1914, vol.LXV,
1836-37.

&. Grey, op. cit., II, p.47.

é. Ibid., p.47 et seq.
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further problem in the matter of the Anglo~French Entente

must be raised -~ was the secrecy in which the relations were
carried out really wise - if there was faul$, in how far does
it lie in the secret manner in which the negoﬁiations were
conducted?

Grey's claim that Parliament could not have been
told of the measures taken to meet possible dangers must bear
examination. Perhaps members could not have been told of the
details of those measures, perhaps they need not have been
told of the details. But was it wise;to withhold from Parliament
the knowledge of the fact that their did exist communications
of a nature which might lead France, though this wés not
intended, to count on hélp in case of war. And when it is
realized that the existence of these conversations, though
| kept from Parliament, were suspected in Germany, which Power
Grey admits, "may thereby have béen led to think that British
relations with France and Russia had an aggressive character,“l
one wonders whether a frénk and open statement on the subject
would not have lessened suspicion on all sides. These no
doubt are difficult questions on which historians will continue

to speculate indefinitely.

1. Grey, op. cit., I, 296.
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ten in a charming style, most disarming, and
seemlingly so judicial one finds it almost im-
possible to disagree. Does not go into details
nor deal with controversial points. While the
author does not falsify, he often skims over
difficulties. Most valuable for its revelation
of Grey's personality. Does reveal his dis-
trust of Germany while he held office.

Haldane, R. B., - An Autobiography.
London, Hodder and Stoughton Ltd., 1929.
Gives useful information on Britain's military
. preparations, valuable accounts of his visits
to Germany.
Haldane€, R. B., Before the War.

London, Cassell and Co. Ltd., 1920.

The apologia of the former Minister of War.
Not a detailed work but useful for his infor-
mation on his visits to Germany, especially
his #iission of 1912,  He is inclined to blame
Germany, but is never bitter.

‘House, Colonel, The Intimate Papers of Colonel House.
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Boston, Houghton Mifflin Co., 1926.

The papers of the trusted adviser of President
Wilson who served often as his personal rep-
resentative., Arranged as a narrative by Pro-
fessor Charles Seymour. Gives an illuminat-
ing picture of House's mission to Europe in
1914 on the eve of the War, when he talked
with German and British leaders in the hope of
accomplishing something to check the armament
race.

Joffre, Marshal, Memoirs, 2 vols.
London, G. Bles, 1932.

Contains the military record of the French High
Command from 1914 to 1916. The author gives a
little information of some value on the actions
of the French Government in the days immediate-
ly preceding the outbreak of war.

Jusserand, J.J., What Me Befell.
London, Constable and Co. Ltd., 1933.

The reminiscences of the French ambassador to
Washington after 1903. Contains useful in-
formation on the part President Roosevelt
played in the Morocco Crisis of 1905-06.

Lichnowsky, K.M., Heading for the Abyss.
New York, Payson and Clark Ltd., 1928.

The reminiscences of the German ambassador to
London from 1912 to 1914. Bitter in his criti-
cism of German policy before the War. One can-

" not but be impressed with his sincerity and the
validity of many of his criticisms of German
policy.

Lloyd George, David, War Memoirs, vol. I.
London, Nicholson and Watson, 1933.

This volume dealing with the year 1914 has only

a little to say on the events leading up to the

War. It does offer a bitter attsck on Grey's

handling of foreign affairs. The writer finds

little to Grey's credit as Foreign Secretary.

Explains also his own part in the Agadir Crisis of 191l.



-VIII-
Morley, John, Memorandum on Resignation.
New York, Macmillan Company, 1928.

Valuable for its information on the British Cab-
inet discussions on the eve of the War. Presents
the views of minority group, those who felt Bri-
tain should keep free from continental entangle-
ments. Not wholly reliable since the writer is
vague in his memory of dates and sequences.

' Paléoiogue, Maurice, = La Russie des Tsars Pendant La Grande
Guerre, I.
Paris, Libraire Plon, 1921.

This volume is the journal of the French Ambas-
sador to St. Petersburgh for the period July 20,
. 1914, to June 2, 1915. Interesting and valuable
. entries for the visit of Poincaré to St. Peters-
" burgh and for the lest days of peace in the
Russian capital. But much of what could have
. been told is not recorded. According to Paléo-
- logue the enemies of peace were all in Berlin.

"Paléologue, Maurice, Un Grand Tournant de la Politigue
Mondiale, 1904-06.
Paris, Libraire Plon, 1934.

A portion of the writers journal for the years
1904-1906. Is decidedly anti-German and offers
a complete justification of Delcasse’s policy.

Poincard, Raymond, Memoirs, 2 vols.
London, W. Heinemenn Ltd., 1926,

The English edition of the more voluminous or-
iginal, "Au Service de la France." Furnishes
Poincard's defense against his eritics' charges
that he fomented the War. Of importance.to
students for its exposition of French policy
after 1912 when the writer took office. As one
might expect there is a decided personal bhias.

Poincaréd, Raymond, The Origins of the War. )
London, Cassell and Company, 1922.
The French President's account of the War®s

origins, being a reprint of six lectures de-
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give an account of French policy after 1871,
while others deal with the events after June
28, 1914.

Repington, C. ¥ Court, The First World War, 1914-1918, vol. I.
' New York, Houghton, Mifflin Co., 1921.

The personal experiences of the author, who was
Military Correspondent of the "Times". Of

great importance for the details he gives of how
the military conversations of 1905 and 1906 be-
tween England and France began.

Riddell, Lord, War Diary.

London, Ivor Nicholson and Watson Ltd.,
1933.
The early pages give a very useful account of
the division in the British Cabinet on the eve
of the War.

Sazonov, Serge, | Fateful Years.

New York, F.A. Stokes Co., 1928,

The recollections of the Russian Foreign Min-
ister, being a justification of Russian policy.

Useful as an exposition of the Russian point of
view.

Schoen, Freiherr von, The Memoirs of avambassador.

London, George Allen and Unwin Ltd.,
. 1922,
The author served as the German Secretary of
State for Foreign Affairs from 1907 to 1910,
and from then until the outbreak of the War he
was Ambassador in Paris. His memoirs throw
light on many events of those years-.

Steed, Wickham, Through Thirty Years, 2 vols.
New York, Doubleday, Page and Co.,1924.

The interesting reminiscences of the Vienna
correspondent and later the foreign editor of
the "Times." Contains useful and interesting
material on many points, though the writer's
judgment may often be open to question - for
example his contention that the German leaders
willed the War.
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William II, The Kaiser's Memoirs.
London, Harper and Brothers, 1922.

The Kaiser's justification of himself and
his government. Not at all reliable as
history, but interesting as a revelation
of personality. He transfers responsibil-
ity for the unfortunate episodes of his
reign to others.
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Secondary Soureces.

Albin,Pierre, " Le "Coup" dtAgadir.
Paris, Libraire Felix Alcan, 1912.

A detailed narrative account of the Agadir
Crisis of 1911 written from the French point
of view, | : '

Anderson, E.N., The First Moroccan Crisis, 1904-06.

Chicago, University of Chicago Press,
A detailed and scholarly study of the subject
showing a thorough investigation of a wide
range of sources. A notable contribution to
an important subject. Written in best his-
torical spirit, revealing impartiality in the
views expressed. ‘

Archer, William, The Thirteen Days, July 23-AugUst 41914.
' London, Oxford Clarendon Press, 1915.

A study of the crisis of 1914 as it developed day
by day in the different capitals. In need of re-
vision in the light of the revelations of recent
years.

' Barnes, H.E., , The Genesis of the World War.
New York, Alfred A. Knopf, 1927.

Written from the extreme revisionist view point,
upholding the thesis of Franco-Russian war-guilt.
Is anything but dispassionate or objective; is
rather the case of an emotional advocate. An
impassioned protest against all Germany's re-
sponsibility for the outbreak of war. Is open
to serious criticism in its interpretations.

Beard, Charles A., Cross Currents in Europe Today.

London, George G. ﬁarrop and Co. Ltd.,
1922,
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Contains an interesting and valuable chapter on
the British and French mllitary conversations.

Beaverbrook, Lord, Politicians and the War, 1914-1916, vol.I.
London, Thornton, Butterworth Ltd., 1928,

Contains an useful chapter on the way in which the
British Cabinet was divided in August, 1914, over
the question of intervention. Is rather vague on
the meeting of the Conservative leaders on August
1 and 2, when they decided to support a policy of
intervention on behalf of France.

Beazley, Raymond,’ The Road to Ruin in Europs, 1890—1914.
London, J.M. Dent and Sons Ltd., 1932.

A brief survey of pre-war diplomacy, written from
the revisionist point of view. A strong indict-
ment of the policies of the Entente Powers. Con-
tains little that is new.

Benson, E. F., The Outbreak of the War, 1914.
New York, G.P. Putnam's Sons, 1934,

A graphic account of the last days of peace from

- the view point of the ordinary citizen. The
author skilfully pictures the dramatic days of
July and August as Europe slipped over the
precipice into war.

Binkenhead, Earl of, Contemporary Personalities.,
London, Cassel and Co. Ltd., 1924.
Contains an interesting sketch of Sir Edward
Grey, distinctly favourable to the Foreign
Secretary.
Bishop, J.B., Theodore Roosevelt and His Time, vol. I.
New York, Charles Scribner's Sons, 1920.
ot Contains anaccount of the part Roosevelt took in
mediating between the opposing Powers in the
Morocco Crisis of 1905-06. The author is inclin-

ed to overestimate the influence the President
exercised.
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Bloch, Camille, The Causes of the World War.

)

London, George Allen and Unwin Ltd., 1935
Written by the Director of the French War Lib-
rary-Museum, a narrative of the events of July,

1914, from which is drawn the conclusion of the
guilt of Germany and Austria-Hungary. Decided-
ly biased in interpretations.

Bourgeois, E, et Pagds, G., Les Origines et les Responsabilités
de la Grande Guerre.

Paris, Libraire Hachette, 1922,

An authoritative but conventional interpretation,
rather lacking in judicial temper. One of the
most important French works, and a useful study of
Franco-German relations before 1914.

Brandenburg, Erich, From Bismarck to the World War,

London, Oxford University Press, 1927.

The accepted authoritative account of German
policy before the War. Especially noted for its
scholarly impartiality. The author has made a

full use of German documents. Truly an inval-
uable work. -

Callwell, C.E., - Field-Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, vol. I.
' London, Cassell and Co. Ltd., 1927.

A biography of Sir Henry Wilson who was Direct-
or of Military Operations at the War 0ffice after
1910. Preises him as a great soldier, an able
administrator, possessed of vision and devotion
to his country. Reveals how he prepared the
Expeditionary Force, giving little credit to
Haldane, its creator, and how he cooperated with
the French General Staff after 1910. Reveals
also the close contact he maintained with the
officials in the Foreign Office.

Cambridge History of AW. Ward and G. P. Gooch, editors.
British Foreign Policy,
vol. III, Cambridge, University Press, 1922.

This history of British diplomacy in the pre-
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war years is written by G. P. Gooch--written in
narrative style, simple and clear. Useful as an
outline of British policy.

Cecil, Algernon, British Foreign Secretaries, 1807-1916.
London, G. Bell and Sons, 1927.

Gives in condensed form sketches of internationsl
issues and biographies of British foreign ministers.

Chirol, Valentine, Sir, Fifty Years in a Changing World.
London, J. Cape, 1927,

The reminiscences of the foreign editor of the
London "Times," particularly interesting in

the matter of Anglo~-German relations before
1914 in the chapter "On the Road to Armageddon.™

Colvin, Ian. The Life of Lord Carsbn, III.
London, Viector Gollanez, Ltd., 1936.

Gives a most interesting account which 1s of
great value of the meeting of the Conservative
leaders on the weekend of August 1 and 2

when the decision was taken to support tﬁe
Cabinet on the questions of intervention in
the War on behalf of France.

Conwell-Evans, T.P., Foreign Policy from a Back Bench, 1904~
. 1918.
London, Oxford University Press, 1932.

A valuable contribution to the study of British
policy based on the papers of Lord Noel-Buxton.
Especially valuable for its revelation of the
opposition among the Liberals to Grey's entente
policy.

Coville, Alfred and Studies in Anglo-French History dur-
Temggrleys Harold, ing the Eighteenth, Nineteenth and
(edisors) . Twentieth Centuries. |

Cambridge, The University Press, 1935.
A number of studies the result of historical con-

ferences held in London in 1933 and in Paris in
1934. Contains a valuable study by Pierre Renouvin
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on the agreements and conversations worked out
by the chiefs of staff seeking to answer to
what extent the governments approved these or
were engaged by them.

Crewe, Marquess of, Lord Rosebery, 2 vols;

London, J. Murray, 1931.

A disappointing work; contains little of resal
importance in the matter of foreign policy.

Debidour, A., Histoire Diplomatique de 1'Europe,

2 vols.
Paris, Libraire Felix Alcan, 1919-1920.

A narrative account of European international
affairs from 1878 to 1914. Volume I covers the
period to 1904, and volume II the decade be-
fore the War. The work suffers from a decided
anti-German bias and reveals German leaders,
and the Kaiser in particular, as working for
war.

Denis, Ernest., La Guerre.

Paris, Libraire Delagrave, 1915.

An attempt at a psychological approach to the
study of the causes of the War, by a profes-
sor of the University of Paris. Tries to be
fair, but offers the traditional French view
of the guilty Germany.

Dickinéon, G. Lowes, The International Anarchy.

Dugdale,

London, Geo. Allen and Unwin Co., 1926.

A scholarly study of pre-war diplomacy written
from the pacifist viewpoint, showing the war
not as the result of the policies of individual
nations, but as the result of the system or
rather the lack of system by which European
affairs were conducted. Admirable historical
writing showing wide reading.

Blanche, E.C., Arthur James Balfour, 2 vols.
London, Hutchinson and Co. Ltd., 1936.

The biography of Balfour written by his niece.
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Contains brief references to foreign affairs

and reveals his attitude to the entente policy
which began when he was prime minister. Tells
of his part in the rdole played by the opposition
leaders on the eve of the outbreak of the War.

Durham, Edith, M., The Sarajevo Crime.

London, George Allen and Unwin, 1925,

Presents the case against the Serbian govern-
ment. The writer reveals the Serbian provo-
cations of Austria, the conspiracies of the
"Black Hand Plotters," and summarizes the ev-
idence to show that the Serbian government was
aware of the plot but did nothing to prevent
it or warn the Austrian government.

Ensor, R.C.K., Englend, 1870-1914.
| Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1936.

A notable work, covering nearly all aspects of
English history from 1870 to 1914 in an accurate
and scholarly manner, and giving a careful and
adequate recital of the change in British
foreign policy and of events which led to the
"Wer. The writer tends towards a rather con-
servative view of the causes of the War leaning
in favour of the view of Germany®s guilt. Gives
a splendid analysis of the attitude of the Lib-
eral Party towards the international situation.

Ewart, John S., The Roots and Causes of the Wars, 1914-
. 1918, 2 vols.
New York, George H. Doran Co., 1925.

A notably thorough analysis of the causes of the
War by the eminent Canadian jurist. The author
distinguishes between the roots and the causes
which precipitated conflict. He treats the con-
fliet not as one war but as a number of wars,
and analyses the reasons for the entrance into
war of each of the belligerents. Of high value
to students of the period.

Fabre-Luce, A., La Victoire.
| Paris, La Nouvelle Revug Frangaise,1924.

Written from the revisionist pdint of view offering
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a strong criticism of the policies of the En-
tente Powers. Concludes that the Central
Powers by their actions mede the War possible,
but the Entente Powers made it certain.

Farrer, J.A., England,Under Edward VII.
London, G. Allen end Unwin Ltd., 1922.

Reveals the part played by Edward VII in in-
ternational affairs, attributing to him a
large rﬁle, claiming he was his own foreign
minister.

Fay, S.B., 'The Origins of the World War,2 vols. in one:
(24. ed.,revised).
New York, the Macmillan Company, 1932.

Ranks as one of the finest works in its field.
Noted for its comprehensive scope, its author-
itative and impartial views, and its sound re-
search. Volume I is a review of European dip-
lomacy to 1914. Volume II is devoted to the
crisis of 1914.

" Fisher, H.A.L. A History of Burope, vol. III.
London, Eyre and Spottlswoode, 1955.

The third and final volume of a series the
author has written on the history of Europe from
early times - one of the most valuable general
‘histories that has yet appeared. The work re-
veals an encyclopedie. knowledge, skilful con-.
densation, scholarly Judgment, and great liter-
ary skill. .

Gardiner, A.G., Portraits and Portents.
New York, Harper and Brothers, 1926.

A series of sketches by the editor of the London

"Daily News" in which he presents salient aspects
of post-war English life in the terms of leading

personalities. There is an interesting sketch of
Sir Edwerd Grey in which the author commends his

character and his sincerity, but finds fault with
his understanding and methods.
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Garvin, J.L. The Life of Joseph Cheamberlain, vol.III.
| London, Macmillan and Co. Ltd., 1934.

This third volume of Chamberlaints biogreaphy
dealing with the years 1895-1900 reveals his

part in the Anglo-German negotiations after 1898.
The writer's admiratlon for Chamberlain is very
evident.

Giffen, M.B., Fashoda, the Incident and Its Setting.

Chicago, the University of Chicago Press,
1930.
A concise and interpretative study of the crisis
of 1898 tracing with skill and clarity the
. policies of Britain and France towards the Sudan.
A valuable contribution to the field of inter-
national diplomacy.

Gooech, G.P. Before the War, vol. I.
London, Longmans Green and Co. 1936,

The author is one of the closest students of pre-
war diplomacy as well as a master in the art of
historical justice. This work offers a series of
sketches in which he gives vivid pictures of five
of the foreign ministers who were charged with
the conduct of diplomacy in the pre-war years.,-- Delcasse
Lansdowne, Bulow, Isvolsky and Aehrenthal.

Based on the documents and latest material, it is
a valuable addition to the author's many splendid
works in this field. Students will look forward
to the volume he promises, to contain studies of
Grey, Poincard, Bethmann-Hollweg, Sazonov and
Berchtold.

Gooch, G.P. . History of Modern Europe, 1878-1919.
London, Cassell and Company Ltd., 1923, °
A scholarly and objeetive narrative account of the
events of the pre-war years with frequent quota-
tions from documents. There is little discussion

of controversial questicns or interpretation of
policies. A useful aid to students of the period.

Gooch, G.P. Recent Revelations of European Diplomacy.

London, Longmans, Green and Co. 1930.
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A masterly discussion of the literature dealing
with the Great Wer. Possibly no better biblio-
graphy in moderate compass has been published.
The salient points of each book are discussed
briefly, brief quotations given, and the per-
sonelity and point of view of the authors re-
vealed. An invaluable guide to students of

the period.

Gooch, G.P., Studies in Modern History.
London, Longmans, Green and Co., 1931.

Contains an interesting study of Holstein who
played such an importent part in shaping Ger-
man policy after the fall of Bismarck until
his own forced retirement in 1906.

Grey, Sir Edward, - Speeches on Foreign Affairs, selected
: with an introduction by Paul Knaplund.

London, G. Allen and Unwin Ltd., 1931.

An excellent collection of Grey's speeches and a
useful contribution to the study of the pre-war
period.

Halé, 0.7. - Germany and the Diplomatic Revolution.

Philadelphia, University of Pennsylvania

. Press, 1931
An excellent study of diplomacy and the press

in the years 1904-06. Sheds valuable light on
the Morocco Crisis, and is a useful gulde for
the opinions of the press of England, France,

and Germany.

Halévy, Elie, A History of the English People, 1895-
_ 1915, 2 vols.
London, T. Fisher Unwin Ltd., 1929-1934.

A brilliaent history of these years in England,
giving a full account of the period, and reveal-
ing an amazingly detailed knowledge. Deals only
to a slight extent with foreign affairs, but the
views expressed are of value.

Halévy, Elie, . The World Crisis of 1914-1918.
Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1930.



Contains the Rhodes Memorial Lectures delivered
in 1929. There is a chapter on the causes of
the War--an interesting interpretation of
netionalism as one of the chief factors.

Hemman, Otto, ' The World Policy of Germany, 1890-1¢12.
| London, G. Allen and Unwin Ltd., 1927.

A readable and instructive account of German
policy, written with understanding, generosity
and tolerance, based on personal recollections
and documents. The author was the former head
of the Press Division of the German Foreigh
Office.

Hammond, J.L., \ C.P. Scott of the "Manchester Guardian.”
London, G. Bell and Sons Ltd., 1934.

A biography of Scott who was for more than fifty
years editor of the great Liberal newspaper,
written by his friend and associate. Gives a

. splendid insight-into Scott's public life, his
policies, his political beliefs. There are two
excellent chapters on his views on foreign
affairs, which reveal his opposition to the En-
tente policy and how he opposed British inter-
ventien on the eve of the War.

Headlam-Morley, James, Studies in Diplomstic History.
London, Methuen and Co., Ltd., 1930.

A collection of eight essays on diplomatic sub-
Jects written during the time the author was
Historical Adviser to the Foreign Office. The
problem of Egypt is discussed and the position
of England as a European state and as head of
an overseas empire.

Hearnshaw, F.J.C. (editor) Edwardian England.
' London: Ernest Benn Limited, 1933.

A series of lectures delivered at Xing's
College, University of London, which attempt
to interpret the Edwardian decade. There is
an interesting study of King Edward VII by
the editor, and a valuable study of foreign
affairs by R.W. Seton-Watson.
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Hendrick, B.J., The Life and Letters of Walter H. Page,
. vol. I.
New York, Doubleday, Page and Co., 1922,

The life of the American ambassador to London at
the time of the outbreak of the War. Gives an
interesting account of Page's reaction to the
international situation. Very favourable to Sir
Edward Grey.

Hoffman, Ross, J.S., Great Britain and the German Trade
Rivalry, 1875-1914.,
Philadelphia, University of Pennsylvania
Press, 1933.

A study of the inroads made by Germany into Great
Britain's trade, the British nation's reaction to
this rivealry, and the influence of these factors
upon the shaping of British policy toward Germany.
Shows that while the British Government did not
declare war on Germany for the ends of trade,
nevertheless, the anti-German orientation of the
British mind did arise from the competition in
trade.

Hubert, Lucien, Politique Extérieure.
Paris, Libraire Felix Alecan, 1911.
A volume of sketches'and speeches on internation-
al problems by a member of the Foreign Affeairs
Commission of the French Chamber of Deputies.

The speeches on"France and Moroccoare of special
interest.

Kennedy, A.L., 01d Diplomacy and New, 1876-1922.
London, J. Murray, 1922.
An exposition and critique of British foreign
policy after the time of Disraeli. A slight
work of minor importance.
Langer, W.L., The Diplomacy of Imperialism, vol. II.
New York, Alfred A. Knopf, 1935.
This volume covers the years 1890-1902. It is
an exhaustive account of international relations

from the fall of Bismarck to the forming of the
Anglo-Japanese Alliance. A scholarly work of
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oufstanding merit revealing painstaking re-
search and sound critical judgment.

Lee, Sir Sidney, King Edward VII, 2 vols.
New York, the Macmillén Co., 1925-27.

The standard biography of Edward VII, based
largely on his personal papers. Should.
correct the mistaken yet popular idea that he
directed British foreign policy. It does show
his interest in state matters, how extensive
was his general acquaintance with the problems
and personalities of Europe, and how his per-
sonal charm and reputation aided the conduct
of foreignh policy.

Lémonon, Ernest, Lt*Europe et la Politique Britannique
Paris, F. Alcan, 1912.

A: useful study of Britain's relationships with
the European powers from 1882 up to 1911, show-
ing how she turned from friendship with the.
Triple Alliance %o form the Entente with France
and Russia.

Loreburn, Earl, How the War Came.
London, Methuen and Co. Ltd., 1919.

Is notable for its bitter condemnation of secret
diplomecy. The author, who was in the Cabinet
as Lord Chancellor until 1912, attacks the
secrecy in which Grey authorized the conversa-~
tions which were carried on between the British
and French General Staffs after 1906.

Ludwig, Emil, July ri4,
New York, G. P. Putnam's Sons, 1929.

Though it purports to be a historical study of
the immediate origins of the War, it is drama
rather than history. ‘As such i1s a brilliant
and successful work. The author has pictured
in an excellent manner the tense atmosphere of
the crisis of 1914. ©Exculpates the peoples of
Europe and blames the kings and statesmen.
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Ludwig, Emil, Kaiser Wilhelm II.
‘ London, G. P. Putnam's Sons, 1927.

A splendid study of the complex and difficult
character of the Kaiser, written in a dramatic
style, and showing real insight, striking on a
note of tragedy. :

Lutz, Hermann, Lord Grey and the World War.
London, George Allen and Unwin Ltd., 1928

A scathing criticism, with careful references to
authorities, of the narrative Grey has given in
his "Twenty-five Years." A careful study of
Grey's policy, valuable for its shrewd judgments.
The author is an outstanding German critic who
regards Grey as well-meaning but altogether in-
competent as foreign secretary.

Maurois, André€, King Edward VII and His Times.
London, Cassell and Co. Ltd., 1933.

A lively and entertaining account of British
leaders, politics and foreign policy woven
around King Edward as the centre. TUseful for
its account of the forming of the Entente
Cordiale.

Meech, T.C., This Generation, vol, I.
London, Chatto and Windus, 1927.

This first volume of a two volume history of
Great Britain and Ireland in the first quarter

of the twentieth century covers the years from
1900 Yo 1914. While it deals mainly with
political affairs some attention is given to )
foreign policy. Is written in journalistic style.

Montgelas, Max, British Foreign Policy Under Sir Edward

Grey.
New York, A.A. Knopf, 1928.

A searching criticism. of Grey's policy by a
well-known German writer on the question of
war-guilt.
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Morel, E.D., Diplomacy Revealed.
London, National Labour Press, 1921.

A denunciation of the secret diplomacy of the
pre-war years. Contains dispatches from the
Belgian diplomats in Paris, London, and Berlin
eccompanied by interesting notes.

Morhardt, M., : Les Preuves.
Paris, Libraire du Travail, 1924.

A study of the crisis of 1914, from the revision-
ist viewpoint. Places the responsibility for the
outbreak of war on Russia because of her mobi-~
lization. Condemns the French government, and
Poincaré in particular, for not restraining
Russia.

Mowat, R,B., ' The Concert of Europe.
London, Macmillan Company, 1930.

A survey of European international relations
after 1870, which utilizes the idea of the
Concert of Europe as a continuous thread through-
out, showing how it was accepted in settling
problems before 1914, but how the division of
Europe into two diplomatic groups made the
functioning of the Concert more difficult, and
how in 1914 the Concert was destroyed. By no
means impartial, inclined to favor the Entente
Powers. .

Mowat, R.B., A History of European Diplomacy.
New York, Longmans, Green and Co., 1928.
A scholarly and substantial work which gives an
excellent survey of the field of European
diplomacy.
Murray, Gilbert, The Foreign Policy of Sir Edward Grey.
Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1915.

A defense of Sir Edward Grey's conduct of
British foreign affairs written in answer

to eriticism of his work as foreign secretary.
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Newton, Lord, Lord Lansdowne.

London, Macmillan and Co., 1929.

The authorized biography of Lord Lansdowne.
Expresses admiration for him as a man and
official. Readable, but disappointing, in
that it throws little light on Lansdowne's
policies apart from what we already know.

Nicolson, Harold, Sir Arthur Nicolson, First Lord Carnock,
London, Constable and Co. Ltd., 1930.

A brilliant story of one of the leading diplomats
of the period, written by his son. A remarkable
delineation of character, revealing Nicolson

as the "type" of pre-war diplomat, and giving a
clever account of how diplomacy was conducted
before 1914.

Nowak, K.F., Germany's Road to Ruin.

London, G.P. Putnam's Sons, 1932,

Valuable as a reference for its excellent
character sketches of the German leaders.
Written in defense of the Kaiser, very crit-

ical of Blilow. But is often inaccurate and
prejudiced.

Pinon, R., France et Allemagne.
Paris, Perrin, 1913.

A study of Franco-German relations after 1870.
While critical of German poliey, the author
reveals also errors made in the conduct of
French foreign affairs. Offers an interesting
analysis of the place of Moroceco in Franco-

German relations.
Politicus, Viscount Grey of Fallodon.
London, Methuen and Co. Ltd., 1934,
A defense of Grey's work as foreign secretary

written in answer to Lloyd George's bitter
attack in Volume I of his War Memoirs.
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Porter, C.W., - The Career of Théophile Delcassé.

Philadelphia, University of Penhnsylveniea
Press, 1936.
A scholarly study of the career of the
French statesman who gave the new orient-
ation to French foreign policy. The work
is extremely valuable for the new light it
sheds on many points of Delcassé's work.

Pribram, A.F., England and the International Policy of
the European Great Powers, 1871-1914.

Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1931.

A concise work, with little detail, but in its
brief scope a clear, impartial study of -

British continental policy before 1914, by the
foremost Austriasn euthority on pre-war diplomacy.

Renouvin, Pierre, La Crise Européenne et la Gramle Guerre.
Paris, F. Alcan, 1934.

A study of the War.preceded by a survey of the
decade of crises which culminated in its out-
breask. The first third of the book is devoted
to the internal problems and the diplomatic
struggle of the Powers. Whether or not one
subscribes to the author's theory of the guilt
of the Central Powers one must admit that his’
survey of Europe before 1914 is brilliant.

Renouvin, Pierre, The Immediate Origins of the War.
London, Oxford University Press, 1928.

The author is the leading French writer on pre-
war diplomecy and this is the best French work
on the subject of the origins of the War. A
comprehensive treatment, revealing a wide range
of knowledge on the part of the author, fairness
of temper and & critical technique. Though the
author absolves Germany from the charge of con-
spiring to bring about the War, nevertheless he
finds her more guilty than the other Powers for
its outbreak.

., Reynald, Georges, - La Diplomatie Francgeise,

Paris, Libreirie Militaire Berger-
Levrault, 1915,
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A brief study of the work of Delcassé in his
various offices as foreign minister, minister
of marine and ambassador to Russia. Extremely
laudatory. '

Russell, Bertrend, Freedom and Organization, 1814-1014.
London, George Allen and Unwin Ltd.,1934.

A volume of essays which trace the main causes
of political change in the hundred years from
1814 to 1914 - economic forces, political
theories, and important individuels. There is
an interesting essay on the leaders of the
Great Powers in 1914.

Schmnitt, B.E., ' Coming of the War, 2 vols;
‘ New York, Charles Scribners Sons, 1930.

Importent as one of the major works on the out-
break of the War. An immensely detailed work,
showing careful study of a mass of source
material, accompanied by voluminous references
and extensive footnotes. Suffers somewhat from
a decided bias - the author is inclined to view
favourably the Entente Powers and blame the
Central Powers for the coming of the War,

Schmitt, B.E., England and Germany, 1740-1914.

Princeton, Princeton University Press,
1¢16.
A study of Anglo-German relations showing how
the pre-war rivalry developed from the rise of
Germany as a new Power, whose commerciasl advance,
colonial aspirations, and naval ambitions were
interpreted in England as a threat to the safety
of the Empire. The author maintains that while
- there may have been wrong on both sides, the
greater blame for the tragic ending of the rival-
ry must rest with Germany.

Schmitt, B.E., Triple Alliance and Triple Entente.
New York, H. Holt and Co., 1934.
A small work which traces in brief compass the
origins and development of the system of

alliances. The presentation is clear and at-
tractive, though brief. Rather pro-entente.
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Scott J.F., Five Weeks,

New York, John Day Company, 1927.

The writer contends that the fundamentsl ex-
planation for the disastrous outcome of the
crisis of 1914 is to be found in the influence
of public opinion. He bases his thesis on a
study of the press of the various European
nations from June 28 to August 4, 1914. The
work shows careful research, is free of bias
and 1s extremely readable.

Seton-Watson, R.W., Sara jevo.

Seymour,

London, Hutchinson and Co., 1926.

A careful study of the Sarajevo murders which
exculpates Serbia and condemns the actions of
Austria and the policy of Germany. The author's
statements are supported by references tc docu-
ments and private conversations with Jugo-Slav
friends.

Charles, The Diplometic Background of the War,
- 1870-1814.
New Haven, Yale University Press, 1916.

A useful study, considering the time of its
writing, which shows the historical develop-

.ment of the factors which were making for war

after 1870.

Slosson, P.W., Burope Since 1870.
New York, Houghton, Mifflin Co., 1935.
A useful text on the political history of Europe
after the Franco-Prussian War,
Somervell, D.C., The Reign of King George the Fifth.

London, Faber and Faber Limited, 1935.

A narrative of the outstanding events of the
reign of King George V. Only slight reference
is made to foreign effairs. The Agadir Crisis,
Anglo-German naval rivalry and the outbreak of
the War are treated lightly.



~XXIX~-
Spender, J.A., Fifty Years of Europe.
London, Cassell and Company, 1933.

A mesterly study of the pre-war period based
on a mass of official documents. The author
was one of the leading Liberal publicists of
the day, in close touch with Liberal leaders,
and with Grey and Asquith in particular. He
gives an illuminating picture of the inter-
national situation before 1914 and shows how
the German navy and fear of Germany shaped
British policy. ’

Spénder, JelAo, -  Great Britain, Empire and Commonwealth,
_ . 1886-1935.
London, Cassell and Company, 1935.

A summary of the most important events of the
period, with adequate reference to foreign
affairs, made valuable by the great knowledge
and experience of the writer.

Spender, J.A., Life, Journalism and Politics, 2 volse
| London, Cassell and Company, Ltd., 1927.

The record of the writer's career, of great
value for the keen insight it gives of the
politics of the day. There is a valuable
chapter on "The Men of 1906" which gives an
interesting study of the leading personalities
of the Liberal party. The writer holds them
in high esteem and pays high tribute through-
out the two volumes to his friend, Grey.

Spender, J.Ae, The Life of Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman.
2 vols
London, Hodder and Stoughton Limited,1923

The official biography of the Liberal Prime
Minister. Is especially interesting for the
revelation it mekes of the feaect that Campbell-
Bannerman was aware of and approved the steps
taken to carry on the military conversations
with France in 1906.

Spender, J.A., and The Life of Henry Herbert Asquith, 2 vols
Asguith, Cyril, _ ' o
London, Hutchinson and Compeny. 1932.:..

The standard life of Asquith who was prime
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minister during the pre-war decade. The
early chapters are written by his son, while
Mr. Spender records his public life. A read-
able work, and an important contribution to
the history of the period.

Sontag, R.J., European Diplomatic History, 1871-1932.
New York, The Cehtury Company, 1933.

The author approaches his subject through a
study of personalities, and gives not so much
a narrative account of what took place, as a
penetrating interpretation of what leaders
desired, and the technique used in their
attempts. A useful survey. ‘

Stieve, Friedrich, Isvolsky and the World War.

London, George Allen and Unwin Ltd.,
19286.

The author, who was an official in the German
Foreign Office, reveals Isvolsky's role in
pre-war diplomacy basing the work on the
latter's letters and telegrams. He reveals
Isvolsky as a guilty accomplice of Poincaré.

Swain, J.W., Beginning the Twentieth Century.
New York, Norton, 1933.

A well-informed, and well written text on
European affairs from 1900 to the close of
the War.

Tardieu, A., France and the Alliances.
New York, Macmillan and Company, 1908.

A useful study of the rble played by France in
the diplomatic drema after 1870. Traces the

part played by the Republic in the Franco-
Russian ellience, the formation of the Anglo-
French Entente, and the conflict of the alliances.
The author was at the time of writing a high
official in the French diplomatic service, and

he writes in favour of the French case.



-XXXT~
Trevelyan, G.M., Grey of Fallodon.
London, Longmans, Green and Co.,1937.

A brief biography of Grey by his friend, the
eminent Liberal historian. Recreates splendid-
ly Grex's personality, picturing him in the
dual role of statesman and naturalist. Praises
Grey as a man and as foreign minister, and
defends him against the ruthless criticism

to which he has been subjected. Offers little
new evidence on questions of the period. An
important work but cannot be accepted as an
impartial study.

Wilson, H.W., The War Guilt.

London, Sampson Low, Marstén and Co.
Ltd.,1928.

A study of EBuropean international affairs
after 1870 to determine the question of the
war guilt. It is written from the conserv-
ative view and is coloured by a decided anti-
German bias.

Wingfield-Stratford, E.C., The Victorian Sunset.

London, G. Routledge and Sons Ltd.,
1932,
The second volume in a trilogy on the
Victorian era carrying the story to the
end of the century and the passing of the
Queen. A brilliantly written social his-
tory of the last three decades of the Viec-
torian age, ironical in style.

Wingfield-Stratford, E.C., The Victorian Aftermath.

London, G. Routledge and Sons Ltd.,
: 1933,
The last volume of the Victorian trilogy,
being a study of the end of the Victorian
age and of the Edwardian period. A great
deal of political and social history is
woven into an interesting narrative. It is
full of irony and humour. The whole period
is viewed with a pessimistic sense of im-
pending disaster.

Wolff, Theodor, ' The Eve of 1914.

New York, Alfred A. Knopf, 1936.
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An attempt at a psychological approach to the
problem of war responsibility, by the editor
of the "Berliner Tageblatt," which paper was
known for its independence of comment on
foreign affairs. The author knew: personally
meny of the politicians and diplomats whom he
carefully analyses .and vividly portrays. He
shows how peaceful populations in all the
nations were turned into supporters of war.
The book is a literary masterpiece, interest-
ing for its interpretations, but does not add
greatly to our knowledge of the origins of the
War. : '

Woodward, E.L., Great Britain and the German Navy.
Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1935.

A detailed study of the naval rivalry before
1914, based on the documents for the period.
A useful synthesis of material, but reveals
little that is new. Rather indulgent towards
the English part in the naval race, showing
little understanding of the German view.
Heavy in style.

Zetland, Marquis of, Lord Cromer.
London, Hodder and Stoughton, 1932.
The authorized life of Lord Cromer. Con-
tains an interesting account of the part he

played in the rapprochement between Britain
and France after 1903,
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Articles, Essays, Reviews.

Anon., Edouard VII, La Revue de Paris, May 15, 1904.

Anon., France, Russia, and the Nile, The Contemporary Review,
vol. LXXIV, December, 1898.

Anon., La Mission Marchand, La Revue de Paris, June 1, 1899.

Anon.,’Our Foreign Policy and Its Reform, The Contemporary
Review, vol. CI, April, 1912.

Presents the case of the Liberal Radicals who
‘were opposed to Grey's conduct of foreign
affairs. Points out the dangers in the way
in which the entente was being transformed in-
to an alliance and makes a plea for a better
understanding with Germany.

Anon., Paul Cambon et les Préliminaires de 1l'Entente Cordiale,
Revue de Paris, vol, 44, No. 7, April 1, 1937.

Anon., The Agreement With France, The Living Age, vol. 241,
May 14, 1904.

Anon., The Arch-Enemy of England, The Contemporary Review,
©  vol. LXXIV, December, 1898.

An attempt to picture the Kaiser and the
German government as desirous of raising a
Continental Alliance against England and of
seizing the hegemony of the world. Claims
England®'s policy had been weak and vacillat-
ing and calls on the government to take ac-
tion to safeguard British interests.’

Anon,, The Crux of Foreign Policy, the Fortnightly Review,
vol. LXVIII (new series), July, 1900.

Anon., The Failure of Qur Foreign Policy, The Contemporary
Review, vol. LXXIII, April, 1898.

Anon.; The International Ferment,'The Quarterly Review,
vol. 188, July, 1898.

Ahon., Vingt-huit Ans de Politique Etrangere, La Revue de Paris,
November 1, 1898,
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Barclay, Thomas,
A General Treaty of Arbitration Between Great Britain
and France, The Fortnightly Review, vol. LXIX (new
series), June, 1901.

Presents the writer's plan for a general
arbitration treaty for which he worked after
the Fashoda Crisis, and finally saw signed
in 1903.

Barclay, Thomas,
. A Lance for the French, The Fortniahtly Review, vol,
LXVII (new series), February, 1900.

Sets forth the desire of the writer to pro-
mote kindlier relations on both sides of the
Channel after the bitterness roused by the
Fashoda Crisise.

Barker, J. Ellis,
Anglo-German Relations and Sir Edward Grey, The Fort-
nightly Review, ¥ol. XCI (new series), March, 1912,

Barnes, H.E., o
Assessing the Blame for the World War, Current History,
vol. XX, No. 2, May, 1924.

Barnes, HeE.,
Poincaré's Guilt in the War, The Nation (New York),
vol, 121, No., 3144, October 7, 1925.

Barrere, Camille, ,
La Chute de Delcassé (I & II), Revue des Deux Mondes,
vol. X, August 1, 1932, vol., XIII, January 1, 1933.

A study of the erisis of 1905 which resulted
in the fall of Delcasse. Distinctly favour-
able to Delcassé's handling of French policy,
and critical of his associates who let him
down in the force of what is interpreted as
a German threat to break the Entente.

Bashford, J.L.,
» Germany in the Mediterranean, The Fortnightly Review,
vol. LXXVII (new series), June, 1905.

Viscount Grey on War Guilt, The New Republie, vol.
XLIV, No. 566, October 7, 1925. ,

Bérard, Viector,
France et Maroc, La Revue de Paris, January 15, 1906.

Bérard, Victor, ‘
La France et Guillaume II, La Revue de Paris, May 15, 1905.
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Berard Victor,

Le lere Jaune Sur Le Maroc, La Revue de Paris,
January 1, 1906.

Bérard, Victor,

Les Accords Anglo-Francgais (I & II), La Revue de Paris,
June 15, 1904, and July 1, 1904.

Bickford, J.D. and
Johnson, E.N.
The Contemplated Anglo-German Alliance, 1890-1901,
The Politicasl Science Quarterly, vol, 42, March, 1927.

A careful account of the attempts to negotiate
an Anglo-German alliance at the end of the _
nineteenth century. Drawn mainly from the Ger-
man documents. Places the responsibility for
the failure of the negotiations on the German
leaders.

Blennerhassett, Rowland,

England and France, The Nineteenth Century, vol. LV,
June, 1904,

Blennerhassett, Rowland,

German Foreign Policy, The Fortnightly Review, vol.
ILXXVII (new series), May, 1905,

Blennerhassett, Rowleand,
Germean Policy in Morocco, The Fortnightly Review, vol.
ILXXXIV (new series), October, 1908.

Boulger, D.C., ‘
Fashoda and the Upper Nile, The Contemporery Review,
vol. LXXIV, November, 1898,

Brailsford H.N.,
The Last of the English Liberals, Foreign Affairs,
vol. XI, No. 4, July, 1933.

An interesting review of "The Life of Henry
Herbert Asquith" written by J.A. Spender and
Cyril Asquith. Offers shrewd comments on for-
eign policy as conducted by Asquith's govern-
ment.

Buxton, Noel,
Diplomacy and Parliament, The Nineteenth Century,
vol. IXXI, April, 1912.

A plea for a larger measure of parliementary
control over foreign affairs, written after
the Crisis of Agadir when it was realized how
close to war the country had been brought.
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Charles~Roux, M. F.,
Veillée a! Armes & Londres (22 juin--4 aolit, 1914).
Revue des Deux Mondes, vol. XXIV, August 15 1926.

A dramatic presentation of the events which
took plece in London in the last days of
peace, written from the French viewpoint.

Charmes, Francis,
Chronique de la Quinzaine; Histoire Politique,
Revue des Deux Mondes, January, 1898 - August, 1914.
(passim)

Charmes, Francis,
Germany, and the Question of Morocco, The Fortnightly
Review, vol. IXXVII (new series), May, 1905.

Chirol, Valentine, .
The Origins of the Present War,
The Quarterly Review, vol., 221, October, 1914.

Coubertin, Pierre de,
M. Delcassé. A Character Sketch, The Living Age,
vol. 232, March 8, 1902.

An illuminating sketch of Delcassé - of his
charaecter and his work. Acclaims him as one
of the most accomplished statesmen of the
Third Republic.

Daniels, Harriet, M.E.,
Anglo—German Relations, 1898-~1914.

A Thesis submitted for the Degree of Master
" of Arts, University of British Columbia, April,1932.

Dawson, W.H.,
The Anglo-German Alliance Proposals, The Contemporary
Review, vol. CXXVI, November, 1924.

Decle, Lionel,
The Fashoda Question, The Fortnightly Review,
vol. LXIV (new series), November, 1898.

Delafosse, Jules,
The Foreign Policy of France, The National Review,
vol. XLVI, September, 1905.

Dérouléde, Paul,
Franc-Parler The Netional Review, vol. XLVI,
October, 1905.
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Did Germany Incite Austria in 19149%
Current History, vol. XXVIII, No. 4, July, 1928.

A symposium on the questions of how far Austria-
Hungary was justified in making war on Serbia
after the Sarajevo murders and to what extent
did Germany encourage or incite Austria in her

. action agaeinst Serbia. Contributions are
made by H. E. Barnes, Count Berchtold, who was
Austrian foreign secretary in 1914, Count Hoyos,
Chief of the Cabinet of the Austro—Pungarldn_
Foreign Ministry in 1914, Dr. Friederich von
Weisner, Legal Counsellor of the Austro-Hun-
garian Foreign Ministry and Official Invest-
igator for Austrie for the Sarajevo Assassin-

~ation, Von Jagow, the former German Foreign
Minister, Alfred Zimmerman, former German Under-
Secretary of State, and M.T. Florinsky of the
Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Dillon E.J.,
The Anglo-French Convention, The Contemporary Review,
vol. ILXXXV, May, 1904.

Diplomaticus,
Fashoda and Lord Salisbury's Vindication, The Fort-
nightly Review, vol. LXIV (new series), December, 1898.

Diplomaticus,
Sir Edward Grey's Stewardship, The Fortnightly Review,
vol. CX (new series), December, 1911.

Presents a case against Sir Edward Grey's con-
duct of foreign affeairs since he first took
office. Appesals for a better understandlng
with Germany.

Doumer, Paul,
The Anglo-French Agreement,
The Living Age, vol. 242, July 16, 1904.

Ewart, J.S.,
The Russian Order for General Mobilization.
Current History, vol. XXII, No. 2, May, 1925.

Fay, S.B.,
Grey: A Tragic Blunderer.
Current History, vol. XXXIX, No. 2, November, 1933.

A study of Grey as foreign secretary written
after his death in September, 1933. Conmnmends
his honesty and his devotion but regards him
as falling short as & statesman, lacking in
foresight and in ability to make decisions.
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Fay, s, B.,
New Light on the Origins of the War.
The American Historical Review, vol. XXV, Number 4,
July, 1920; vol. XXVI, Number 1, October, 1920; vol.
XXVI , Number 2, January, 1921.

Fay, S.B.,
Pre~War Diplomacy and the European Press.
Current History, vol. XXXIII, No. 2, November, 1930.

Fay, S.B.,
The Black Hand Plot that Led to the World War.
Current History, vol. XXIII, No. 2, November, 1925.

A careful study of the plot which led to the
murder of the Austrian Archduke. Well-sub-
stantiated by a wide range of evidence. Gives
the conclusion that while Serbian officials
were involved in the plot, Austria was not
justified in going to war with Serbie in 1914.

Fay, S.B., '

The Coming of the War; 1914.

The Journal of Modern History, vol. III, No. I, March,

: : 1931,

A review of Schmitt's book, "The Coming of
the War: 1°914." Is critical of some of the

sauthorts conclusions, and reveals him as in-
clined. to favour the Entente Powers.

Glazebrook, George, de T.,
’ The End of British Isolation.
Queents Quarterly, vol. XXXVIII, Autumn, 1951.

Gooch, G.P.,
Baron von Holstein.
The Cambridge Historical Journal, vol. I, No. 1, 1923,

Gooch, G.P.,
Delcasse.
The Contemporary Review, vol. CXXIII, April, 1923.

Gooch, G,P.,
Kiderlen-Wachter.
The Cambridge Historical Journal, vol. V, No.2, 1936.

Henderson, E.F.,
The Superficial Grey.
The Nation (New York), vol. CXXI, October 28, 1925,

A review of Sir Edward Grey's "Twenty-five
Years." Takes him severely to task for ,
skimming over difficult points. States that
while Grey does not directly falsify, he
comes as near it as possible.
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Harris, Walter, B.,
The Morocco Crisis.
Blackwood*'s Edinburgh Megazine, vol. 178, August, 1905.

Harrison, A.F.,
Germany and Morocco. '
The Nineteenth Century, vol. LVIII, July, 1905.

Hart, A.B.,
Assessing the Blame for the World War.
A dissent from the Conclusions of Professor Barnes.
Current History, vol. XX, No. 2, May, 1924.

A brief article which questions the findings
of Dr. Barnes in an article in the same review.

Herrick, F.H.,
The Abandonment of "Splendid Isolation."
British Politics and the Foreign Office at the close of
the Nineteenth Century.
Proceedings of the Pacific Coast Branch of the American
Historical Association, 1920.

An interesting study of the workings of the
British foreign office before the War, show-
ing the great importance of the permanent
officials and how they influenced policy. It
is elasimed that the office was more important
in determining policy than the temporary
political head.

Ignotus.,

The German Emperor's Crusade Against the Entente Cordiale.

The National Review, vol. XLVI, February, 1906.

Langer, W.L.,
The 1908 Prelude to the World War.
Foreign Affairs, Vol. VII, No. 4, July, 1929,

Lascelles, the Rt. Hon. Sir Frank,
Thoughts on the Anglo-German Problem.
The Contemporary Review, vol. CI, January, 1912.

Lavisse,'Ernest,
- France et Angleterre.
La Revue de Paris, February 1, 1899,

Lees, Frederic,
Some Promoters of Anglo-French Amity.
The Fortnightly Review, vol., LXXIV. (new series), July,

Describes the attempts of a number of officials,

journalists and writers who were working for an

Anglo-French rapprochement. Gives great credit

to Delcassé, Paul-Cambon, and Slr Thomas Barclay
. in particular.

1903
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Lewis, S.E.,
Anglo~-German Diplomatic Relations, 1898-1902. ‘
Bulletin of the Institute of Historical Research, vol. IX,
1931-32.

Lingelbach, W.E.,
Belgian Neutrality: Its Origin and Interpretation.
The American Historical Review, vol. XXXIX, Number 1,
October, 1933.
Low, Sidney, ’
The Foreign Office Autocracy. :
The Fortnightly Review, vol. XCI, (new series), January,
1912,
Very critical of the secret manner in which the
Foreign Secretary and Cabinet conduct foreign
polioy, and of the apparent lack of responsibil-
ity in this matter to the House of Commons. The
article was inspired by the danger revealed in
the Agadir Crisis. Suggests the setting up of a
Foreign Affeirs Committee to discuss with the
Minister, general outlines of policy.

Lutz, H.,
Lord Grey's Responsibility for Russia's Mobllizatlon.
Current History, vol. XXII, No. 2, May, 1925,

Mallet, Sir Charles,
Lord Grey and the Peace of EBurope.
The Contemporary Review, vol. CXXVIII, November, 1925.

A careful review of Lord Grey's "Twenty-five
Years." Raises some of the interesting
questions which Grey has passed over too light-
ly in his books,

Merx, Wilhelm,
The Responsibility for the War.
Foreigq Affairs, vol. IV, No. 2, January, 1926.

Mexse, Le.d.,
Retrospect and Reminiscence.
The National Review, vol. LXXXI, August, 1918.

A scathing criticism of British policy before
1914 as being too yielding to Germany. Violently
anti~-German. Gives interesting and valuable
details of the meeting of the Unionist leaders
who wrote the important letter of August 2 to the
Cabinet. An important contribution to our
knowledge of the events in London on the eve of
the War.

Millet, Philippe,
The Truth About the Franco-German Crisis of 1911.
The Nineteenth Century, vol. IXXI, June, 1912.
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Millet Rend,
La Lutte Paclflque Entre La France et L'Angleterre.
Revue  des Deux Mondes, vol. 21, June 15, 1904.

Morel, E.D.,
The National Interest in the Franco-German Dispute.
The Nineteenth Century, vol. LXX, November, 1911.

Morel, E.D.,
The True Story of the Morocco Negotiations.
The Nineteenth Century, vol. ILXXI, February, 1912.

Morel, E.D.,
The "Truth" About the Franco-German Crisis.
The Nineteenth Century, vol., ILXXII, July, 1912.

Mortimer, Raymond,
Edward Grey.
The New Statesman and Nation, vol. XIII, No. 316 (new
series), March 13, 1957.

A review of G. M. Trevelyan's "Grey of Fallodon."
Criticizes the author in so far as he has not
adequately answered or stated the case against Grey.

Mowat, R.B.,
Great Britain and Germanyin the Early Twentieth Century.
The English Historical Review, vol. 46, July, 1931.

Mowat, R.B.,
New Light on the Agadir Crisis.
The Contemporary Review, vol. CXLI, June, 1932.

An interesting review of volume VII of the British
Documents on the Origins of the War, which deals
with the Agadir Crisis. The reviewer is sceptical
as to the wisdom of Anglo-French policy in the
crisis and sees little justification for Lloyd
George's Mansion House speech.

Murray, Lt. Col. the Hon. Arthur,
Lord Grey of Fallodon.
The Quarterly Review, vol. 262, No. 519, January, 1934.

A staunch defense of Grey as a man and as foreign
secretary, written in answer to the criticism
made by Lloyd George in volume I of his "War Memoirs."

Poincard, Raymond,
The Responsibility for the War.

Foreign Affairs, vol. IV, No. I, October, 1925.

Poincaré's answer to his critics who place the
guilt for the outbreak of the War on France and
Russia. He places all the blame on Germany.
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Pratt, E.do,

La Derniére Etape sur la Route de la Grande Guerre.
Revue Historique, tome CIXXVIII, Septembre-Octobre, 1936.

Based on volumes V-VIII of the Documents Diplomatiques
Frangais, showing how the Balkan Wars were a pre-
lude’ to the Great War. Shows the change which took
place in French foreign policy after 1912, - how
Poincard and his group, while perhaps not wanting

war, were resolved om a firmer policy.

Pressensé, Francis de,
England and France.

The Contemporary Rev1ew, vol. ILXXV, February, 1899.

Pressensé, Francis de,
France and England. '
The Nineteenth Century, vol. XLIII April, 1898,

Pressense, Francis de,
France, Morocco, and Europe.
The Contemporary Review, vol., XCII, December, 1907.

Pressense, Francis de,
The Fall of M. Delcassé€.
The Nineteenth Century, vol. LVIII, July, 1905,

An attempt to show that the French Government in
letting Delcasse go was not yielding to the
threats of Germany, nor abandoning the entente
with England, but rather, that Delcassd fell
through his own mistaken policies.

Quore=m Pars. Fui,
The Balance of Power.
The Contemporary Review, vol. LXXIII, April, 1898,

Renouvin, Pierre,
How the War Came.
Foreign Affsirs, vol. VII, No. 3, April, 1929.
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